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Important notice
This Registration Document prepared according to Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, is valid for a period
of up to 12 months following its approval by Norwegian FSA. This Registration Document was approved by the Norwegian FSA on 08.07.2020. The prospectus for issuance of new bonds or other
securities may for a period of up to 12 months from the date of the approval consist of this Registration Document, a securities note and a summary if applicable to each issue and subject to a
separate approval.
This Registration Document is based on sources such as annual reports and publicly available information and forward looking information based on current expectations, estimates and projections
about global economic conditions, the economic conditions of the regions and industries that are
major markets for the Company line of business.
A prospective investor should consider carefully the factors set forth in chapter 1 Risk factors, and
elsewhere in the Prospectus, and should consult his or her own expert advisers as to the suitability
of an investment in bonds, including any legal requirements, exchange control regulations and tax
consequences within the country of residence and domicile for the acquisition, holding and disposal
of bonds relevant to such prospective investor.
The manager and/or affiliated companies and/or officers, directors and employees may be a market
maker or hold a position in any instrument or related instrument discussed in this Registration Document and may perform or seek to perform financial advisory or banking services related to such
instruments. The managers corporate finance department may act as manager or co-manager for
this Company in private and/or public placement and/or resale not publicly available or commonly
known. Copies of this Registration Document are not being mailed or otherwise distributed or sent
in or into or made available in the United States. Persons receiving this document (including custodians, nominees and trustees) must not distribute or send such documents or any related documents
in or into the United States.
Other than in compliance with applicable United States securities laws, no solicitations are being
made or will be made, directly or indirectly, in the United States. Securities will not be registered
under the United States Securities Act of 1933 and may not be offered or sold in the United States
absent registration or an applicable exemption from registration requirements.
The distribution of the Registration Document may be limited by law also in other jurisdictions, for
example in Canada, Japan, Australia and in the United Kingdom. Verification and approval of the
Registration Document by the Norwegian FSA implies that the Registration Document may be used
in any EEA country. No other measures have been taken to obtain authorization to distribute the
Registration Document in any jurisdiction where such action is required, and any information contained herein or in any other sales document relating to bonds does not constitute an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not lawful or in which the
person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so or to anyone to whom it is unlawful
to make such offer or solicitation.
The content of the Prospectus does not constitute legal, financial or tax advice and potential investors
should seek legal, financial and/or tax advice.
Unless otherwise stated, the Prospectus is subject to Norwegian law. In the event of any dispute
regarding the Prospectus, Norwegian law will apply.
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1. Risk factors
Investing in bonds involves inherent risks. Prospective investors should carefully consider, among
other things, the risk factors set out in the Registration Document before making an investment
decision.
A prospective investor should carefully consider all the risks related to the Issuer and should consult
his or her own expert advisors as to the suitability of an investment in bonds issued by the Issuer.
An investment in bonds entails significant risks and is suitable only for investors who understand the
risk factors associated with this type of investment and who can afford a loss of all or part of the
investment. Against this background, an investor should thus make a careful assessment of the
Issuer, its creditworthiness and its prospects before deciding to invest, including its current and
future tax position.
Since the Issuer is wholly owned by NBT AS (the "Parent") who is also the Guarantor, the risk factors
for East Renewable AB and the Parent are deemed to be equivalent for the purpose of this Registration Document unless otherwise stated.
The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing
in bonds in the Issuer, but the Issuer may be unable to pay interest, principal or other amounts on
or in connecting with bonds for other reasons which may not be considered significant risks by the
Issuer based on information currently available to it or which it may not currently be able to anticipate. The risks within each category are listed, in the view of the Issuer, according to the possible
negative impact they may have and the probability of their occurrence. The greatest risk within each
category is generally mentioned first. It applies for all risk factors that, if materialized, and depending
on the circumstances, may have an adverse effect on the Issuer or Guarantor and which may reduce
anticipated revenue and profitability, ultimately resulting in a potential insolvency situation.
Risks specific to the Issuer and its affiliates and the industry in which they operate
Risk related to changes in laws and regulations, in particular the legal environment for wind power
plants in Ukraine such as the Law of Ukraine On Alternative Energy, the Law of Ukraine On Electricity
Market and other related legislation.
The Issuer and its affiliates being the largest renewable energy project in Ukraine, therefore the
operations and the development of their pipeline projects are especially exposed to risks related to
general changes in legislation and regulatory framework in the jurisdictions in which the Issuer operates, and especially in Ukraine. The implementation of new regulations or the modification of existing regulations affecting the wind farm industry could adversely impair the Issuer's and its affiliates' ability to acquire, develop and construct profitable projects, generate adequate returns from
operating projects and continue operating in current markets. By way of example, new regulations
could result in additional costs and fees, reduced subsidies, amended support mechanisms or reduced
revenues from the wind power projects developed by the Issuer or in which the Issuer has invested,
or protectionist rules and local content requirements could hinder the selection of the technically
most profitable equipment for its projects.
Risk related to changes in the FiT regime
According to the transition provisions of the law “On Introduction of Certain Changes to Laws of
Ukraine regarding Ensuring Competitive Conditions for Generation of Electricity from Alternative Energy Sources No. 8449-d”, which became effective on 22 May 2019 (the “Auctions Law”), projects
having secured a pre-PPA by 31st December 2019 will qualify for the existing green tariff scheme
subject to mechanical completion of the respective wind farm within 3 years after signing of the new
pre-PPA. In order to request signing of a new pre-PPA the developer has to prove that the project
has the necessary land, a grid connection agreement and a construction permit (self-declaration).
Should the Syvash wind farm, a joint venture of which the Parent through the Issuer controls 46.5
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percent (through East Renewable AB), and/or the pipeline projects not qualify for the existing fixed
FiT tariff system it may have a material adverse effect on the profitability of the relevant projects
and hence the Issuer's cash flows, financial condition and on the Issuer's business in general or the
value of the respective security.
Risk related to the balancing mechanism under the Electricity Market Law
The Electricity Market Law has also introduced a competitive balancing mechanism which requires
renewable energy producers under the FiT regime (the “RES Producers”) to be liable for deviations
from the estimated value of electricity supplied (the “Imbalances”). Starting from 1 July 2019, the
Guaranteed Buyer, as the party responsible for balancing, on behalf of all RES Producers, any Imbalances that emerge between RES Producers, will require that the relevant RES Producers reimburse
costs relating to any Imbalances, which will gradually increase over time.
RES Producers are currently exempt from the payment of balancing cost. Under current regulations,
payment for balancing cost will be introduced gradually from 2021 with full exposure from 2030.
There is a risk that payment for balancing cost for renewable energy plants will be accelerated or
increased.
Risk related to funding of payment for non-delivered energy due to grid curtailment to RES Producers
Pursuant to the Ukrainian legislation the RES Producers are guaranteed to receive the payment for
non-delivered energy due to grid curtailment. There is, however, no secondary legislation that provides for financing of such payment. There is a risk that no secondary legislation is introduced to
provide funding for payment for non-delivered energy or that current legislation is changed to remove
all or part of payment for non-delivered energy.
The Issuer is dependent on the Guaranteed Buyer’s ability to pay for electricity purchased from the
Issuer
Under the FiT regime, the Issuer sells all of the electricity it produces to the Guaranteed Buyer.
Consequently, the Issuer is fully dependent on the Guaranteed Buyer’s ability to pay for the electricity
it purchases from the Issuer on time and in full.
The ability of the Guaranteed Buyer to pay under the PPAs is subject to a number of factors, including
economic and political factors outside of the control of the Issuer. The Guaranteed Buyer has delayed
its tariff payments under the PPAs to RES producers for the first quarter of 2020 and has accumulated
substantial outstanding debt. Unless the Guaranteed Buyer is funded by additional sources there is
a risk of non-payment to RES Producers under the PPAs. Thus, the Issuer’s ability to meet its obligations under the Bonds could be materially and adversely affected by any occurrence or circumstance that reduces, suspends or cancels the Guaranteed Buyer’s payment obligations or any failure
or delay of the Guaranteed Buyer to fulfil its obligations under the PPA.
Additional risks related to payments to RES Producers by Guaranteed Buyer
On 27 June 2019, the District Administrative Court of Kyiv passed an injunction (“Injunction”)
freezing the NEURC’s resolutions that had established increased grid transmission and dispatching
tariffs from 1 July 2019 to 31 December 2019 (“2019 Resolutions”). The new increased tariffs were
intended to cover the payments of PrJSC “NPC “Ukrenergo” ("Ukrenergo") to the Guaranteed Buyer,
which should be further used to make payments under FiT to RES Producers, such as the Issuer.
The court issued that Injunction in the proceedings ("Tariff Litigations") that were brought by certain large Ukrainian industrial enterprises, which paid for grid transmission and dispatching services
to Ukrenergo (“Claimants”). The Injunction resulted in the delay of payments under the PPAs for all
market participants. To improve the situation on the market, the NEURC superseded the Resolutions
with two new resolutions on 1 August 2019 and 4 August 2019, respectively (“New 2019 Resolutions”). The Claimants challenged the New 2019 Resolutions as well. They also obtained an injunction freezing the New 2019 Resolutions (with effect of this injunction being limited to the particular
companies specified in the court order). On 23 March 2020 the District Administrative Court of Kyiv
granted the Claimants’ claim and cancelled the 2019 Resolutions and the New 2019 Resolutions.

Page 5 of 29

East Renewable AB

08.07.2020

Registration Document
For the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020, the NEURC adopted new resolutions
establishing the grid transmission and dispatching tariffs ("2020 Resolutions"). Similar to 2019
Resolutions, the tariffs established by the 2020 Resolutions are intended to cover the payments of
Ukrenergo to the Guaranteed Buyer, which – among other sources – should be further used to make
payments under FiT to RES Producers, such as the Issuer. If any interested party successfully challenges the 2020 Resolutions, the Guaranteed Buyer may become unable to make full payments to
the RES Producers, including the Issuer, under the FiT for the produced electricity unless other
sources of funding by the Guaranteed Buyer are established, which could have a material adverse
effect on the Issuer’s financials.
Risks associated with the construction of the Syvash wind farm
The main activity of the Issuer is to hold the NBT Group’s investment in the 245.7 MW Syvash wind
farm project in the Kherson region south in Ukraine, for which a turn-key Engineering, Procurement
and Construction ("EPC") contract has been entered into with the EPC contractor. There is a risk that
unforeseen events or information unknown to the Issuer, its partners and counterparties could materialise in a manner that puts at stake important conditions for the construction of the Syvash wind
farm. Should any such unforeseen events occur, this may affect the operations and profitability of
the Syvash wind farm, and could hence have an adverse effect on the Issuer's cash flows, financial
condition and on the Issuer's business in general. Furthermore, the Issuer is not expected to report
any profit before dividends can be up streamed from the Syvash wind farm.
There may further be liability limitations and exceptions in the turn-key EPC contract resulting in the
operating entity, and hence the Issuer, suffering losses or damages due to the turn-key contractor's
work, which will not be covered by the EPC contractor. Furthermore, the liquidated damages under
the turn-key EPC contract or the insurance coverage for delayed construction and business interruption obtained by the Issuer through its operating entity may not cover all foreseeable and unforeseeable events, and exceptions and carve-outs may apply. The Issuer may therefore be exposed to
losses, deductibles and costs in the construction process that will not be covered under said provisions.
Risks associated with the current grid connection agreement for the Syvash wind farm
In the current grid connection agreement for the Syvash wind farm, there is a deadline for commissioning of the wind farm within 30 June 2020 Pursuant to the current project construction schedule
such deadline will not be met. Although it has already been agreed with the grid operator an extension of the commissioning completion deadline until the end of 2020, the Issuer cannot guarantee
that such approval will be obtained. Under the project financing agreements, Syvashenergoprom
LLC, acting as borrower under the agreements, has an obligation to provide the facilities agent with
an amended grid connection agreement extending the commissioning completion deadline.
Risks related to the impact of the COVID-19 virus on the construction of the Syvash wind farm
During construction, the Issuer and the project companies are dependent on a large number of
workers performing a range of functions in the project. There is a risk that the ongoing situation
related to the COVID-19 virus will prevent certain works from being done, which could jeopardize
the timely construction of the projects.
Risks during operational phase relating to insufficient quality of equipment and technical breakdowns
The Syvash wind farm currently under construction and the pipeline projects may contain defects
that are not detected until the completion of their construction or subsequent operation because all
possible scenarios or applications cannot be tested for. Any defects could cause the Issuer to incur
significant replacement costs or re-engineering costs, and may affect the power generation from the
wind farms, as well as the Issuer's credibility and sales.
Furthermore, insufficient quality of installed wind turbines and other equipment, resulting in degradation faster than estimated, may lead to lower revenues and higher maintenance costs, particularly
if the product guarantees have expired or the supplier is unable or unwilling to respect its obligations.
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Depending on the component that fails and the design of the wind farm, some or whole of the capacity can be out of production for some time, which may have a material adverse effect on a project's power generation, cash flows, financial condition and on the Issuer's business in general or the
value of the relevant security.
Risks relating to the price for generated power
The profitability of the Syvash wind farm and the other pipeline projects depends to a large extent
on the sales price of the produced electricity. The PPA entered into with Guaranteed Buyer for the
Syvash wind farm includes fixed euro ("EUR") linked price for power generation until 31 December
2029. However, insofar as non-compliance with the PPA terms or regulatory changes lead to preterm expiry of the PPA, reduction of the feed-in tariff, additional balancing costs, reduced payment
for non-delivered energy or other adverse regulations, the Issuer may be exposed to risks relating
to market prices for electricity.
Risks related to a decline in the market price of electricity following the expiry of the PPA term
31 December 2029
Market based electricity prices depend on a number of factors including, but not limited to, levels of
energy consumption, price areas and bottle necks in the transmission system, availability and costs
of primary energy sources (including oil, coal, natural gas and uranium), and the availability and
development in cost, efficiency and investments for other electricity producing technologies, including other renewable energy sources. A decline in the costs of other sources of electricity, such as
fossil fuels or nuclear power, could reduce the wholesale price of electricity. A significant amount of
new electricity generation capacity becoming available could also reduce the wholesale price of electricity. A decline in the market price of electricity could materially adversely affect the financial condition, profitability and cash flows of the Issuer.
Risks relating to grid connection and grid capacity
The Issuer is dependent on grid connection and sufficient grid capacity in order to be able to sell and
deliver the power generated from its future wind farms. The Issuer's operation and business may
suffer severe losses due to delayed connection by the grid company or due to planned or unplanned
grid capacity constraints, disconnections and curtailments that are not compensated by the grid
operator.
Weather variations, natural disasters, consequences of climate change, catastrophes and operational
disruptions
The Issuer depends on revenues generated from wind. Even in a stable climate, the weather and
wind variy from year to year, and thus also the production of energy from the wind farms. This will
influence the periodic revenues, and hence the results of operation and cash flows of the Issuer. Due
to climate changes it is also possible that the expected annual average wind speed changes over
long periods of time. It is possible that this may influence the expected performance of the plant
during its technical lifetime of 20 – 25 years.
Severe weather phenomena such as strong wind, hail storms, snow and lightening may disrupt the
functionality of components or even cause damage. Other phenomena that may occur are rodent
damage and fires. The risk of floods, landslides, earthquakes and volcanic eruptions, and other geo
hazards must be taken into account when evaluating the risk of wind farm operations.
Risks related to expiry or withdrawal of required permits and third party approvals
The Issuer’s operations are dependent on certain public permits and third party approvals in order
to conduct its business, specifically: land title documents, urban planning conditions and limitations,
construction permit, positive expert conclusion of the design project, licence for performance of the
construction works, positive conclusion on environmental impact assessment report, permit for removal of subsoil, commissioning certificate, electricity generating licence, permit for high-risk works
and high-risk equipment. Although the Issuer has organised its business in a manner seeking to
avoid misconduct and breach of conditions, there is no guarantee that future unforeseen events could
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not lead to the failure by the Issuer’s operations of meeting conditions in public permits or third party
approvals. In the worst case, such failure could lead to withdrawal of public permits or third party
approvals that could in turn have a material adverse impact on the Issuer's operations, business and
financial performance. Insofar as the Issuer’s operations are dependent on renewal of such permits
or third party approvals, no assurance can be made that relevant third parties and public authorities
make the necessary resolutions for such public permits and third party approvals to be renewed..
Risks related to the recent political instability in Ukraine
There has been a significant political instability in Ukraine over the past years. On April 21, 2019, a
new President of Ukraine, Volodymyr Zelensky, was elected. The Government has initiated discussions on various changes to the regulatory regime for renewable energy, and the outcome of these
discussions may have a negative impact on the projects of the Issuer. Specifically, there is a high
risk that the existing FiT tariff can be retroactively reduced in Ukraine. Such reduction in FiT tariff
may materially and negatively impact the Issuer’s financials and its ability to perform payment obligations under the Bonds.
Changes in the political status of certain countries may also impact the Issuer's operations. For
example, certain countries in which the Issuer currently operates or may operate in the future may
become restricted or sanctioned countries. As a result, the Issuer could incur fines or other penalties
for performing services or be required to cease operations in such jurisdictions.
Risks associated with the Zophia share pledge which relate to wind power projects under development
As security for the fulfilment of the secured obligations, there is a first priority share pledge over all
shares in the subsidiary of the Parent being the ultimate holding company owning the Parent's shares
in Azovenergoprom LLC, which in turn owns the Zophia Wind Farm. The Zophia Wind Farm is in final
stages of its development. There are a number of risks associated with the development of wind farm
projects. During the project development phase, important risks relate to the feasibility of the chosen
project location and wind conditions, obtaining and maintaining permits and approvals for the wind
projects including environmental impact assessment approvals, obtaining land use rights required
for the construction and operation of the wind farm with related infrastructure, obtaining rights of
grid connection and grid capacity, technical risks e.g. related to the chosen turbine manufacturer
and turbine model, as well as financial risks related to cost control, revenue forecasts and financing
of the project. Such risks may in turn adversely affect the Zophia Wind Farm in the construction and
operational phase, with potential adverse consequences for the project realisation, costs and revenues. The same applies if the necessary approvals and permits by ESIA and others, or the necessary
contracts for EPC or land use rights and/or infrastructure, are not obtained, which in turn may have
a material adverse effect on the value of the relevant security.
Financial risks
Financing arrangements
The Issuer is dependent on current financing agreements, including the Bonds, renewal of these
and/or obtaining new financing agreements to fund its operations, additional projects/acquisitions,
working capital or capital expenditures. The Issuer cannot assure that it will be able to obtain any
additional financing or retain or renew current financing upon expiry on terms that are acceptable,
or at all.
Revenues could be insufficient to cover the Issuer's operating costs and debt service
The future earnings from the Syvash wind farm could be insufficient to cover the operational costs
and other liquidity needs of the Issuer expected to be covered by the Issuer's earnings and cash
balance, and could be insufficient to service the Issuer's debt. Any shortfall in earnings compared to
operational costs, debt service requirements and other liquidity needs must be covered by the Issuer's cash position. The Issuer may not have sufficient free and available cash to service its debt and
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operational costs. Furthermore, any shortfall in earnings could adversely affect the liquidity position
of the Issuer.
Risks Relating to The Shareholder Agreement and Enforcement Of Transaction Security
The bondholders obligations will be secured by a pledge over part of the shares in East Renewable
Ukraine AB ("East Ukraine"). East Ukraine is jointly owned by the Issuer and Total Eren (the
"Shareholders"). The Shareholders have entered into a shareholder agreement governing the terms
of the partnership and the ownership of East Ukraine (the "Shareholder Agreement"). The Shareholder Agreement contain various terms including, inter alia, a right of first refusal to acquire shares
in East Ukraine prior to a third party buyer, transfer restrictions (including providing such shares as
collateral) and call rights in case of certain pre-agreed events (such as insolvency or material
breaches). Should an enforcement of the security provided under the Bonds occur, the terms of the
Shareholder Agreement may result in a prolonged enforcement process and may further limit the
number of potential purchasers of the shares. As a result, the bondholders may not recover the full
value (or any value in the case of an enforcement sale) of the shares. Furthermore, should the Issuer
or Total Eren become insolvent or breach any material terms of the Shareholder Agreement, the
non-aggrieving party may purchase the shares for a price equal the full fair value or to part of the
fair value, determined by an external valuer in accordance with the provisions of the Shareholder
Agreement. Should any such event occur in connection with an acceleration of the Bonds or an
enforcement of the security, there is a risk that the enforcement is delayed or that bondholders may
not recover the full value (or any value in the case of an enforcement sale) of the shares.
Following the enforcement of the shares in East Ukraine, the bondholders or any third party buyer
will own East Ukraine together with Total Eren. As a result, there might be difficulties in finding a
potential buyer of the shares and may ultimate result in the bondholders not being able to recover
the full value, or any value at all, of the shares in East Ukraine.
Risks related to a change of control event under the Shareholder Agreement
Should either of the Shareholders become subject to a change of control event, the other Shareholder
will have the right to purchase the shares from the Shareholder being affected by the change of
control event. Following an enforcement of the shares in the Issuer, a change of control event will
be triggered in accordance with the Shareholder Agreement which entails that Total Eren may purchase the shares in the Issuer. Should such change of control event occur, this may result in the
bondholders not being able to recover the full value, or any value at all, of the shares in the Issuer.
Risks related to the Issuer's ability to obtain cash from the Syvash wind farm through its operating
entity
For the Syvash wind farm, the Issuer will conduct its operations through, and all assets will be owned
by, the operating entity in which the issuer has a 46.5% indirect minority interest through East
Ukraine. The cash that the Issuer obtains from the operating entity for the Syvash wind farm is the
principal source of funds necessary to meet its obligations under the Bonds. Contractual provisions
or laws, as well as the operating entity's and holding companies' financial condition, operating requirements, restrictive covenants in its debt arrangements and debt requirements, may limit the
Issuer's ability to obtain cash from the operating entity. The Shareholder Agreement contains provisions deviating the allocation of available distributable profits in East Ukraine between the Shareholders after an additional financial close of a refinancing in East Ukraine. In accordance with the
Shareholder Agreement cash available after an additional financial close of a refinancing in East
Ukraine will be allocated in a ratio of 60:40 between Total Eren and the Issuer, respectively and thus
deviating from the actual shareholding interest of 46.5% of the Issuer. In addition, as a minority
shareholders, the Issuer does not control the cash flows in East Ukraine and its subsidiaries.
Risks related to currency control
The government of Ukraine can change existing currency controls or impose new currency controls
for exchanging Ukrainian hryvnias to foreign currencies, including EUR. The new regulations for currency control became effective on February 7, 2019 and abolished the old licensing regime but still
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kept certain restrictions as to the limit of foreign currency which can be transferred outside of Ukraine
(EUR 2 million per year) subject to certain exemptions or a rather restrictive approach for buying
foreign currency and its cross border transferring.
Furthermore, the ability of the Ukrainian subsidiaries if the Issuer to make cross-border payments
may be further limited by other Ukrainian currency control regulations. The Ukrainian currency control regime is subject to change, with the National Bank of Ukraine exercising considerable autonomy
in its interpretation of currency control regulations and practice. There can be no assurance that
further restrictions will not be imposed by the NBU in the future, which may adversely impact the
ability of the Issuer to discharge its payment obligations.
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2. Persons responsible
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE INFORMATION
Persons responsible for the information given in the Registration Document are as follows:
East Renewable AB, Birger Jarlsgatan 2, 5 tr (36), 114 34 Stockholm, Sweden.

DECLARATION BY PERSONS RESPONSIBLE
East Renewable AB confirms that, to the best of its knowledge, the information contained in the
Registration Document is in accordance with the facts and that the Registration Document makes no
omission likely to affect its import.

08.07.2020

East Renewable AB

COMPETENT AUTHORITY APPROVAL
This Registration Document has been approved by the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway
(the “Norwegian FSA”) (Finanstilsynet), as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.
The Norwegian FSA only approves this Registration Document as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. Such approval
should not be considered as an endorsement of the Company that is the subject of this Registration
Document.
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3. Definitions
Company / Issuer / East
Renewable

-

East Renewable AB, a company existing under the laws of
Sweden with registration number 559155-6252 and LEI-code
549300M074JC9JHRDH92.

EBRD

-

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development.

EPC

-

Engineering, Procurement and Construction.

EUR

-

Euro, the official currency of the European Union.

Guarantor

-

Means the Parent.

GW

-

Gigawatt.

GWh

-

Gigawatt hours.

m/s

-

Meters per second.

MW

-

Meagwatt.

NBT / NBT Group

-

Means the Parent and its subsidiaries from time to time.

NOK

-

Norwegian Kroner, the official currency of Norway.

Parent

-

NBT AS, incorporated under the laws of Norway with company
registration number 987 646 977 and LEI-code 549300OKBGM41DU1ML93.

Prospectus

-

The Registration Document together with the Securities Note
and the Summary.

Registration Document

-

This registration document dated 08.07.2020.

RMB

-

Renminbi, the official currency of the People's Republic of
China.

Securities Note

-

Document to be prepared for each new issue of bonds under
the Prospectus.

Summary

-

Document to be prepared for each new issue of bonds under
the Prospectus.

WTG

-

Wind turbine generator (or wind turbine).
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4. Statutory auditors
COMPANY:
The Company's independent auditor for the period, which has covered the historical financial information in this Registration Document, has been Deloitte AB, with business registration number
556271-5309, and registered address at Rehnsgatan 11, 113 79 Stockholm, Sweden.
Deloitte AB is a member of The Swedish Institute of Public Accountants.

GUARANTOR:
The Guarantor’s independent auditor for the period, which has covered the historical financial information in this Registration Document, has been Deloitte AS, with business registration number 980
211 282, and registered address at Dronning Eufemias gate 14, 0191 Oslo, Norway.
Deloitte AS is a member of Den Norske Revisorforeningen (The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants).
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5. Information about the Company and Guarantor
COMPANY:
East Renewable AB is a public limited company domiciled in Sweden and existing under the laws of
Sweden pursuant to the Swedish Companies Act. The Company was incorporated in Sweden on 12
April 2018, and the registration number in the Swedish Companies Registration Office is 5591556252 and LEI-code 549300M074JC9JHRDH92. The Company’s registered name is East Renewable
AB and the commercial name is East Renewable. The Company’s registered address is at Birger
Jarlsgatan 2, 5 tr (36), 114 34 Stockholm, Sweden.
Website: www.nbtas.no 1.
Pursuant to section 3 of the Articles of Association, the objectives of the Company's business shall
be, directly or indirectly, to own and manage other companies whose business are to procure, construct and operate wind power turbines and wind farms, and to conduct all business associated
therewith.
East Renewable develops renewable energy in Ukraine with focus on wind farms. The Company is a
wholly owned subsidiary of NBT AS. The main activity for the Company is to hold the NBT Group’s
investment in the 245.7 MW Syvash wind farm project near Lake Syvash in the Kherson region
south in Ukraine.
The Syvash wind farm is a joint venture between the French renewable energy company Total Eren
SA and the Saudi Arabian Al Gihaz Group that together controls 53.5 percent of the wind farm and
NBT that controls 46.5 percent of the wind farm (through East Renewable AB).
The joint venture company East Renewable Ukraine AB controls all shares in Syvashnergoprom LLC
indirectly through East Renewable Energy AB.
Legal structure – East Renewable AB:

1 Disclaimer - the information on the website does not form part of this Registration Document unless information is incorporated

by reference into the Registration Document
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As the Company’s main assets is the investment in East Renewable Ukraine AB the Company is not
expected to report any profit before dividends can be up streamed from the Syvash wind farm. The
Company is dependent on cash and other distributions from the Parent in order to comply its financial
covenants. However, the Company has secured financial resources to pay the interest on
NO0010852429 due on 21st May 2020. The funds for the financing of the interest payment due on
21st November 2020 has been planned to be the repayment of the stand-by-equity loan of EUR 10
million that the Company has given to the Syvash project. The Company is also dependent on the
Parent for services that comprise of accounting, controlling, consultancy, legal advice, legal fees,
information services, etc. There is a management service agreement entered into between the Company and the Parent to regulate this.
GUARANTOR:
NBT AS is a Norwegian wind power company and the Parent company of East Renewable AB. NBT
AS is a limited company domiciled in Norway and existing under the laws of Norway pursuant to the
Norwegian Companies Act. NBT AS was incorporated in Norway on 9 December 2004, and the organisation number in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises is 987 646 977 and LEI code
549300OKBGM41DU1ML93. The company’s registered name is NBT AS and the commercial name is
NBT. NBT AS’s registered address is at Filipstad Brygge 1, 0252 Oslo, Norway and its telephone
number is +47 63 79 11 00
Website: www.nbtas.no 2.
Pursuant to section 3 of the Articles of Association, the objectives of NBT is development of renewable
energy production, including taking ownership in companies within renewable energy or associated
areas of businesses. The company may also take part in import/export of equipment and services
within renewable energy, including investments in companies with technology and competence within
renewable energy or associated areas of business.
NBT develops wind farms in emerging markets. The company has offices in Oslo (Norway), Limassol
(Cyprus), Beijing (China), Kiev (Ukraine), Stockholm (Sweden) and Karachi (Pakistan). Corporate
management and administration are in Oslo. The Parent company has 17 employees and there are
a total of 24 employees in the NBT Group.
The NBT Group comprises the following subsidiaries:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus (100%)
NBT Development Ltd, Hong Kong (100%)
NBT International Ltd, Hong Kong (100%)
Shenzhen Aoluja New Energy Co Ltd, China (100%)
NBT (Baicheng) New Energy Development Co., Ltd, China (100%)
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore Pte Ltd, Singapore (100%)
NBT Pakistan Holding (Pte) Ltd, Singapore (100%)
NBT Windpower Pakistan (Pvt.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)
Zeni Windpower (Pvt.) Ltd, Pakistan (80%)
Limak NBT Renewable Energy (Pvt.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)
NBT Wind Power II (Pvt.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)
NBT Wind Power III (Pvt.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)
NBT ZAB Wind Power (Pvt.) Ltd, Pakistan (98%)
NBT Windpower Pakistan (Pvt.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)
East Renewable AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco AB, Sweden (100%)

2 Disclaimer - the information on the website does not form part of this Registration Document unless information is incorporated

by reference into the Registration Document
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

East Renewable Zophia Investments I AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia Investments II AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia Investments III AB, Sweden (100%)
NBT Ukraine LLC, Ukraine (100%)
East Renewable Zophia I AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia II AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia III AB, Sweden (100%)
AzovInvestProm LLC, Ukraine (99,99%)
Azovpromenergo LLC, Ukraine (99,99%)
Zophia III LLC LLC, Ukraine (99,99%)

Because of the capital-intensive nature of the group’s business, NBT is dependent on raising equity
or debt in order to fund development and construction of renewable energy projects. The Guarantor’s
main source of income is dividend from subsidiaries with income derived from power generation, and
its main asset is the receivables on NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, the holding company for NBT’s
activities in China. Hence the Guarantor is dependent on other companies within the NBT Group.
History
In mid-2000s, a group of Norwegian entrepreneurs wanted to devote their efforts in the fledgling
renewable sector in emerging markets. NBT AS was thus incorporated in 2004 and soon turned its
eyes to the then-starting Chinese market.
After several years of endeavours, NBT commissioned Baicheng Wind Farm in Jilin Province, China,
in early 2011, with an installed capacity of 50 MW. This project was the first wind power project that
obtained non-recourse project financing in China, through HSBC and the Bank of Communications,
with a total investment of RMB 600 million.
Later in 2011 and in 2012, NBT commissioned the Linxi I and II wind farms, located in Inner Mongolia,
through a joint venture with China Datang Corporation Renewable Power Co Ltd, a major publicly
listed, utility-scale renewable energy company in China. The Linxi investments totalled RMB 850
million.
Apart from China, NBT was also actively looking at opportunities in other emerging markets, including
Pakistan, Thailand, Vietnam and Ukraine.
In 2018, NBT, through East Renewable AB, acquired Syvashenergoprom LLC, a wind farm company
located in Kherson, Ukraine, with a 3 MW wind farm in operation. At the moment, Syvashenergoprom
is extending the wind farm with 63 turbines with an installed capacity of 245.7 MW of which 10
turbines had technical completion in 2019 and the remaining will be completed during 2020. The
construction will be finalised during the fourth quarter of 2020.
Additionally, NBT has a pipeline of approximately 1,000 MW of wind farms in Ukraine that will be
commissioned by the end of 2022.
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6. Business overview
The NBT Group’s main business is development of renewable energy projects, which currently consists of wind power projects and development projects in Ukraine and China. The market for renewable energy projects is currently strong and anticipated to be further strengthened as fossil fuel
sources are reduced.
Ukraine
The wind conditions in Ukraine are among the best in the world for clean energy generation. Ukraine
is a country with a vast potential to increase wind power in the future. About 40% of the landscape
is suitable for wind power generation.
The Ukrainian Government has developed a strategy to bring the share of renewable energy in the
country’s energy mix up from 5 percent currently to 25 percent by 2035, and large-scale renewable
energy projects are burgeoning due to improvement in the nation’s investment climate.
NBT has started construction of the 245.7 MW Syvash Wind Farm, which is financed by a group of
international lenders led by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD).
In addition, NBT has acquired the Zophia Wind Farm with a total capacity of approximately 800 MW.
Construction is expected to start in spring 2020.
In May 2018, NBT opened its Kyiv office to support project development in Ukraine.
Continuing to look for opportunities as the Ukrainian market matures, NBT is well-positioned to help
the country achieve its renewable energy target.
Syvash Wind Farm
The name “Syvash” is derived from Lake Syvash, which looks pink in colour and is among the saltiest
waters in the world.
Syvash Wind Farm is located in the Kherson region, in Ukraine´s south.
In April 2018, NBT acquired, through East Renewable AB, Syvashenergoprom LLC, a Ukrainian company that has been operating an existing 3 MW wind farm under Ukraine’s green tariff since 2011,
with an additional 250 MW under development.
Partnering with Total EREN, NBT has successfully secured project debt of EUR 262 million for the 250
MW through a group of lenders led by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
(EBRD). The total project investment is EUR 376 million. Following the completion of the financing
for the project in 2019, NBT’s ownership was diluted to 46.5%.
Governed according to stringent European technical, environmental and social standards, construction was initiated in spring 2019. The windfarm is scheduled to be completed in June 2020 and will
generate 900.000 MWh per year and will have an annual turnover of over EUR 80 million.
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Country:
Area:
Year of commissioning:
Number of turbines:
Total capacity:
Rotor diameter:
Annual production:
Households served:

Ukraine
Kherson region
2020
63
245.7 MW
131 m
890 GWh
100 000

Zophia Wind Farm
The wind farm is located approximately 25 km southwest of Melitopol in the Zaporizhya region, north
of the Azov Sea. It has a total capacity of approximately 800 MW. The site, mostly flat terrain,
stretches over 39 kilometers from north to south. NBT plans to develop the wind farm in three
phases: Zophia I of 42.5 MW, Zophia II of 300 MW and Zophia III of 450 MW.
Internationally reputable WTG suppliers and EPC contractors will be selected for the three phases.
NBT will partner up with a reputable and experienced corporation in this landmark project. The total
investment of the three phases is in excess of EUR 1 billion.
Phase I is expected to be commissioned by the end of 2020, phase II and III by the end of 2022.
The Zophia Wind Farm is in final stages of its development.

Country:
Area:
Year of commissioning:
Number of turbines:
Total capacity:
Rotor diameter:
Annual production:
Households served:

Ukraine
Zaporizhia region
2020-2021
160
792.5 MW
145 m – 155
3,000 GWh
353 000

China
The Energy Production and Consumption Revolution Strategy 2016-2030 indicates that by 2030,
50% of total electric power generation will be from non-fossil energy sources, including nuclear and
renewable energy. The number was 30% in the end of 2019.
According to China’s National Energy Administration (NEA), 25.74GW of wind power capacity was
connected to the grid during 2019, increasing the total grid connected capacity to 210GW. Wind
power capacity accounts for 10.4% of total installed power capacity in China and 5.5% of total electricity production. Ever since China adopted the feed-in tariff mechanism for wind power projects in
2006, its wind power market has been ballooning and it has been the world’s largest market both in
terms of total installed capacity and yearly growth.
A new regulation issued by NDRC in 2019 announced that starting from 1 January 2021, all newly
approved onshore wind projects shall reach the grid parity (zero-subsidy) which is between US$4065/MWh depends on regions.
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By reference to all of China’s provinces, Inner Mongolia has the largest wind power capacity, totalling
about 30.07 GW by the end of 2019.
As one of the pioneers in China’s wind power market, NBT has built two wind farms in northern China
with a total capacity of 149.5 MW.
Baicheng Wind Farm
Baicheng was identified as a major site for the development of alternative energy, due to its abundant
wind resources and flat land.
Baicheng, Jilin Province – immediately at the outset of China’s wind power industry, the city is one
of China’s wind power bases with plans for over 10 GW of installed wind power capacity.
The 49.5 MW Baicheng Wind Farm is located in Jilin Province in the central part of northeast China.
NBT owns a 33% share of the project, whilst the majority owner is GanttCo China Power Limited.
The wind farm was commissioned in early 2011 and was the first wind power project in China that
secured non-recourse project finance.
The technical availability of 2018 was 96.6 percent and decreased to 95.3 percent in 2019. The wind
farm delivered 110 GWh on-grid production in 2019, up from 97 GWh in 2018.

Country:
Area:
Year of commissioning:
Number of turbines:
Total capacity:
Rotor diameter:
Annual production:
Households served:

China
Baicheng, Jilin Province
2011
33
49.5 MW
82 m
96,700 MWh
19 200

Linxi Wind Farm
By reference to all of China’s provinces, Inner Mongolia has the largest wind power capacity, totalling
about about 30.07 GW by the end of 2019.
Inner Mongolia – home to the Mongolian ethnic culture, and the starting point of Genghis Khan ’s
conquest of power and surrounding territories, this autonomous region in North China is known for
its endless grasslands and hospitable people. Nowadays, there is something new to see here – an
increasing number of rotating wind turbine blades not only produce electric power, but also provide
evidence of a green industrial revolution.
The Linxi I and Linxi II wind farms are located in Linxi county in Chifeng, Inner Mongolia Autonomous
Region, and have a capacity of 50 MW each.
Linxi I was fully commissioned in February 2011, and Linxi II in November 2012. The project company
is jointly owned by NBT and partner Datang, one of the top state-owned power companies in China.
NBT has a 49% share of the joint venture.
European wind turbines Vestas and Gamesa were procured for Linxi I and Linxi II, respectively.
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One of the best locations for wind power in China, Linxi enjoys an average wind speed of about 8
m/s. Technical availability was in 2019 93.6%, down from 98.1% in 2018. Delivered electricity production decreased from 257.8 GWh in 2018 to 245.2 GWh in 2019.

Country:
Area:
Year of commissioning:
Number of turbines:
Total capacity:
Rotor diameter:
Annual production:
Households served:

China
Chifeng, Inner Mongolia
2011
40
100 MW
80 m (Vestas), 87 m (Gamesa)
254,160 MWh
50 000

Other Emerging Markets
In addition to Ukraine and China, NBT looks at opportunities in other emerging markets across the
globe.
With a team of professionals boasting extensive knowledge and experience in complex renewable
energy projects, NBT is open to considering all utility-scale wind power projects in emerging markets
that are technically, financially, environmentally and socially viable.
Market description
All electricity generated by the renewable energy producers in Ukraine are sold to the Guaranteed
Buyer (“GB”), a state owned limited company. GB is also responsible for purchasing a share of electricity from Energoatom, the nuclear power operator and certain combined heat and power plants.
The GB resells the electricity in the day-ahead market and uses the proceeds to finance the green
tariff paid to renewable energy producers and to finance subsidized electricity to households.
While most of the Ukrainian energy system operates synchronously with Russia, Belarus and Moldova, a small part of the network known as Burshtyn Island, which is surrounded by Hungary, Slovakia, Poland and Romania, is synchronised with the European Network of Transmission System
Operators (ENTSO-E). In June 2017, Ukrenergo signed an agreement on the integration the rest of
the Ukrainian power system into the ENTSO-E. Full integration is expected by 2025 and will facilitate
full synchronisation with European electricity systems and cross-border trade of electricity as well as
potentially cross-border balancing options in the long run. This development could reduce overall
system costs and at the same time boost competition and energy security.
In August 2017, the Ukrainian government published its New Energy Strategy (NES) until 2035. The
strategy focuses on reducing Ukraine’s energy intensity by half, renovating and replacing energy
infrastructure, and securing sufficient energy supply. Ukraine plans to implement its NES in three
stages, starting with energy sector reform through 2020. The first stage will aim for transposing the
EU’s Third Energy Package by fully liberalising the electricity and gas markets, progressively reducing
energy intensity, and achieving the targeted 11% share of renewable energies in final consumption
by 2020.
Stage 2 will emphasise operational integration with ENTSO-E, grid modernisation, energy efficiency
and generally smoothing operations in the new market environment through 2025. The final stage
will pursue sustainable development until 2035. During this phase, Ukraine intends to focus on in-
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vestments in new power generation facilities and the implementation of smart grids and client-oriented networks. As part of stage 1, Ukraine signed a new Electricity Market Law in June 2017, which
aims to transpose the Third Energy Package of the European Union. The new set of regulations have
replaced the monopolistic single buyer model with an open and competitive market. In July 2019,
Ukraine introduced bilateral trading, market-based balancing, a day-ahead market and an intraday
market, mirroring the structure of many EU electricity markets. As part of the new law, Ukraine will
also legally and functionally unbundle the transmission and distribution network and refine and stabilise the regulatory framework for renewables. Nevertheless, the new Electricity Market Law only
sets out a framework for the future market, and further regulations will be required to make the
market fully operational.
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7. Administrative, management and supervisory bodies
COMPANY:
Board of Directors:
Name
Joar Gudmind Viken
Thorstein Jenssen
Bertil Martin Rosell

Position
Chairman
Board member
Board member

Businesss adress*
Birger Jarlsgatan 2, 114 34 Stockholm, Sweden
Birger Jarlsgatan 2, 114 34 Stockholm, Sweden
Birger Jarlsgatan 2, 114 34 Stockholm, Sweden

Management:
Name
Thorstein Jenssen

Position
Businesss adress*
Managing Director Birger Jarlsgatan 2, 114 34 Stockholm, Sweden

*The Company’s registered business address serves as c/o address for all the persons referred to in this section

GUARANTOR:
Board of Directors:
Name
Svein Sivertsen
Sverre Stavseth
Ulf Einar Juvel
Dag Fasmer Wittusen

Position
Chairman
Board member
Board member
Board member

Businesss adress**
Filipstad brygge 1, 0252
Filipstad brygge 1, 0252
Filipstad brygge 1, 0252
Filipstad brygge 1, 0252

Position
CEO

Businesss adress**
Filipstad brygge 1, 0252 Oslo, Norway

Oslo,
Oslo,
Oslo,
Oslo,

Norway
Norway
Norway
Norway

Management:
Name
Joar Gudmund Viken

**The Guarantor's registered business address serves as c/o address for all the persons referred to in this section

Set out below are brief biographies of the members of the Board of Directors and Management of
the Company in alphabetical order:
Bertil Martin Rosell
Mr. Rosell has more than 25 years of corporate legal practice and has previously been a partner at
major law firms and upheld senior inhouse positions at international corporates. For the past 10
years his principal focus has been on the sale, purchase, development and financing of wind projects
and other energy infrastructure.
Dag Fasmer Wittusen
Mr. Wittusen has a BA from Brown University and an MPA from Princeton University’s Woodrow
Wilson School of Public and International Affairs. Mr. Wittusen has extensive experience in international finance, investment banking, restructuring, negotiations and management. He is presently
Special Advisor for industrial investment company Aker ASA where he had previously held numerous
executive positions since 1996.
Joar Gudmund Viken
Mr. Viken has more than 25 years of global experience from wind power and real estate development
and operations. His extensive experience and global network makes NBT a global platform for realization of utility-scale wind power projects fueled by infrastructure capital. He is also an investor and
board member in several real estate companies.
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Svein Sivertsen
Mr. Sivertsen has an engineering degree from Norwegian Institute of Technology (NTNU). Mr.
Sivertsen is a professional board member and advisor for companies in a wide range of industries in
Norway. His previous positions include managing director of Fokus Bank ASA (now Danske Bank).
Sverre Stavseth
Mr. Stavseth holds a master degree in economics and business administration from NHH, Norges
Handelshøgskole, and used to be CEO of Borgestad ASA in 1990-2003. He also has board experience
from various companies in the shipping and building materials sectors.
Thorstein Jenssen
Mr. Jenssen has more than 20 years of experience from the Nordic and international power markets
working for both SME and blue chip energy companies. He is the founder and previously CEO of the
Norwegian hydropower developer Fjellkraft AS. Proven track record in business development, contract negotiations, corporate finance and project financing. Board member in Norwegian Ukraine
Chamber of Commerce.
Ulf Einar Juvel
Mr. Juvel is Executive Chairman and main shareholder of international lime product manufacturer
SMA Mineral Group. He has significant board experience from companies in sectors like high tech,
truck and wind power.
There are currently no potential conflicts of interests between any duties to the Company and Guarantor of the persons referred to in this section – chapter 7 - and their private interests or other
duties.
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8. Major shareholders
COMPANY:
East Renewable AB’s share capital is EUR 54,878.2152, - divided into 5,640 shares with each share
having a par value of EUR 9.73018 - fully paid. There is only one class of shares and all shares issued
carry equal rights.
The Company is wholly owned by NBT AS.
GUARANTOR:
NBT AS’s share capital is NOK 3,376,715.60, - divided into 33,767,156 shares with each share having
a par value of NOK 0.10, - - fully paid. There is only one class of shares and all shares issued carry
equal rights.
20 largest shareholders as of 17th April 2020:
Shareholder

Arctic Securities AS
Lani Invest AS
Aker Capital AS
Viken
Al Shamrani
Edda Invest AS
Sma Mineral B.V
Green Tech International ANS
Veda AS
Siviløkonom Bent Bugge AS
Borgestad ASA
Meteva AS
Luk
Burum
Frogner Boligeiendom AS
Skar
Frogner Boligeiendom AS
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.
Andersen
Byeiendom AS
Sabaro Investment Ltd

Total 20 largest shareholders

Number of shares

8 842 397
3 434 883
2 849 827
2 442 780
1 794 545
1 633 802
1 604 415
1 400 000
1 274 000
1 030 000
1 021 345
1 000 000
884 000
432 100
285 502
272 730
245 000
221 000
218 970
200 000
200 000

31 287 296

Ownership

25,84
10,04
8,33
7,14
5,24
4,77
4,69
4,09
3,72
3,01
2,98
2,92
2,58
1,26
0,83
0,80
0,72
0,65
0,64
0,58
0,58

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
91,43 %

The shareholders of the Guarantor were July 1, 2020, presented with an offer to sell all their shares
in the Guarantor to a corporate entity ultimately controlled by Aker ASA. The offer has been recommended by the Guarantor’s Board of Directors. The offer is subject to acceptance from more than
90% of the outstanding share capital. As per July 5th 2020, this threshold has been met. The shares
of the Guarantor will be placed in escrow pending fulfillment of certain conditions expected to occur
in Q3 and Q4 2020. It is expected that Aker ASA will announce the transaction on its Capital Market
Day, scheduled for July 17, 2020.
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9. Financial information
COMPANY:
The Company finances its operations through the issuance of loan instruments. The Company’s annual report for 2019 with comparable figures for 2018 have been prepared in accordance with the
Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554) and the Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Entities. RFR 2 states that in the annual report for the legal entity,
the Company is to apply all EU-endorsed IFRS as far as possible within the framework of the Annual
Accounts Act and with consideration given to the connection between accounting and. Financial information set out below is derived from these reports and are attached to this Registration Document.
East Renewable AB

Income statement
Balance sheet
Cash flow statement
Notes
Accounting principles
Auditors report
* With comparable figures for 2018

Q1 2020
Page 5
Page 7
Page 6
Page 8 - 9
Page 8
-

2019*
Page 5
Page 6
Page 7
Page 9 - 21
Page 9 - 11
Page 22 - 24

2018**
Page 3
Page 4 - 5
Page 6 - 7
Page 6
Page 8 - 12

** 12.04.2018 – 31.12.2018

The Company's historical financial information for 2018 and 2019 has been audited. The interim
report is unaudited. Please refer to the Company’s Annual Report 2019, Note 3 and Note 4, for
assumptions on going concern and financial risk management.

GUARANTOR:
The Guarantor’s consolidated financial statements for the group have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, relevant
interpretations and the additional Norwegian disclosure requirements following the Norwegian Accounting Act. The financial information set out below is derived from these reports and are attached
to this Registration Document.
NBT AS

Income statement
Balance sheet
Cash flow statement
Notes
Accounting principles
Auditors report

Group
Group
2019
2018
Page 8
Page 8
Page 9
Page 9
Page 10
Page 10
Page 12 - 34 Page 12 - 34
Page 12 - 17 Page 12 - 16
-61 - 64
Page 50 - 52

The Guarantors historical financial information for 2018 and 2019 has been audited.
* The Guarantor’s audit report for 2019 describes uncertainties related to the Guarantor’s ability to
continue as going concern and also includes an emphasis of matter.
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The auditor’s wordings are as follows:
“Material uncertainty related to going concern
We draw attention to the Board of Director’s report and notes to the financial statement, which
indicates that the company does not currently have secured the required financing to meet its financial obligations and capital needs. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in the
Board of Director’s report and in notes to the financial statements, indicate that there is a substantial
uncertainty that may create material doubt whether or not the going concern assumption is present.
The recorded asset value, particularly in relation to investments and prepayments, are based on
continuing operations and realization of further projects and no provisions have been made for expected losses that likely will occur in a situation with forced sale of assets rather than realization
through continuing use. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Other Matters
The company’s financial statements were resolved subsequent of the deadline set by law for completion of the financial statements.”
Overview of the Company’s and Guarantor’s bond issues:
ISIN
NO0010852429
ISIN

COMPANY
East Renewable AB 19/21 13,50% EUR C
GUARANTOR

ISSUE

MATURITY

OUTSTANDING AMOUNT

21.05.2019

21.05.2021

75 000 000 EUR
OUTSTANDING AMOUNT

ISSUE

MATURITY

NO0010745516

NBT AS 15/20 8,50% CONV

14.09.2015

14.09.2020

282 289 708 NOK

NO0010741358

NBT AS 15/20 8,50% C

30.06.2015

30.09.2020

340 101 770 NOK

Other statements
Financial statements
There are no significant changes in the financial position of the Company nor the Guarantor which
may have occurred since the end of the last financial period for which either audited financial information or interim financial information have been published.
Beyond what is described above about the offer for all outstanding shares in the Guarantor, there
are no recent events in particular to the Company nor the Guarantor which are to a material extent
relevant to an evaluation of the Company’s or NBT’s solvency.
The Issuer is expected to refinance its bond issue prior to maturity in May 2021. The Guarantor is
planning a directed convertible loan to Aker ASA during the third quarter of 2020 and is working with
a plan to postpone the maturity date of the bond loans due in September 2020 respectively.
There are no material changes in the Company’s or the Guarantor’s borrowing and funding structure
since the last financial year. A comprehensive refinancing of the Guarantor is planned for Q3 and Q4
2020.
Trend information
Ukraine has imposed strict regulations related to Covid-19. Some of these regulations have an impact
on the construction of the Syvash wind farm. Construction of the wind farm requires personnel to
travel to and from the construction site from within Ukraine and outside of Ukraine. The regulations
have prevented certain personel access to the site and has resulted in delays in commissioning. If
the regulations continue and/or there is an outbreak of Covid-19 on the construction site there is a
risk of further delays to the project.
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The impact of Covid-19 to NBT’s operations in China is minimal. Starting from May 2020, the domestic travel restrictions were gradually lifted. Most of the businesses in China are more or less back to
normal.
Other than described above, there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the
Company nor the Guarantor since the date of its last published audited financial statements or any
significant change in the financial performance of the Group or Guarantor since the end of the last
financial period for which financial information has been published to the date of the Registration
Document.
Other than described above, there are no other known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments
or events that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Company’s or the Guarantor’s
prospects for at least the current financial year.
Legal and arbitration proceedings
A former business associate of NBT has claimed compensation under a consultancy agreement entered into in 2017. According to the agreement, business associated would, under certain assumptions, have the right to 2% of the equity in any projects developed with the assistance of the company. The agreement was terminated in December 2017. NBT and its legal advisors have refused
the claim. The dispute resolution is arbitration under Norwegian law.
Other than the above mentioned there are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Company or the Guarantor
are aware), during a period covering at least the previous 12 months which may have, or have had
in the recent past significant effects on the Company, the Guarantor and/or Group's financial position
or profitability.
Material contracts
There are no material contracts that are not entered into in the ordinary course of the Company’s or
Guarantor’s business, which could result in any group member being under an obligation or entitlement that is material to the Company’s and Guarantor’s ability to meet its obligation to security
holders in respect of the securities being issued.
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10. Documents on display
For the term of the Registration Document the following documents where applicable, can be inspected:
•
•

the up to date memorandum and articles of association of the Company and Guarantor;
all reports, letters, and other documents, valuations and statements prepared by any expert
at the Company’s or Guarantor’s request any part of which is included or referred to in the
Registration Document.

The documents may be inspected at the website: www.nbtas.no
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11. Attachments
1) East Renewable AB – First quarter 2020 report
2) East Renewable AB – Annual report 2019 with comparable figures for 2018 including the
auditor’s report
3) East Renewable AB – Annual report 2018 including the auditor’s report
4) East Renewable AB – Articles of Association
5) NBT AS – Annual report 2019 including auditor’s report
6) NBT AS – Annual report 2018 including auditor’s report
7) NBT AS – Articles of Association
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Report for the first quarter of 2020

Panorama picture of the Syvash wind farm from March 2020.

Company profile
East Renewable AB (the “Company”) is a Swedish public limited company, based in Stockholm. The
Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Norwegian wind power company NBT AS (www.nbtas.no)
and the main activity for the Company is to hold the NBT Group’s investment in the 245.7 MW Syvash
wind farm project near Lake Syvash in the Kherson region south in Ukraine. The Syvash wind farm is
formally owned by Syvashenergoprom LLC (the “Project company”) and will be the largest wind farm
in Ukraine and one of the largest onshore wind farms in Europe. When completed and put into full
production the wind farm is expected to produce about 900 GWh annually.
The Syvash wind farm is a joint venture between the French renewable energy company Total Eren
and the Saudi Arabian Al Gihaz Group that together controls 53.5 percent of the wind farm and NBT
that controls 46.5 percent of the wind farm (through East Renewable AB).
The joint venture company East Renewable Ukraine AB controls all shares in Syvashnergoprom LLC
indirectly through East Renewable Energy AB.

Status and main events in the first quarter of 2020
Construction of the Syvash project
Following the completed financing of the wind farm the EPC contractor commenced mobilization for
construction. The first wind turbine was erected on 18th November, and as of today a total of 28
turbines have been erected. 10 turbines were mechanically completed in 2019 and qualify for the
higher 0.102 EUR/KWh feed-in-tariff. All remaining turbines will be subject to 0.09 EUR/KWh feed-intariff. While the first power sales are expected in July 2020, the construction of the wind farm is behind
the original schedule with the new target completion date being in Q4 2020. Based on the current
construction plan, the wind farm is expected to be constructed within the original cost budget.

The sponsors (Total Eren and NBT) are committed to high standards for health, safety and
environmental issues. So far, no major health or safety incidents have occurred. The project has taken
strict measures to mitigate the spreading of the COVID-19 virus on site and there are no known cases
on site to date. While this is encouraging, COVID-19 has affected the supply chain of the equipment
and people to the site. Disruptions caused by COVID-19 so far have been mitigated and there is
currently no delay to the COD of the project caused by this. We have experienced some environmental
incidents, including oil spills, however none of the incidents have had any material impact on the
environment. In November an unexploded ordnance was found on site. After a risk assessment a series
of risk mitigation measures have been implemented and this is not expected to have a significant
impact on construction progress for the wind farm.
As the situation related to COVID-19 is developing we cannot rule out delays to the project caused by
the COVID-19 outbreak.
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Feed-in-tariff regulations in Ukraine
The Syvash Wind Farm will sell its electricity under a feed-in tariff regulated by law. As previously
reported, there is an ongoing process initiated by the Ministry of Energy and Environmental Protection
to amend the feed-in tariff. During the first months of 2020 there have been negotiations between the
authorities and the renewable energy industry about the tariff regulations. The negotiations are now
in the final phase and based on current discussions the estimated average weighted reduction in the
feed-in tariff for the Syvash project is estimated at about 3 percent. We expect that an agreement will
be reached and approved by the Ukrainian Parliament during the second quarter.
Bond loan financing
The Company’s bond loan has a nominal interest of 13.5% per annum. The ambition has been to list
the bond loan on a stock exchange and a process to list the bond loan on Oslo stock exchange has been
initiated. It is expected that the bond loan will be listed during June. In the period from 21st May 2020
to the first listing date the interest on the bond loan will be increased to 16.5% per annum. From the
date the bond loan is listed the interest will again be 13.5% per annum. This will lead to slightly
increased financing cost for the second quarter of 2020.

Financial highlights
Income statement
East Renewable AB reports a net loss of EUR 2.85 million for the first quarter of 2020. The main reason
for the loss is financing costs related to the investments in the Syvash wind farm project. As the
Company’s main assets is the investment in East Renewable Ukraine AB, the Company it is not
expected to report any profit before dividends can be up streamed from the Syvash wind farm. This is
not expected to happen before 2023.
The company has an agreement with its parent company to perform management services on behalf
of the Company. The management services are invoiced on a yearly basis in arrears, hence no
management service costs have been recognized in the income statement for the first quarter of 2020.
In 2019 the total costs for the management services amounted to EUR 608 thousand (NOK 6 million).
The Company’s bond loan has a nominal interest of 13.5% per annum. The ambition has been to list
the bond loan on a stock exchange and a process to list the bond loan on Oslo stock exchange has been
initiated. It is expected that the bond loan will be listed during June. In the period from 21st May 2020
to the first listing date the interest on the bond loan will be increased to 16.5% per annum. From the
date the bond loan is listed the interest will again be 13.5% per annum. This will lead to slightly
increased financing cost for the second quarter of 2020.
Balance sheet and cash position:
The Company reports total assets of EUR 61 million a slightly increase from year-end 2019. The main
assts is the Company’s investment in the Syvash wind farm that amounts to EUR 43.2 million.
In connection with the project financing of the Syvash wind farm the Company granted East Renewable
Ukraine AB a loan of EUR 10 million that again is injected in the Swedish holding company (East
Renewable Energy AB) as a “stand-by-equity” commitment for the Syvash project. The “stand-byequity” can under certain conditions be used to fund cost overruns for the Syvash project. The “standby-equity” will be repaid following COD for the Syvash project less any funds applied for cost overruns
for the project, if any. The loan is expected to be repaid late in the fourth quarter.
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As of end March 2020 the Company had total bank deposits of EUR 5 million of which almost the entire
amount was restricted. The amount was applied when the interest on the green bond was paid on 21st
May.
The Company has further a long-term loan to its parent company of about EUR 2 million that was
granted in connection with the separation of the Zophia wind farm projects in 2019. The loan is due
for repayment 31st December 2021.
The Company reports a negative equity by the end of the reporting period. The board would like to
emphasis the value of the Syvash project in the opinion of the board exceeds the book value of the
investment of EUR 43.2 million. Applying the same valuation on the Company’s investment in the
Syvash project as Total Eren bought into the project gives an excess value of approximately EUR 25
million. This valuation fully restores the equity in the Company.

Stockholm, 8th June 2020

Board of Directors and CEO
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Statement of profit and loss
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Q1 2020

Full year 2019

Other revenues

-

11

Total operating revenues

-

11

Other operating expenses

(28)

(1 378)

Total operating expenses

(28)

(1 378)

Operating result

(28)

(1 367)

(2 895)

(15 965)

-

Financial expenses
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)

56

2

Net financial items

(2 839)

(15 963)

Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations

(2 868)

(17 330)

Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) for the period from continuing operations

(2 868)

(17 330)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the period, net of tax

(2 868)

(17 330)
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Statement of cash flows
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Q1 2020

Full year 2019

Result before tax

(2 868)

(17 330)

Net foreign exchange effect

56

-

Interest costs with no cash effect

357

15 932

Other working capital adjustments

2 444

1 818

Net cash flow from operating activities

(11)

420

Loan to joint ventures

-

(10 000)

Loan to parent company

-

(2 020)

Cash flow from acquisition a of subsidiaries and joint ventures

-

(36 509)

Cash flow from disposal of subsidiaries and joint ventures

-

1 375

Net cash flow from investing activities

-

(47 154)

Proceeds from share issue

-

4 439

Repayments of loans and borrowings

-

(70 000)

Proceeds from loans and borrowings

-

128 692

Repayment of interest-bearing debt

-

(11 358)

Net cash flow from financing activities

-

51 772

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

(11)

5 038

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period

5 038

1

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

5 027

5 039

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted funds

5 023

5 032

4

7

5 027

5 039

Cash and cash equivalents
Sum
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Statement of financial position as of March 31, 2020

(Amounts in EUR 1000)

31.03.2020

31.12.2019

43 235

43 235

2 020

2 020

Total non-current assets

45 255

45 255

Short term loans and receivables

10 692

10 518

5 023

5 038
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Current assets

15 719

15 557

Total assets

60 974

60 812

ASSETS
Investments in joint ventures
Long-term receivables from mother

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Cash and cash equivalents

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital

55

55

Share premium

4 388

4 388

Total paid in equity

4 443

4 443

Accumulated losses

(21 064)

(18 195)

Total equity

(16 621)

(13 752)

Long-term interest-bearing debt

73 368

73 011

Total non-current liabilities

73 368

73 011

564

19

Trade payables
Other current liabilities, parent company

-

417

3 662

1 116

-

-

4 226

1 552

Total liabilities

77 595

74 563

Total liabilities and equity

60 974

60 812

Other financial liabilities
Other current liabilities
Current liabilities
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Statement of changes in equity
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Share capital

Share
premium

Accumulated
losses

Total equity

Equity at 31 December 2018

5

-

(864)

(859)

Profit or loss for 2019

-

-

(17 330)

(17 330)

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

(17 330)

(17 330)

-

45

Transaction with owners
Share issue 27 March 2019

45

-

Share issue 6 May 2019

5

4 388

-

4 393

Equity at 31 December 2019

55

4 388

(18 194)

(13 752)

Profit or loss for the period

-

-

(2 868)

(2 868)

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

(2 868)

(2 868)

55

4 388

(21 062)

(16 620)

Transaction with owners
Equity at 31 March 2020

Notes to the interim financial statements
NOTE 1 – GENERAL INFORMATION
East Renewable AB is an unlisted Swedish public limited company. The Company has prepared its interim financial statements
in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554) and the Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s
recommendation RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Entities. RFR 2 states that in the annual report for the legal entity, the Company
is to apply all EU-endorsed IFRS as far as possible within the framework of the Annual Accounts Act and with consideration
given to the connection between accounting and taxation. The interim financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) no. 34 Interim Financial Reporting, with the exception that
comparable figures for the first quarter of 2019 is not included. The reason for this being that the Company did not perform
a financial closing at the end of the first quarter of 2019 and comparable figures for this quarter is not viewed to give further
material information about the Company’s performance, results and financial position for the first quarter of 2020.
The accounting policies applied by the Company in these interim financial statements are consistent with those applied in
the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. Please refer to note 2 (summary of key accounting
principles) in the 2019 annual report for information on the Company`s accounting policies.
The Company's ultimate parent NBT AS, a Company incorporated in Norway produced consolidated financial statements
available for public use that comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB. These consolidated
financial statements can be obtained from NBT AS, Filipstad Brygge 1, N 0252 Oslo, Norway.
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NOTE 2 – GOING CONCERN
The Company has an outstanding green bond loan of EUR 75 million that matures on 21st May 2021 with semi-annual interest
payments due on 21st May and 21st November 2020 respectively.
The Company paid the interest due on 21st May 2020 from available financial resources. The funds for the financing of the
interest payment due on 21st November 2020 has been planned to be the repayment of the stand-by-equity loan of EUR 10
million that the company has given to the Syvash project. The stand-by-equity loan has been injected to East Renewable
Energy AB through East Renewable Ukraine AB and serves as “extra line” of security for the lenders to the Syvash project
financing in the circumstances there would be cost overruns for the project. Our estimate is that this loan will be fully repaid.
However, the timing of the repayment is subject to the finalization of the wind farm in addition to certain other conditions
that need to be fulfilled before the security is repaid. Due to the uncertainties related to future construction progress of the
Syvash wind farm caused by the covid-19 virus pandemic, there is a risk that the stand-by-equity loan will not be repaid to
the Company prior to the due date of the interest payment on 21st November 2020. Should such an event occur the Company
needs to postpone the interest payment or raise financing from other sources in order to pay the interest when due.
A fire occurred at WTG55 on 19 May. No one was hurt and the company expects to receive full insurance coverage for the
incident.

NOTE 3 – SHARES JOINT VENTURES

Subsidiaries

East Renewable
Ukraine AB

Total

Joint ventures
Transfer from subsidiaries
Share issue 4 April 2019
Total shares in joint ventures 31 Mars 2020

41 096

41 096

2 139

2 139

43 235

43 235
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East Renewable AB (the “Company”) is a Swedish public limited company, based in Stockholm. The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Norwegian wind power company NBT AS and the main activity for the Company is to own and manage NBT s investment in the Syvash wind farm project
near Lake Syvash in the Kherson region south in Ukraine.
The Syvash wind farm is financed through a EUR 262 million loan from a syndicate of 8 development banks, including the European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development. The wind farm is the largest renewable energy project in Ukraine, and the first wind farm to be financed in the
international market. The windfarm is scheduled to be completed in Q4 2020 and will generate 900.000 MWh per year and expected to have an annual
turnover of approximately EUR 80 million.
In January 2019 the French renewable energy company Total Eren SA and the Saudi Arabian Al Gihaz group acquired 53,5% of the Syvash project. The
transaction was made at a considerable step up in equity values compared with East Renewable’s investments. Following the share issues in the joint
venture holding company the Company’s shareholding was reduced to 46.5% and the investment in the Syvash project was consequently reclassified
from investment in subsidiaries to investment in joint ventures.

COMPANY PROFILE
East Renewable AB (the “Company”) is a Swedish public limited company, based in
Stockholm. The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Norwegian wind
power company NBT AS (www.nbtas.no).
The main activity for the Company is to hold the NBT Group’s investment in the
245.7 MW Syvash wind farm project near Lake Syvash in the Kherson region south
in Ukraine. The Syvash wind farm is formally owned by Syvashenergoprom LLC (the
“Project company”) and will be the largest wind farm in Ukraine and one of the
largest onshore wind farms in Europe. When completed and put into full production
the wind farm is expected to produce about 900 GWh annually and have a turnover
of EUR 80‐90 million annually.
The Syvash wind farm is a joint venture between the French renewable energy
company Total Eren and the Saudi Arabian Al Gihaz Group that together controls
53.5 percent of the wind farm and NBT that controls 46.5 percent of the wind farm
(through East Renewable AB). The joint venture company East Renewable Ukraine
AB controls all the shares in Syvashenergoprom LLC indirectly through East
Renewable Energy AB.
THE SYVASH WIND FARM
In May 2017 the NBT Group started the process of acquiring a wind power project
in Ukraine. Following almost a year of negotiations and development work NBT
acquired 100% of the shares in Syvashenergoprom LLC (“Syvash”) in April 2018. At
the time of the acquisition Syvash owned an operating wind farm of 3 MW and land
rights and grid connection agreement for a wind farm with a capacity of up to 250
MW.
During 2018 NBT developed the 245.9 MW Syvash wind farm project according to
international standards and worked with JP Morgan to arrange project financing for
the project. The project financing closed in two tranches in January and April 2019
respectively with a loan facility of EUR 262. The total investment in the project was
EUR 376 million Syvash was the first Ukrainian wind farm to attract international
non‐recourse financing The loan facility is provided by European Bank of
Reconstruction and Development (EUR 75 million), FMO (EUR 50 million), Proparco
(EUR 42 million), Black Sea Trade and Development Bank (EUR 30 million), Green
for Growth Fund (EUR 25 million), IFU (EUR 15 million), Finnfund (EUR 15 million)
and NEFCO (EUR 10 million). At the date of this report a total of EUR 200 million has
been drawn under the facility. The facility agreement allows, under certain
conditions, for an additional debt facility of up to EUR 26 million.
Following the successful financing of the Syvash wind farm, New Wind 1 provided
equity of EUR 79 million through a series of preferred shares issues in the joint
venture company East Renewable Ukraine AB. New Wind 1 is controlled by the
French independent power producer and renewable energy developer Total Eren
with 70% and the Saudi Arabian Al Gihaz group with 30%. Simultaneously East
Renewable provided EUR 35.1 million in ordinary equity to the joint venture
company. Following these transactions East Renewable Ukraine AB ceased to be a
subsidiary of East Renewable and New Wind 1 holds preference shares that controls
53.5% of the all shares and voting rights in the joint venture company. The
preference shares are convertible into of the ordinary shares in East Renewable
Ukraine AB.
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The first wind turbine was erected on 18th November 2019, and as of today a total
of 26 out of 63 turbines have been erected. 10 turbines were mechanically
completed in 2019 and qualify for the higher 0.102 EUR/KWh feed‐in‐tariff. All
remaining turbines will be subject to 0.09 EUR/KWh feed‐in‐tariff. The first power
production is expected in June 2020. Construction of the wind farm is
approximately 4 months behind the original schedule and is expected to be
completed in Q4 2020. Based on the current construction plan, the wind farm is
expected to be constructed within the original cost budget.
The sponsors (Total Eren and NBT) are committed to high standards for health,
safety and environmental performance. So far, no major health or safety incidents
have occurred. The project has taken strict measures to mitigate the spreading of
the COVID‐19 virus on site and there are no known cases on site to date. While this
is encouraging, COVID‐19 has affected the supply chain of the equipment and
people to the site. Disruptions caused by COVID‐19 so far have been mitigated and
there is currently no delay to the updated completion schedule of the project
caused by this. We have experienced some minor environmental incidents,
however none of the incidents have had any material impact on the environment.
In November an unexploded ordnance was found on site. After a risk assessment a
series of risk mitigation measures have been implemented and this is not expected
to have a significant impact on construction progress for the wind farm.
As the situation related to COVID‐19 is developing delays to the project caused by
the COVID‐19 outbreak cannot be ruled out.
FINANCING
As a part of the financing of the investment in the Syvash wind farm the Company
raised a EUR 60 million bond loan in January 2019. The proceeds from this bond
issue was used to repay the EUR 10 million development bond issued in 2018
inclusive of interest with EUR 10.9 million. Finance the EUR 35.1 million equity
investment in the joint venture company, prepay interest and fees to bondholders,
and pay fees and costs to financial advisors with a total of EUR 8.0 million. The
remaining part was spent on repayment on loans to the parent company and for
general corporate purposes.
The EUR 60 million bond loan was refinanced in May 2019 with a EUR 75 million
green bond issue. The maturity date for the green bond is 21st May 2021. Interest
will be twice per year with latest payment on 21st November 2019. The bond carries
an interest rate of 13.5 per annum.
The Company has undertaken an obligation to list the green bond on a regulated
stock exchange prior to 21st May 2020. The process to list the green bond has
commenced and stand at its early preparations, however, the outbreak of the
covid‐19 virus pandemic has slowed the process and delayed the first listing date
beyond 21st May 2020. In these circumstances the interest rate will be increased
with 3 percent points from 21st May 2020 to the first listing date.
SHARE ISSUES
The Company has made two share issues during 2019, one in relation to the
transformation from a private company to a public limited company in April and a
share issue in May in order to strengthen the equity of the company. In total the
share issues provided a total of about EUR 4.4 million in new equity to the Company.
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INVESTMENTS AND DISPOSAL OF THE AZOV SUBSIDIARIES IN UKRAINE
(ZOPHIA PROJECT COMPANIES)
As a part of the NBT Group’s growth strategy for Ukraine, the Company acquired 82
percent of the shares in two Ukrainian companies in January 2019 for a total
consideration of EUR 1.37 million. The two companies were wind power project
development companies in the Zaporizhia region in the south east of Ukraine with
a potential to develop wind farms for up to about 793 MW. If fully developed this
will be the largest onshore wind farm project in Europe. Following a review of NBT’s
legal structure in May it was decided to develop this project in a legal structure
separate from East Renewable AB and consequently the project companies were
disposed to other NBT Group companies in August 2019. The sales proceeds
correspond to the investment amount that the company paid in January 2019.
INCOME STATEMENT
East Renewable AB reports a net loss of EUR 17.3 million for the year compared
with a net loss of EUR 0.9 million in 2018. Due to the increase in the investment in
the Syvash project a comparison with 2018 is not considered relevant. The main
reason for the loss is interest and financing costs related to the Company’s
investment in the Sywash wind farm. Total financing costs for 2019 amounts to EUR
15.97 million and include interest and fees to bondholders and fees to the financial
advisor. Additionally, the company incurred operational costs of EUR 1.37 million
of which EUR 0.6 million is a charge from the parent company for management
services provided by it.
The equity financing of the Syvash joint venture investment has essentially been
made through new bond loans issued by the Company. Due to the timing constraint
for raising financing in January 2019 and the fact that the financing was going to be
injected as equity in the joint venture holding company the EUR 60 million bond
loan had a relatively high effective interest rate. The bond was intended to be a
short‐term bond loan and was refinanced with the green bond loan that was issued
in May 2019. The effective interest on the green bond loan inclusive of fees to the
financial manager is calculated at 13.5%. The green bond loan is due in May 2021
and the Company expects that the loan will be refinanced at a considerably lower
effective interest rate when the Syvash wind farm is constructed.
The Company has no employees and the day to day management of the company
is mainly performed by the parent company. A management fee of NOK 6 million
(EUR 0.6 million) has been charged to the Company for the services provided for
2019.
As the Company’s main assets is the investment in East Renewable Ukraine AB the
company it is not expected to report any profit before dividends can be up
streamed from the Syvash wind farm. This is not expected before the financial year
in 2023.
BALANCE SHEET
This is the first financial year the Company is applying RFR 2 Accounting for Legal
Entities and the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. The Company previously applied the
Swedish Accounting Standards Board (BFN) general guideline BFNAR 2012:1 Annual
Accounts and Consolidated Accounts (“K3”). RFR 2 is applied retrospective why the
comparative figures for 2018 have been restated according to RFR 2. The transition
date to RFR 2 was set at January 1, 2018. The transition effects on the financial
position, financial performance and cash flows of the Company is not significant.
The company changed the reporting currency from SEK to EUR the 01.01.2019, this
triggered an FX valuation change for the balance with 1 956 euros.
The main asset for the company is the investment in the joint venture holding
company for the Syvash wind farm, East Renewable Ukraine AB with a carrying
value of EUR 43.2 million. During 2019 total investment in the joint venture was
made with EUR 43.2 million of which EUR 35.1 million was cash investments and
EUR 8.1 million was a shareholder’s contribution to the indirect subsidiary East
Renewable Energy AB in January 2019. This contribution is accounted as an
investment in the joint venture holding company.
In connection with the project financing of the Syvash wind farm both the lenders
and our joint venture partner Total Eren required the Company to provide a “stand‐
by‐equity loan” of EUR 10 million to the Syvash project. This loan has formally been
injected to East Renewable Energy AB through East Renewable Ukraine AB and
serves as “extra line” of security for the lenders to the Syvash project financing in
the circumstances there would be cost overruns for the project. Our estimate is that
this loan will be fully repaid.
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The Company has also other receivables on the Syvash joint venture companies
amounting to about EUR 0,5 million that is expected to be paid following the
completion of the wind farm.
In connection with the separation of the Zophia assets from the Company a seller’s
credit agreement for EUR 2.02 million was entered between the Company and the
parent company related to the sale of the shares in the Zophia project companies
and the transfer of an inter‐company loan given to one of the project companies.
The amount under the seller’s credit will be paid on the 31st December 2021 at the
earliest.
At the end of 2019 the company had a total cash balance of EUR 5.0 million of which
the majority of the amount was restricted on a debt service account. Due to
negative interest charges for EUR accounts the deposited pre‐funded interest
balance has declined during the year.
As of year‐end 2019 the carrying value of the interest‐bearing bond loans amounts
to EUR 73 million. The face value of the bond loan amounts to EUR 75 million and
the deviation between the face value and the carrying value consists of capitalised
loan costs that is amortised over loan period.
Other current liabilities include accrued interest costs on the green bond loan with
EUR 1.1 million.
By the end of the reporting period the Company reports a negative book equity of
EUR 13.8 million. According to requirements in the Swedish Company’s Law a fair
value balance sheet (Swedish “kontrollbalansräkning”) has been prepared. In the
preparation of the fair value balance sheet the investment in the Syvwash wind
farm has been prepared based on the comparable valuation that Total Eren bought
into the project during the first quarter of 2019. Applying this valuation with a
discount of 10% due to the fact that Total Eren invested in preference shares, that
included some preferential characteristics compared with the ordinary shares held
by East Renewable AB, gives an excess value of approximately EUR 19 million. This
valuation fully restores the equity in the Company.
In the opinion of the board it is reasonable to apply the comparable transaction
where Total Eren bought into the project and that this is a conservative valuation.
In our view there is no events or circumstances subsequent to the transaction that
was made with Total Eren during the first quarter of 2019 that materially changes
the valuation assumptions that were made at that time.
Further, we do not expect that the outbreak of the COVID‐19 pandemic will reduce
the long‐term value of the Syvash wind farm.
LIQUIDITY AND GOING CONCERN
The Company paid the interest due on 21st May 2020 from available financial
resources. The funds for the financing of the interest payment due on 21st
November 2020 is planned to be the financed with the repayment of the stand‐by‐
equity loan of EUR 10 million that the company has given to the Syvash project.
However, the timing of the repayment is subject to the finalization of the wind farm
in addition to certain other conditions that need to be fulfilled before the security
is repaid. Due to the uncertainties related to future construction progress of the
Syvash wind farm caused by the covid‐19 virus pandemic, there is a risk that the
stand‐by‐equity loan will not be repaid to the Company prior to the due date of the
interest payment on 21st November 2020. Should such an event occur, the
Company might need to postpone the interest payment or raise financing from
other sources in order to pay the interest when due.
In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the financial statements provide a true
and fair view of the Company’s financial performance during 2019 and financial
position at 31 December 2019. We confirm that the financial statements have
been prepared based on the going concern assumption, and that it is appropriate
to make that assumption.
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MULTI‐YEAR REVIEW OF THE PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT
(Amounts in EUR 1000)
Total operating revenues
Total operating expenses
Operating result

2019
11

2018
‐

(1 378)

(116)

(1 367)

(116)

Net financial items

(15 963)

(748)

Result before tax

(17 330)

(864)

PROPOSED ALLOCATION OF RESULTS
The board of directors proposes that the loss for the year of EUR 17.3 million is
carried forward as losses carried forward. Total losses carried forward at year‐end
2019 totals EUR 18.2 million
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Notes

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
INCOME STATEMENT
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Note

Full year 2019

12/4 – 31/12/2018

Other revenues

11

‐

Total operating revenues

11

‐

Other operating expenses

(1 378)

(116)

Total operating expenses

(1 378)

(118)

Operating result

(1 367)

(116)

(15 965)

(842)

Financial expenses

19

15

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)

2

Net financial items

(15 963)

Group contribution

(748)

‐

Profit/(loss) before taxes

Taxes for the period

‐

(17 330)

14

Net profit/(loss) for the period

94
(864)

‐
(17 330)

‐
(864)

The company was registered at Bolagsverket the 12 of April 2018.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Net profit/(loss) for the period from continuing operation

Other comprehensive operating income (loss):
Total comprehensive income

5

Note

Full year 2019

(17 330)

‐
(17 330)

12/4 – 31/12/2018

(864)

‐
(864)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Note

2019

2018

10

ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries

6

‐

Investments in joint ventures

6

43 235

‐

Other non‐current receivables, joint venture companies

7

‐

9 951

Other non‐current receivables parent company

7

Total non‐current assets

2 020

‐

45 255

9 961

Receivables from associates and joint ventures

8

10 518

68

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted funds

9

5 038

‐

Cash and cash equivalents

9

1

1

Total current assets

15 557

69

Total assets

60 812

10 030

10

55

5

55

5

Share premium

10

4 388

Retained earnings

10

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital
Total restricted equity

(864)

‐
‐

Profit for the year

(17 330)

(864)

Total non‐restricted equity

(13 807)

(864)

Total equity

(13 752)

(859)
)

Interest‐bearing long‐term debt

11

Total non‐current liabilities

Trade payables

73 011

10 000

73 011

10 000

19

22

Short term liabilities, parent and other NBT group companies

12

417

Other current liabilities

12

1 116

Total current liabilities

‐

867

1 552

885

Total liabilities

74 563

10 885

Total liabilities and equity

60 812

10 030

The company was registered at Bolagsverket the 12 of April 2018.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Note

2019

Result before tax
Adjustments to operating cash flow:
Net foreign exchange effect
Interest costs on loans
Group contribution
Other adjustments

12/4 – 31/12/2018

(17 330)

(864)

‐

‐

15 932

‐

‐

(94)

‐

Cash flow before change in working capital

868

(1 398)

(90)

Other working capital adjustments

1 818

96

Cash flow from operating activities

420

6

(10 000)

‐

(2 020)

‐

Loan to joint ventures
Loan to parent company

(36 509)

‐

1 375

(10)

(47 154)

(10)

4 438

5

Repayments of loans and borrowings

(70 000)

‐

Proceeds from loans and borrowings

128 692

‐

Paid interest

(11 358)

‐

51 772

5

5 038

(863)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

1

‐

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

1

‐

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted funds

5 032

‐

7

1

5 039

1

Cash flow from acquisition a of subsidiaries and joint ventures
Cash flow from disposal of subsidiaries and joint ventures
Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from share issue

Cash flow from financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
Sum

7

6
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Share capital

Share premium

Accumulated losses

Total equity

Profit or loss for the period

‐

‐

(864)

(864)

Other comprehensive income for the year

‐

‐

‐

‐

Total comprehensive income for the year

‐

‐

(864)

(864)

Registration of share capital

5

‐

‐

5

Equity at 31 December 2018

5

(864)

(859)

Transaction with owners

‐

Profit or loss for the period

‐

‐

(17 330)

(17 330)

Other comprehensive income for the year

‐

‐

‐

‐

Total comprehensive income for the year

‐

‐

(17 330)

(17 330)

Transaction with owners

8

Share issue 27 March 2019

45

‐

‐

45

Share issue 6 May 2019

5

4 388

‐

4 393

Equity at 31 December 2019

55

4 388

(18 194)

(13 752)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION
1.1 General information
East Renewable AB ta.nr 559155‐6252 is an unlisted public limited company incorporated in Sweden. The company’s head office is located at Birger Jarlsgatan 2, 114 34, in
Stockholm, Sweden.
1.2 Owner
East Renewable AB acquired 100% of the Syvash wind farm project in the Kherson region, Ukraine in April 2018. Following the completion of the financing for the project in
2019, East Renewable AB ownership was diluted to 46.5%. East Renewable AB is a Swedish public limited company, based in Stockholm. The Company is a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Norwegian wind power company NBT AS (www.nbtas.no) and the main activity for the Company is to hold the NBT Group’s investment in the 245.7 MW
Syvash wind farm project near Lake Syvash in the Kherson region south in Ukraine. The Syvash wind farm is formally owned by Syvashenergoprom LLC (the “Project company”)
and will be the largest wind farm in Ukraine and one of the largest onshore wind farms in Europe. When completed and put into full production the wind farm is expected
to produce about 900 GWh annually.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF KEY ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
2.1 Basis of preparation
The annual financial statements of the Parent Company are presented in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554) and the Swedish Financial
Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Entities. RFR 2 states that in the annual report for the legal entity, the Company is to apply all EU‐endorsed
IFRS as far as possible within the framework of the Annual Accounts Act and with consideration given to the connection between accounting and taxation.
The Company's ultimate parent NBT AS, a Company incorporated in Norway produced consolidated financial statements available for public use that comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB. These consolidated financial statements can be obtained from NBT AS, Filipstad Brygge 1, N 0252 Oslo,
Norway.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and requires Management to exercise its judgment
in the process of applying the Company's accounting policies. It also requires the use of assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these
estimates are based on Management's best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.
2.2 New and revised IFRSs in issue, but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements a number of standards and interpretations were issued, but not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the
company. Those amendments or changes that may have an impact on the company’s disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at a future date are listed
below. The company intends to adopt these standards when they become effective.
In addition to this standard, the following revised IFRSs have been issued, but are not effective. In some cases, they have not yet been adopted by the EU. Amendments to
IFRS will lead to changes in RFR 2 that's applicable to East Renewable AB.






Conceptual Framework (amendment) References in IFRS Standards
IFRS 3 (amendment) Definition of a Business
IAS 1 and IAS 8 (amendment) Definition of Material
Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2016‐ 2018 cycle

East Renewable does not expect that the adoption of these Standards will have a material impact on the financial statements of the Company in future periods.
2.3 Current versus non‐current classification
The company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non‐current classification. An asset is current when it is:





Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle
Held primarily for the purpose of trading
Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period

Or



Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non‐current. IAS 1.60 IAS 1.66
A liability is current when:





It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle
It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period
Or



There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period
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The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.
The Group classifies all other liabilities as non‐current.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non‐current assets and liabilities.
2.4 Accounting for investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures.
Shares in subsidiaries and joint ventures are recognized at cost including related transaction costs less any impairment.
Impairment is assessed according to IAS 36.
2.5 Foreign currencies
(a) Accounting currency and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statement of the company are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the company operates (the
‘accounting currency). The financial statements are presented in euro.
(b) Transactions and balance sheet items
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency using the exchange rate at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Any foreign
exchange gains or losses arising in connection with the settlement of such transactions or the translation of monetary items (assets and liabilities) at the year‐end exchange
rates are recognised in profit and loss.
Non‐monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate in effect at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non‐monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising
on translation of non‐monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).
2.6 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 handles classification, valuation and accounting of financial assets and liabilities. The company applies the exemption from applying IFRS 9 to a legal entity and values
its financial instruments based cost according to RFR 2 in Swedish GAAP.
A financial asset or financial liability is recognised in the balance sheet when the company becomes a party to the instrument’s contractual terms. A financial asset is removed
from the balance sheet when the contractual right to the cash flow from the asset ceases, is settled or when the company loses control over it. A financial liability or part
thereof is removed from the balance sheet when the agreed obligation is fulfilled or otherwise ceases.
On initial recognition current assets and current liabilities are measured at cost. Long term receivables and long‐term liabilities are valued on initial recognition at amortised
cost. Borrowing costs are accrued as part of the loan’s interest expense using the effective interest method (see below).
The company is using the general approach in calculation expected credit losses. Payment history of the counterparty and other known information about the current and
future economic conditions are applied in the calculation of potential cash shortfall under different scenarios for the calculation of expected credit losses. After initial
recognition current assets are valued at the lower of acquisition cost and net sales value of the balance sheet date
Current liabilities are valued at nominal amount.
Financial non‐current assets and long‐term liabilities are valued after initial recognition as amortised cost.
Amortised cost
Amortised cost refers to the amount at which the assets or the financial liability was initially recognised, less repayment, supplements or deductions for accumulated accruals
using the effective interest method of the initial difference between the amount received/paid and the amount payable/receivable on the due date, and less impairment
losses.
The effective interest rate is the rate at which discounting of all future expected cash flows over the expected term results in the initial carrying amount if the financial assets
or financial liability.
2.7 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand and at bank. Cash equivalents are short‐term liquid investments that can be immediately converted into a known amount of cash and have a
maximum term to maturity of three months. The company’s bank deposits are held in solid international banks with low expected credit risk.

2.8 Share capital and share premiums
Share capital and share premium are classified as equity when no liability exists with respect to the transfer of cash or assets (fully paid in). Costs directly attributable to the
issue of shares are presented as a reduction in equity, net after tax.
2.9 Income Tax
The income tax expense for a period comprises current tax and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit and loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In such cases, tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. The tax expense is calculated in accordance
with the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements using
the liability method. If the company participates in a transaction for the purchase of an asset or liability that does not qualify as a business combination, deferred tax is not
recognised at the time of the transaction. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and
which is expected to be applied when the deferred tax asset is realised, or when the deferred tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are capitalised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available, against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
2.10 Dividend income
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders' rights to receive payment have been established.
2.11 Payment of dividend
Dividend to the company’s shareholders is classified as a liability from the date on which the dividend is approved by the annual general meeting.

10

East Renewable AB Annual report 2019

Notes

2.12 Group contribution
Income from group contribution is recognised when the company’s rights to receive the contribution has have been established. The group contribution is classified on a
separate line after financial items.

NOTE 3 GOING CONCERN
The Company has an outstanding green bond loan of EUR 75 million that matures on 21st May 2021 with semi‐annual interest payments due on 21st May and 21st November
2020 respectively.
The Company paid the interest due on 21st May 2020 from available financial resources. The funds for the financing of the interest payment due on 21st November 2020 has been
planned to be the repayment of the stand‐by‐equity loan of EUR 10 million that the company has given to the Syvash project. The stand‐by‐equity loan has been injected to
East Renewable Energy AB through East Renewable Ukraine AB and serves as “extra line” of security for the lenders to the Syvash project financing in the circumstances there
would be cost overruns for the project. Our estimate is that this loan will be fully repaid. However, the timing of the repayment is subject to the finalization of the wind farm
in addition to certain other conditions that need to be fulfilled before the security is repaid. Due to the uncertainties related to future construction progress of the Syvash wind
farm caused by the covid‐19 virus pandemic, there is a risk that the stand‐by‐equity loan will not be repaid to the Company prior to the due date of the interest payment on
21st November 2020. Should such an event occur the Company needs to postpone the interest payment or raise financing from other sources in order to pay the interest when
due.
The company reports a negative equity by the end of the reporting period and have done an “kontrollbalansräkning” by Swedish law. The board would like to emphasis the
value of the Syvash project in the opinion of the board exceeds the book value of the investment of EUR 43.2 million. Applying the same valuation on the Company’s investment
in the Syvash project as Total Eren bought into the project gives an excess value of approximately EUR 25 million. This valuation fully restores the equity in the Company.

NOTE 4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
4.1 Financial risk management
The company is exposed to a number of risk factors including operational risks and financial risks in the underlying joint venture company and financial risks at company
level. As the main source of income for the company is future dividends from the Syvash wind farm, both operational and financial risks in the joint venture may have
considerable impact on future earnings and value creation for the company. The Syvash wind farm has set up its own risk management system.
Financial risk management within the company is intended to support the value creation at the company level and relates to market price risks (which comprises of
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risks and liquidity and financing risks and arising from the financial instruments it holds. The financial risk management risk
initiatives and processes are performed by the board of directors in cooperation with the company’s parent company with the actual processes mainly performed through
a management service agreement between the company and the parent company. The main focus for the financial risk management is to ensure stable cash flow and
sufficient financing for the company. The board of directors’ monitors cash flow forecasts on a regular basis, and the overall financial risk position for the company is
reviewed on a yearly basis. In connection with the required re‐financing of the company’s interest‐bearing debt prior to maturity in May 2021 an updated assessment will
be made.
The risk management initiatives employed by the company are discussed below.
4.2 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Variable interest‐bearing instruments expose the
company to cash flow interest rate risk. Fixed interest‐bearing instruments expose the company to fair value interest rate risk.
The company has entered into a fixed bond loan agreement and hence has limited cash flow fluctuations from changes in interest rates. The company is, however, exposed
to a fair value risk for the bond loan up to the maturity of the bond loan in May 2021.
The non‐current receivable carries an interest of EURIBOR plus a margin and is floored at zero per cent. The current receivables do not carry interest.
4.3 Foreign currency rate risk
The company prepare its financial statements in euro and its interest‐bearing debt is denominated in euro. Consequently, there is not currency risk related to its interest‐
bearing debt and financing costs. Most of the operational costs are denominated in Swedish kroner and Norwegian kroner. On an overall basis the operational costs are
immaterial compared with its investments, hence no hedging instruments are applied in this respect.
The main investment of the company is the investment in the Syvash wind farm located in Ukraine. The wind farm is under construction and the EPC‐contract is denominated
in euro and the project loan is also denominated in euro. The feed in tariff regime for wind farms in Ukraine contain clauses that the tariff on a quarterly basis is adjusted for
currency movements between the Ukrainian hryvna and euro. Due to these facts, the long‐term dividend payments from the Syvash wind farm as well as the underlying
value of the Syvash wind farm is not expected to materially be affected by currency fluctuations between the Ukrainian hryvna and the euro.
4.4 Credit risks
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The company has no
trading activity and hence no trade receivables. Furthermore, the company is exposed to credit risk from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and other
financial instruments. The company is exposed to credit risk from loans given to its joint venture company and from its parent company. The company evaluates the credit
losses on each loan individually based on a specific assessment, considering the characteristics of the loan, past events, current and forecasted conditions and cash flow for
the debtor based on supportable information available for the company at the time of the preparation of the financial statement.
The company has given a “stand‐by‐equity” loan to the Syvash wind farm project through a loan arrangement to the joint venture holding company East Renewable Ukraine
AB. The “stand‐by‐equity” loan is granted to the Syvash project as an “extra line” of security for the lenders of the Syvash project in the circumstances there would be cost
overruns for the project. Our estimate is that this loan will be fully repaid. The company has also other receivable on the joint venture companies. The credit risk on the joint
venture companies are considered low. Furthermore, the company has given a seller’s credit to its parent company that matures on 31st December 2021. The credit risk for
this loan is also considered to be low.
The company’s bank deposits are held in solid well recognised Norwegian and international banks.
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4.5 Liquidity and financing risks
Liquidity risk is the risk that cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities do not correspond to the company’s financial obligations, and financing risks is that
the company is unable to raise required financing when required or will have to raise financing on unfavourable terms.
The company aims to have sufficient liquidity to meet its foreseeable obligations and to have alternative back‐up plans if required. The interest payment due in May 2020 is
paid from existing cash balances. Furthermore, the company has received small advances from its parent company in order to pay running operating expenses. The company
has identified a potential liquidity shortage in November 2020 as further outlined in the going concern note (note 3). The board monitors the liquidity situation continuously
and has prepared a plan to handle such an event if necessary. Furthermore, the company aims to refinance its green bond loan prior to its maturity in May 2021.
The below table sets out the company’s financial liabilities as of 31 December 2019 in relevant maturity categories:

(Amounts in EUR 1000)

0‐3 months

31.12.2019
Trade and other payables
Short term liabilities, parent and other NBT group companies
Interest and repayment of interest‐bearing loans
Total

3‐12 months

39
‐
‐
39

12‐24 months

‐
417
10 125
10 542

Total

‐
‐
80 063
80 063

39
417
90 188
90 644

4.6. Classification of financial assets and liabilities
Below is a table showing the classification of financial assets and liabilities.

(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Loans and receivables
at amortised cost and
bank deposit

Shares in joint
ventures at cost

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

Total

31.12.2019
Assets
Non‐current financial investments
Other non‐current receivables parent company
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

43 235
‐
‐
‐

‐
2 020
10 518
5 038

‐
‐
‐
‐

43 235
2 020
10 518
5 039

Total financial assets

43 235

17 577

‐

60 812

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

73 011
436
1 116
74 563

73 011
436
1 116
74 563

Shares in subsidiaries
at cost

Loans and receivables
at amortised cost and
bank deposit

10
‐
‐
‐
10

‐
9 951
68
1
10 020

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

10
9 951
68
1
10 030

Long‐term interest‐bearing debt
Trade and other short‐term payables

‐
‐

‐
‐

10 000
889

10 000
889

Total financial liabilities

‐

‐

10 889

10 889

Liabilities
Long‐term interest‐bearing debt
Trade and other short‐term payables
Other current liabilities
Total financial liabilities

(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

Total

31.12.2018
Assets
Non‐current financial investments
Non‐current receivables
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets

Liabilities
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NOTE 5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The company makes estimates and assumptions about the future. The estimates for accounting purposes that result from these, will by definition seldom correspond with
the actual outcome. The estimates and assumptions that involve a noteworthy risk of significant adjustments to carrying values of assets and liabilities during the next
financial year are set out in general terms below.
Assessment of deferred tax assets
The company has not generated profit, and in course of its main activity, the probability of having taxable profits before the expiration of tax losses, is difficult to substantiate.
Tax losses carry forward at 31.12.2019 is EUR 2.832 million, reference to note 14. No deferred tax asset is recognized in the financial statement at year‐end 2019.

NOTE 6 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINT VENTURES

Subsidiaries:

East Renewable
Zophia AB

East Renewable
Ukraine AB

31 December 2018

5

Acquisition of Azovinvestprom LLC and Azovpromenergo LLC (82%)
Shareholder contribution 29 January 2019
Share issue 29 January 2019
Transfer to joint venture

Azovinvestprom LLC/
Azovpromenergo LLC

Total

5

‐

10

‐

‐

1 370

1 370

‐

8 091

‐

8 091

‐

33 000

‐

33 000

‐

(41 096)

‐

(41 096)

(5)

‐

(1 370)

(1 375)

‐

‐

‐

‐

Transfer from subsidiaries

‐

41 096

‐

41 096

Share issue 4 April 2019

‐

2 139

‐

2 139

Total shares in joint ventures 31 December 2019

‐

43 235

‐

43 235

Sale of shares
Total shares in subsidiaries 31 December 2019
Joint ventures:

East Renewable Ukraine AB (ERU) with organisation number 559173‐8835:
ERU is the indirect holding company for Syvashenergoprom LLC, the project company for the Syvash wind farm. As a part of providing the equity financing for the Syvash wind farm,
East Renewable AB entered an agreement with New Wind 1 SAS, a company controlled by the French renewable energy company Total Eren SA and the Saudi Arabian Al Gihaz
group to make investment in ERU. Through shares issues in EUR on 29th January and 4th April 2019 both East Renewable AB and New Wind 1 SAS made investments in ERU. East
Renewable AB invested EUR 35.1 million in ordinary shares in ERU and New Wind 1 SAS invested EUR 79.0 million in class B shares with certain preferential rights to dividend from
ERU. The class B shares holds 53.5% of the voting rights in ERU and will receive the highest of 17% of the invested amount or 53.5% of the annual available dividend as dividend from
ERU. The class B shares are convertible to ordinary shares in October 2022. East Renewable AB holds 100% of the ordinary shares in ERU that gives a voting right for 46.5%.
In addition, East Renewable AB made a shareholder’s contribution to East Renewable Energy AB, a wholly owned subsidiary to ERU, on 29th January 2019. The contribution is
accounted for as investment in ERU.
Following the transaction with New Wind 1 SAS in January 2019 the investment in ERU was transferred from investment in subsidiaries to investment in joint ventures.
The profit in East renewable Ukraine for 2019 are 2.037 mill Euro and the total booked equity was 116 mill Euros at year‐end 2019.
Agreements with New Wind related to shares in ERU:
a)
Agreement to convert class B shares to ordinary shares
East Renewable AB has entered an agreement with New Wind that gives this company a right to convert the preference shares to ordinary shares in ERU in October 2022. The
agreement stipulates that if the conversion right is exercised all shares must be converted. Furthermore, the agreement stipulates that New Wind may be entitled to additional
shares based on a pre agreed calculation model for the Syvash project. The effect of the conversion may be that East Renewable AB’s shareholding of ordinary shares in ERU
may be lower than 46.5% of the total issued ordinary shares subsequent to full conversion of the class B shares. The potential dilution effect is subject to a number of factors
including an updated energy yield assessment, updated operating costs and other pre‐defined parameters in the calculation model.
b)

New Wind’s option to sell its shares in ERU to East Renewable AB
In the event that New Wind decides not to convert the class B shares to ordinary shares I ERU, New Wind has a right to sell 99.99% of its holding of the class B (preference)
shares in ERU to East Renewable AB. The option exercise date is the later of 31 October 2022 and two years following COD (“Completion of Delivery”) for the Syvash wind farm
as defined in the project financing agreement for the wind farm. The option price shall equal New Winds average purchase price for the ERU shares plus any accrued dividend
on the shares. The agreement furthermore facilitates a seller’s credit agreement to be given from New Wind with pre agreed interest terms and repayment terms. The
execution of the option agreement will be subject to consent from the lenders to the non‐course project financing for the Syvash wind farm.

The Company has made an estimate of the implicit option given to New Wind both the time the option agreement was entered in January 2019 and at year‐end 2019. The fair
value estimates are made according to IFRS 13 and is based on a number of unobservable inputs (level 3 inputs in the valuation hierarchy). A Black & Scholes model is applied as
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the basis for the valuation with an adjustment of the probability for the option being exercised. The estimated market value of the underlying investment made by New Wind in
the Syvash project is based on the transaction between Total Eren and Al Gihaz. The valuation is highly sensitive to the probability for the option being exercised. This probability
was assessed to be low in January 2019 and was further reduced at year‐end. The probability has been made based on an internal specific assessment of the risk related to the
Syvash wind farm, considering political risks in Ukraine, project construction risk and general financial and operational risk related to the Syvash wind farm. Applying these
principles the option was at the time the agreement was entered into (January 2019) calculated at an amount that was considered immaterial to the financial statement for the
Company. Hence, the option has not been recognized in the financial statement. The updated valuation at year‐end 2019 shows a further reduction in the option value as the
construction of the wind farm is progressing and that risks related to the project has been reasonably well managed.
East Renewable Zophia AB (ERZ) with organisation number 559189‐9082:
ERZ was established in December 2018 and was disposed the parent company NBT AS in August 2019 for a consideration that equalled East Renewable AB’s share investment in
ERZ.
Azovinvestprom LLC (AIP) with organisation number 38445930 and Azovpromenergo LLC (APE) with organisation number 42258182:
East Renewable AB entered in January 2019 an agreement to acquire 82% of the capital and voting rights in AIP and APE. AIP and APE are project companies for development of
wind farms in South Ukraine. The total consideration was divided into several tranches of which the first tranche of EUR 1.37 million was paid upon the closing of the agreement.
Following a review of the legal structure for the NBT Group in May it was decided to spin off both AIP and APE into a separate legal structure apart from East Renewable AB. Following
this decision AIP and APE were disposed to ERZ for an amount that equalled the first tranche that was paid to the sellers of AIP and APE. As a part of the reorganisation a restated
sales and purchase agreement was entered with the sellers of AIP and APE in August 2019. The restated agreement transferred all obligations and rights related to the purchase of
AIP and APE to ERZ.

NOTE 7 OTHER LONG‐TERM RECEIVABLES
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

NBT AS, Norway
East Renewable Energy AB, Sweden
Total receivables on group companies

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

2 020

‐

‐

9 951

2 020

9 951

Receivables on group
NBT AS long‐term receivable are an effect of an agreement by selling Azovinvestprom LLC and Azovpromenergo LLC to another wholly own daughter in the concern. The company
regards the receivables as long term, as repayments are not likely to take place within a 12‐month period.

NOTE 8 OTHER CURRENT RECEIVABLES AND PREPAID EXPENSES
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

13

68

Short term receivables, joint venture companies

10 505

‐

Total

10 518

68

Short term receivables and prepayments

Short term receivables on joint venture companies
The company has given a “stand‐by‐equity” loan to the Syvash wind farm project of EUR 10 million through a loan arrangement to the joint venture holding company East Renewable
Ukraine AB. The “stand‐by‐equity” loan is granted to the Syvash project as an “extra line” of security for the lenders of the Syvash project in the circumstances there would be cost
overruns for the project. Our estimate is that this loan will be fully repaid.

NOTE 9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(Amounts in EUR 1000)

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

Bank deposit ‐ restricted debt service account for bond loan interest payments

5 032

‐

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents

5 032

‐

Current accounts

7

1

Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents

7

1

5 039

1

Total cash and cash equivalents
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NOTE 10 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDERS

(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Share
Capital

No. of shares

Share
premium

Registration of share capital

500

5

‐

Equity at 1 January 2019

500

5

‐

Issued new share capital ‐ fully paid

4 640

45

‐

Issued new share capital ‐ fully paid

500

5

4 391

‐

‐

2

Conversion SEK to EUR
Transactions with owners
Equity at 31 December 2019

‐

‐

‐

5 640

55

4 393

Number of total shares are 5 640 with a nominal value of 9,73 EUR. The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Norwegian wind power company NBT AS, 987 646 977. All
issued shares have equal voting rights and the right to receive dividend.

Owner

No. of shares

Ownership
interest

NBT AS

5 640

100 %

Equity at 31 December 2019

5 640

100 %

12/31/2019

12/31/2018

NOTE 11 INTEREST‐BEARING LIAEBILITIES (BONDS LOAN)
Non‐current interest‐bearing loans and borrowings
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

Bond loans

75 000

Capitalised borrowing cost

(2 741)

Amortisation of borrowing cost
Carrying value of non‐current interest‐bearing liabilities
Interest‐bearing short‐term debt
TOTAL INTEREST‐BEARING LIABILITIES

10 000
‐

752

‐

73 011

10 000

‐

‐

73 011

10 000

Reconciliation of interest‐bearing debt
Total interest‐bearing debt at the start of the year

10 000

‐

Change in new loans with cash effect

65 000

10 000

Capitalised loan cost with cash effect

(2 741)

‐

Amortisation of loan cost (no cash effect)
Total interest‐bearing debt at year‐end

752

‐

73 011

10 000

EUR 10 million bond issue in 2018:
As a part of the financing of the acquisition and development of Syvash wind farm the company issued a EUR 10 million bond loan in August 2018. The bond loan had a
maturity date on 30 April 2020 and carried an interest of 12 percent per annum. In connection with the issuance of the EUR 60 million bond in January 2019 the bond loan
was fully repaid inclusive of accrued interest up to the repayment date.
EUR 60 million bond issued in January 2019:
In January 2019 the company issued a EUR 60 million short term bond loan in order to finance the EUR 35.1 investment in the joint venture holding company East Renewable
Ukraine AB. The additional proceeds were used to:





Repay the EUR 10 million development bond that was issued in 2018 inclusive of interest with a total of EUR 10.9 million,
Prepay interest, fees to bondholders and pay fees and costs to the financial advisors for the company with a total of EUR 8.0 million,
The remaining part was spent on repayment of loan / new loan given to its parent company and for general corporate purposes.

The bond loan was issued on 29th January 2019 and was repaid when the EUR 75 million green bond was issued on 21st May 2019. Total interest and underwriting fees for
the duration of the bond loan amounted to EUR 5.36 million and total fees to the financial advisor amounted to EUR 3.57 million.
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EUR 75 million bond issued May 2019:
On 21st May 2019 the company made a green bond issue of EUR 75 million. The bond issue was made to 99% of par and hence the net proceeds amounted to EUR 74.25
million. The net proceeds from the bond loan were applied as follows:






repay the EUR 60 million inclusive of interest that was not prepaid of EUR 0.9 million,
pre‐fund interest payments on a restricted debt service account of EUR 10.1 million,
fees to the financial advisor EUR 2 million and
general corporate purposes EUR 0.25 million.

The main terms of the bond loan are as follows:
 Fixed interest rate of 13.5 percent per annum with semi‐annually interest payments,
 Maturity date 21st May 2021,
 The bondholders have pledge in the issuers shares in East Renewable Ukraine AB and the parent company has pledge the shares in the issuer,
 Furthermore, the parent company has issued an unconditional guarantee to the bondholders,
 Pre‐fund interest for the green bond for one year.
The Company has an obligation to list the green bond on a regulated stock exchange prior to 21st May 2020, and in the event such a listing is not in place the interest rate for
the bond loans increases to 16.5 percent per annum from this date and to the first day the bond is listed. The process to list the green bond has commenced and it is expected
that the bonds will be listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange during the second quarter of 2020.

NOTE 12 TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

(Amounts in EUR 1000)
Trade payables

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

19

22

Other current liabilities

1 116

867

Total trade payables and other current liabilities

1 135

889

Short term liabilities, parent and other NBT group companies
Loan from group companies

Total trade payables and other current liabilities

417

‐

417

‐

1 552

889

Other current liabilities are primary accrued interest cost (1 096).

NOTE 13 REMUNERATION
There has not been any remuneration to the board of directors. The board of directors have got remuneration from NBT AS (mother) and are included at one of the costs in
the management fee that are been invoiced in 2019. See note 16 related parties. East Renewable AB have no employees in 2019.
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NOTE 14 TAXES
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

2019

2018

(17 330)

(864)

3 709

190

Permanent differences

‐

‐

Write down shares

‐

‐

Change in temporary differences

‐

‐

(3 709)

(190)

‐

‐

‐

‐

Deferred tax expense

‐

‐

Tax expense of the year

‐

‐

Taxable income:
Profit before tax

Tax at the corporation tax rate of 21,4 per cent (2018: 22 per cent)

Tax loss for the year that is not recognized in the balance sheet as deferred tax
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss

Tax expense of the year:
Current tax expense

Unused tax interest, brought forward
Unused taxable interest, expire 2025

(15 356)

Unused tax interest total

(15 356)

Unused tax losses

(2 832)

Unused tax losses total

(2 832)
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NOTE 15 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
(Amounts in EUR 1000)

2019

2018

Financial expenses

(15 965)

(842)

Total financial cost

(15 965)

(842)

Net change in foreign currency

2

‐

Net change in foreign currency

2

‐

NOTE 16 AUDIT FEES
Audit fees consist of fees for the annual audit‐services engagement and other audit services and is estimated for 2019 with 10 000 euros.

NOTE 17 RELATED PARTIES – TRANSACTIONS

Ownership interest
Name of company

Country

2019

2018

East Renewable Ukraine AB

Sweden

46.5 %

100 %

East Renewable Energy AB

Sweden

46.5 %

100 %

East Renewable Zophia AB

Sweden

0%

100 %

Azovinvestprom LLC

Ukraine

0%

0%

Syvash Eenergo Prom LCC

Ukraine

46.5%

100%

Sale to related parties

Name of company (Amounts in EUR 1000)

2019
East Renewable Ukraine AB
East Renewable Energy AB
East Renewable Zophia AB
Azovinvestprom LLC
NBT AS
Arctic Securities AS* – Shareholder in NBT AS with 24%

Name of company (Amounts in EUR 1000)

Purchases from related parties

2018

2019

2018

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

11

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

602

‐

‐

‐

9 157

‐

The balance sheet includes the following receivables and payables resulting from transactions with
associated companies:
Loan
2019

Short term receivables
2018

2019

Short term payables

2018

2019

2018

10 000

‐

120

4

‐

‐

East Renewable Energy AB

‐

10 000

386

94

‐

‐

East Renewable Zophia AB

‐

‐

‐

‐

40

‐

East Renewable Ukraine AB

Azovinvestprom LLC
NBT AS
Total
*Arctic Securities AS – Shareholder in NBT AS with 24%

18

‐

‐

‐

‐

11

‐

2 020

‐

‐

‐

377

80

12 020

10 000

506

98

417

80
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2018
In 2018 East Renewable AB (the company) was the parent company of a group consisting of the subsidiaries East Renewable Ukraine AB, East Renewable Zophia AB, East
Renewable Energy AB and Syvashenergoprom LLC. East Renewable AB is in their turn owned by NBT AS (org no 987 646 977). In August 2018, the company obtained from the
subsidiary East Renewable Energy AB all obligations according to a bond loan of nominally EUR 10 million which had previously been disbursed to the subsidiary.
2019
The Company has granted East Renewable Ukraine AB a loan of EUR 10 million that again is injected in East Renewable Energy AB as equity. The “stand‐by‐loan” can under certain
conditions be used to fund cost overrun for the Syvash project. The stand‐by‐loan will be repaid following COD for the Syvash project less any funds applied for cost overruns for the
project, if any. Our estimate is that this loan will be fully repaid. The loan is non‐interest bearing.
When the Company acquired Azovinvestprom LLC (AIP) and Azovpromenergo LLC (APE) the payment was EUR 1.37 million. As part of a reorganisation, AIP and APE were disposed
to ERZ for an amount that equalled what was paid to the sellers of AIP and APE (1.37 million EUR).
Claim on NBT AS expires 31‐12‐2021. It was established as a seller credit in connection with the sale of AIP and APE (1.37million) and a loan that originally given to AIP for 650 K Euro.
Short term liabilities, parent and other NBT group companies
Are based on invoices, cost or payments done of other companies regulated in agreements between the companies, further reference to note 8.
Short term liabilities, ERU AB and other joint venture companies
ER AB has incurred advisers’ costs related to the development of the Syvash windfarm project. According to the development and support agreement with the project company,
Syvashenergoprom LLC, specified external advisers’ costs can be re‐charged to the project company. This includes among others, fees to technical advisers, legal advisers, market
advisers, insurance advisers as well as other direct project specific costs, further reference to note 8.
Management services
NBT AS invoices management services to its subsidiaries on an arms‐length basis. The management services charges cover the cost of the services provided by NBT AS to its
subsidiaries, with the addition of a mark‐up of 5 percent. These services comprise management services in relation to financing, accounting, controlling, consultancy, legal advice,
information services and services for follow up on and monitoring of the Syvash investment. For 2019 the management fee amounted to 608 285 Euros (NOK 6 million).

NOTE 18 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
COVID 19 pandemic outbreak:
During first quarter 2020, the spread of the COVID‐19 virus caused global disruption with negative consequences both for human health and economic activity. The main
concern is the potential effect this may have on the Syvash project. The project has taken strict measures to mitigate the spreading of the COVID‐19 virus on site and there
are no known cases on site to date. While this is encouraging, COVID‐19 has affected the supply chain of the equipment and people to the site. Disruptions caused by COVID‐
19 have so far only caused minor delays to the first phase of the project. As the situation related to COVID‐19 is developing we cannot rule out delays to the project caused
by the COVID‐19 outbreak. It is, however, not expected that this will have a material impact on the long‐term value of the Syvah investment.
Fire at the Syvash wind farm:
On 21st May 2020 a fire started in one of the wind turbines on the Syvash site. An investigation into the causes and the consequences of the fire is ongoing, but preliminary
conclusion is that the nacelle of the turbine is burned out. No personnel were injured at the incident. We expect this to be an insurance matter and that the incident neither
will have any material impact on the progress of the construction of the wind farm nor any material financial consequence for the wind farm.
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NOTE 19 CONVERSION FROM SEK TO EUR
When the company converted from SEK to EUR, we use the conversion rate of 10,2752.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER
(Amounts in SEK 1000 and 1000 EUR)

Convert
from SEK to
EUR

SWE GAAP
2018 SEK

IFRS
2018 EUR

ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in joint ventures
Other non‐current receivables, joint venture companies
Other non‐current receivables parent company
Total non‐current assets

Other current receivables and prepaid expenses
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted funds
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

104

10

‐

‐

102 770

9 951

‐

‐

102 874

9 961

(191)

68

‐

‐

10

1

10

69

102 884

10 030

Share capital

51

5

Other equity

‐

‐

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Retained earnings

(8 638)

(2)

(864)

Total equity

(8 587)

(2)

(859)

Interest‐bearing long‐term debt

102 549

10 000

Total non‐current liabilities

102 549

10 000

‐224

22

‐

‐

Trade payables
Short term liabilities, parent and other NBT group companies
Other current liabilities

8 890

867

Total current liabilities

8 992

889

Total liabilities

111 472

10 889

Total liabilities and equity

102 884

10 030
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INCOME STATEMENT
Effect of
transition
from SEK to
EUR

SWE GAAP
2018

(Amounts in SEK 1000 and 1000 EUR)

IFRS
2018

Other income

‐

‐

Total operating revenues

‐

‐

Management services fee, parent company

‐

‐

Other operating expenses

(1 197)

2

(116)

Total operating expenses

(1 197)

2

(116)

Operating result

(1 197)

2

(116)

Financial income

‐

‐

Financial expenses

(8 407)

(842)

Group contribution

966

94

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)

‐

‐

Net financial items

(7 441)

2

(748)

Result before tax

(8 638)

2

(864)

Tax expense

‐

Net result

(8 638)

‐
2

(864)

NOTE 20 TRANSITION EFFECT OF FIRST ADOPTION OF RFR 2
This is the first financial year the Company is applying RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Entities and the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. The Company previously applied the
Swedish Accounting Standards Board (BFN) general guideline BFNAR 2016:10 Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts (K2)”. RFR 2 is applied retrospective why the
comparative figures for 2018 have been restated according to RFR 2. The transition date to RFR 2 was set at January 1, 2018. The transition effects on the financial position,
financial performance and cash flows of the Company is not significant.

The Board of Directors of East Renewable AB (publ)
Stockholm 8 of June 2020

Thorstein Jenssen
Board member

Joar Gudmund Viken
Chairman of the Board

Anders Rinzén
Certified accountant
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AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the general meeting of the shareholders of East Renewable AB
corporate identity number 559155-6252

Report on the annual accounts
Opinions

that could lead to significant doubts about the
company's ability to continue operations. This matter
does not affect our opinion on the financial statements.

We have audited the annual accounts of East Renewable
AB for the financial year 2019-01-01 - 2019-12-31.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the
Managing Director

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared
in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
East Renewable AB as of 31 December 2019 and its
financial performance and cash flow for the year then
ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. The
statutory administration report is consistent with the
other parts of the annual accounts.

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are
responsible for the preparation of the annual accounts
and that they give a fair presentation in accordance with
the Annual Accounts Act. The Board of Directors and the
Managing Director are also responsible for such internal
control as they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of annual accounts that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of
shareholders adopts the income statement and balance
sheet.

In preparing the annual accounts, The Board of Directors
and the Managing Director are responsible for the
assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting. The going concern basis of
accounting is however not applied if the Board of
Directors and the Managing Director intends to liquidate
the company, to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted
auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities section. We are independent of East
Renewable AB in accordance with professional ethics for
accountants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinions.

Significant uncertainty factor regarding Going
Concern
We want to draw attention to the income statement and
balance sheet reported in the annual report, which
states that the company show a loss of EUR 17,330,000
for the financial year ended December 31, 2019. Note 4
and note 4.5 in the financial reports indicating a
commitment of EUR 60,000,000 was entered and used
as part of the financing of the investment in the Syvash
wind farm. This bond loan was refinanced in May 2019
by issuing a "green bond" of EUR 75,000,000. The due
date for the "green bond" falls due for payment twice a
year and the latest payment was made on May 21,
2020.
Note 4 shows that the interest and repayment of this
“green bond” of EUR 10 542 000 matures within 12
months. The payment options for this debt are entirely
dependent on that the company's short-term receivables
is collected before the debt becomes due.
Further, as stated in note 4.5, these events and
circumstances, together with other issues stated in note
4, indicate that there is a significant uncertainty factor

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the annual accounts as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs and generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
annual accounts.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the annual accounts, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of the company’s internal
control relevant to our audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s
internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board
of Directors and the Managing Director.



Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of
Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
annual accounts. We also draw a conclusion, based
on the audit evidence obtained, as to whether any
material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the annual accounts or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion about the annual accounts. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the company to cease to
continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the annual accounts, including the
disclosures, and whether the annual accounts
represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit. We
must also inform of significant audit findings during our
audit, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identified.

Report on other legal and regulatory
requirements
Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts, we have
also audited the administration of the Board of Directors
and the Managing Director of East Renewable AB for the
financial year 2019-01-01 - 2019-12-31 and the
proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss.
We recommend to the general meeting of shareholders
that the loss to be dealt with in accordance with the
proposal in the statutory administration report and that
the members of the Board of Directors and the
Managing Director be discharged from liability for the
financial year.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We
are independent of East Renewable AB in accordance
with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and
have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
East Renewable AB
corporate identity number 559155-6252

opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the
Managing Director
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss. At the
proposal of a dividend, this includes an assessment of
whether the dividend is justifiable considering the
requirements which the company's type of operations,
size and risks place on the size of the company's equity,
consolidation requirements, liquidity and position in
general.
The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s
organization and the administration of the company’s
affairs. This includes among other things continuous
assessment of the company’s financial situation and
ensuring that the company's organization is designed so
that the accounting, management of assets and the
company’s financial affairs otherwise are controlled in a
reassuring manner. The Managing Director shall manage
the ongoing administration according to the Board of
Directors’ guidelines and instructions and among other
matters take measures that are necessary to fulfill the
company’s accounting in accordance with law and
handle the management of assets in a reassuring
manner.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration,
and thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is
to obtain audit evidence to assess with a reasonable
degree of assurance whether any member of the Board
of Directors or the Managing Director in any material
respect:


has undertaken any action or been guilty of any
omission which can give rise to liability to the
company, or



in any other way has acted in contravention of the
Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the
Articles of Association.

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss, and
thereby our opinion about this, is to assess with
reasonable degree of assurance whether the proposal is
in accordance with the Companies Act.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden
will always detect actions or omissions that can give rise
to liability to the company, or that the proposed
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss are not in
accordance with the Companies Act.

3(3)

As part of an audit in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. The examination of the
administration and the proposed appropriations of the
company’s profit or loss is based primarily on the audit
of the accounts. Additional audit procedures performed
are based on our professional judgment with starting
point in risk and materiality. This means that we focus
the examination on such actions, areas and relationships
that are material for the operations and where
deviations and violations would have particular
importance for the company’s situation. We examine
and test decisions undertaken, support for decisions,
actions taken and other circumstances that are relevant
to our opinion concerning discharge from liability. As a
basis for our opinion on the Board of Directors’ proposed
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss we
examined whether the proposal is in accordance with the
Companies Act.

Umeå, June 8, 2020
Deloitte AB
Signature on Swedish original

Anders Rinzén
Authorized Public Accountant

East Renewable AB
corporate identity number 559155-6252
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DIRECTORS REPORT 2019
2019 has been a year of delivery for NBT. After acquiring the Ukrainian wind developer Syvashenergoprom in April 2018 we brought in Total Eren as
equity partner and started construction of the 246.5 MW Syvash wind farm in February 2019. The windfarm is scheduled to be completed in October
2020, will generate 900.000 MWh per year and will have an annual turnover of over EUR 80 million. The wind farm is financed through a EUR 262
million loan from a syndicate of 8 development banks, including the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD). The wind farm is
the largest renewable energy project in Ukraine, and the first wind farm to be financed in the international market.
In 2019 NBT acquired Azovinvestprom, a local Ukrainian wind developer. Three wind projects with a capacity of 792.5 MW signed PPA’s which
qualifies the wind projects for the feed-in tariff that expires in 2029. All three projects have secured land, construction permits and grid connection
agreements. Together, the Zophia wind farms will be the largest onshore wind farm in Europe and the 6th largest onshore wind farm in the world.
COMPANY PROFILE
NBT develops wind farms in emerging markets.
The company has offices in Oslo (Norway), Kiev
(Ukraine), Beijing (China) and Stockholm
(Sweden)
Corporate
management
and
administration are in Oslo.

Such refinancing is expected to be finalised
during Q3 2020.

UKRAINE
The financing for the Syvash wind farm closed in
two tranches in January and April 2019 and is
now under construction. Syvash is financed by a
NBT owns 46.5% of the 246.5 MW Syvash wind
group of international lenders led by the
farm project and 99.99% of the 792 MW Zophia
European Bank for Reconstruction and
wind farm project, both in Ukraine.
Development (EBRD). Power China is the EPC
NBT owns 49% of the 100 MW Linxi wind farm in contractor and Nordex will deliver the 63 wind
Inner Mongolia in China. The wind farm is turbines of 3,9 MW each. The wind farm is
operated in a joint venture with Datang, one of expected to be finalised in October 2020 and will
China’s leading utilities. NBT owns 33% of the generate approximately 900 GWh and have a
49.5 MW Baicheng wind farm in the Jilin province
turnover of EUR 80-90 million annually.
in China.
NBT is developing wind projects in other
countries.
FINANCING
NBT operates in a capital-intensive industry, and
access to capital is essential for the company’s
ability to grow.
In May 2019 NBT’s subsidiary East Renewable AB
(Sweden) raised a Green Bond of EUR 75 million
to finance the Syvash wind farm. East Renewable
Ukraine AB raised EUR 79 million from Total Eren
in a preferred equity issue as part of the financing
of the Syvash wind farm. The transaction closed
in January and April 2019 in two tranches. The
preferred shares can be converted into ordinary
shares in East Renewable Ukraine AB in October
2022.
By year-end 2019 the nominal value of the senior
secured bond totals NOK 300 million and the
convertible bond totals NOK 282 million. The
convertible bond can be converted into shares in
NBT AS at NOK 30 per share. If converted at
maturity it will convert into approximately 10.2
million shares, or 22% of the total number of
shares after conversion. Both loans carry an
annual interest of 8.5 per cent.
NBT is close to realising a transaction with an
industrial partner. The transaction is expected to
be realised early in July, and thereafter NBT will
undertake a refinancing of all its obligations.

NBT is using the success of the Syvash project
development to expand the footprint in this
exciting market. And throughout 2019 NBT AS
acquired 99,99% equity of three project
companies holding the rights to develop the
three Zophia wind power projects in Zaporizhia
in Ukraine. The companies hold the majority of
the rights required to build up to 792MW,
including land leases, grid connection
agreements and PPAs. The project is split in three
project companies, Zophia I (42,5 MW), Zophia II
(300 MW) and Zophia III (450 MW).
The project companies signed power purchase
agreements with the Guaranteed Buyer in
December 2019, a pre-requisite for receiving the
feed-in tariff under the current law. The
remaining processes prior to financial closes are
as follows:
•

•

•
•
•

Upgrade
environmental
impact
assessments with the correct wind
turbine and locations
Finalize official version of the
environmental and social impact
assessment for international banks
Secure remaining land for overhead
lines (70% secured)
Secure additional land for larger wind
turbines than originally planned for
Secure
debt
financing
from
international banks

In October 2019 NBT signed engineering,
procurement and construction contracts (EPC)
with a major Chinese company. The deal includes
up to EUR 500 million in debt financing. In March
2020 NBT signed a mandate letter with JP
Morgan, a US investment bank, to act as lead
arranger for the senior debt.
COVID-19 has delayed public hearings for the
environmental impact assessment reports. The
local development team is making preparations
to schedule public hearings and get the required
signed offs from the various governmental
authorities for environmental issues once the
restrictions are lifted. The project continues to
have strong public support in the local
communities.
Over the last months the renewable energy
industry (through their associations) has
negotiated with the Ukrainian Government
related to certain changes to the feed-in tariff
and associated regulations. The outcome of this
process is likely to have minor negative impact
on the Syvash and Zophia projects.
NBT continues to look for opportunities as the
Ukrainian market matures and is well-positioned
to help the country achieve its renewable energy
target.
CHINA
According to
Energy Production and
Consumption Revolution Strategy 2016-2030, by
2030, 50% of total electric power generation will
be from non-fossil energy sources, including
nuclear and renewable energy. The number was
30% in the end of 2019.
China’s National Energy Administration (NEA)
report that 26GW of wind power capacity was
connected to the grid during 2019, increasing the
total grid connected capacity to 210GW. Wind
power capacity accounts for 10.4% of total
installed power capacity in China and 5.5% of
total electricity production. Ever since China
adopted the feed-in tariff mechanism for wind
power projects in 2006, its wind power market
has been ballooning and it has been the world’s
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largest market both in terms of total installed
capacity and yearly growth.
A new regulation issued by NDRC (National
Development and Reform Commission of China)
in 2019 announced that starting from 1 January
2021, all newly approved onshore wind projects
shall reach the grid parity (zero-subsidy) which is
between US$40-65/MWh depending on region.

PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements for 2019
have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS)
as adopted by EU. The consolidated accounts are
presented in Norwegian Kroner, which is the
functional currency of the parent company.

OPERATIONS
Linxi
The Linxi wind farm is located east of the city of
Chifeng in Inner Mongolia in China. Technical
availability was 92.3% for the year, down from
97.1% in 2018, mainly due to several technical
failures of Wind Turbine Generators (WTGs).
Delivered electricity production totalled 245.2
GWh in 2019. Production loss due to grid
constraints (curtailment) was 9.8 GWh which
equals to a curtailment ratio of 3.8%. Total
revenues reached RMB 101.3 million and net
profit totalled RMB 21.5 million. Accumulated
unpaid subsidy reached RMB 115.6 million by
end of 2019 which is a reduction by RMB 12.4
million from April 1, 2019. Through 2019 NBT
received USD 1.7m in dividend from Linxi and
expect to receive further payments in 2020. Most
of China’s renewables are developed by stateowned firms, but the gap between subsidies
owed and paid has hurt valuations of companies
traded publicly outside mainland China. There is
an awareness around this from Chinese
authorities and the expectation is that measures
are being taken to close this gap. This will benefit
NBT’s Chinese assets.

Consolidated income Statement
Total operating revenues increased from NOK 2.6
million in 2018 to NOK 305.96 million. The main
reason for this increase is the transition of the
investment in East Renewable Ukraine AB (ERU)
from a subsidiary to a joint venture. This
transition gives a gain in other income of NOK
230 million. The gain is described with detail in
note 6. In addition, sales revenue of NOK 76.2
million stem from invoiced service fee for the
development work of the Syvash wind farm
project.

Baicheng
The Baicheng wind farm is located near the city
of Baicheng in the Jilin province in China. The
technical availability of 2019 was 95.1 percent
compared to 96.6 percent in 2018. The wind
farm delivered 110.8 GWh on-grid production,
up from 99.4 GWh in 2018. The grid curtailment
of 2019 has been reduced significantly to 3.5%
from 10% in 2018 and it is predicted local grid
availability keep this level in 2020.

Income from power generation in joint ventures
and associated companies are recognised in
accordance with the equity method and
presented in a separate line in the consolidated
income statement. In 2019 the company
recognises a loss of NOK 13.8 million compared
to an income of NOK 13.0 million in 2018. NOK
13.0 million is recognised as profit from Linxi, a
loss of NOK 2.1 million is recognised from the
Baicheng joint venture and a loss of 24.7 million
is recognised from Syvash. The profitability for
the Baicheng wind farm improved as the amount
of curtailed energy decreased. The profitability
of the Linxi wind farm decreased due to grid
curtailment and technical downtime.
Total operating expenses decreased from NOK
104.1 million in 2018 to NOK 59.5 million in 2019.
The decrease mainly relates to development
costs associated with the Syvash wind farm of
which NOK 44.5 million was expensed in 2018.
Personnel expenses increased from NOK 13.4
million in 2018 to NOK 17.0 million in 2019.

Total revenues for Baicheng in 2019 was RMB
50.2 million and net loss was RMB 5.15 million. In
2018 total revenues amounted to RMB 44.3 and
the company had a net loss of RMB 9.6 million.
Accumulated unpaid subsidy reached RMB 43.53
million by end of 2019.

Net financial items were negative with NOK
234.1 million, compared to NOK 68.3 million in
2018. Interest cost was NOK 247.2 million in
2019, compared to NOK 74.6 million in 2018. The
main reason for the increase is the higher
interest-bearing debt for the Group.

Baicheng company signed an agreement with
HSBC and BOCOM in September 2019 to
restructure the loan to fit Baicheng’s forecasted
cashflow. After the restructuring, the next
principal payments will be RMB 26 million on
September 20, 2020.

Net loss for 2019 amounted to NOK 5.1 million.
Exchange rate differences from translation of
foreign operations were positive with NOK 2.98
million. Total comprehensive income for the year
was positive by NOK 13.5 million, compared to a
loss of NOK 154.3 in 2018.

Consolidated statement of financial position
Total book value of assets at 31 December 2019
was NOK 1 464.9 million, compared to NOK 387.0
million in 2018.
Intangible assets increased from NOK 92.1
million in 2018 to NOK 371.5 million in 2019. The
entire increase in intangible assets relates to the
acquisition of the Zophia wind farm companies.
At the time of the acquisition intangible assets
related to the acquisition totalled NOK 357.3
million of which project value of the Zophia
project was valued at NOK 293.0 million and
goodwill at NOK 64.3 million.
Investments in associates and joint ventures
increased from NOK 219.9 million to NOK 779.9
million. The main reason for this is the capital
contribution in Syvashenergoprom LLC, that
changed the ownership in NBT Group to 46,5%
and made it to an associated company.
Other non-current receivable and prepayments
increased from NOK 29.8 million to NOK 124.9
million. The amount consists of a standby equity
loan to the Syvash company structure. The loan
is expected to be repaid following COD.
The group had NOK 67.6 million in unrestricted
cash at year-end, and consolidated book equity
was negative with NOK 378.8 million.
As of 31 December 2019, the Group had interest
bearing liabilities with a carrying value of NOK 1
651.4 million. The main three loans are a senior
secured bond issue and an unsecured
convertible bond loan issued by the parent
company, with a face value of NOK 300.1 million
and NOK 282.3 million respectively. The third
loan is the EUR 75 million new green bond issued
in May 2019 by NBT’s subsidiary East Renewable
Energy AB. In addition, the unpaid purchase price
of the Zophia wind farm is recognized as an
interest-bearing debt. Estimated fair value for
the total debt is NOK 221.5 million, NOK 60
million is long-term liabilities.
EUR 10 million bond loan issued in 2018 by East
Renewable AB was fully repaid in January 2019 in
connection with the issuance of a EUR 60 million
bond. This bond was repaid when the EUR 75
million green bond was issued in May 2019.
The difference between the carrying value of the
loans and the nominal face value of the loans
relates to capitalised borrowing costs, fees and
expenses.
The conversion rights associated with the
convertible bond loan is, in accordance with the
IFRS reporting standards, separated from the
convertible bond and measured at estimated
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market value with a recognised value of NOK
27.9 million.
Deferred taxes increased from NOK 14.8 million
in 2018 to NOK 66.8 million in 2019. This increase
is related with the acquisition of Azovinvestprom
LLC (AIP) and Azovpromenergo (APE) LLC.
Other current liabilities increased from NOK 70
million to NOK 83.4 million.
Liquidity and cash flow
In 2019 the cash flow from the operating
activities is negative with NOK 7.6 million
compared with a negative cash flow from the
operating activities in 2018 of NOK 20.7 million.
The main reasons for positive cash flow in the
operating activities, is cash received for work
related to development and raising financing for
the Syvash wind farm project, NOK 72.9 million.
Furthermore, NBT has received part of the
approved dividend from the Linxi joint venture
due to the delayed payment of renewable energy
subsidies in China. No dividend has been
distributed in ##D<Previous_Year. The main
reasons for the negative cashflow is due to trade
payables NOK 16,4, prepayments to suppliers
and trade receivables of NOK 23.2 million,
advisors cost related to Syvash windfarm project
of NOK 15.4 million. Total amount of NOK -55
million.
Liquidity from investing activities includes the
net amount used to pay for the acquisition of
Zophia project of NOK 71.7 million. The cost of
the acquisition is paid in stages, and per 31.12
the amount of NOK 221.5 million is booked as an
unpaid liability. Further the group has spent
NOK 35.6 million in the development of the
Zophia project that has been capitalised in the
consolidated financial statement for 2019. The
group also paid a loan of NOK 6.3 million to the
project company Azovinvestprom (AIP) LLC,
Zophia I, before it became a wholly owned
subsidiary. In addition, the group has paid a
standby equity loan to the Syvash company
structure of NOK 98.6 million and financed NOK
338 million through equity investment in East
Renewable Ukraine LLC (ERU). Net cash flow to
ERU is 283, because the group has received
payments for advisors’ costs that is effected
from the changes in ownership. In total the
cash flow from the investing activities is
negative with NOK497.2 million.
The negative cash flow from the investing
activities and the operations was financed by
raising new loans of about (net) NOK 708.9
million. During the year NBT has paid interest
with NOK 137.39 million of which the majority
relates to the interest payment on the bond
loans received in East Renewable AB. The
interest on the remaining interest-bearing loans
have been settled by issuing additional bonds or
capitalised on the loan balance and had
consequently no cash effect for the group.
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Parent company activities and financial
statement
The income statement for the parent company,
NBT AS, has been prepared in accordance with
Norwegian generally accepted accounting
principles (NGAAP).
Both Syvash and Zophia, have been under
development in 2019. In 2018 NBT and
Syvashenergoprom LLC entered a letter of intent
for the development and the parties intended to
finally formalise a development support
agreement in 2019. The agreement was, signed
in January 2019 in connection with the signing of
the project financing for the Syvash project.
NBT has assisted the Syvash project company
with all major development work related to the
development of the Syvash project, including
financing, obtaining EPC contract, obtaining all
required governmental approvals, ensure all
required environmental and social studies are
prepared. This included contracting and
engaging advisers that were required to
complete obtain all approvals, a signed EPC
contract and financing of the project.
The development support agreement consists of
several elements for remuneration to NBT, and
includes:
•
•
•

Advisers' costs incurred by NBT to be
reimbursed by Syvashenergoprom within
certain limitations.
A fixed fee of EUR 8 million to NBT.
Additional development fees to NBT.

NBT has incurred advisers’ costs related to the
development of the Syvash windfarm project.
According to the development and support
agreement with the Syvash project company,
specified external advisers’ costs can be recharged to the project company. This includes
among others, fees to technical advisers, legal
advisers, market advisers, insurance advisers as
well as other direct project specific costs.
The fixed fee was invoiced from NBT in the
second quarter 2019 and has been paid by the
project company. The fee is recognised as
revenues in the parent company financial
statement for 2019.
Regarding Zophia wind farm, during 2019 NBT
has incurred in advisers’ costs related within the
development of the project. These costs are
being re-charged to the subsidiary East
Renewable Zophia Super Holdco AB, holding
company for the Zophia wind farms. Therefore,
there is no material effect in the financial
statement of the parent.
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Revenues from management services to
subsidiaries are charged with a total of NOK 12.1
million for the year.
Personnel expenses increased from NOK 5.8
million 2018 to NOK 10.7 million in 2019 due to
the incorporation of 6 employees. Other
operating expenses totalled NOK 22 million, an
increase from NOK 16.8 million in 2018. The main
reason for the increase is more use of
consultants as the activity level has been high
throughout the year.
Intercompany
management service cost has increased with
NOK 15.6 million in 2019. This relates to services
provided from personnel in subsidiaries mainly
consisting of the development of the Syvash
wind farm project.
Financial income decreased from NOK 18.5
million in 2018 to NOK 17.6 million in 2019.
Financial expenses increased from NOK 66.4
million in 2018 to NOK 75.5 million in 2019 due
to increases in interest-bearing debt.
Inter-company loans to the subsidiaries in Cyprus
and Singapore are denominated in USD, and the
depreciation of the NOK against USD during 2019
has contributed to an unrealised currency gain of
NOK 9.5 million. The comparable net unrealised
currency loss for 2018 was NOK 33.4 million.
A valuation of the equity in NBT Renewable
Energy Ltd is performed. The valuation is based
on a valuation of the Linxi and Baicheng wind
farm projects in China and takes into account the
discounted cash flow analysis in the joint
ventures. The valuation of the equity in NBT
Renewable Energy Ltd shows a value that is
slightly below the book value of the receivable
that NBT has on the subsidiary. The receivable is
planned to be paid through disbursements of
dividend and repayment of equity from the
Chinese asset owned by NBT RE Ltd. To assess the
recoverability a model has been made to
simulate the future disbursements from the
Chinese JVs to NBT RE Ltd for subsequent
repayment of the loan to NBT AS. The model
indicates that subject to the realization of certain
key assumptions pertaining in particular to
currency exchange rates and curtailment in the
Linxi JV the debt to NBT AS will be fully repaid.
Total book equity 31 December 2019 was NOK
28.6 million compared with NOK 23.2 million at
year-end 2018.
Conversion rights related to the issuance of new
bonds for settlement of interest for the
convertible bond and new convertible loans have
been valued to NOK 1.1 million and is classified
as other paid in equity. The amount will be
amortised and expensed over the remaining loan
period for the respective loans.
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Interest bearing debt comprises the senior
secured bond and the unsecured convertible
bond both with maturity September 2020.
Parent company cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities was positive
with NOK 45.3 million compared to the negative
NOK 34.5 million in 2018. The reason for the
change in net operating activities, is mainly due
to development service fee, received for work
related to development and raising financing for
the Syvash wind farm project. Cash flow from
investments was negative by NOK 35.15 million
as the parent company had to fund the
operations in the subsidiaries. Cash flow from
financing was negative with NOK 8.3 million
mainly due to the payment of interest on debt,
and repayment of loans during the year. Cash
flow from investments was negative by NOK
35.15 million as the parent company had to fund
the operations in the subsidiaries. Cash flow
from financing was negative with NOK 8.3 million
mainly due to the repayment of loans during the
year.
Approbation of profits in the parent company
The parent company, NBT AS, made a loss of NOK
9.2 million in 2019 and the Board proposes that
the loss is transferred to uncovered losses in the
balance sheet. The Board does not propose any
dividend distribution.
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consolidated financial statement and the
financial statement of the parent company have
been based on the going concern assumption.
Should the expected transaction, or a similar
transaction, for any reason, fail to materialize,
the conditions for the going concern assumption
is materially jeopardized. In such an event the
board would immediately need to seek
alternative ways to re-finance and/or raise new
equity from other sources. In an event that the
company is not able to refinance, postpone due
dates for its loans and/or raise enough capital
there is a risk that projects cannot be realised
and that the book value of assets will be eroded.
RISK MANAGEMENT
The group is exposed to a wide variety of risk
factors. A summary of the risk factors follows
below. For a more comprehensive overview of
the risk factors, see note 3.
Political risk
The company and its affiliates and the
development of their pipeline projects are
exposed to risks related to changes in legislation
and regulatory framework in the jurisdictions in
which they operate.

Financial and liquidity risk
The activities of the group are capital intensive,
and as income from power generation is limited
in the current phase of development, loss of
dividend and/or lack of financing can lead to
GOING CONCERN
As of Dec 31, 2019 NBT AS has total interest- shortfall of cash to fund the group’s operations.
bearing debt of NOK 578.58 million. The entirety of
the interest-bearing debt matures in the period of As outlined under the going concern section our
September 30, 2020. Furthermore the company assessment is that NBT based on current
has provided parent company guarantees for the expectations, estimates, projections and
EUR 75 million bond issued by its subsidiary East assumption, will need to raise additional capital
Renewable AB which matures on May 21, 2021 and
to continue operations for the next twelve
the EUR 25 million bond issued by its subsidiary
months period. As there is uncertainty related to
East Renewable AB which matures on August 31,
the timing of when the dividends from China will
2020.
be received, NBT may be required to raise
The company’s and the Group’s continued additional financing on a short-term period to
operations depend on successful refinancing of the bridge certain periods of cash flow deficiencies.
debt and on its ability to fund operations. As such
the going concern assumption on which the NBT will need to raise additional funds to
financial statement are prepared, hinges entirely develop and invest in the Zophia wind power
on the company’s ability to refinance and/or raise project in Ukraine.
new equity.
The company is currently in processes with
strategic, industrial investors. The investors have
performed different due diligence processes on
NBT. Based on the board of director’s current
knowledge about the investor’s interest, the board
is reasonably certain that a transaction will be
materialized.
Based on this the board has concluded that the
going concern principle as outlined in section 3-3
of the Norwegian Accounting Act can be applied,
and the board therefore confirms that the

Commodity price risk
The company’s main source of income is
dividend from subsidiaries with income derived
from power generation. In China, the project
companies have off-take agreements at fixed
prices regulated by Chinese law. In Ukraine the
price is fixed up to 2030 through a power
purchase agreement with the state owned offtaker. After 2030 the electricity will be sold at
market prices. There is uncertainly at which
prices the electricity will be sold and there is no
market for hedging of this risk.

Volume risk
Production of electricity from wind will vary with
technical availability, grid availability and wind
conditions. Since the power price paid per kWh is
fixed through contracts and the volume
generated is weather dependent, income from
wind power projects will fluctuate. Since NBT
owns a limited number of operational wind
farms, volatility of income from subsidiaries will
be significant. The profitability of the wind farms
is also dependent upon the level of technical
availability and any curtailment of grid capacity.
Currency risk
The reporting currency of the group is NOK.
Subsidiaries are funded through inter-company
loans in USD and EUR. The group’s operations in
China is denominated and financed in RMB, and
the RMB denominated project financing is a
hedge of the RMB denominated income stream.
Fluctuations in the exchange rate between NOK,
RMB and USD will influence cash flow in NOK
from the project companies and book value of
the assets. The Syvash wind farm has income in
Ukrainian hryvna. Until 2030 the price is indexed
to the exchange rate against EUR every 3
months. The intra-quarter currency risk is
hedged by selling hryvna against EUR and
depositing EUR in an offshore debt service
account. From 2030 the wind farm will be
exposed to exchange rate fluctuations as income
will be in local currency. At this point the EUR
denominated project finance loan will be repaid.
Interest rate risk
The wind power projects in China are financed
through floating rate senior loans and saleleaseback arrangements denominated in RMB.
Changes in the Chinese base rate will influence
cash flow and dividend to NBT. The Syvash
project is financed through a floating rate EUR
facility. Approximately 70 per cent of the loan is
swapped to fixed rate at every drawdown to
mitigate interest rate risk. Bond loans issued by
the parent and subsidiaries are subject to a fixed
interest rate, but changes in interest rates or
credit margins could influence the cost of
refinancing.
Credit risk
The company has a concentration of credit risk
towards its development partner in China. If no
further projects are realised, there is a risk that
the receivables cannot be recovered. All power
sales are based on power purchase agreements
with state owned Chinese and Ukrainian stateowned companies.
Operational risk
The company operates wind farms in China in cooperation with local partners. In Ukraine the
Syvash wind farm will be operated together with
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Total Eren. Operation of power generation
facilities is subject to operational risk and can
cause damage to people, machinery and the
environment. There have been no fatalities or
serious accidents related to operation of NBT’s
wind farms in 2019nor has there been any
significant absence from work due to illnesses.
The company is working to maintain a high
standard of safety in the planning, construction
and operation of the wind farms.
The construction and commissioning of the
Syvash wind farm will increase the operational
risk both during the construction period and as
the wind farm starts operating. This risk is being
mitigated through putting in place policies and
procedures according to industry best practice
and IFC and EBRD requirements.
SHAREHOLDERS
At 31 December 2019, the company had issued
34 219 239 million shares. All shares have equal
rights. There are no options issued to
management or staff. The company had 137
shareholders at year end.
ORGANISATION
The parent company had 9 employees and the
group had 17 employees at 31 December 2019.
The company encourages diversity, personal
skills and entrepreneurship when recruiting
employees.
IMPACT ON THE EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT
NBT is engaged in construction and operation of
wind farms. Wind power is a renewable energy
source and has a positive effect on the
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environment compared to traditional sources of
electricity generation. However, construction
work will always carry a risk of damage to the
local environment. Wind power causes no direct
discharge to surface or ground water.
Construction and operation of wind farms can,
under certain circumstances cause harm to flora,
fauna, the local environment and landscape. To
mitigate this NBT carries out extensive analyses
assessing environmental impact of its projects
and implements appropriate mitigative actions.
EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES
NBT encourages diversity in skills, experience,
ethnic background and gender and promotes
equal opportunities and rights. NBT does not
accept discrimination based on colour, language,
religion, ethnic background or other factors that
are irrelevant to the performance of the
individual or the group.
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The company does not engage in any research
and development activities.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
COVID 19 pandemic outbreak
During first quarter 2020, the spread of the
COVID‐19 virus caused global disruption with
negative consequences both for human health
and economic activity. The main concern for NBT
is the potential effect this may have on the
Syvash project. The project has taken strict
measures to mitigate the spreading of the
COVID‐19 virus on site and there are no known
cases on site to date. While this is encouraging,
COVID‐19 has affected the supply chain of the

The Board of Directors in NBT AS
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equipment and people to the site. Disruptions
caused by COVID‐19 have so far only caused
minor delays to the first phase of the project. As
the situation related to COVID‐19 is developing
we cannot rule out delays to the project caused
by the COVID‐19 outbreak. It is however, not
expected that this will have a material impact on
the long‐term value of the Syvash investment.
OUTLOOK
As China is switching from FIT (with subsidy) to
grid parity tariff (zero subsidy) starting from
2021, we foresee the shortage in the Renewable
Energy Fund will be improved gradually. New
projects under the grid parity tariff will not have
subsidy issues therefore will have more
predictable profit level and cashflow. Comparing
to the other markets in the world where
tendering mechanism are implemented, the
subsidy-free tariffs in China are still considered
attractive to developers and investors.
The construction of the Syvash wind farm and
the development of the Zophia projects are the
first steps towards a broader portfolio of projects
in this exciting market. As the market in Ukraine
will eventually mature, NBT will systematically
look for opportunities to grow in other emerging
markets around the globe. As the global
renewable energy market is growing in parallel
with energy systems transitioning away from
carbon-based ones, access to capital becomes
less expensive. NBT is well positioned to
capitalize from this mega-trend.

Consolidated financial statements

NBT Annual report 2019

8

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Note

Sales revenue
Other income

7
6, 7

2019

2018

76 161
229 796

2 638
-

305 957

2 638

(17 027)
(1 470)
(40 999)
-

(13 383)
(1 107)
(71 400)
(18 221)

Total operating expenses

(59 496)

(104 111)

Operating result

246 461

(101 473)

Total operating revenues
Personnel expenses
Depreciation
Other operating expenses
Impairment

19
9, 10, 11
7

Income/(loss) from associates and joint ventures

8

(13 792)

13 023

Financial income
Financial expenses
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)
Unrealised fair value adjustments

20
20
20
20

35
(246 853)
2 975
9 710

6
(74 551)
713
5 500

Net financial items
Profit/(loss) before tax
Income tax expense

18

(234 133)

(68 332)

(1 464)

(156 783)

(3 680)

-

Profit/(loss) for the period

(5 144)

Other comprehensive income (that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss):
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

18 649

2 529

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

18 649

2 529

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

13 505

(154 253)

Net result attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

(5 144)
-

(156 127)
(656)

Comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

13 242
263

(154 099)
(154)

(0,15)
0,40

(4,71)
(4,71)

Earnings per share: (in NOK)
Basic and diluted- Profit/(loss) for the year
Basic and diluted – Comprehensive income for the year

21
21

(156 783)

9
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Note

2019

2018

ASSETS
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Capitalised project development cost
Right-of-use asset
Investments in associates and joint ventures
Other non-current receivables and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted

9
10
9
11
8
12
14

Total non-curent asset
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Cash and cash equivalents

13
14
14

Current asset
Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital
Share premium
Other paid in equity

15
15
15

Total paid in equity
Translation differences
Accumulated losses
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Long-term interest-bearing debt
Deferred tax liabilities

11, 16
18

Total non-current liabilities
Short-term interest-bearing debt
Value of convertible rights
Trade payables
Other current liabilities

11, 16
16
17

Total current liabilities

371 525
749
40 788
3 173
779 879
124 927
932

92 124
1 486
35 269
219 894
29 752
934

1 321 973

379 459

74 680
657
67 637

5 980
146
1 400

142 974

7 526

1 464 947

386 985

3 422
480 556
55 507

3 377
467 039
54 057

539 485

524 473

107 554
(1 025 744)
-

89 168
(1 017 790)
(2 978)

(378 705)

(407 127)

781 563
66 792

633 432
14 844

848 355

686 216

869 815
27 850
14 186
83 446

7 288
37 940
30 650
69 958

995 297

107 896

Total liabilities

1 843 652

794 112

Total liabilities and equity

1 464 947

386 985

The Board of Directors of NBT AS
Oslo, 22 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2019

2018

(1 464)
(229 811)
1 470
(9 710)
13 792
19 492
(35)
246 853
(2 975)
(41 563)
(3 680)
(7 631)
15
(553)
(35 563)
(460)
(283 950)
(71 736)
(104 957)
35
(497 169)
1 419 399
(710 463)
(137 388)
571 548

(156 783)
1 106
(5 500)
(13 023)
(6)
74 551
(713)
18 221
61 421
(20 726)
(1 026)
(32 239)
(78 912)
6
(112 171)
139 835
(12 209)
127 626

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

66 748

(5 271)

Exchange gain/(loss) on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

1 546
68 294

(110)
6 927
1 546

657
67 637
68 294

146
1 400
1 546

Result before tax
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Ordinary depreciation
Fair value adjustment of financial instruments
Income/loss from associates/joint ventures
Dividends from associates/joint ventures
Interest income
Interest and other financial expenses
Net foreign exchange effect
Impairment of property, plant and equipment, project costs and receivables
Change in working capital and other adjustments
Income tax paid
Net cash flow from operating activities
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Investment of property, plant and equipment
Investment in projects
Investments of intangible assets
Investment in joint ventures
Acquisition of subsidaries
Payment of loans to other companies
Interest received
Net cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from interest-bearing debt
Repayment of loans
Interest and other financial expenses paid 1)
Net cash flow from financing activities

Cash deposits, long term restricted funds
Cash and cash equivalents, short term restricted funds
Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted
Total

Note

6
9, 10, 11
16
8
8
20
20
20
8, 9, 11
13, 15

10
9
6
5
12

16
16
16

12
12
12

Further information about the cash & cash equivalents position is provided in note 12.
1) NBT has both in 2018 and 2016 settled interest payments by issuing new bonds. These settlements are not included in the cash flow statement, as these have no direct cash impact. In 2018 interest
settlements with no cash effect amounted to NOK 40.06 million and in 2016 such interest settlements amounted to NOK 36.88 million.

11

NBT Annual report 2019

Consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share
capital

Share
premium

Equity at 1 January 2018
Net result for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Conversion of loans to share capital
Equity at 31 December 2018

3 290
87
3 377

440 968
26 071
467 039

50 087
3 970
54 057

(861 844)
(156 127)
(156 127)
(1 017 970)

87 138
2 030
2 030
89 168

Equity at 1 January 2019
Net result for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Equity effect implementation IFRS 16
Majority owners transfer to minority 1)
Conversion of loans to share capital
Equity at 31 December 2019

3 377
45
3 422

467 039
13 517
480 556

54 057
1 450
55 507

(1 017 790)
(5 144)
(5 144)
(95)
(2 715)
(1 025 744)

89 168
18 386
18 386
107 554

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Other paid
in equity

Accumulated
losses

Equity
attributable
Translation to owners of
differences
the parent

Noncontrolling
interests

Total
equity

(280 180)
(156 127)
2 030
(154 097)
30 128
(404 149)

(2 824)
(655)
502
(153)
(2 978)

(283 004)
(156 782)
2 532
(154 250)
30 128
(407 127)

(404 149)
(5 144)
18 386
13 242
(95)
(2 715)
15 012
(378 705)

(2 978)
263
263
2 715
-

(407 127)
(5 144)
18 649
13 505
(95)
15 012
(378 705)

1) The minority interests concern Zeni Wind Power, which has an accumulated negative result. In connection with the liquidation of the company, all debts have been cleared which is done by NBT companies liquidating their debt to the company.
This means that the negative value of the "minority interest" is covered by the majority in NBT. Consequently, a transfer of the uncovered loss associated with the minority to the majority is obtained. This is done as a transfer in the equity note.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION
1.1 ABOUT THE GROUP
NBT AS is an unlisted limited company incorporated in Norway. The
company’s head office is located at Filipstad Brygge 1, NO-0252 Oslo, in
Oslo, Norway.
NBT (“NBT” or the “group”) develops and owns wind farms in emerging
markets in co-operation with partners. In 2011, the group commissioned
its first 50 MW wind power project, Linxi I, in Inner Mongolia. The
commissioning of the 49.5 MW wind farm Baicheng I in Jilin province
followed this. Construction of the 50 MW wind farm Linxi II started in late
2011 and was fully commissioned in 2012.
In 2018 NBT acquired Syvashenergoprom LLC (“Syvash”) in the Kherson
region near Crimea in Ukraine. The Syvash wind farm was developed during
2018 and non-recourse financing agreement was obtained in January 2019.
Syvash has been owned through Swedish subsidiaries of NBT AS and in
connection with the financing of the Syvash project one of the Swedish
subsidiaries made a share issue directed at the French wind developer Total
Eren that gain control over 53.5% of the shares in the company. Following
this transaction NBT holds 46.5% ownership in the Syvash wind farm
project. The Syvash wind farm is under construction with a total installed

capacity of 245.8 MW and is expected to be finalised during the fourth
quarter of 2020.
During 2019 NBT acquired the Zophia wind power projects in the
Zaphorizhia region in the south east of Ukraine. The projects are under
development with a planned total installed capacity of 792.5MW. NBT is
working to obtain financing for the projects during 2020.
NBT has been present in Pakistan since 2008 and has been pursuing
development of several wind power projects in the Sindh province. NBT is
now in the process to close its operation in Pakistan.
NBT’s operations in China are owned through subsidiaries in Cyprus and
Hong Kong. The operations in Pakistan are owned through subsidiaries in
Singapore.
The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ending 31
December 2019 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution
by the Board of Directors 22 June 2020.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF KEY ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
o

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements for the group have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
adopted by the European Union, relevant interpretations and the
additional Norwegian disclosure requirements following the Norwegian
Accounting Act applicable as at 31 December 2019.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical
cost convention except for investment in shares, and conversion rights that
are measured at fair value though profit or loss. The accounting principles
are applied consistently for all years presented. Figures are presented in
Norwegian kroner and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands,
except where otherwise indicated.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgment in the process of applying the group’s accounting
policies. Areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

o
o

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements – Previously held interest in joint
operation
IAS 12 Income Taxes – Income tax consequences of payment
on financial instruments classified as equity
IAS 23 Borrowing costs – Borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation

IFRS 16 Leases
With effect from 1 January 2019, NBT implemented IFRS 16. Reference is
made to Accounting Principles 2.6 and Note 11 Leases for further
information about the standard, the policy and implementation choices
made by NBT, and the IFRS 16 implementation impact.
Other standard amendments and interpretations of standards
Other standard amendments or interpretations of standards effective as of
1 January 2019 and adopted by NBT, were not material to NBT’s
Consolidated financial statements upon adoption

(a) Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous
financial year, except the following new standards and amendments to
existing standards becoming effective in 2019:

(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue, but not yet effective
Standards and interpretations that are issued up to the date of issuance of
the consolidated financial statements, but not yet effective are disclosed
below. The Group’s intention is to adopt the relevant new and amended
standards and interpretations when they become effective, subject to EU
approval before the consolidated financial statements are issued.

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

▪
▪
▪
▪

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
IFRS 9 (amendments) Prepayments Features with Negative Compensation
IAS 28 (amendment) Long-term interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
IAS 19 (amendment) Plan amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2015- 2017
o
IFRS 3 Business Combinations – previously held interests in a
joint operation

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts
IFRS 3 (amendment) Definition of a Business
IAS 1 and IAS 8 (amendment) Definition of Material
IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (amendment) due to the IBOR reform

NBT does not expect that the adoption of these Standards will have a
material impact on the financial statements of the Group in future periods.
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2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the
group has control. The group controls an entity when the group is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated
in full on consolidation.
The NBT group comprises the following subsidiaries (group ownership as of
31 December 2019):

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus (100%)
NBT Development Ltd, Hong Kong (100%)
NBT International Ltd, Hong Kong (100%)
Shenzhen Aoluja New Energy Co Ltd, China (100%) 1)
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore Pte Ltd, Singapore (100%)
NBT Pakistan Holding (Pte) Ltd, Singapore (100%)
NBT Windpower Pakistan (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%) 1)
Zeni Windpower (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (80%) 1)
Limak NBT Renewable Energy (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%) 1)
NBT Windpower II (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)1)
NBT Windpower III (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%) 1)
NBT ZAB Windpower (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (98%) 1)
East Renewable AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia Investments I AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia I AB, Sweden (100%)
AzovinvestmentProm LLC, Ukraine (99,9%)
East Renewable Zophia Investment II AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Zophia II AB, Sweden (100%)
Azovpromenergo LLC, Ukraine (99,9%)
East Renewable Zophia Investments III AB, Sweden (100)
East Renewable Zophia III AB, Sweden (100%)
Zophia III LLC, Ukraine (99,9%)
1)

Under liquidation or companies with no activities planned for liquidation

The group has lost control of the following subsidaries due to changes in
ownership during 2019:

▪
▪
▪

East Renewable Ukraine AB, Sweden (46,5%)
East Renewable Energy AB, Sweden (46,5%)
Syvashenergoprom LLC, Ukraine (46,5%)
1)

Change of control at end of January 2019 (100% ownership)

(b) Business combinations
Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquired and the equity interests issued by the group. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquired on an acquisition by acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the
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non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of acquired identifiable net assets.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the group is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 either in profit or loss or as a change
to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the measurement period about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date and are
recognised as adjustments to the initial purchase price allocation. The
measurement period cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for noncontrolling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
(c) Transactions with non-controlling interests
Changes in the group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The difference between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of
the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to noncontrolling interests are also recorded in equity.
(d) Associates
Associates are entities in which the group has a significant, but not
controlling interest. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control over those policies.
Investments in associates are recognised according to the equity method.
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. The
initial recognised amount includes goodwill identified at the time of
acquisition.
In the circumstances, the group pays development fees to its business
partners that are not refunded these development fees are capitalised and
depreciated over the license period for the wind farm. If such development
fees are repaid from the associated company such repayment is considered
a repayment of the investment.
The group does not recognise any share of an associate’s losses in its
income statement if this results in the carrying amount of the investment
falling below zero (including unsecured receivables on the entity), unless
the group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate.
The group’s share of unrealised profits on transactions between the group
and its associates are eliminated. The same applies to unrealised losses,
unless the transaction requires a write-down of the transferred asset.
When the group has lost significant influence, any retained investment is
measured at fair value at the date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition of the retained investment. Any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income with respect to the
associate will be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal.
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When a group entity transacts with its associate, profit or losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate are recognised in the group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the group.
(e) Joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the group and other
parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control (i.e.
when the strategic, financial and operating policy decisions relating to the
activities of the joint venture require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control).
The group’s shareholdings in joint ventures are recognised using the equity
method as described above related to interests in associates.
2.3 SEGMENT REPORTING
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal
reporting to the group’s decision-making bodies. A business segment is
defined as assets and operations involving products or services that are
exposed to risks and returns which are different from other business
segments. A geographic segment is defined as products or services within
a specific economic area whose risks and returns are different from
segments in other economic areas.
2.4 FOREIGN CURRENCIES
(a) Functional currency and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in NOK, which is the parent company’s
functional currency and the group’s presentation currency.
(b) Transactions and balance sheet items
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency
using the exchange rate on the date the transaction took place. Any foreign
exchange gains or losses arising in connection with the settlement of such
transactions or the translation of monetary items (assets and liabilities) at
the year-end exchange rates are recognised in profit and loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates in effect at the dates of
the initial transactions. Foreign exchange differences on non-monetary
items are included as part of the gain/loss when calculating fair value in
connection with an assessment of impairment or realisation.
(c) Net investment in group companies
Inter-company loans and advances to group companies that are not
intended to be repaid within the near future, or where it is evident that
repayment within a reasonable timeline is not possible, is regarded as part
of the new equity investment in the subsidiary. Any foreign translation
gains/losses on such loan are recognised and treated as part of the equity
translation differences for the subsidiary and recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income.
(d) Group companies
The results and financial positions of companies with a functional currency
other than NOK are translated to the presentation currency using average
quarterly exchange rates with respect to income statements, while assets
and liabilities are translated at the rate in effect on the balance sheet date.
All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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The figures presented have been translated using the following exchange
rates:
Foreign exchange rates vs. NOK
Currency
EUR
HKD
PKR
RMB
SEK
SGD
UAH
USD

Avg. Rate
2019
9,850
1,123
0,059
1,274
I/A
6,451
0,352
8,800

31.12 2019
9,864
1,128
0,057
1,261
I/A
6,528
0,373
8,780

Avg. Rate
2018
9,600
1,038
0,067
1,230
9,036
6,028
0,303
8,133

31.12 2018
9,948
1,109
0,062
1,263
0,970
6,381
0,315
8,689

2.5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment charges. Acquisition cost
includes costs directly associated with the acquisition of the asset.
Subsequent costs are added to the asset’s book value or are recognised
separately in the balance sheet when it is probable that any future financial
benefits associated with the cost will flow to the group, and the cost can be
reliably measured. Ordinary repairs and maintenance costs are charged to
the income statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
Depreciations of property plant and equipment are calculated on a straightline basis over the assets’ expected useful life and adjusted for any
impairment charges. Expected useful lives of long-lived assets are reviewed
annually and where they differ significantly from previous estimates,
depreciation periods are changed accordingly. Estimated useful life is:

▪
▪

Plant and equipment 10–20 years
Fixtures and fittings, office machines, etc. 3–5 years

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for potential impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
The difference between the assets carrying amount and its recoverable
amount is recognised in the income statement as impairment. Property,
plant
and equipment that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at each reporting date.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the disposal
proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in operating profit.
2.6 LEASES
The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach.
The impact of changes in accounting policies and impact of the initial
application is disclosed in note 11 Leases.
At the inception of a contract, The Group assesses whether the contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
For contracts that constitute, or contain a lease, the Group separates lease
components if it benefits from the use of each underlying asset either on
its own or together with other resources that are readily available, and the
underlying asset is neither highly dependent on, nor highly interrelated
with, the other underlying assets in the contract. The Group then accounts
for each lease component within the contract as a lease separately from
non-lease components of the contract.
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At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a lease liability
and corresponding right-of-use asset for all lease agreements in which it is
the lessee, except for the following exemptions applied:

▪
▪

Short-term leases (defined as 12 months or less)
Low value assets (defined as NOK 50 000 or less)

For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as other
operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss when they incur.
(a) Lease liabilities
The lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of the lease.
The Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term
that are not paid at the commencement date. The lease term represents
the non-cancellable period of the lease, together with periods covered by
an option either to extend or to terminate the lease when the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise this option.
The lease payments included in the measurement comprise of:

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable
Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date
Amount expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees
The exercise price of a purchase option, if the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise that option
Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability, reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made and remeasuring the carrying
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect
adjustments in lease payments due to an adjustment in an index or rate.
The Group does not include variable lease payments in the lease liability.
Instead, the Group recognises these variable lease expenses in profit or
loss.
The Group presents its lease liabilities as separate line items in the
statement of financial position.
(b) Right-of-use-assets
The Group measures the right-of use asset at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of the right-of-use asset comprise:

▪
▪
▪

The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability recognised
Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any
incentives received
Any initial direct costs incurred by the Group. An estimate of the costs to
be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease,
unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

The Group applies the depreciation requirements in IAS 16 Property, Plant
and Equipment in depreciating the right-of-use asset, except that the
right-of-use asset is depreciated from the commencement date to the
earlier of the lease term and the remaining useful life of the right-of-use
asset.
The Group applies IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether the
right-of-use asset is impaired and to account for any impairment loss
identified.
2.6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at
cost. Intangible assets comprise development rights (payments to business
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partners) in connection with the development of wind power projects and
capitalised project development costs.
Development rights represent payments to business partner in connection
with the development of a project. The development rights are recognised
at the time the group receives the right to develop / build a wind farm.
Costs directly related to the development of a specific wind farm project
are capitalised as an intangible asset and presented as capitalised project
development costs.
The treatment of the development rights and the capitalised project
development costs at the completion of a wind farm will be determined by
the terms and condition in the joint venture agreement. The costs may be
charged to the joint venture project company, capitalised as a part of NBT’s
investment or in the case NBT receives a development fee it may be
expensed as a project development cost in full or partly.
Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised project
development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in the
income statement in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.
2.7 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
At the end of each reporting period, the group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If such
indicator exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets
with an indefinite useful life are not depreciated but are assessed for
impairment annually or whenever there are indications of impairment.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and
value in use. The net selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of
an asset in an arm’s length transaction less the costs of disposal while value
in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise
from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its
useful life. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if it
is not possible, for the cash-generating unit.
A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount,
however not to an extent higher than the carrying amount that the asset
would have had, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.
Such reversals are recognised in the profit and loss account.
2.8 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of
one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.
(a) Financial assets
The Group´s financial assets are: non-listed equity instruments, trade
receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component, the
Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
The Group classified its financial assets in these categories:

▪
▪
▪

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains
and losses (FVOCI)
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVOPL)
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Financial assets at amortised cost
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

▪
▪

The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and,
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss within financial income/expenses,
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
The Groups financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables
and other short-term deposit. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers.
Financial assets at fair value through OCI (FVOCI)
The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of
the following conditions are met:

▪
▪

The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling, and,
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding

There are no instruments of this type in 2019.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
The group classifies the following financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL):

▪
▪
▪

Debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at either amortised
cost or FVOCI
Equity investments that are held for trading, and
Equity investments for which the entity has not elected to recognise fair
value gains and losses through OCI.

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL). Despite the foregoing, the Group may
make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition
of a financial asset: The Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if certain criteria are met; and the Group may irrevocably designate
a debt investment that meets the amortized cost or FVTOCI criteria as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss, are initially
recognized at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income
statement.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets
in the FVTPL category are presented in the income statement within
financial income/expenses – net of the period in which they occur).
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

▪
▪

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset
or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without

material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement;
and either
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the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or

b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset
(b) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings, payables, as appropriate. Loans, borrowings and payables are
recognised at fair value net of directly attributable transaction costs.
Financial liabilities are classified either as measured at amortized cost or
as measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless there exists an
unconditional right to defer repayment for more than 12 months after the
balance sheet date
Loans, borrowings and payables
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the EIR amortisation process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.
Payables are measured at their nominal amount when the effect of
discounting is not material.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is
replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.
(c) Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the
Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
Payment history of the counterparty and other known information about
the current and future economic conditions are applied in the calculation
of potential cash shortfall, under different scenarios for the calculation of
expected credit losses.
After initial recognition current assets are valued at the lower of
acquisition cost and net sales value of the balance sheet date.
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
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also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of
one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.
2.9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank deposits, and other current
and liquid investments with terms of less than three months.
2.10 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUMS
Share capital and share premium are classified as equity when no liability
exists with respect to the transfer of cash or assets (fully paid in). Costs
directly attributable to the issue of shares are presented as a reduction in
equity, net after tax.
2.11 CONVERSION RIGHTS
NBT has issued convertible loans that give the lenders the right to convert
the loan to shares in the company at a certain share price that might be
adjusted in the future. Further, NBT is given the option to settle conversion
requests in cash. The “fixed-for-fixed” criteria are consequently not met,
and the conversion rights are accounted for as a derivative liability, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Initial measurement is
based on an assessment of alternative market interest for similar loans with
no conversion rights. Subsequent measurement of the fair value is
calculated using observed transactions of the convertible bond if
applicable. If no reliable market transactions are observed other valuation
techniques are applied.
2.12 INCOME TAX
The income tax expense for a period comprises current tax and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in profit and loss, except when it relates to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In such
cases, tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. The tax expense is calculated in accordance with the tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements using the liability method. If the group
participates in a transaction for the purchase of an asset or liability that
does not qualify as a business combination, deferred tax is not recognised
at the time of the transaction. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and which is expected to be applied when the deferred
tax asset is realised, or when the deferred tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are capitalised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available, against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
2.13 PENSIONS
The group has a defined contribution pension scheme covering all
Norwegian employees. A defined contribution pension scheme is a
privately owned and administered scheme. The group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The
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contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are
due.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.
2.14 PROVISIONS
The group recognises provisions when the group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that the
group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as
provisions is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taken into account
the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When the effect of
time is material, and present value calculation is applied, the discount rate
used is a pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. Any
increase in the liability that reflects the passage of time is recognised as an
interest expense.
2.15 REVNUE RECOGNITION
Under IFRS 15 NBT recognizes as revenue the agreed transaction price in
the contract with the customer at the time when the Group transfers the
control of a distinct product or service to a customer. Main revenues for
NBT in 2019 is related to power generation revenues.
Power generation revenues from bear the characteristic of delivering
power at a certain price. The performance obligation is to deliver a series
of distinct goods (power) and the transaction price is the consideration NBT
expects to receive, at either spot price, regulated price or contract price.
The performance obligation is satisfied over time which entails that
revenue should be recognised for each unit delivered at the transaction
price. NBT applies a practical expedient under IFRS 15 whereby the revenue
from power for most of the contracts is recognised at the amount of which
the entity has a right to invoice.
Revenues from the sale of goods and services are recognised at the fair
value of the consideration less VAT, estimated returns and discounts.
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can be reliably measured.
Different types of revenue will apply different criteria to assess revenue
recognition. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the
buyer, usually on delivery of the goods. Revenue from a contract to provide
services is recognised by reference to the labour hours delivered and direct
expenses that are incurred.
In assessing when the revenue recognition criteria are met the group bases
its accounting judgment on previous experience from similar transactions,
an assessment of the type of customer and transaction concerned, as well
as any specific circumstances associated with the individual transaction.
Other revenues
Other revenues are recognised in profit and loss as they occur.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Interest
income is presented as financial income in the income statement.
2.16 PAYMENT OF DIVIDEND
Dividend to the company’s shareholders is classified as a liability from the
date on which the dividend is approved by the annual general meeting.
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NOTE 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS
The group’s operations are exposed to a number of risk factors. NBT is
exposed to foreign exchange risk, price risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk
and credit risk. As the main source of income for the group is sale of
electricity from wind power projects in associated companies and joint
ventures, any future income is exposed to wind risk and other risks related
to the operation of wind farms. In both 2018 and 2019, the group did not
use financial derivatives to hedge its financial risk. Risk management within
NBT is intended to support the group’s value creation and ensure a sound
financial performance.
(a) Foreign exchange risk
The group focuses on the development, construction and operation of wind
power and other renewable energy resources in emerging markets. The
group has subsidiaries in Sweden, Ukraine, Cyprus, Singapore, Pakistan,
Hong Kong, and China as well as investments in associate and joint venture
in China and Ukraine, and is exposed to exchange rate variations of NOK
against the USD, EUR, SEK, UAH, SGD, PKR, HKD and RMB. Foreign exchange
risk occurs because income, costs, transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in the functional currency of the countries concerned and not
in the reporting currency (NOK). The group controls the Zophia-wind
project in Ukraine, and is co-owner in the Syvash-wind farm project in
Ukraine, and is also co-owner of two wind farms in China. As a majority of
the investments to date is carried out in RMB, the group is particularly
exposed to foreign exchange risk between NOK and RMB. The wind power
plants in China generate income in RMB from sale of electricity. NBT’s share
of income from these wind farms (associated company and joint venture)
is affected by fluctuations in RMB versus NOK. Further NBT is also exposed
to foreign exchange risk between NOK and UAH (Ukrainian hryvnja) for the
Zophia project and Syvash project, and NOK and EUR as the acquisition of
both Zophia project and Syvash project is financed in euros.
NBT’s liabilities are predominantly denominated in NOK, EUR and USD. The
parent company’s bond loans are denominated in NOK and the Swedish
subsidiary East Renewable AB has financed the acquisition of
Syvashenergoprom LLC with an EUR bond loan. The company’s assets,
including advances to suppliers, are primarily denominated in EUR, RMB,
UAH and USD.
Currently the company does not apply currency derivatives to hedge the
currency risk of its operations. As the business matures and the income
stream from the projects increases, the group will develop a programme
for managing currency risk.
Significant changes in foreign exchange rates, in particular USD and RMB
might have a material effect on the Group’s net profit and equity. Minor
changes in foreign exchange rates are not however, estimated to have any
material effect on the Group’s net profit or equity.
(b) Price risk
The price received for power generated from wind power in China is set by
the Chinese authorities through the renewable energy legislation and
varies by region. As all of the power generated, net of curtailment, is sold
to the local grid companies at the determined feed in tariff the group’s
projects have no exposure to energy price risk.
In Ukraine the power generated from the Syvash wind farm are fixed for a
period up to 31 December 2029. The feed-in tariff will be set when the wind
turbines are installed. The feed-in tariff regime in Ukraine is under revision
and a MOU between the Government of Ukraine and business associations
representing the renewable energy producers has been signed. The
planned tariff is agreed to be fixed to the end of 2029 with somewhat
reductions from today’s tariffs. Reference to note 24 subsequent events for
further status of the feed-in tariff regime.

(c) Volume risk
The group has investments in companies that operate wind farms. As the
wind for any particular day, month or year can vary significantly, the
volume of electricity will vary accordingly. The company uses the P50
volume estimates for analysis or presentation purposes. The P50 estimate
is the amount of energy that is likely to be exceeded in 50 percent of any
10-year period. For any given year, the volume of electricity generated can
vary by 20 percent or more. As the P50 estimate is typically generated from
wind measurements over a relatively short period of time, there is no
guarantee that any particular wind farm will generate the amount of
electricity indicated by the P50 estimate. As the majority of the group’s
future income is likely to be generated from wind farms, the company is
exposed to volume risk caused by variations in wind conditions over time
and uncertainty in the estimates used when making investment decisions.
The profitability of the wind farms is also dependent upon the level of
technical availability and the level of grid curtailment that the wind farm
experiences. Grid curtailment has in some regions in China been at very
high levels at certain periods. Baicheng has experienced a high level of
curtailment, however, the grid curtailment problem has improved during
the past two years and currently grid curtailment does not seem to be a
major concern.
(d) Interest-rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate due to
changes in market interest rates. The group’s exposure to interest rate risk
is mainly related to project financing of the wind power projects in Ukraine
and China. Both the Syvash wind farm and the two Chinese wind farms are
financed based on floating interest rates plus a margin. The construction of
Syvash wind farm is financed with loans in EUR that follow EURIBOR rates
and the Chinese wind farms with loans in RMB that follows fluctuations in
Chinese interbank rates.
The parent company has issued a convertible bond with maturity date 14
September 2020 and a senior secured bond with maturity date 30
September 2020. All loans carry a fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per
annum.
The financing of the investment in the Sywash wind farm is financed
through an EUR bond loan of EUR 75 million at a fixed interest rate of 13.5%
per annum. According to the bond agreement NBT has an undertaking to
list the bond on a regulated stock exchange prior to 21st May 2020. As this
undertaking has not been complied with the interest rate is increased to
16.5% per annum from this date to the bond loan is listed. The bond loan
is due for repayment on 21st May 2021.
The acquisition of the Zophia wind farm project companies is financed
through a EUR bond loan with a current outstanding amount of EUR 14.2
million. The loan carries no coupon interest, but shall be repaid at 120% of
par value at maturity on 31st August 2020.
As the long-term loans are with fixed interest rates this does not expose
the company to any interest risk, except for changes in the fair market value
of the bonds/loans. The group is exposed to the risk that the interest rate
will differ from the interest rate of the bonds when the bond loans mature
and NBT needs to refinance.
The group has not used interest rate derivatives to hedge the interest rate
risk at group level or at project level.
If the interest rate in China will increase with 1 percent, the recognized
result from the joint ventures will be reduced with NOK 3.3 million.
Further, when the Syvash wind farm is completed and in operation an
increase of the interest for the wind farm will lead to a reduction in the
recognized result from the joint venture with NOK 12 million.
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(e) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterpart will not meet its obligation under a
financial instrument or a contract, leading to financial loss.

Due to the delay of the subsidy payments, NBT has an outstanding
receivable for approved dividend on the Linxi joint venture with NOK 19.5
million.

East Renewable AB has given a “stand-by-equity” loan of EUR 10 million to
the Syvash wind farm project through a loan arrangement to the joint
venture holding company East Renewable Ukraine AB. The “stand-byequity” loan is granted to the Syvash project as an “extra line” of security
for the lenders of the Syvash project in the circumstances there would be
cost overruns for the project. Our estimate is that this loan will be fully
repaid. The group has also other receivables on the joint venture
companies. The credit risk on the joint venture companies are considered
low.

The company’s bank deposits are held in solid Norwegian and international
banks.

The group has made prepayments of USD 3.0 (NOK 26.3) million to Sanhe
Group, its development partner in China. The prepayments, relating to
development fees for wind farms will be settled against future invoices as
new projects receive building permits and future yearly invoiced service
fees. If no new projects receive building permits, there is a risk that the
business partner is unable to repay the debt to NBT, resulting in a loss for
the group.
The renewable industry in China has throughout 2018 and 2019
experienced considerable delays in payment of the subsidy element of the
tariff to renewable energy producers in China. As of year-end 2019 our
Chinese joint venture companies have receivable for unpaid subsidies for
more than one year. Total unpaid balance amounts to RMB 116 million and
RMB 43 million for the Linxi and Baicheng joint venture respectively. The
significant delay is caused by underfunding of the central subsidy fund. No
official statement has been published on how this situation is to be dealt
with. In the joint venture companies’ financial statement, no provisions
have been made related to the unpaid subsidies and NBT expects the
receivables eventually to be fully paid.

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

0-3 months

(f) Financial and liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the cash flows from operating or financing
activities do not correspond to the company’s financial obligations. The
group aims to have sufficient liquidity to meet its foreseeable obligations,
to secure adequate capacity to develop new wind power projects and to
cover unexpected liabilities. Management has followed up the liquidity
situation closely during 2019. The company engages in a continuous
dialogue with its shareholders, lenders and potential investors regarding
financing. The activities of the group are capital intensive and as the group’s
development is still in an early stage, the dividend from the existing joint
ventures does not cover the group’s operational costs, development costs
and investments in the group’s project portfolio.
NBT AS has loans with a total nominal value of about NOK 606 million that
matures 30 September 2020 and the EUR 14.2 million in a development
bond for the Zophia project that matures on 31 August 2020. NBT is
currently in a process with a strategic industrial investor that is looking to
acquire a majority stake of the outstanding shares in NBT and thereafter
undertake a complete refinancing of NBT. Should this expected transaction,
or a similar transaction for any reason, fail to materialize, the conditions for
the going concern is materially jeopardized, and the group may be required
to impair the value of its assets.
The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities as of 31 December
2019 in relevant maturity categories

3-12
months

12-24 months

24-36
months

802 207
802 207

73 512
73 512

More than
36 months

Total

31.12.2019
Trade and other payables
Interest and repayment of interest-bearing loans
Total

42 274
6 886
49 160

15 456
1 080 500
1 095 956

-

57 730
1 963 105
2 020 835

3.2 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets are categorised in the two categories, financial assets at amortised cost and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVOPL),
please refer to note 2.8 for more information.
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Classification of financial assets and liabilities

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
31.12.2019
Assets
Debt instruments
Other long-term receivables and
prepayments
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets

Financial instruments
at fair value through
profit and loss

Financial instruments
at
amortised cost

Total

-

124 927
74 680
69 226
268 833

124 927
74 680
69 226
268 833

27 850
-

781 563
869 815

781 563
27 850
869 815

27 850

97 632
1 749 010

97 632
1 776 860

Liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Long-term interest-bearing debt
Conversion rights
Short-term interest-bearing debt
Other financial liabilities
Trade and other short-term payables
Total financial liabilities

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Financial instruments
at fair value through
profit and loss

Financial instruments
at
amortised cost

Total

31.12.2018
Assets
Debt instruments
Other long-term receivables and
prepayments
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

-

29
2 410
2 480

29
2 410
2 480

Total financial assets

-

4 919

4 919

37 940
-

633 431
7 288

633 431
37 940
7 288

37 940

100 608
741 327

100 608
779 267

Liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Long-term interest-bearing debt
Conversion rights
Short-term interest-bearing debt
Other financial liabilities
Trade and other short-term payables
Total financial liabilities

3.3 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Projects
Development and construction of renewable energy projects are capital
intensive and normally require 25-30 percent equity financing. Senior debt
is raised directly by the project company. Equity for project companies is
provided by NBT via intercompany loans to its respective subsidiaries
investing in the projects. Equity is also from time to time raised from third
parties at the project level, diluting NBT’s holding in the specific projects.

NBT’s objective is to have sufficient capital available at the holding company
level to fund its share of the equity requirement.
Equity
The group has been financed through equity, convertible loans and bonds.
Because of the capital-intensive nature of the group’s business, NBT is
dependent on raising equity or debt in order to fund development and
construction of renewable energy projects, as the group’s current capital
base is not considered sufficient.
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NOTE 4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
Judgements
The preparation of the group’s consolidated financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of
the asset or liability affected in future periods.
Assessment of loans to subsidiaries
The parent company and some of the intermediate holding companies have
given loans to some of its subsidiaries. The intention was originally that the
subsidiaries should repay the loans within a reasonable timeframe. NBT
made a new evaluation with respect to the subsidiaries’ ability to repay the
loans and concluded that most of the loan that were evaluated should be
regarded as part of the net investment in the subsidiary. The accounting
effect of this reassessment is that the currency effect is not to be accounted
for as a currency element under financial items but regarded as part of the
conversion effect on the investment in the subsidiary. This effect is hence
accounted for as currency conversion differences under other
comprehensive income and expenses. The assessment has an effect on the
presentation of the profit and loss statement but has no cash effect or
impact on the consolidated balance sheet.
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The group
based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the
consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances
and assumptions about future developments may change due to market
changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the group. Such
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
Going concern
As of Dec 31, 2019 NBT AS has total interest-bearing debt of NOK 578.58
million. The entirety of the interest-bearing debt matures in the period of
September 30, 2020.
The company’s continued operations depend on successful refinancing of
the debt and on its ability to fund operations. As such the going concern
assumptions on which the financial statement are prepared, hinges entirely
on the company’s ability to refinance and/or raise new equity.
The company
The investors
Based on the
interest, the
materialize.

is currently in processes with strategic, industrial investors.
have performed different due diligence processes on NBT.
board of director’s current knowledge about the investor’s
board is reasonably certain that a transaction will be

Based on this the board has concluded that the going concern principle as
outlined in section 3-3 of the Norwegian Accounting Act can be applied, and
the board therefore confirms that the consolidated financial statement and
the financial statement of the parent company have been based on the
going concern assumption.
Should the expected transaction, or a similar transaction, for any reason, fail
to materialize, the conditions for the going concern assumption is materially
jeopardized. In such an event the board would immediately need to seek
alternative ways to re-finance and/or raise new equity from other sources.
In an event that the company is not able to refinance, postpone due dates
for its loans and/or raise enough capital there is a risk that projects cannot
be realised and that the book value of assets will be eroded.

Impairment assessment of investments in associated companies and joint
ventures
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, expressed as the assets fair value. The
fair value calculation is based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash
flows are derived from the budget for the life of the asset. The valuation of
wind power projects is most sensitive to the wind conditions (power
generation), curtailment rate and the discount rate. In previous years there
have been indications of a potential impairment related to the Baicheng
wind farm. However, the positive development in 2018 and 2019 in
connection with the relative low book value of the investment (accounted
for according to the equity method), NBT is now of the opinion that there
are no indications of any further impairment of the investment. See note 8
for further information of this assessment.
Assessment of fair value of disposals of subsidiary
Syvashenergoprom LLC was a wholly subsidiary to NBT, through East
Renewable Ukraine AB (ERU). As a part of providing the equity financing for
the Syvash wind farm, East Renewable AB entered an agreement with the
French renewable energy company Total Eren SA (TE) to finance the equity
for the Syvash project through ERU. Subsequently, TE formed New Wind 1
SA together with the Saudi Arabian Al Gihaz group to make the investment
in ERU. In January 2019 the parties signed the project financing documents
for the wind farm and subsequently the parties obtained financial closing for
the project of which NBT’s lost its controlling ownership in the wind farm.
Following this event, the investment in ERU has been considered a joint
venture, and NBT has recognised the retained investment at its fair value,
and calculated a gain attributable to the former controlling interest.
Both NBT and TE/New Wind paid capital into ERU, by share issuing. The
capital increase in ERU diluted the ownership of NBT. The dilution took place
through two direct share issues in EUR on 29 th January and 9th April 2019. In
accordance with IFRS 10 the fair value of the transaction shall be applied
when calculating the value of the retaining investment, and the gain/losses
of the former controlling interest.
NBT has applied certain assumptions in the calculation of the fair value of
the transaction.
The conclusion of the fair value assessment is that the combined investment
made, from TE/New Wind in January and April, should be the basis for the
valuation. The basis for this assessment was:
▪

▪

The precondition of the agreement with TE was the value of the
overall project, and this price, was the base for the original
pricing of the transaction and their assessment of the
investment.
Originally, the entire transaction was intended to be completed
as one share issue, but practicalities relating to co-ordinating the
financial closing process with all lenders for the project loan
financing required the equity financing to be separated into two
tranches.

Furthermore, TE/New Wind made investment in preference shares while
NBT made investment in ordinary shares, additionally TE/New Wind
obtained a controlling ownership in the joint venture. These two
characteristics of the transaction need to be valued when the fair value is
assessed. In particular, judgements are required to determine the mark-up
that TE paid in order to invest in preference shares and to obtain a
controlling ownership. NBT has made a discretionary reduction of the
transaction value by 10%. An important factor to this assessment is the
estimated price on Syvash project, in the agreement between TE and Al
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Gihaz when establishing New Wind 1 SA. The implicit value in that priced
NBT's share higher than the implicit pricing in the initial agreement between
NBT and TE. This substantiates, that the value of the preference shares and
value of control, should not be too high and a 10% downgrade is evaluated
as reasonable.

development rights are based on the assumption that the grid curtailment
issue in China will be solved. Furthermore, it is assumed that NBT will have
the ability to fund the construction of wind farms in its project portfolio,
either on a stand-alone basis, through partners or disposing or partly
disposing of projects.

Further details of the transaction are outlined in note 6.

Wind power projects under development
Costs directly related to wind power projects under development are
recognised in the balance sheet in accordance with the accounting policies
described in note 2.7. Capitalised project costs are based on management’s
assessment of the project’s technological and financial feasibility. Further
development of the projects is dependent on further financing.

Assessment of fair value of deferred acquisition cost for the Zophia project
In September 2019 NBT gained control over the Zophia wind farm project
companies located in the Zaphorizhia region in the south east of Ukraine.
The total acquisition consideration is payment for lease rights (land plots),
grid-connection agreements, pre power purchase agreement and all rights
to develop and construct wind farms for a total capacity of 492.5 MW.
Total purchase price depends on different scenarios. The fair value value of
the purchase price is calculated based on an assessment of the likelyhood of
each different scenarios. Furthermore, the purchase price in one of the
scenarios is depending on a number of factors such as total investment for
the projects and the level of required equity financing for the projects.
Both, the probability assigned to each scenario, and estimates and
assumptions in the calculation of the purchase price to be paid in one of the
scenarios, are highly judgemental and based on management’s best belief
and assessment at the time of preparation of the financial statement for
2019. On an overall level NBT has, for a number of reasons, assigned a fairly
high probability to its expected base case. This assessment has a major
impact on the assessment of the deferred purchase price.
The purchase price for the Zophia wind farm project companies is payable
in stages. The fair value of the purchase price is discounted to represent the
time value of the money and fair value of the purchase price.
The remaining stage payments for the purchase price are due at financial
close and at the completion of construction for each of the three Zophia
projects. NBT management has made an estimated on the timing of financial
close and completion of construction for each of the projects. The estimated
purchase price is discounted with a rate of 7.6 percent, and the purchase
price is recognized as interest bearing debt in the balance sheet.
The purchase price is discounted using a current pre-tax rate, reflecting the
liability risk. Expectations to feed-in tariff and associated regulations from
Ukraine Government, has been evaluated, together with lease rights and
other assets future earnings, to estimate the rate. The rate has been
calculated using a WACC-model. Input to the model is based on knowledge
from the Syvash project, and the percentage of financing between equity
and debt, is based on expectations from shareholders. Cost of equity and
debt is assessed using expected margins at financial close.
Further details are outlined in note 5.
Prepayments
As of year-end 2019 NBT has prepaid development fees to its business
partner in China, Sanhe Group, for a total amount of NOK 26.3 million.
The carrying value of the prepayments assumes that NBT will be able to
offset these against future development fees and service fees payable to its
partner. The uncertainties relate to NBT’s ability to construct further and

Conversion rights
In September 2015, NBT issued a convertible bond loan and during 2018 and
2019 NBT has issued several convertible loans. For all of the convertible
loans the conversion rights are separated from its host financial instrument
and recognised as a separate financial instrument in the consolidated
financial statement.
Conversion rights given to bondholders/lenders are recognised in the
balance sheet as a liability upon the issuance of the loan and measured at
the fair value at the time of issuance in accordance with level 2 in the value
hierarchy described in note 3. Increases in loans have been treated
correspondingly.
The valuation of the conversion rights is based on an assessment of the
alternative effective interest for a similar loan without conversion rights
(and exclusive other loan costs). For the 2015 convertible bond the
alternative interest was estimated to 14.0 percent. The assessments were
supported by external input of market data when the liabilities were
calculated. The alternative interest for the new loans issued in 2018 was also
estimated to 14.0 percent. The total value of the conversion rights is treated
as borrowing cost and amortised over the term of the convertible bond loan.
Changes in fair value of the conversion rights are recognised in the profit
and loss statement. Both at year-end 2019 and 2018 there were no
observable transactions of which the valuation of the conversion rights
could be based and consequently alternative valuation techniques (level 3
in the value hierarchy) has been applied in the valuation. Further
descriptions of the assumptions in the valuations are given in note 16.
Taxes
The companies within the NBT group have been operating with losses in
recent years and have no taxable profits. Deferred tax assets are not
recognised, as the majority of the group’s future income will be dividends
from project companies. As dividend is not taxable under the tax domicile
of the parent company, management has decided not to recognise deferred
tax in the balance sheet. The group has a net future tax reducing temporary
differences (including tax loss carry forward) amounting to NOK 50.5 million
in Norway. Further details on taxes are disclosed in note 18.
Given the wide range of international business relationships, the long-term
nature and complexity of existing contractual agreements for some of the
NBT group companies, and the interpretation of complex tax regulations in
several countries, a possible consequence of a tax audit may be changes to
the filed tax returns. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide
variety of issues depending on the conditions prevailing in the respective
group company's domicile. The group assesses the probability for changes
to the filed tax returns with a subsequent payable or deferred tax liability to
be low.
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NOTE 5 ACQUISITION OF PROJECT ZOPHIA
In September 2019 NBT gained control (99.99% of voting shares) over
the Zophia wind farm project companies located in the Zaphorizhia
region in the south east of Ukraine. The group acquired full control of
the Zophia project companies because it significantly increased the
probability of realising the project. The total acquisition consideration
is payment for lease rights (land plots), grid-connection agreements, pre
power purchase agreement and all right rights to develop and construct
wind farms for a total capacity of 492.5 MW. The rights/land plots are
divided in three projects/companies; Azovinvestprom (AIP) LLC, Zophia
I, Azovpromenergo (APE) LLC, Zophia II and Zophia III LLC, Zophia III. The
total purchase price is allocated to the three project companies based
on capacity. NBT has subsequently increased the potential installed
capacity for the Zophia III with another 300 MW.
The total purchase price for the Zophia wind farm project companies is
payable in stages. The total purchase price depends on a number of
factors including total installed capacity for the wind farms and other
criteria that are mutually exclusive. This includes an assessment related
to the Ukrainian sellers’ option to retain a 15 percent ownership in the
Zophia project. To secure this option, 15% of the shares in the project
companies are pledged in favour of the sellers. Should the sellers
exercise the option to retain a 15% ownership in the project, the ‘free
carry’ obligation that NBT has granted will depend on the total cost of
the project. Should this cost materially surpass current cost
estimations, the deferred cost currently reflected in the balance sheet
will be exceeded. However, as NBT deem it highly unlikely that the
option will be exercised.

NBT has made an overall assessment of the likely purchase price for the
Zophia wind farm. The remaining stage payments for the purchase
price are due at financial close and at the completion of construction
for each of the three Zophia projects. The estimated unpaid purchase
price is measured at fair value. The estimated purchase price is
discounted with a rate of 7,6 percent and the unpaid purchase price is
recognized as interest bearing debt in the balance sheet. Stage
payments estimated for payment during 2020 is classified as short term
interest bearing liabilities and stage payments estimated for payment
later than 31st December 2020 are classified as long term interestbearing debt. Please refer to Note 16 for further description of the
accounting treatment of the future payments of the purchase price.
Total fair value of the consideration given was NOK 291.647 million.
Transaction cost of NOK 2.5 million were expensed and are included in
other operating expenses.
Changes in the estimates of the unpaid part of the remaining stage
payments for the acquisition, if any, will be expensed through the profit
and loss in the consolidated financial statement in the period such
changes are made. The fair value of the deferred consideration liability
has not changed per December 2019.
The acquisition was initially made through East Renewable Zophia AB
which is a wholly owned subsidiary of NBT AS. Following the acquisition,
an internal reorganization of the ownership of the Ukrainian project
companies have pushed the legal ownership through a chain of Swedish
inter-mediate holding companies. The reason for this being to facilitate
the financing of the wind farms.

Allocation of cost price for the acquisition
Zophia I

Zophia II

Zophia III

Total

Paid cash consideration
Deferred cash consideration at fair value

6 210
19 163

43 834
133 904

21 917
66 619

71 961
219 686

Total acquisition cost

25 373

177 738

88 536

291 647

Net cash outflow on acquisition
Paid cash consideration
Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired

6 210
225

43 834
0

21 917
0

71 961
225

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

5 985

43 834

21 917

71 736

Consideration
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Loans given to th project companies from NBT prior to acquisition and
applied in the project company
Total cash payment in connection with the acquisition

6 319

0

0

6 319

12 304

43 834

21 917

78 055

The entire excess value is attributable to project development assets and classified as intangible assets. The allocation of purchase price is deemed to be
provisional pending the completion of the final valuation of the acquired assets and liabilities.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognized at the date of
acquisitions (fair value)
Project development asset
Property, plant & equipment
Capitalised project costs
Other current receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Deferred tax

Zophia I

Zophia II

Zophia III

Total

26 745
250
5 032
1 062
225

177 745
0
0
0
0

88 536
0
0
0
0

293 026
250
5 032
1 062
225

33 314
5 871

177 745
39 017

88 536
19 435

299 595
64 323
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7 941

7

0

7 948

Total liability

13 812

39 024

19 435

72 271

Total identifiable net assets at fair value

19 502

138 721

69 101

227 324

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Zophia I

Zophia II

Zophia III

Total

Goodwill arising on acquisition
Total consideration
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired

25 373
(19 502)

177 738
(138 721)

88 536
(69 101)

291 647
(227 324)

5 871

39 017

19 435

64 323

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Goodwill arises from the requirement to recognise deferred tax assets and liabilities for the difference between assigned fair value and tax bases of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. In accordance with IAS 12 Sections 15 and 19, a provision is made for deferred tax corresponding
to the tax rate multiplied with the difference between acquisition cost and tax base. The offsetting entry to this deferred tax is goodwill. Hence, goodwill
arises as a technical effect of deferred tax (“technical goodwill”). The valuation above is based on currently available information about fair values at the
acquisition date. If new information becomes available within 12 months from the acquisition date, the group may change the fair value assessment in the
PPA, in accordance with guidance in IFRS 3.

NOTE 6 GAIN ON SYVASH DISPOSAL FROM SUBSIDIARY TO JOINT VENTURE

Syvash gain calculation
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Gain in East Renewable AB Group
Reversal advisers' costs in NBT
Reversal of previously recognised losses/currency translation
Total gain exit Syvash

31.12.2019
183 115
44 500
2 181
229 796

East Renewable Ukraine AB Group
East Renewable Ukraine AB (ERU) is the indirect holding company for Syvashenergoprom LLC, the project company for the Syvash wind farm. The wind farm
is located in the Kherson region, South in Ukraine. NBT acquired the project company in April 2018. During 2018 NBT developed the wind farm and was working
to obtain project financing and equity financing for the project. As a part of providing the equity financing for the Syvash wind farm, East Renewable AB entered
an agreement with the French renewable energy company Total Eren SA (TE) to inject the equity for Syvash project through ERU. Subsequently TE formed
New Wind 1 SA together with the Saudi Arabian Al Gihaz group to make investment in ERU. In January 2019 the parties signed the project financing documents
for the wind farm and subsequently the parties obtained financial closing for the project of which NBT’s lost its controlling ownership in the wind farm. Through
shares issues in EUR on 29th January and 9th April 2019 both East Renewable AB and New Wind 1 SA made investments in ERU. East Renewable AB invested
EUR 35.1 million in ordinary shares in ERU and New Wind 1 SAS invested EUR 79.0 million in class B shares with certain preferential rights to dividend from
ERU. The class B shares holds 53.5% of the voting rights in ERU and will receive the highest of 17% of the invested amount or 53.5% of the annual available
dividend as dividend from ERU. NBT’s control over the Syvash wind farm ceased late January 2019. Subsequently to financial close for the financing of the wind
farm the work the EPC contractor mobilized for construction that commenced later in the spring. The wind farm will be constructed with a planned capacity
of 245.8 MW.
According to IFRS NBT shall measure the consideration for the exit of subsidiary at the fair value of the consideration in the transaction. The fair value of the
transaction is assessed to be based on the equity injection that TE/New Wind made of EUR 79 million. The transaction values the total joint venture to about
EUR 148 million. As the TE/New Wind shares have certain preferential rights to future dividend from the joint venture and there is a small control premium on
the transaction the total fair value has been reduced by 10%. The 10% reduction is based on a specific assessment of which the fact that transaction between
TE and Al Gihaz when they formed New Wind had an implied pricing of ERU that was even higher than the actual pricing for New Wind’s investment in the
wind farm. This values NBT’s share of the investment in the joint venture to about EUR 61.8 million at the time ERU ceased to be a subsidiary. The valuation
implies a gain in the Swedish holding company of about NOK 183.1 million.
In addition previous negative results recognized in the consolidated financial statement can be reversed and currency translation effects previously included
as other comprehensive income is taken through profit and loss. In total this amounts to about NOK 2.2 million in increased gain at the time ERU ceased to be
a subsidiary.
Furthermore NBT AS, as the parent company had incurred adviser’s costs during 2018 of about NOK 69.5 million of which NOK 25 million was capitalized and
NOK 44.5 million were expensed as incurred in the consolidated financial statement. In 2019 all the adviser’s cost have been charged to and refunded by the
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Syvash project company subsequently to the company ceased to be a NBT subsidiary. Consequently the amount of NOK 44.5 million reversed and presented
as part of the gain of the exit of the subsidiary.
NBT continues to have a ownership of 46.5% of the Syvash wind farm and the investment in the ERU/Syvash joint venture is accounted for according to the
equity method of which NBT recognizes its share of the profits from the joint venture. Further reference to note 7 for how the investment is accounted for as
joint venture. At the time the joint venture ceased to be a subsidiary the valuation of NOK 609 million (EUR 61.8) was recognized as investment in joint
ventures.

Cash flow on disposals
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2019
-338 050
44 500
9 600
-292 075

Investment in Syvash (share issue)
Received payment related to development fee (project cost) 2018
Received payment related to capatilized development fee (project cost) 2018
Net cash flow disposal (change of control in subsidiary)

NOTE 7 SEGMENT INFORMATION
NBT has currently three business segments according to IFRS 8 Operating
segments. The group’s main business is development of renewable energy
projects, which currently consists of wind power projects and development
projects in Ukraine and China. In addition, the group has its corporate
activities, the corporate activities include all development activities for
projects that are not formalised into a project company.
The wind power China operating segment includes the 49% ownership of
the Linxi joint venture and the 33% ownership in the Baicheng wind farm.
The wind power activities in Ukraine was initiated in 2017. However, as the
acquisition of the project company, Syvashenergoprom LLC, was formally
done in 2018 the reporting structure was changed followed the acquisition
of which the management reporting was followed up on a project company
level for 2018. Hence the Swedish holding companies was included as a part
of the corporate activities in 2018.

Syvash wind farm project, Syvashenergoprom LLC, Total Eren became the
ultimate parent company of the Sywash wind farm and the investment was
consequently reclassified from a subsidiary to a joint venture company. The
financing of both the Syvash wind farm and the Zophia projects have
further been done in the Swedish holding companies. Consequently the
segment reporting from 2019 has been amended to include the holding
companies in Sweden. The Ukraine wind farm segment for 2019 therefore
consists of the East Renewable AB inclusive the joint venture investment in
Syvashenerpogrom and East Renewable Zophia AB group that includes all
intermediate holding companies in Sweden and the project companies in
Ukraine.
For 2019 the holding company functions in Norway, Cyprus, Singapore and
Hong Kong are included in the corporate segment. The activities in Pakistan
are in the process of being closed down and in also included in the
corporate segment. The amounts are furthermore immaterial to the group
accounts.

During 2019 the group expanded further in Ukraine with the acquisition of
the Zophia projects. Furthermore, in connection with the financing of the
2019
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Sales revenues
Other revenues
Gain exit Syvash as subsidiary
Management service fees
Operating expenses excl. impairment
Impairments1)

Wind power,
China
-

Wind power,
Ukraine
108
229 796
(23 890)
-

Corporate
76 053
11 000
(46 606)
-

Eliminations
(11 000)
11 000
-

Consolidated
108
76 053
229 796
(59 496)
-

Operating profit
Income from associates and JVs
Net financial items

10 889
-

206 014
(24 681)
(169 873)

40 447
(64 260)

-

246 461
(13 792)
(234 133)

Result before tax
Tax

10 889
-

11 460
(10)

(23 813)
(3 670)

-

(1 464)
(3 680)

Net income/(loss) for the period

10 889

11 450

(27 483)

-

(5 144)

194 693
-

371 065
41 079
585 186
75 059

460
3 631
69 791

Intangible assets
Tangbile assets
Shares in joint ventures
Other non-current assets 1)

(19 925)

371 525
44 710
779 879
124 927
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Current assets
Total assets
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-

19 925

122 654

395

142 974

194 693

1 092 314

196 536

(19 530)

1 464 013

-

66 792
1 069 578
62 616

609 650
47 402

(12 386)

66 792
1 679 228
97 632

Deferred tax liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities 2)
Non-interest bearing liabilities

1) Long term receivable on Sanhe Group with a total carrying amount of NOK 26.3 million is allocated to the corporate segment.
2) Inclusive fair value of convertible rights, leasing liabilities and fair value of deferred purchase price.

2018
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Sales revenues
Other revenues
Operating expenses excl. impairment
Impairments1)

Wind power,
China
-

Wind power,
Ukraine
2 513
(4 821)
-

Corporate
125
(81 068)
(18 221)

Consolidated
2 513
125
(85 889)
(18 221)

Operating profit
Income from associates and JVs
Net financial items

13 023
-

(2 308)
(14)

(99 164)
(68 319)

(101 473)
13 023
(68 332)

Result before tax
Tax

13 023
-

(2 322)
-

(167 483)
-

(156 783)
-

13 023

(2 322)

(167 483)

(156 783)

219 894

130 570

36 520

386 984

Net income/(loss) for the period
Total assets2)

1) Impairments relates to the capitalised development rights (development fees Baicheng II) for an amount of NOK 13.5 million and an impairment on a loan to the project company for the
Baicheng II wind farm of NOK 4.7 million and are in line with previous years treatment allocated to the corporate segment.
2) Long term receivable on Sanhe Group with a total carrying amount of NOK 29.7 million are allocated to the corporate segment.

Geographic segments
The group’s projects are located in China and Ukraine, and the geographical information is therefore equivalent to the operating segments presented
above.

NOTE 8 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
Carrying value of investments in associates and joint ventures
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Linxi JV
Baicheng JV
ERABG JV
Total

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

175 943
18 750
585 186
779 879

199 018
20 876
219 894

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

13 002
(2 113)
(24 681)
(13 792)

17 175
(4 153)
13 022

Recognised profit and loss from investments in associates and joint ventures
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Linxi JV
Baicheng JV
ERABG JV
Total

Baicheng wind farm
The Baicheng I wind farm in the Jilin province in China is 100 percent owned by NBT Energy Ltd, Hong Kong. NBT has a 33 percent shareholding in NBT Energy
Ltd. Investments in associates are recognised according to the equity method.
Name
NBT Energy Ltd
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Carrying value at 1 January
Share of result for the year

Country of incorporation

Acquired

Equity interest

Hong Kong

2010

33%

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

20 876
(2 113)

24 487
(4 153)
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Foreign currency effects
Total carrying value of the investment 31 December

Loan to NBT Energy:
The Chinese project company for Baicheng I is owned by NBT Energy, Hong
Kong. NBT has financed NBT Energy through a USD 9.9 million interest free loan
and the joint venture partner has contributed an interest free loan
proportionate to their ownership in NBT Energy. The plan was to convert these
loans to equity, but this was not formalised. The substance of the loan has the
characteristics of an equity investment. Based on this NBT has classified the
loan as a part of the investment in the joint venture company.
Impairment testing:
In connection with the preparation of the consolidated financial statement for

(13)

542

18 750

20 876

2016 NBT made an impairment analysis for the investment. The analysis
concluded with an estimated recoverable value exceeding the carrying value at
year-end 2016.
During both 2018 & 2019 the actual production and EBITDA exceeded the
forecasts assumed in the impairment analysis prepared in connection with the
preparation of the financial statement for the NBT Group in 2016. On this basis
NBT has concluded that there are no indications of any further impairment of
the investment. Correspondingly there is no requirement to perform a full
impairment test for 2019

Summary of financial information for NBT Energy, including Baicheng (100 percent basis):
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2019

2018

395 527
74 528
470 055
11 892
355 684
102 479
470 055

417 663
77 335
494 998
17 469
386 200
91 329
494 998

Revenues

65 291

54 429

Result for the year

(5 606)

(11 845)

NBT’s share of profit in the joint venture
Depreciation of capitalised development fees
Recognised share of result from Baicheng

(1 849)
(264)
(2 113)

(3 909)
(244)
(4 153)

Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Equity
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities and equity

Linxi wind farm
The Linxi I and Linxi II wind farms are located in Inner Mongolia and have a capacity of 50 MW each. Linxi I was commissioned in February 2011 while
Linxi II had 20 turbines commissioned in June 2012 and the remaining 5 commissioned in November 2012. Both wind farms are owned by the same
project company. The project company is owned by NBT with 49% and its joint venture partner Datang with 51%.
Name
Linxi

Country of incorporation
China

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Carrying value at 1 January
Foreign currency effects
Dividend
Share of result for the year
Carrying value at 31 December

Acquired
2010

Equity interest
49%

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

199 018
(91)
(35 986)
13 002
175 943

179 915
1 928
17 175
199 018

2019

2018

627 743
224 378
852 121
318 087
382 188
151 846
852 121

776 669
230 697
1 007 366
364 212
545 166
97 988
1 007 366

Impairment testing of the investment in Linxi
The Linxi wind farm operates according to expectations, and there are no indications of impairment.
Summary of financial information for Linxi (100 percent basis)
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Equity
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities and equity
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134 844

150 339

Result for the year

27 443

35 948

NBT’s share of profit in the joint venture
Depreciation of capitalised development fees
Recognised share of result from Linxi

13 448
(446)
13 002

17 615
(430)
17 185

East Renewable Ukraine AB Group (the Syvash wind farm)
East Renewable Ukraine AB (ERU) is the indirect holding company for Syvashenergoprom LLC, the project company for the Syvash wind farm. The wind farm
is located in the Kherson region, South in Ukraine. NBT acquired the project company in April 2018. During 2018 NBT developed the wind farm and was working
to obtain project financing and equity financing for the project. In January 2019 ERU ceased to be a subsidiary of the NBT group and became a joint venture
that is accounted for according to the equity method. The joint venture holding company is owned by 46.5% of the NBT group and 53.5% by New Wind 1 SA
that is controlled by the French renewable energy company Total Eren SA and the Saudi Arabian Al Gihaz group. The transaction where ERU ceased to be a
NBT subsidiary is outlined in note 5 inclusive the pricing on the transaction.
In connection with the transaction where New Wind became the majority owner of the joint venture an assessment of the fair value of the transaction was
performed, and a as outlined in note 5 a gain in the consolidated financial statement was recognized based on this assessment. The fair value of the investment
that NBT made in the joint venture is evaluated at NOK 609 million (EUR 61.8 million) and this recognized as investments in the joint venture. The pricing gives
an underlying valuation that exceeds the book value in ERU and this excess value is allocated as a project value related to the Syvash wind farm. The fair value
allocation in ERU is deemed as a preliminary allocation, and depreciation will start when the wind farm commences commercial production. The depreciation
period will be determined during 2020.
Subsequently to financial close for the financing of the wind farm in January 2019 the work the EPC contractor mobilized for construction that commenced
later in the spring. The wind farm will be constructed with a planned capacity of 245.8 MW that is expected to be completed during the fourth quarter for
2020.

Name
East Renewable Ukraine Group

Country of incorporation
Sweden/Ukraine

Acquired
2020

Equity interest
46,5 %

Carrying value at 1 January
Additions
Foreign currency effects
Other changes
Share of result for the year

609 039
828
(24 681)

-

Carrying value at 31 December

585 186

-

2019

2018

Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Equity
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

719 485
54 794
774 279
38 804
720 166
15 309

-

Total liabilities and equity

774 279

-

108

-

23 343

-

NBT’s share of profit in the joint venture
Depreciation of capitalised development fees
Revenue reported in NBT group 1)

10 973
(35 654)

-

Recognised share of result from ERABG

(24 681)

-

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Revenues
Result for the year

1) NBT AS has invoiced a development fee to Syvash, for work related to development and financing for the Syvash wind farm project, amounted to NOK 76,7 million (EUR 8million). The invoiced amount, have been capitalised in the

joint venture. NBT’s share of the capitalised value, have reduced the booked value of the investment and the income from JV respectively, with 35.6 million. The value will be depreciated according to useful life of Syvash wind farm.

Agreements with New Wind related to shares in ERU:
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Agreement to convert class B shares to ordinary shares
East Renewable AB has entered an agreement with New Wind that gives this company a right to convert the preference shares to ordinary shares in ERU in
October 2022. The agreement stipulates that if the conversion right is exercised all shares must be converted. Furthermore, the agreement stipulates that New
Wind may be entitled to additional shares based on a pre agreed calculation model for the Syvash project. The effect of the conversion may be that East
Renewable AB’s shareholding of ordinary shares in ERU may be lower than 46.5% of the total issued ordinary shares subsequent to full conversion of the class
B shares. The potential dilution effect is subject to a number of factors including an updated energy yield assessment, updated operating costs and other predefined parameters in the calculation model.
New Wind’s option to sell its shares in ERU to East Renewable AB
In the event that New Wind decides not to convert the class B shares to ordinary shares I ERU, New Wind has a right to sell 99.99% of its holding of the class B
(preference) shares in ERU to East Renewable AB. The option exercise date is the later of 31 October 2022 and two years following COD (“Completion of
Delivery”) for the Syvash wind farm as defined in the project financing agreement for the wind farm. The option price shall equal New Winds average purchase
price for the ERU shares plus any accrued dividend on the shares. The agreement furthermore facilitates a seller’s credit agreement to be given from New
Wind with pre agreed interest terms and repayment terms. The execution of the option agreement will be subject to consent from the lenders to the noncourse project financing for the Syvash wind farm.
NBT has made an estimate of the implicit option given to New Wind both the time the option agreement was entered in January 2019 and at year-end 2019.
The fair value estimates are made according to IFRS 13 and is based on a number of unobservable inputs (level 3 inputs in the valuation hierarchy). A Black &
Scholes model is applied as the basis for the valuation with an adjustment of the probability for the option being exercised. The estimated market value of the
underlying investment made by New Wind in the Syvash project is based on the transaction between Total Eren and Al Gihaz. The valuation is highly sensitive
to the probability for the option being exercised. This probability was assessed to be low in January 2019 and was further reduced at year-end. The probability
has been made based on an internal specific assessment of the risk related to the Syvash wind farm, considering political risks in Ukraine, project construction
risk and general financial and operational risk related to the Syvash wind farm. Applying these principles the option was at the time the agreement was entered
into (January 2019) calculated at an amount that was considered immaterial to the financial statement for the Company. Hence, the option has not been
recognized in the financial statement. The updated valuation at year-end 2019 shows a further reduction in the option value as the construction of the wind
farm is progressing and that risks related to the project has been reasonably well managed.

NOTE 9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND CAPITALISED PROJECT DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Intangible assets
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Project
Goodwill development assets

Carrying value:
At 1 January 2018
Currency translation effects
At 31 December 2018
Additions at cost
Additions through acquisitions
Disposals at cost *
Deprectiation in the year
Impairment for the year
Currency translation effects
At 31 December 2019

14 311
533
14 844
64 323
(14 844)
2 469
66 792

65 194
2 432
67 626
293 026
(67 626)
11 247
304 273

Concession
property rights

9 306
348
9 654
(9 654)
-

Software

460
460

Total intangible
assets

88 811
3 313
92 124
460
357 349
(92 124)
13 716
371 525

2019 – Disposales Syvash:
*In January there was a capital contribution in Syvashenergoprom LLC, that changed the ownership in NBT Group to 46,5%. The loss of control is treated
as a disposal, and the investment is recognized according to the equity method. See note 8 Investments in associates and joint ventures.
Capitalised project development costs
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
At 1 January 2019
Additions through acquisitions
Investment in the year
Disposals at cost *
Currency translation effects
At 31 December 2019

2019

2018

35 269
5 032
35 563
(35 269)
193
40 788

2 670
32 239
360
35 269

Capitalised project development costs relate to the Zophia project and are capitalised on project company level and on group level. The intangible assets
related to Syvash, has been deconsolidated due to new ownership structure.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

NBT Annual report 2019

30

NOTE 10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Total property, plant
and equipment

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Cost
At 1 January 2018
Additions
Disposals at cost
Foreign currency effects

11 627
1 143
(1 667)

At 31 December 2018

12 129

Additions through acquisitions
Additions
Disposals at cost
Disposals at cost due to deconcolidation of subsidaries
Foreign currency effects

260
553
(8 334)
(2 667)
(390)

At 31 December 2019

1 551

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2018
Ordinary deprecation for the year
Disposals accumulated depreciation
Foreign currency effect

(11 618)
(745)
1 720

At 31 December 2018

(10 643)

Ordinary depreciation for the year
Disposals accumulated depreciation
Disposals accumulated depreciation due to deconcolidation of subsidaries
Foreign currency effects

(70)
8 334
911
665

At 31 December 2019

(803)

Net book value
At 31 December 2018

1 486

At 31 December 2019

749

NOTE 11 LEASES

Right-of-use assets
The Group has few assets under lease agreements, mainly low value leases. Only lease of the office facility in Norway is assessed to meet the principals
in IFRS 16.
The Group's right-of-use assets are categorized and presented in the table below:
Right-of-use-assets
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Acquisition cost 1 January 2019
Addition of right-of-use assets
Disposals
Transfers and reclassifications
Currency exchange differences
Acquisition cost 31 December 2019
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 1 January 2019
Depreciation
Impairment losses in the period
Disposals
Transfers and reclassifications
Currency exchange differences

Buildings

Total

3 438
3 808
(3 438)
-

3 438
3 808
(3 438)
-

3 808

3 808

(2 674)
(1 399)
3 438
-

(2 674)
(1 399)
3 438
-
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(635)

(635)

Carrying amount of right-of-use assets
At 31 December 2018

-

-

At 31 December 2019

3 173

3 173

Lower of remaining lease term or economic life
Depreciation method

2-3 years
Linear

Lease liabilities
Undiscounted lease liabilities and maturity of cash outflows
Less than 1 year
1-2 years
2-3 years
3-4 years
4-5 years
More than 5 years

Total
2 034
1 390
-

Acquisition cost 31 December

3 424

Summary of the lease liabilities
At initial application 01.01.2019
New lease liabilities recognised in the year
Cash payments for the principal portion of the lease liability
Cash payments for the interest portion of the lease liability
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Currency exchange differences
Total lease liabilities at 31 December 2019
Current lease liabilities (note 17)
Non-current lease liabilities (note 17)
Total cash outflows for leases

Total
859
3 808
(1 448)
(90)
90
3 219
1 870
1 349
(1 538)

The leases do not contain any restrictions on the Group’s dividend policy or financing. The Group does not have significant residual value guarantees
related to its leases to disclose.

Summary of other lease expenses recognised in profit or loss

Total

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Variable lease payments expensed in the period
Operating expenses in the period related to short-term leases (including short-term low value assets)
Operating expenses in the period related to low value assets (excluding short-term leases included above)

1 399
90
209
385
-

Total lease expenses included in other operating expenses

2 083

Practical expedients applied
The Group also leases personal computers, IT equipment and machinery with contract terms of 1 to 3 years. The Group has elected to apply the practical
expedient of low value assets for some of these leases and does not recognise lease liabilities or right-of-use assets. The leases are instead expensed
when they incur. The Group has also applied the practical expedient to not recognise lease liabilities and right-of-use assets for short-term leases,
presented in the table above.
The lease of the NBT offices in Cyprus expired at end of Q1 2020. The annual rental cost is EUR 10 thousand. NBT leases offices in Beijing from its
development partner in China, Sanhe Group. The office lease of the Karachi office is also ended in Q1 2020. The annual rental cost is about PKR 1.8
million.
Because of the length and value of these lease contracts, it has been treated as low value assets.
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Variable lease payments
In addition to the lease liabilities above, the Group is committed to pay variable lease payments for some of their leases. The variable lease payments
are expensed as incurred.

Extension options
The lease of the NBT offices in Oslo have a lease term of 2 years, and the agreements does not involve a right of renewal. The Group assess at the last
lease term, whether it is reasonably to negotiate an extension period or rent other facilities.

The effect of adoption IFRS 16 as at 1 january 2019 (increase/(decrease)) is, as follows:
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Assets
Right-of-use assets
Total assets

Total
764
764

Liabilites
Interest-bearing loansand borrowings

(859)

Total liabilities

(859)

Total adjustment on equtiy:
Retained earnings

(95)

NOTE 12 OTHER NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Prepaid development to Sanhe Group (partner in China)
Loans to Sanhe Group Renewable Energy Ltd (subsidiary to partner company in China)
Standby equity loan to ERU AB
Other receivables
Total long-term receivables

Stand-by-equity to the Syvash wind farm
NBT has given a “stand-by-equity” loan to the Syvash wind farm project of
EUR 10 million through a loan agreement to the joint venture holding
company East Renewable Ukraine AB. The “stand-by-equity” loan is
granted to the Syvash project as an “extra line” of security for the lenders
of the Syvash project in the circumstances there would be cost overruns for
the project. Our estimate is that this loan will be fully repaid during the first
quarter of 2021.

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

26 262
98 638
27
124 927

29 723
29
29 752

Prepaid development fees and loans to Sanhe Group
The NOK 29.70 million receivable on Sanhe Group, NBT’s development
partner in China, relates to prepaid development fees and loans for
development of wind farms in China. The amount will be offset against
settlement of future development fees and future service fees to the
partner.
The loan to the Sanhe Group Renewable Energy Ltd for development of the
Baicheng II wind farm was fully impaired in 2018.
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NOTE 13 CURRENT RECEIVABLES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Trade receivables
Prepayments to suppliers
VAT receivable
Other current receivables 1)
Total current receivables

1)

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

13 453
14 649
4 986
41 592
74 680

1 351
3 570
464
595
5 980

Other current receivable - 2019

NBT has incurred advisers’ costs related to the development of the Syvash windfarm project. According to the development and support agreement with
the project company, Syvashenergoprom LLC, specified external advisers’ costs can be re-charged to the project company. This includes among others,
fees to technical advisers, legal advisers, market advisers, insurance advisers as well as other direct project specific costs. As of year-end 2019 NBT has
capitalised NOK 15.4 million, the amount can be invoiced when the Syvash wind farm is constructed and the certain conditions in the project financing
agreement for Syvashenergoprom LLC are fulfilled. Current expectation is that all conditions in the project financing agreement will be fulfilled during the
first quarter of 2020. Subsequently the advisers’ costs can be invoiced to the project company.
NBT has booked a receivable of dividend of NOK 19.5 million. A dividend of RMB 15.5 million from Linxi Wind Farm was approved, but not paid during
2019.

NOTE 14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

Debt service reserve account for bond loan, Norway - restricted
Deposit account office rental in Norway
Total long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents

203
729
932

205
729
934

Tax deduction account in Norway – restricted
Total short-term restricted cash and cash equivalents

657
657

146
146

Current accounts in Norway
Deposits in Cyprus
Deposits in Sweden
Deposits in Ukraine
Deposits in Hong Kong
Deposits in China
Deposits in Pakistan
Deposits Singapore
Total short-term cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted

1 911
351
49 694
15 146
132
102
213
88
67 637

577
175
126
319
151
45
7
1 400

Total cash and cash equivalents

69 226

2 480

Total Norway - restricted
Total Norway - unrestricted

1 589
1 911

1 080
577

Total Norway

3 500

1 657

All banks are deemed to be reliable and creditworthy counterparties.
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NOTE 15 SHARE CAPITAL
At 31 December 2019, the company has issued 34 219 239 shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.10. All shares issued carry equal rights.
The table below shows changes in the share capital and number of shares.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Date
31 December 2017
31 December 2018
31 December 2019

Number of shares

Share capital

Share premium

Other paid in equity

32 895 209
33 767 156
34 219 239

3 290
3 377
3 422

440 968
467 039
480 556

50 087
54 057
55 507

Total paid in
equity
494 345
524 473
539 485

2019
33 842 710
33 842 710
34 219 239
34 219 239

2018
33 258 321
33 258 321
33 767 156
33 767 156

Average number of shares
Total average number of shares, options and warrants
Number of shares at 31 December
Diluted number of shares at 31 December

All shares issued are fully paid in
1) Shares held by Arctic Securities AS sold on forward contracts.

At 31 December 2019, NBT AS had 137 shareholders.
20 largest shareholders
Shares issued at 31.12.2019
#
Shareholder
1
Arctic Securities AS1)
2
Lani Invest AS
3
Aker Capital AS
4
Joar Gudmund Viken
5
Al Shamrani, Ayed Mosa A
6
Edda Invest AS
7
SMA Mineral B.V
8
Green Tech International ANS
9
Veda A/S
10
Siviløkonom Bent Bugge AS
11
Borgestad ASA
12
Meteva AS
13
Wing Sang Luk
14
Carucel Invest AS
15
Jon Burum
16
Frogner Boligeiendom Holding AS
17
Monika Skar
18
Frogner Boligeiendom AS
19
Jens Peter Jakobsgaard Andersen
20
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co
Total 20
largestother
Total
shareholders
Total
number of
1)shares
Shares held by Arctic Securities AS sold on forward contracts.

Number of shares
held
8 390 314
3 434 883
2 849 827
2 452 780
1 743 545
1 633 802
1 604 415
1 400 000
1 274 000
1 030 000
1 021 345
1 000 000
935 000
452 083
432 100
285 502
272 730
245 000
228 969
221 000
30 907 295
3 311 944
34 219 239

Ownership
24,52%
10,04%
8,33%
7,17%
5,10%
4,77%
4,69%
4,09%
3,72%
3,01%
2,98%
2,92%
2,73%
1,32%
1,26%
0,83%
0,80%
0,72%
0,67%
0,65%
90,32%
9,68%
100%

Shares held by directors and management as of 31 December 2019:
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Svein Sivertsen

Position

Number of shares

Chairman

5 500

Ulf Juvél, including SMA Mineral B.V1)
Sverre Stavseth2)

Director
Director

1 605 372
16 642

Dag Fasmer Wittusen
Joar Viken

Director
CEO

2 452 780

Walter Chang
Ketil Sundal

CEO Asia
CFO

55 000
3 000

SVP Corporate Finance

4 138 294

Thorstein Jenssen
Total
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1) SMA Mineral B.V is controlled by a related party of Mr. Juvél.
2) Including Sverre Invest AS.

No options are issued to directors or management as of 31 December 2019.

NOTE 16 INTEREST-BEARING DEBT AND CONVERSION RIGHTS
Interest-bearing loans and conversion rights
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Non-current
interest-bearing
liabilities

Current interestbearing liabilities

31.12.2019
Convertible bond loan
Borrowing costs convertible bond loan
Amortization of borrowing cost convertible bond loan

-

282 290
(71 787)
54 539

Carrying value convertible bond loan

-

265 042

Senior secured bond loan
Borrowing costs senior secured bond loan
Amortization of borrowing cost senior secured bond loan

-

300 102
(6 413)
5 561

-

299 250

Carrying value senior secured bond loan
Bond loans
Borrowing cost bond loans
Amortization of borrowing cost bond loans

739 785
(27 037)
7 418

140 066
(15 161)
3 008

Carrying value bond loans

720 166

127 914

Lease liabilites (Note 10)
Other interest-bearing liabilities
Total carrying value of interest-bearing liabilities

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

1 349

1 870

60 049

175 738

781 563

869 815

Non-current
interest-bearing
liabilities

Current interestbearing liabilities

31.12.2018
Convertible bond loan
Borrowing costs convertible bond loan
Amortization of borrowing cost convertible bond loan

260 175
(70 717)
34 471

-

Carrying value convertible bond loan

223 929

-

Senior secured bond loan
Borrowing costs senior secured bond loan
Amortization of borrowing cost senior secured bond loan

300 102
(6 413)
3 969

-

Carrying value senior secured bond loan

297 658

-

New convertible loans
Borrowing cost new convertible loans
Amortization of borrowing cost new convertible loans

13 563
(1 724)
523

-

Carrying value new convertible loans

12 362

-

Bond loans
Borrowing cost bond loans
Amortization of borrowing cost bond loans

99 483
-

-

Carrying value bond loans

99 483

-

-

7 288

633 432

7 288

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

37 940

43 750

Other interest-bearing liabilities
Total carrying value of interest-bearing liabilities

Reconciliation of interest-bearing debt
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Convertible rights
Opening balance of convertible rights
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Fair value of convertible rights at date of conversion loan
Fair value adjustment recognition in the profit and loss statement for the year
Carrying value of convertible rights
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1 070
(1 450)
(9 710)
27 850

3 660
(3 970)
(5 500)
37 940

Total interest-bearing debt at the start of the year
New loans with cash effect
New loans without cash effect1)
Down-payments loans
Capitalised loan cost (no cash effect)
Amortisation of loan cost (no cash effect)
Payable acquisition of Zophia-projects at fair value (no cash effect)
Conversion of loans to equity
Lease liabilities (note 10)
Effects of changes in foreign currency rate
Currency translation effects

640 720
1 419 399
28 841
(710 463)
(1 070)
68 413
219 686
(13 563)
3 219
(3 806)

472 257
139 834
34 275
(3 660)
19 884
(26 158)
(540)
4 828

Total interest-bearing debt at year-end

1 651 377

640 720

1) Interest capitalised as new loans

The 2015 – 2020 senior secured bond loan
On 30 June 2015, the company issued a new 5-year senior secured bond
loan. The main terms of the loan are as follows:

▪
▪
▪
▪

5-year duration with maturity 30 June 2020
Fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per annum
Quarterly interest payments and interest payments for the first three
years were settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”). From
second half 2018 interest payments are payable.
The bond loan is secured with pledges over the company’s assets as listed
below

There are no financial covenants for the bond loan.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income over the term of the loan and
offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the loan.
The 2015 – 2020 convertible bond loan
On 14 September 2015, NBT AS issued an unsecured subordinated
convertible bond loan. The main terms of the loan are as follows:

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

(Payment in Kind), the new bonds can also be converted to shares at the
same terms as the original loan. These conversion rights have been valued
with the same alternative interest of 14 percent. The value of the
conversion’s rights issued in 2017, 2018 and 2019 totalled NOK 2.6 million,
NOK 1.9 million and 1,1 million respectively and is also presented as “other
paid in capital” and amortised over the remaining loan period.
Convertible USD and NOK loans 2017 – 2020
During 2017 and 2018 NBT raised USD 3 million and NOK 12.5 million in
new convertible loans.
The main terms of all of the convertible loan are as follows:

▪
▪
▪
▪

▪
5-year duration with maturity 14 September 2020
Fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per annum with annual capitalisation
Interest to be settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”)
The convertible bond loan is unsecured and subordinated to the 2015 –
2020 senior secured bond loan
Convertible to shares in NBT AS at an exercise price of NOK 30 per share.
The exercise price will, adjusted in case of an IPO event, be set to the
lowest of NOK 30 per share and the IPO price less a discount of 10 percent.
The company has an option to settle conversions as a cash settlement

There are no financial covenants for the convertible bond loan.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement over the term of
the loan and offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the
convertible bond. Total borrowing costs at year-end 2019 amounts to NOK
71.8 million, including a calculated fair value of the conversion rights of
NOK 53.3 million. The value of the conversion rights is calculated based on
the cash flow from the loan discounted with an assumed interest rate of a
loan with similar terms and conditions with no conversion rights. The
difference between the face value of the loan and calculated discounted
value of the loan with the applied market rate is regarded as the value of
the conversion rights. At the time the bond was issued in 2015 the fair value
of the conversion rights was calculated to 44.6 million assuming an
alternative effective interest (exclusive other loan costs) of 14 percent. As
the interest payments for the loan is made by issuing additional bonds

All loans mature on 14 September 2020
Fixed interest with 8.5 percent per annum with annual capitalisation
Interest to be settled by increasing the loan balance (“PIK settlement”)
The loans are unsecured and convertible to shares in NBT at an exercise
price of NOK 30 per share. In case of an IPO the exercise price will be set
to the lowest of NOK per share and the IPO price less a discount of 10
percent
The company has an option to settle the conversions as a cash settlement

The USD loans were all converted to equity in 2018. In November 2019 the
NOK loan inclusive capitalised interest were converted to equity.
At the date of conversion, the remaining book value of the capitalised loan
cost was expensed as interest costs.
EUR 10 million bond loan for acquisition of Syvashenergoprom LLC and
financing of development costs (2018)
As a part of the financing of the acquisition and development of Syvash wind
farm, NBT’s subsidiary East Renewable Energy AB, issued a EUR 10 million
bond loan in August 2018. The bond loan had a maturity date on 30 April
2020 and carried an interest of 12 percent per annum. In connection with
the issuance of the EUR 60 million bond in January 2019 the bond loan was
fully repaid inclusive of accrued interest up to the repayment date.
EUR 60 million bond loan issued in January 2019
In January 2019, NBT’s subsidiary East Renewable Energy AB, issued a EUR 60
million short term bond loan in order to finance the EUR 35.1 investment in
the joint venture holding company East Renewable Ukraine AB. The
additional proceeds were used to:

▪
▪

Repay the EUR 10 million development bond that was issued in 2018
inclusive of interest with a total of EUR 10.9 million,
Prepay interest, fees to bondholders and pay fees and costs to the
financial advisors for the company with a total of EUR 8.0 million,
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The remaining part was spent on repayment of loan / new loan given to
its parent company and for general corporate purposes.

Furthermore, NBT AS has issued an unconditional guarantee to the
bondholders.

The bond loan was issued on 29th January 2019 and was repaid when the EUR
75 million green bond was issued on 21st May 2019. Total interest and
underwriting fees for the duration of the bond loan amounted to EUR 5.36
million and total fees to the financial advisor amounted to EUR 3.57 million.

Other long term interest-bearing debt
In September 2019 NBT gained control over the Zophia wind farm project.
The total purchase price for the Zophia wind farm project companies is
payable in stages. Please refer to Note 5 for further description.
The estimated unpaid purchase price is measured at fair value. The
estimated purchase price is discounted with a rate of 7,6 percent and the
unpaid purchase price is recognized as interest bearing debt in the balance
sheet. Stage payments estimated for payment during 2020 is classified as
short term interest bearing liabilities and stage payments estimated for
payment later than 31st December 2020 are classified as long term
interest-bearing debt.

EUR 75 million bond loan issued in May 2019
On 21st May 2019, NBT’s subsidiary East Renewable Energy AB, made a green
bond issue of EUR 75 million. The bond issue was made to 99% of par and
hence the net proceeds amounted to EUR 74.25 million. The net proceeds
from the bond loan were applied as follows:

▪
▪
▪
▪

repay the EUR 60 million inclusive of interest that was not prepaid of EUR
0.9 million,
pre-fund interest payments on a restricted debt service account of EUR
10.1 million,
fees to the financial advisor EUR 2 million and
general corporate purposes EUR 0.25 million.

The main terms of the bond loan are as follows:

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Fixed interest rate of 13.5 percent per annum with semi-annually interest
payments,
Maturity date 21st May 2021,
The bondholders have pledge in the issuers shares in East Renewable
Ukraine AB and the parent company has pledge the shares in the issuer,
Furthermore, the parent company has issued an unconditional guarantee
to the bondholders,
Pre-fund interest for the green bond for one year.

East Renewable Energy AB has an obligation to list the green bond on a
regulated stock exchange prior to 21st May 2020, and in the event such a
listing is not in place the interest rate for the bond loans increases to 16.5
percent per annum from this date and to the first day the bond is listed. The
process to list the green bond has commenced and it is expected that the
bonds will be listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange during the second quarter of
2020.
EUR 14,2 Million bond loan issued in October 2019
On 14th October 2019, NBT’s subsidiary East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco
AB issued a bond loan of EUR 15 million. During 2019 a total of EUR 14.2
million has been sold in the market at par value and the subsidiary still has
EUR 0.8 million on its own account.
The bond loan matures on 31st August 2020 and carries no coupon interest.
The bond loan shall be repaid at 120% of par value. The bond holders have
pledge in the issuers shares in its subsidiaries and the shares in the issuer.
Assets pledged as security for the 2015-2020 senior secured bond loan
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

NBT AS’ receivable on NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus
NBT AS' shares in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd., Cyprus 1)
NBT AS' shares in NBT Renewable Energy (Singapore) Pte Ltd., Singapore 2)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus' shares in NBT Energy Ltd. 3)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus' receivable on NBT Energy Ltd. 3)

Total debt at the end of 2019 is NOK 221,5 million, NOK 60 million is longterm liabilities. Expected payment date, is the end of 2022.
Short term interest-bearing debt
During 2019 NBT raised a total of NOK 13.4 million in short term liquidity loans.
The loans have carried interest in the range of 10 to 15 percent per annum. The
loans are prolonged for repayment later in 2020.

Other interest bearing short term debt relates to the acquisition of Zophia
project companies, for further information please see text above, total
short-term liabilities is NOK 161.450 million.

Value of convertible rights
NBT has issued convertible bond loans in 2015 and convertible loans in 2017
and 2018. As the exercise price (conversion price) for all convertible loans
contains a variable element and the fixed for fixed criteria under IFRS 9 are
not met, the value of the conversion rights is presented as a liability on the
balance sheet.
During 2019 NBT has issued new convertible bonds (interest settled as “PIK
payments”) and the value of the conversion rights at the time of issuance was
estimated at NOK 1.07 million.
A Black-Scholes model calculation has been applied in calculating the fair
value of the convertible rights at both year-end 2019 and 2018. In the
calculations for both 2019 and 2018 a market value of the NBT share of NOK
33 and volatility of 40 percent are assumed. The valuation method assumes
there is a traded market for the NBT share. As this is not the case, a liquidity
discount of 50 percent has been applied to the valuation. The value of the
convertible rights was classified as a non- current liability as of 31 December
2018 as conversion is assumed to be at or near maturity. At year-end 2019
the conversion rights are classified as short term as the maturity of the loan
is in September 2020.

Book Value
31.12.2019

570 319
18 750
-

1) Book value in NBT AS. Investment in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd. was written down to nil in 2011.
2) Book value in NBT AS. Investments in NBT Renewable Energy (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. has been written down to nil in 2015
3) NBT Renewable Energy Ltd owns 33% of the shares in NBT Energy Ltd and has also provided an interest free loan to NBT Energy Ltd with a nominal value of USD 9.9 million. In the consolidated accounts
both the share investment and the interest free loan is classified as investment in the NBT Energy Ltd joint venture. Carrying value of the combined investment in the consolidated accounts as at year-end
2018 is applied in this overview
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NOTE 17 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

Public taxes and charges payable
Accrued interest on interest-bearing loans
Provision for liabilities to former business partner
Accrued advisers’ fees for the Syvash project
Other current liabilities

3 024
25 635
14 268
40 520

282
15 025
14 119
28 750
11 782

Total other current liabilities

83 446

69 958

NOTE 18 TAXES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2019

Specification of tax expense for the year:
Tax payable
Change in deferred taxes
Tax expense

3 680
3 680

Deferred tax liability
Carrying value per 31 December
Acquired through acquisition
Disposals subsidary (Change of control)
Currency translation effects
Carrying value per 31 December

2019
14 844
64 323
(14 311)
1 936
66 792

2018

-

2018
14 311
533
14 844

The deferred tax liability relates to the acquisition of Azovinvestprom (AIP) LLC and Azovpromenergo (APE) LLC
The group’s operations in Norway, Sweden, Cyprus, Hong Kong, Singapore, Pakistan and China have not generated any profit and the companies have
generated tax losses carried forward or do not have taxable income. The main tax position relates to the parent company in Norway, where the tax position
can be summarised as follows:
Specification of deferred tax assets (Norway)
Tax losses carried forward
Net of other temporary differences

2019
377 997
(148 881)

2018
413 563
(156 282)

Deferred tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position

229 116

257 281

Deferred tax assets (22%)
Non-recognised deferred tax assets

50 406
(50 406)

56 602
(56 602)

Deferred tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position

The deferred tax asset of NOK 50,5 million in the parent company (NBT AS),
relating to tax losses carried forward, has not been recognised in the

-

-

statement of financial position as the company does not expect to be able to
utilise the loss in the foreseeable future.
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NOTE 19 PERSONNEL EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2019

Wages and salaries including holiday pay
National insurance contributions
Pension costs
Other staff expenses
Total

2018

14 323
1 442
726
536
17 027

Employee numbers1)

11 758
875
481
269
13 383

Parent company

Group

Employees at 31 December 2019
Full time equivalents/man years
Average for the year

9
6,2
6,2

17
16,0
16,0

Employees at 31 December 2018
Full time equivalents/man years
Average for the year

3
2,5
2,5

33
26,6
26,6

1) Excluding Management for Hire.

Remuneration - key management personnel
2019
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Joar Viken, CEO1)
Thorstein Jenssen, SVP Corp. Finance, CEO2)
Ketil Sundal CFO3)
Walter Chang, CEO Asia
Total NBT AS

Salary

Bonus

2 613
2 740
2 046
2 640
10 039

-

Other
remuneration
13
45
1 330
1 388

Pension cost
193
193

Total
remuneration
2 819
2 785
2 046
3 970
11 620

2018
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Salary

Joar Viken, CEO1)
Thorstein Jenssen, SVP Corp. Finance, CEO2)
Ketil Sundal CFO3)
Walter Chang, CEO Asia
Total NBT AS

2 125
2 400
1 811
2 440
8 776

Bonus
-

Other
remuneration
192
14
1 044
1 250

Pension cost
193
193

Total
remuneration
2 510
2 414
1 811
3 484
10 219

1) Joar Viken has a notice period of 6 months and is entitled to severance pay up to 24 months if the employment is terminated by the company.
2) Thorstein Jenssen is engaged through a company controlled by Mr. Jenssen. The table shows the invoiced amount for the period.
3) Ketil Sundal is an independent consultant that has been engaged as CFO in both 2018 and 2019. The table shows the invoiced amount for the period.

Board of Directors:
The shareholders’ meeting in June 2017 approved a remuneration for the
Board period 2016/2017 of NOK 250 000 for the chair and NOK 150 000 for
the other Board members. The shareholders approved quarterly payments.
The shareholder’s meeting in June 2018 approved the same remuneration
for the Board period 2018/2019.

Pensions:
NBT AS operates a defined contribution scheme via DnB Livsforsikring in
accordance with the Norwegian Act on Mandatory Occupational Pension
Schemes.

Remuneration to auditor:
Expensed fees to the group’s auditors (excluding VAT):
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Parent company

Group

Parent
company

2019
Auditing, Deloitte
Auditing, others
Other services, Deloitte
Other services, others
Total

(813)
(54)
(867)

Group
2018

(1 047)
(89)
(17)
(97)
(1 153)

959
959

1 096
201
23
23
1 343

Deloitte is also appointed as auditor in the subsidiaries in Cyprus and for the Swedish subsidiaries. No audit fees have been charged to the Swedish
subsidiaries during 2018 as the audit work has been conducted in 2019.
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NOTE 20 FINANCIAL INCOME AND FINANCIAL EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2019

2018

Interest income

35

6

Total finance income

35

6

Interest expenses

(247 153)

(74 601)

Total finance cost

(247 153)

(74 601)

Fair value adjustment of convertible rights
Net change in foreign currency
Net financial items

9 710
2 975
(234 433)

5 550
713
(68 332)

Fair value adjustments:
The fair value adjustment relates to change in the fair value assessment of the conversion rights associated with the 2015-2020 convertible bond and the direct
convertible loans issued in 2017 and 2018.

NOTE 21 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit or loss for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding through the
year. Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit or loss for the year by the weighted average number of diluted shares through the year.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2019

2018

Profit/(loss) for the year

(5 144)

(156 783)

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

13 505

(154 251)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share

33 842 710

33 258 321

33 842 710

33 258 321

Effect of dilution:
Options
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution
Earnings per share - loss for the year (NOK):
Basic
Diluted

(0,15)
(0,15)

(4,71)
(4,71)

0,40
0,40

(4,64)
(4,64)

Earnings per share - total comprehensive income (NOK):
Basic
Diluted

The effect of dilution is assumed to be zero, as the group has negative earnings.
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NOTE 22 RELATED PARTIES – TRANSACTIONS
Remuneration to senior executives is listed in note 19, including remuneration for hired senior executives.
TRANSACTIONS WITH SHAREHOLDER
Luk Wing Sang

The group’s development partner in China, Sanhe Group, is entitled to a
development fee for building permits for wind farms in China. Development
fee is linked to the total investment cost of the relevant project and
denominated in RMB. Luk Wing Sang, the majority shareholder in Sanhe
Group, is a shareholder in NBT AS.

NBT has assisted the project company with all major development work
related to the development of the Syvash project, including financing,
obtaining EPC contract, obtaining all required governmental approvals,
ensure all required environmental and social studies are prepared. This
included contracting and engaging advisers that were required to complete
obtain all approvals, a signed EPC contract and financing of the project.

As of year-end 2019 the group had total outstanding prepayment of
development fees for USD 3 million (NOK 26.3 million) to Sanhe Group. The
service fee payable to Sanhe Group for 2019 of RMB 3 million has been setoff against the prepayment during the year.

The development support agreement consists of several elements for
remuneration to NBT, and includes:
a)

NBT had further provided loan to Sanhe Group and a subsidiary of Sanhe
Group for its financing of potential projects in China for a total of USD 1.1
million. These loans were fully impaired by year-end 2018
Artic Securities AS

b)
c)

Advisers’ costs incurred by NBT to be reimbursed by
Syvashenergoprom within certain limitations.
A fixed fee of EUR 8 million to NBT.
Additional development fees to NBT up to a maximum of EUR 8.5
million.

Arctic Securities AS has provided brokerage and advisory services to NBT AS
in 2019 in connection with raising financing for all bond loans raised in the
Swedish subsidiaries. In total Arctic has received EUR 6.7 as advisory fees and
EUR 0.4 for out-of pocket expenses. Fees for the provided services were
provided under success fees structures that is customary for these types of
services.

The major amounts of the advisers’ costs were re-charged to
Syvashenergoprom during the first quarter of 2019 and has been paid by the
project company. An amount corresponding to about NOK 16 million will be
payable following the completion of the construction as this is defined in the
financing agreements.

EUR 10 million loan subsequent amended to a EUR 10 bond loan
In April 2018, the Swedish subsidiary East Renewable Energy AB entered a
loan agreement to borrow EUR 10 million to in connection with the
acquisition of Syvashenergoprom LLC and financing of development costs.
The initial loan was entered with seven lenders of which three was
shareholders and one a board member. In total the shareholders and the
board member provided EUR 4 million of the total loan amount of EUR 10
million. Reference to note 16 for more detailed information about the
terms of the loan.

The fixed fee was invoiced from NBT in the second quarter and has been paid
by the project company.

TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER RELATED PARTIES
Loans from other parties
During 2018 board member Ulf Juvel and a company controlled by senior vice
president Thorstein Jenssen provided loans to NBT of NOK 0.25 and 0.24 mill
respectively. The loans carried interest of 12% per annum and was repaid in
January 2019.
During 2019 Lani Invest AS, a shareholder, provided two short term loans.
Initially a short-term loan of EUR 1.4 million was provided in January 2019. The
loan carried an interest of 10 per cent and was repaid later the corresponding
month. In March 2019 Lani Invest AS provided a short-term loan of NOK 10.3
million. The loan carried initially an interest of 10 per cent. The maturity date
has later been extended, with latest extension to 30 August 2020. In connection
with the extensions the interest rate was adjusted to 12 per cent.
In July 2019 board member Ulf Juvel provided a loan of EUR 0.3 million that was
applied for development costs related to the Zophia project. The due date was
originally no later than 1 March 2020 and the loan carried an interest of 15 per
cent and a commitment fee of 5 per cent. The maturity date has been extended
to no later than 30 September 2020 and the interest adjusted to 10 per cent.

Development Support Agreement with Syvashenergoprom LLC
During 2017 and 2018 NBT assisted Syvashenergoprom LLC in the
development of the 245.8 MW Syvash windfarm. The agreement was finally
formalized in January 2019 in connection with the signing of the project
financing for the Syvash project as the project financing lenders required the
development support agreement to be approved by them prior to signing.

Additional development fees may be invoiced following completion of the of
the construction as define in the financing agreements and the final fee
depend up on a series of future events including updated financial forecast
for the project. NBT has an obligation to share the Development with the joint
venture partner Total Eren.
Impact Technology Systems AS
One member of NBT management is appointed as board member of Impact
Technology Systems AS (“ITS”).
ITS was established in 2011 and acquired on 31 December 2011 NBT’s
research and development activities related to a technology for increased oil
recovery. NBT agreed to provide a seller’s credit to ITS for the sales
consideration of the technology. Due to the liquidity situation for ITS, NBT
agreed throughout a series of amendment and restatement agreements to
transfer the original sales consideration to a senior secured loan. As a part of
the restructuring NBT also provided an unsecured loan to ITS in 2017. As of
year-end 2019 the nominal value of NBT’s share of the senior secured loan
amounts to about NOK 9.8 million and the nominal value of the unsecured
loan amounts to NOK 1.4 million. The loans carry 6.5% interest. The maturity
date for both loans was originally 20 June 2019, but during 2019 maturity
was extended to December 2020. NBT has made a full impairment for the
loans and no interest is recognized.
During 2017 NBT performed certain management services for ITS and has
invoiced the agreed service fee of NOK 125 000 net of VAT. The amount is
recognized in the 2018 financial statement and is partly paid.
Loans to associates
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd in Cyprus has given an interest free loan to NBT
Energy Ltd in Hong Kong (the holding company for the Baicheng joint
venture) of about USD 9.9 million. Originally the loan was intended to be
converted to equity, however, as the loan is pledged as security for the
senior secured bond loan, such conversion would require consent from the
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bondholders. In the consolidated financial statement, the loan is classified
and presented as part of the investment in the Baicheng joint venture. For
further reference see note 8.

NOTE 23 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, ASSETS AND COMMITMENTS
Baicheng joint venture company debt to turbine vendor Suzlon
The Baicheng joint venture company has withheld a payment of RMB 37
million invoiced from the turbine vendor Suzlon due to delays and nonperformance by Suzlon during the construction phase. The parties have
been in negotiations to settle the dispute. After Suzlon terminated certain
provisions under the warranty, maintenance and service agreement, the
project company has terminated the settlement negotiations. The project
company has claimed compensation from Suzlon that exceeds the amount
withheld. The amount withheld is still recognised as a liability in the
financial statement of the joint venture company.
Alleged claim from former business associate
A former business associate of NBT has claimed compensation under a
consulting agreement entered into in 2017 between it and NBT. Under the
terms of that agreement, the former business associate would, in certain
circumstances, be entitled to a bonus equal to 2 % of any equity stake
directly or indirectly subscribed for by NBT in projects developed by it as a
result of the work carried out by the business associate under the
consulting agreement. The consulting agreement was terminated in
December 2017. Via its legal advisors NBT has rejected the alleged claim.
Unless a settled, any disputes in respect of the claim shall be finally
resolved by arbitration under Norwegian law.

Alleged claim from financial advisor in relation with acquisition of
Azovinvestprom
JSC Azovinvestprom (AIP) has received a claim from one of its former
business consultants. Under a letter of claim, dated 13 January 2020. It is
demands a payment in kind from AIP equal to 10% of the shares in that
company or, alternatively, a sum, determined after expert valuation,
equivalent to 10% of the shares in AIP. AIP (and NBT) considers the claim
groundless and intends to vigorously defend itself against the claim. The
dispute resolution is arbitration under English law.
Previous sellers’ option to acquire 15% of the shares in the Zophia
projects
NBT has given the Ukrainian sellers of the Zophia project companies an
option to acquire 15% of the shares in the Zophia projects. If exercised,
NBT will be obliged to fund the required equity for the projects and
transfer 15% of the ownership in the projects to the Ukrainian sellers. In
the circumstances the option is exercised no further cash consideration is
payable to the sellers. However, the share of the equity contributed to the
project companies is deemed to be the purchase price for the acquisition,
and in the circumstances this amount deviates from the estimated fair
value of the deferred purchase price NBT has to expense this in its
consolidated financial statement.
The option needs to be exercised for all of the project companies or none.
The deadline for exercising the option is linked to the finalization of the
project financing agreements for Zophia project that first will reach
financial close.
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NOTE 24 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Tap issue of senior secured bond loan of NOK 40 million
NBT AS made a tap issue of NOK 40 million on the senior secured bond loan
on 5th February 2020.
Prolongation of maturity on Senior Secured Bond
Sufficient majority for prolongation for 90 days of the senior secured bond
with maturity June 30, 2020 has been attained, and a bondholders meeting
will be called in the first week of July 2020 to confirm this.
Covid 19 pandemic outbreak
During first quarter 2020, the spread of the COVID-19 virus caused global
disruption with negative consequences both for human health and
economic activity. The main concern for NBT is the potential effect this may
have on the Syvash project. The project has taken strict measures to
mitigate the spreading of the COVID-19 virus on site and there are no
known cases on site to date. While this is encouraging, COVID-19 has
affected the supply chain of the equipment and people to the site.
Disruptions caused by COVID-19 have so far only caused minor delays to
the first phase of the project. As the situation related to COVID-19 is
developing we cannot rule out delays to the project caused by the COVID19 outbreak. It is however, not expected that this will have a material
impact on the long-term value of the Syvash investment.
The COVID-19 virus has so far not had any material impact on the Zophia
project or the other activities for the Group.
Strategic partnerships
The company has for some time been exploring the possibility to form a
closer relationship with an industrial partner where there might be
synergies on several levels between NBT’s operations and the partner’s
operations.

After engaging with and assessing a number of such potential partners
throughout the latter half of 2019 and in the first part of 2020, it is expected
that a closer partnership/relationship with a listed industrial partner will
materialize within short, thus enabling NBT to pursue an ambitious growth
strategy going forward.
Changes in feed-in tariff in Ukraine
The Feed-in-Tariff regime in Ukraine is under revision and a MOU between
the Governmentof Ukraine and business associations (Ukrainian Wind
Energy Association (UWEA) & European-Ukrainian Energy Agency (EUEA) )
representing renewable power producers (“RPPs”) regarding restructuring
of the green tariff support scheme, has been signed. The MOU is a big step
towards resolution of the problems on the market, and will be followed up
by drafting and adoption of the law, as well as sub-legislative acts by the
Regulator, before the issues are fixed at the legislative layer.
The most important implications of the MoU for NBT are:
•
•

7,5% reduction for all WIND RPPs with 2MW and + single turbine
capacity commissioned between 01.07.2015 and 31 December
2019 without prolongation of the PPA beyond 31.12.2029;
2.5% reduction for all solar and wind RPPs commissioned after 1
January 2020without prolongation of the PPA beyond 31.12.2029

Sellers of the Zophia-projects option to declare no financial close
The sellers of the Zophia-projects have from April 1, 2020 had the right to
declare ‘no financial close’ and be compensated with EUR 4.5 million while
yielding their interests in the project. This right has successively been
waived by the sellers for 30 days each time while there was uncertainty
around the Feed in Tariff regime (FiT-regime). As the FiT-regime now has
been firmed up in a way that secures the realisation of the project, it is
expected that this right will not be exercised and that no such declaration
will occur.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PARENT COMPANY
INCOME STATEMENT – PARENT COMPANY
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Note

2019

2018

Income from management services
Other income
Total operating revenues

13
13

12 100
76 053
88 153

(900)
125
(775)

Personnel expenses
Depreciation
Bad debt
Intercompany management service cost
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

14
3
5
16

(10 717)
(28)
(400)
(15 585)
(22 015)
(48 745)

(5 801)
(1 200)
(16 786)
(23 787)

39 408

(24 562)

6, 15, 16
15
5, 15
15

17 639
(75 456)
(208)
9 459
(48 566)
(9 158)

18 531
(66 418)
(7 686)
33 433
(22 140)
(46 702)

12

(9 158)

(46 702)

(9 158)
(9 158)

(46 702)
(46 702)

Operating result
Financial income
Financial expenses
Write down of loans to subsidiaries and other receivables
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)
Net financial items
Result before tax
Tax expense
Net result

Allocation of net result for the year:
Uncovered losses
Total allocation of net result for the year
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER – PARENT COMPANY
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Note

ASSETS
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries
Receivables on group companies
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Total non-current assets

3
3
4
6, 16
8

Trade debtors
Other current receivables and prepaid expenses
Receivables on group companies
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets

47
566 858
934
567 839

3 099
17 599
11 227
657
1 911
34 493
650 334

73 869
146
577
74 592
642 431

3 422
278 471
-253 258
28 635

3 377
263 886
-244 102
23 161

10
6, 16

19 925
19 925

533 949
533 949

10

578 581
10 355
1 382
8 000
3 456
601 774
621 699
650 334

7 288
6 652
10 560
28 471
32 350
85 321
619 270
642 431

9
9

Interest-bearing long-term debt
Liabilities to companies in the same group
Total non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing short-term debt
Short-term accrued interest
Short-term loan from group companies
Trade payables
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total liabilities and equity

6, 16
11

The Board of Directors of NBT AS
Oslo 22 June 2020

2018

460
458
43 672
570 319
932
615 841

7
6, 16
8
8

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital
Other equity
Uncovered losses
Total equity

2019
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS – PARENT COMPANY
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2019

2018

(9 158)
608
28
(15)
75 456
(17 639)
(9 459)
(20 087)
27 192
21
(24)
45 309
15
(486)
(460)
88 807
(79 398)
2
(43 674)
48
(35 146)
26 852
19 925
(8 637)
(20 949)
(25 509)
(8 318)

(46 702)
8 886
66 418
(18 531)
(33 455)
27 380
(38 540)
(34 544)
(10 566)
1 671
(47)
46
(8 896)
25 000
19 090
8 452
(507)
(12 209)
39 826

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

1 845

(3 614)

Exchange gain/(loss) on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

723
2 568

4 337
723

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted funds
Cash and cash equivalents
Sum

657
1 911
2 568

146
577
723

Result before tax
Impairment loss on intra-group loans and receivables and other receivables
Ordinary depreciation
Gain from sale of fixed assets
Interest expenses
Interest income
Net foreign exchange effect
Change in trade payables
Other working capital adjustments
Interest received
Interest paid
Cash flow from operating activities
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Investment of property, plant and equipment
Investment in intangible assets
Increase in loans to subsidiaries
Repayment of loans from subsidiaries
Proceeds from other loans
Interest received
Investments in subsidiaries and other companies
Sales of subsidiaries and other companies
Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from new bond loans
Proceeds from other loans
New loans from subsidiaries
Repayment loan from subsidiaries
Repayment of loans
Interest and other financial expenses paid1)
Cash flow from financing activities

1)
2)

NBT has both in 2019 and 2018 settled interest payments by issuing new bonds. These settlements are not included in the cash flow statement, as these have no direct cash impact. In 2019 interest
settlements with no cash effect amounted to NOK 23.35 million and in 2018 such interest settlements amounted to NOK 34.28 million.
During both 2019 and 2018 holders of convertible loans have exercised their rights to conversion to shares. Such a conversion has no direct cash effect and is consequently not included in the cash flow
statement.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY – PARENT COMPANY
Uncovered
Other paid
losses/
in equity retained earnings

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Share
capital

Share
premium

Equity at 1 January 2018
Share issue, conversions of loans
Conversion rights
Net result for the year
Equity at 31 December 2018

3 290
87
3 377

102 529
26 071
128 600

131 626
3 660
135 286

(197 400)
(46 702)
(244 102)

40 045
26 158
3 660
(46 702)
23 161

Equity at 1 January 2019
Share issue, conversions of loans
Conversion rights
Net result for the year
Equity at 31 December 2019

3 377
45
3 422

128 600
13 517
142 117

135 286
1 070
136 354

(244 102)
(9 158)
(253 258)

23 161
13 562
1 070
(9 158)
28 635

Total equity
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – PARENT COMPANY
NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF KEY ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
NBT AS’ annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting
practice in Norway (NGAAP).
OPERATING REVENUES
Revenues from the sale services are recognised at the fair value of the
consideration less VAT, estimated returns and discounts.
Revenue from the sale is recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of
the goods. Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by
reference to the labour hours delivered and direct expenses are incurred.
CLASSIFICATIONS
Assets intended for permanent ownership or use are classified as noncurrent assets. Assets that are associated with the goods circulation,
receivables that shall be paid within a year and assets that are not intended
for permanent ownership or use by the company are classified as current
assets. Liabilities with maturity more than one year after the balance sheet
date are recorded as non-current liabilities. Other liabilities are classified as
current.

Tax, deferred tax and deferred tax asset
The income tax expense for a period comprises current tax and deferred
tax. The current tax is calculated on the basis of the year’s taxable income.
Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements using the liability method. Deferred tax assets are capitalised
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Loans
Loans are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs.
Convertible loans with subscription rights comprise an equity component
and a debt component based on the terms of the agreement and are
recognised in the balance sheet at fair value at initial recognition. When the
loan is issued the fair value of the conversion rights and debt component is
calculated using the market rate for non-convertible loans. The fair value
of the debt component is presented as a convertible loan, while the value
of the conversion rights is presented as equity. The value of the conversion
rights is recognised in profit and loss as an interest expense over the term
of the loan.

VALUATION POLICIES
Assets and liabilities in foreign currency
Receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are not
hedged against exchange fluctuations are translated to NOK using foreign
exchange applicable on the balance sheet date. Gains and losses resulting
from changes in exchange rates are presented as financial items.

Conversion rights
Conversion rights are measured at fair value at date of issue, and the fair
value is based on observed market transactions. The fair value is recognised
in the income statement as an interest expense and in the balance sheet as
an increase in equity.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at nominal value less
provisions for bad debt. Provisions for bad debt are made on the basis of
individual assessments of the relevant receivables. An unspecified
provision is also made to cover losses on other trade receivables.

Provisions
The group recognises provisions when the group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are recognised at
acquisition cost adjusted for any impairment. Each investment is assessed
individually. Received dividends and other profit distributions from the
companies are recognised as financial income. Realised gains or losses and
any impairment due to a permanent decrease in value are included in the
income statement under financial items.

The amount recognised as provisions is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taken into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When the effect of time is material, and
present value calculation is applied, the discount rate used is a pre-tax rate
that reflects the risks specific to the liability. Any increase in the liability
that reflects the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at their acquisition cost, less
accumulated depreciation. The acquisition cost includes costs directly
associated with the acquisition of the asset. Property, plant and equipment
are depreciated over its useful life using the straight-line method.
Depreciation commence from the date the asset is employed.

Share capital and share premiums
Shares capital and share premium is classified as equity when there are no
obligations for transferring cash or assets (fully paid).

Pensions and pension obligations
The company has a defined contribution pension scheme for all employees.
A defined contribution pension scheme is a privately owned and
administered scheme. The company has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

PRESENTATION OF COST REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS
Agreements where the consideration is reimbursement of costs or a major
remuneration in the agreement is reimbursement of external costs are
classified and presented as a cost reduction and reducing the respective
cost category in the profit and loss statement for the company.

Costs directly attributable to the issue of shares are presented as a
reduction in equity, net after tax.

PRINCIPLES FOR CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the indirect
method. This means that the company’s income for the year is used as a
basis for the analysis in order to be able to present cash flows separately
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for operating activities, investment activities and financing activities
respectively.

NOTE 2 GOING CONCERN
As of Dec 31, 2019 NBT AS has total interest-bearing debt of NOK 578.58
million. The entirety of the interest-bearing debt matures within
September 2020 of which the convertible bond loan of NOK 282.29 matures
on 14 September 2020 and the senior secured bond loan of NOK 300.10
million matures on 30 September 2020.

Based on this the board has concluded that the going concern principle as
outlined in section 3-3 of the Norwegian Accounting Act can be applied,
and the board therefore confirms that the consolidated financial
statement and the financial statement of the parent company have been
based on the going concern assumption.

The company’s continued operations depend on successful refinancing of
the debt and on its ability to fund operations. As such the going concern
assumption on which the financial statement are prepared, hinges entirely
on the company’s ability to refinance and/or raise new equity.

Should the expected transaction, or a similar transaction, for any reason, fail
to materialize, the conditions for the going concern assumption is materially
jeopardized. In such an event the board would immediately need to seek
alternative ways to re-finance and/or raise new equity from other sources. In
an event that the company is not able to refinance, postpone due dates for
its loans and/or raise enough capital there is a risk that projects cannot be
realised and that the book value of assets will be eroded.

The company is currently in processes with strategic, industrial investors.
The investors have performed different due diligence processes on NBT.
Based on the board of director’s current knowledge about the investor’s
interest, the board is reasonably certain that a transaction will be materialize.

NOTE 3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Intangible assets
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Carrying value:
Balance at 1 Jan
Additions
Total Acquisitions
Balance at 1 jan DEPR
Amortization & Impairment
Total amortization & Impairment
Net Book Value at 31 Dec 2019
Economic life
Depreciation method

Property, plan and equipment
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Software

Total

460
460
460

460
460
460

3-5 years
Linear

Fixtures and fittings

Total

Carrying value:
Balance at 1 Jan
Additions
Total Acquisitions
Balance at 1 jan DEPR
Depreciation & Impairment
Total Depreciation & Impairment

486
486
-28
-28

486
486
-28
-28

Net Book Value at 31 Dec 2019

458

458

Economic life
Depreciation method

3-5 years
Linear
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NOTE 4 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
East Renewable Energy Zophia AB
East Renewable AB
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd.
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte), Ltd.
Investments in subsidiaries

Incorporated/
acquired

Registered
office

Shareholding

Voting rights

2019
2018
2008
2011

Sweden
Sweden
Cyprus
Singapore

100.0 %
100.0 %
100.0 %
100.0 %

100.0 %
100.0 %
100.0 %
100.0 %

Cost

Carrying value Carrying value
31.12.2019
31.12.2018

168
43 504
40 465
72 333

168
43 504
43 672

47
47

NOTE 5 BAD DEBT/WRITE DOWN OF LOANS TO SUBSIDIARIES AND OTHER LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES
NBT AS has given loans to its subsidiaries. The basis for these loans is either
a credit arrangement related to management service fee charged to the
subsidiary or a regular loan given to the subsidiary. Both at year-end 2019
and 2018, NBT has evaluated the recoverability of its receivables, and writedowns/ impairments on the receivables are evaluated. The write downs/
impairments are presented in the profit and loss statement according to its
underlying substance, hence write downs/impairments related to
previously invoiced management service fees or other service fees are

presented as a bad debt in the profit and loss statement and write downs /
impairments related to loans given to the subsidiaries are presented as
write down of loans to subsidiaries in the profit and loss statement for the
company.

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2019

2018

Total Impairment of receivables on subsidiaries

608

8 886

Classified as follows:
Bad debt classified under operational items
Write down of loans classified under financial items
Total bad debt/write downs

400
208
608

1 200
7 686
8 886

For further description of bad debt provisions and description of loans and receivables on subsidiaries, reference is made to note 6.

NOTE 6 INTERCOMPANY RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES WITH GROUP COMPANIES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte) Ltd, Singapore
East Renewable AB, Sweden
NBT Wind Power Ltd, Pakistan
Zeni Windpower Ltd, Pakistan
NBT International Ltd, Hong Kong

615 134
28 154
1 497

611 366
27 545
307
4 292
839
1 497

Allowance for impairment loss

(74 466)

(78 988)

Total non-current receivables on group companies

570 319

566 858

Receivables on subsidiaries
In connection with the preparation of the financial statement for 2019 NBT
has made an assessment of the recoverability of the loan given to NBT
Renewable Energy Ltd as there are indications of impairment. A valuation
of the equity in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd is performed. The valuation is
based on a discounted cash flow analysis in the joint ventures. The valuation
of the equity in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd per Dec 31, 2019 shows a value
that is slightly below the book value of the receivable that NBT has on the
subsidiary. However, the valuation is highly sensitive to certain
assumptions. The following conclusions apply:

‐ A base case has been established with the prevailing conditions as per Dec
31,
2019. This base case indicates that the impairment is about NOK 36m. This
is
less than the previously recorded impairment of NOK 45m
‐ The model is particularly sensitive to changes in the RMB/NOK exchange
rate,
where +/- NOK 0,05 yields a difference in valuation of NOK 43m
‐ It is also sensitive to the curtailment in Linxi, where 0,5%-points yields +/NOK
6m difference in valuation
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Furthermore, NBT is still pursuing new project possibilities in China, and our
current assessment is that it is more probable than not that NBT will be able
to realise additional wind farms in China. An expansion of one of the existing
wind farms are the most probable solution. The net present value of new
projects is expected to exceed the valuation shortfall for NBT Renewable
Energy Ltd, and NBT has therefore decided not to make any impairment of
the receivable on NBT Renewable Energy Ltd in the financial statement for
2019.
The loan to NBT Renewable Energy, Cyprus (borrower) consists of an
interest free loan of USD 15.4 million and interest-bearing loan of USD 54.6
million at year-end 2019 (USD 55 million at year-end 2018). As the loan
agreement for the interest-bearing loan requires the borrower to have a
certain minimum adjusted equity ratio before interest is charged, an
additional amount of USD 31.1 million of the interest-bearing loan in 2019
had to be treated as none-interest bearing in 2019. The additional amount
that in 2018 was treated as none-interest bearing amounted to USD
27.3million. The interest rate is 8.5 percent and charged interest for 2019
totals USD 2.0 million (NOK 17.6 million) with the corresponding figure of
USD 2.13million (NOK 18.5 million) in 2018. During 2019 NBT Renewable
Energy Ltd made a net repayment of the loan with USD 2.3 million, and in
2018 net new loans of USD 0.8 was granted to NBT Renewable Energy Ltd.
NBT AS invoices management services to its subsidiaries on an arms-length
basis. The management services charge covers the cost of the services
provided by the parent company to its subsidiaries, with the addition of a

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
East Renewable AB, Sweden
East Renewable Zophia AB, Sweden
East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco AB, Sweden
Total current receivables on group companies

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
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mark-up of 5 percent. These services comprise accounting, controlling,
consultancy work, legal advice, legal fees, information services, etc. In
addition, NBT AS has made some payments on behalf of some of its
subsidiaries. Most of the subsidiaries do not have sufficient cash flow to pay
the management fees and operating expenses. Hence, NBT AS funds these
subsidiaries by granting additional loans. By the end of each year an
assessment of the recoverability of the receivables are made and an
impairment of the receivables and loans are made if required. All
receivables on NBT Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte) Ltd, all the Pakistani
companies and NBT International Ltd was fully impaired by the end of 2016.
NBT has been working to dispose the Szabist project in Pakistan and in the
meanwhile continued to provide management services and funding to NBT
Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte) Ltd as the holding company for the
Pakistani operations. In June 2019 an assessment of the probability to
dispose the Szabist project was performed together with an assessment of
the expected recoverability for the project. Following this assessment it was
concluded to close down the activities in Pakistan. The formal liquidation
process is ongoing and is expected to take some months. NBT needs to
provide funding to close the companies properly and all loans given to NBT
Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte) Ltd have been fully impaired both at year
end 2018 and 2019.
None of the receivables on loans given to other subsidiaries than NBT
Renewable Energy, Cyprus, carries any interest.
The company regards the receivables as long term, as repayments are not
likely to take place within a 12-month period.

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

3 723
47
7 457

-

11 227

-

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

East Renewable AB, Sweden

19 925

-

Total non-current liabilities to group companies

19 925

-

NBT AS has a seller’s credit from East Renewable AB of EUR 2.02 million that arose in connection with the separation of the Zophia wind park from East
Renewable AB. The seller’s credit totals EUR 2.02 million and is due for repayment 31 December 2021. The seller’s credit carries a EUROBOR interest plus
a margin floored at zero per cent.

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

NBT Development Limited, Cyprus
East Renewable Energy AB, Sweden

1 382
-

1 651
8 909

Total current liabilities to group companies

1 382

10 560
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NOTE 7 OTHER CURRENT RECEIVABLES AND PREPAID EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

VAT Settlement
Prepayments to suppliers
Cost re-imbursement for incurred advisers’ costs for the Syvash project
Other current receivables

1 107
309
15 390
793

464
3 554
69 500
351

Total

17 599

73 869

NBT has incurred advisers’ costs related to the development of the Syvash windfarm project. According to the development and support agreement with
the project company, Syvashenergoprom LLC, specified external advisers’ costs can be re-charged to the project company. This includes among others,
fees to technical advisers, legal advisers, market advisers, insurance advisers as well as other direct project specific costs. During 2019 a total of NOK 54.1
million has been reimbursed from Syvashenergoprom LLC. As of year-end 2019 NBT has capitalised NOK 15.4 million, the amount can be invoiced when
the Syvash wind farm is constructed and the certain conditions in the project financing agreement for Syvashenergoprom LLC are fulfilled. Current
expectation is that all conditions in the project financing agreement will be fulfilled during the first quarter of 2021. Subsequenly the advisers’ costs can
be invoiced to the project company.

NOTE 8 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

Tax deduction account - restricted

657

146

Total current restricted cash

657

146

Debt service accounts for bond loan - restricted
Deposit account office rental - restricted

203
729

205
729

Total non- current restricted cash

932

934

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents

1 589

1 080

Current accounts

1 911

577

Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents

1 911

577

Total cash and cash equivalents

3 500

1 657

NOTE 9 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDERS
At 31 December 2019, the company has issued 34 219 239 shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.10. All shares issued carry equal rights.
The table below shows changes in the share capital and number of shares.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Date
1 January 2018
9 February 2018
2 March 2018
2 August 2018
2 August 2018
14 September 2018
24 November 2018
31 December 2018
14 September 2019
16 November 2019
31 December 2019
1)

Type of change Number of shares
Total
Conversion rights1)
Conversion rights1)
Conversion rights1)
Share issue
Conversion rights1)
Conversion rights1)
Total
Conversion rights1)
Share issue
Total

32 895 209
871 947
33 767 156
452 083
34 219 239

Share capital
3 290
87
3 377
45
3 422

See note 10 for description of the conversion rights and the valuation of the conversion rights at the time of issuance.

Share premium
102 529
26 071
128 600
13 517
142 117

Other paid
in equity

Total paid
in equity

131 626
487
931
230
1 920
92
135 285
1 070
136 354

237 445
487
931
230
26 158
1 920
92
267 262
1 070
13 562
281 893
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2019
Average number of shares
Total average number of shares and options
Number of shares at 31 December
Diluted number of shares at 31 December2)

33 842 710
33 842 710
34 219 239
34 219 239

All shares are fully paid in.
2)

In addition, the number of shares may be further diluted by conversion of convertible loans, please refer to note 10

At 31 December 2019, NBT AS had 137 shareholders.

20 largest shareholders
Shares issued at 31.12.2019
#
Shareholder
1
Arctic Securities AS1)
2
Lani Invest AS
3
Aker Capital AS
4
Joar Gudmund Viken
5
Al Shamrani, Ayed Mosa A
6
Edda Invest AS
7
SMA Mineral B.V
8
Green Tech International ANS
9
Veda A/S
10
Siviløkonom Bent Bugge AS
11
Borgestad ASA
12
Meteva AS
13
Wing Sang Luk
14
Carucel Invest AS
15
Jon Burum
16
Frogner Boligeiendom Holding AS
17
Monika Skar
18
Frogner Boligeiendom AS
19
Jens Peter Jakobsgaard Andersen
20
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co
Total 20 largest shareholders
Total other shareholders
Total number of shares
1)

Number of shares held
8 390 314
3 434 883
2 849 827
2 452 780
1 743 545
1 633 802
1 604 415
1 400 000
1 274 000
1 030 000
1 021 345
1 000 000
935 000
452 083
432 100
285 502
272 730
245 000
228 969
221 000
30 907 295
3 311 944
34 219 239

Shares held by Arctic Securities AS sold on forward contracts.

Shares held by directors and management as of 31 December 2019:
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Svein Sivertsen
Ulf Juvél, including SMA Mineral B.V1)
Sverre Stavseth2)
Dag Fasmer Wittusen
Joar Viken
Ketil Sundal
Thorstein Jenssen
Total
1)
2)

Ownership
24,52%
10,04%
8,33%
7,17%
5,10%
4,77%
4,69%
4,09%
3,72%
3,01%
2,98%
2,92%
2,73%
1,32%
1,26%
0,83%
0,80%
0,72%
0,67%
0,65%
90,32%
9,68%
100,00%

SMA Mineral B.V is controlled by a related party of Mr. Juvél.
Including Sverre Invest AS.

No options are issued to directors or management as of 31 December 2019.

Position Number of shares
Chairman
Director
Director
Director
CEO
CFO
SVP Corporate Finance

5 500
1 605 372
16 642
2 452 780
3 000
4 083 294

2018
33 258 321
33 258 321
33 767 156
33 767 156
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NOTE 10 BOND LOAN AND OTHER INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES
Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

Convertible bond loan
Borrowing cost convertible bond loan
Amortisation of borrowing cost convertible bond loan

282 290
(71 787)
54 539

260 175
(70 717)
34 471

Carrying value convertible bond loan

265 042

223 929

Senior secured bond loan
Borrowing cost senior secured bond loan
Amortisation of borrowing cost senior secured bond loan

300 102
(6 413)
5 561

300 102
(6 413)
3 969

Carrying value senior secured bond loan

299 250

297 658

Convertible loans
Borrowing cost convertible loans
Amortisation of borrowing cost convertible loans

-

13 563
(1 724)
523

Carrying value convertible loans

-

12 362

-

533 949

Total carrying value presented as non-current interest-bearing debt
Total carriying value presented as current interest-bearing debt

564 292

-

Other interest-bearing short-term debt

14 288

7 288

TOTAL INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

578 581

541 237

Total interest-bearing debt at the start of the year
New loans with cash effect
New loans without cash effect1)
Down-payments loans
Capitalised loan cost (no cash effect)
Amortisation of loan cost (no cash effect)
Conversion of loan to equity (no cash effect)
Effects of changes in foreign currency rate

541 237
26 852
23 212
(20 949)
(1 070)
22 861
(13 563)
-

472 257
44 091
34 275
(3 660)
19 884
(26 158)
548

Total interest-bearing debt at year-end

578 581

541 237

Reconciliation of interest-bearing debt

1)

Interest capitalised as new loans

The 2015 – 2020 senior secured bond loan
On 30 June 2015, the company issued a new 5-year senior secured bond
loan. The main terms of the loan are as follows:

▪
▪
▪
▪

5-year duration with maturity 30 September 2020
Fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per annum
Quarterly interest payments and interest payments for the first three years
were settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”). From second
half 2018 interest payments are payable.
The bond loan is secured with pledges over the company’s assets as listed
below

There are no financial covenants for the bond loan.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income over the term of the loan and
offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the loan.
The 2015 – 2020 convertible bond loan
On 14 September 2015, NBT AS issued an unsecured subordinated
convertible bond loan. The main terms of the loan are as follows:

▪
▪
▪

5-year duration with maturity 14 September 2020
Fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per annum with annual capitalisation
Interest to be settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”)

▪
▪
▪

The convertible bond loan is unsecured and subordinated to the 2015 –
2020 senior secured bond loan
Convertible to shares in NBT AS at an exercise price of NOK 30 per share.
The exercise price will, adjusted in case of an IPO event, be set to the
lowest of NOK 30 per share and the IPO price less a discount of 10 percent.
The company has an option to settle conversions as a cash settlement

There are no financial covenants for the convertible bond loan.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement over the term of
the loan and offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the
convertible bond. Total borrowing costs at year-end 2019 amounts to NOK
71.8 million, including a calculated fair value of the conversion rights of NOK
53.3 million. The value of the conversion rights is calculated based on the
cash flow from the loan discounted with an assumed interest rate of a loan
with similar terms and conditions with no conversion rights. The difference
between the face value of the loan and calculated discounted value of the
loan with the applied market rate is regarded as the value of the conversion
rights. At the time the bond was issued in 2015 the fair value of the
conversion rights was calculated to 44.6 million assuming an alternative
effective interest (exclusive other loan costs) of 14 percent. In the financial
statement for the parent company the value of the conversion rights is
presented as “other paid in capital” (refer to note 8) and capitalised as loan
costs. As the interest payments for the loan is made by issuing additional
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bonds (Payment in Kind), the new bonds can also be converted to shares at
the same terms as the original loan. These conversion rights have been
valued with the same alternative interest of 14 percent. The value of the
conversion’s rights issued in 2017, 2018 and 2019 totalled NOK 2.6 million,
NOK 1.9 million and 1.1 million respectively and is also presented as “other
paid in capital” and amortised over the remaining loan period.
Convertible USD and NOK loans 2017 – 2020
During 2017 and 2018 NBT raised USD 3 million and NOK 12.5 million in new
convertible loans.

Financial statements – parent company

▪

▪

The loans are unsecured and convertible to shares in NBT at an exercise
price of NOK 30 per share. In case of an IPO the exercise price will be set
to the lowest of NOK per share and the IPO price less a discount of 10
percent
The company has an option to settle the conversions as a cash settlement

The USD loans were all converted to equity in 2018. In November 2019 the
NOK loan inclusive capitalised interest were converted to equity.
At the date of conversion, the remaining book value of the capitalised loan
cost was expensed as interest costs.

The main terms of all of the convertible loan are as follows:

▪
▪
▪

All loans mature on 14 September 2020
Fixed interest with 8.5 percent per annum with annual capitalisation
Interest to be settled by increasing the loan balance (“PIK settlement”)

Short term interest-bearing debt
During 2019 NBT raised a total of NOK 13.4 million in short term liquidity
loans. The loans have carried interest in the range of 10 to 15 percent per
annum. The loans are prolonged for repayment later in 2020.

Assets pledged as security for the 2015 – 2020 senior secured bond loan

Book value

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2019

NBT AS' receivable on NBT Renewable Energy Ltd., Cyprus
NBT AS' shares in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd., Cyprus 1)
NBT AS' shares in NBT Renewable Energy (Singapore) Pte Ltd., Singapore 2)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus' shares in NBT Energy Ltd. 3)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus' receivable on NBT Energy Ltd. 3)
1)
2)
3)

570 319
18 750
-

Book value in NBT AS. Investment in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd. was written down to nil in 2011.
Book value in NBT AS. Investment in NBT Renewable Energy (Singapore) Pte Ltd. was written down to nil in 2015.
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd owns 33% of the shares in NBT Energy Ltd and has also provided an interest free loan to NBT Energy Ltd with a nominal value of USD 9.9 million. In the consolidated
accounts both the share investment and the interest free loan is classified as investment in the NBT Energy Ltd joint venutre. Carrying value of the combinded investment in the consolidated
accounts is provided in the table above.

NOTE 11 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

Public taxes and charges payable
Accrued project costs for Syvash project
Other current liabilities

1 067
2 389

230
28 750
3 370

Total other current liabilities

3 456

32 350

2018
NBT has incurred advisers’ costs related to the development of the Syvash windfarm project. According to a development and support agreement with the
project company, Syvashenergoprom LLC, specified external advisers’ costs can be re-charged to the project company. This includes among others, fees to
technical advisers, legal advisers, market advisers, insurance advisers as well as other direct project specific costs. As of year-end 2018 NBT reviewed the
total project development costs that have been incurred for work related to 2018 and advisers’ costs that can be re-charged to the project company has
been recognised as other current receivables with an amount of NOK 69.5 million. A total of NOK 28.75 million of these advisers’ costs were invoiced in
2019 but related to activities performed in 2018, hence this amount was provided for as accrued project costs.

NOTE 12 TAXES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2019

2018

Taxable income:
Result before tax
Permanent differences
Change in temporary differences

(9 158)
41 845
2 879

(46 702)
17 225
(19 940)

Taxable income

35 566

(49 417)
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Tax expense:
Current tax expense
Deferred tax expense

-

-

Tax expense

-

-

Specification of temporary differences
Provisions and other differences
Fixed assets
Write downs receivables
Currency effects on long term receivables/debt
Tax loss carried forward

4 725
(42)
(82 403)
152 135
(377 997)

11 304
(148)
(86 925)
153 063
(413 563)

Temporary differences
Allowance for no tax-deductible item

(303 582)
74 466

(336 269)
78 988

Adjusted temporary differences
Deferred tax (+)/Deferred tax assets (-)
Tax rate

(229 116)
50 406
22%

(257 281)
(56 602)
22%

The deferred tax asset of NOK 50.5 million is not recognised in the balance sheet since it is not probable that the company will be able to offset any taxable
profit in the near future.

NOTE 13 REVENUES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2019

2018

Management service income from group companies
Other services/revenues

12 100
76 053

(900)
125

Total revenues

88 153

(775)

2019
Other income is development service fee invoiced for work related to development and raising financing for the Syvash wind farm project.
2018
Management service income from group companies invoiced for 2018 amounted to NOK 1.95 million. In addition, a credit for the management services
charged to the subsidiary East Renewable Energy AB of NOK 2.85 million for 2017 has been recognised in the 2018 accounts. Hence the net management
fees recognised in the financial statement for 2018 is negative with NOK 0.9 million. See note 16 for further reference to the management services
remuneration.

NOTE 14 PERSONNEL EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Wages and salaries including holiday pay
National insurance contributions
Pension costs
Other staff expenses
Total
Employee numbers1)
Employees at 31 December
Full time equivalents/man years
Average for the year
1)

Excluding Management for Hire

2019
8 047
1 438
726
506
10 717

2018
4 498
682
351
269
5 801

2019

2018

9
6,2
6,2

3
2,5
2,5
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2019
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Salary

Joar Viken, CEO1)
Thorstein Jenssen, SVP Corp. Finance, 2)
Ketil Sundal CFO3)
Total NBT AS

2 613
2 740
2 046
7 399

Bonus
-

Other
remuneration
13
45
58

Pension cost

Total
remuneration

193
193

2 819
2 785
2 046
7 650

2018
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Salary

Joar Viken, CEO1)
Thorstein Jenssen, SVP Corp. Finance, 2)
Ketil Sundal CFO3)
Total NBT AS

2 125
2 400
1 811
6 336

Bonus
-

Other
remuneration
192
14
206

Pension cost

Total
remuneration

193
193

2 510
2 414
1 811
6 735

1)

Joar Viken has a notice period of 6 months and is entitled to severance pay up to 24 months if the employment is terminated by the company.
Thorstein Jenssen is engaged through a company controlled by Mr. Jenssen. The table shows the invoiced amount for the period.
3)
Ketil Sundal is an independent consultant that has been engaged as CFO in both 2018 and 2019. The table shows the invoiced amount for the period.
2)

Board of Directors
The shareholders’ meeting in June 2018 approved a remuneration for the Board period 2018/2019 of NOK 250,000 for the chair and NOK 150,000 for the
other Board members. The shareholders approved quarterly payments. The shareholder’s meeting in June 2019 approved the same remuneration for the
Board period 2019/2020.
Pensions
NBT AS has a defined contribution scheme through DnB Livsforsikring in accordance with the Norwegian Act on Mandatory Occupational Pension.
Remuneration to auditor
Expensed fees to the company's auditor (excluding VAT):
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2019

2018

Auditing, Deloitte
Other services, Deloitte
Total

813
54
867

959
959

NOTE 15 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2019

2018

Interest income
Interest income, group companies
Total financial income

6
17 633
17 639

5
18 526
18 531

Interest expenses
Write down of loans to subsidiaries
Total financial cost

(75 456)
(208)
(75 664)

(66 418)
(7 686)
(74 104)

Net change in foreign currency
Net financial items

9 459
(48 566)

33 433
(22 140)
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NOTE 16 RELATED PARTIES – TRANSACTIONS
Intra-group loans and receivables
Some of the group’s subsidiaries are financed from the parent company, NBT
AS, either by intra-group loans or equity. Intra-group loans are governed by
relevant loan agreements. NBT AS has granted NBT Renewable Energy,
Cyprus, two loans; one interest free loan, amounting to USD 15.4 million
(NOK 135.17 million), and one interest bearing loan facility in USD that carries
8.5 percent interest. As of 31 December 2019, a total of USD 54.7 million
(NOK 480.1 million) was drawn under the facility.
NBT AS has also granted NBT Renewable Energy Singapore Pte Ltd a USD loan
facility. The facility is a non-interest bearing loan draft facility where the
outstanding amount from time to time will be converted to equity. As of 31
December 2019, a total of USD 3.2 million (NOK 28.1 million) was drawn
under the facility.
In connection with the development of the Zophia projects certain advisers
have an agreement with NBT AS. These advisers are invoicing NBT, that
subsequently re-charges these costs to East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco
AB. As of year-end 2019 NBT had a receivable on East Renewable Zophia
Super Holdco AB of about NOK 2.47 million related to such re-charge of
advisers’ costs.
In connection with a separation of the Zophia wind park projects that initially
was contemplated to be owned through East Renewable AB, assets were
transferred from East Renewable AB to indirect subsidiaries of NBT AS. The
receivables that arose from these transactions were subsequently
transferred from East Renewable AB to NBT against a seller’s credit. The
seller’s credit totals EUR 2.02 million and is due for repayment 31 December
2020. The seller’s credit carries a EUROBOR interest plus a margin floored at
zero per cent.
NBT granted in 2017 a loan of SEK 1.7 million to East Renewable Energy AB.
The loan was non-interest bearing. During 2018 East Renewable Energy AB
entered agreements to raise financing for its acquisition of
Syvashenergoprom LLC (the project company for the Ukrainian Syvash
windfarm project) and also to finance the costs to develop the Syvash project.
Funds from this financing has partly been used to pay development costs
directly from East Renewable Energy and partly paid to NBT for NBT’s funding
of development costs related to the Syvash project. East Renewable Energy
AB and NBT has agreed that the acquisition and development costs for the
Syvash project shall be borne by NBT. Following this agreement, all costs
initially charged to East Renewable Energy AB are re-charged to NBT.
Consequently, NBT had a short-term liability to East Renewable Energy AB.
The liability was settled in January 2019.
NBT has since 2016 had a short-term advance from NBT Development
Limited. The advance is non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
Further reference to note 6 for further description of the loans given to the
subsidiaries.
Management services provided from NBT AS
NBT AS invoices management services to its subsidiaries on an arms-length
basis. The table below lists the total management service charges invoiced in
2019 and 2018. The management services charges cover the cost of the
services provided by NBT AS to its subsidiaries, with the addition of a markup of 5 percent. These services comprise accounting, controlling,
consultancy, legal advice, legal fees, information services, etc. As some of the
subsidiaries do not have sufficient cash flow to pay the management fees, the
amounts are mostly unpaid and classified as long-term receivables in the
balance sheet and a bad debt provision is recognised in the parent company
accounts both in 2019 and 2018.
Management fees charged to East Renewable AB and East Renewable Super
Holdco AB are expected to be paid during 2020, hence classified as current

receivables. Liabilities that NBT had to East Renewable AB is set-off against
the current receivables.
In 2017 NBT invoiced management service fee to its subsidiary East
Renewable Energy AB related to the acquisition and development of the
Syvash project. Following an agreement between NBT and
Syvashenergoprom LLC (project company for the Syvash project) where
project acquisition and development cost would be charged directly to the
project company, NBT and East Renewable Energy AB agreed to credit the
invoiced management service fee for 2017..
Reference is made to note 6 for further description of the loan balances.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus
East Renewable AB, Sweden
East Renewable Zophia Super Holdco AB, Sweden
NBT Development Ltd, Hong Kong
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore Pte.
Total management service fees
Credited to East Renewable Energy AB,
Sweden for invoiced amount in 2017
Management services fees

2019
500
6 000
5 000
200
400
12 100

2018
700
150
500
600
1 950

-

(2 850)

12 100

(900)

Management services provided by subsidiaries to NBT AS
Personnel from NBT Renewable Energy Ltd and NBT Renewable Energy
Singapore Pte Ltd have during 2018 & 2019 provided services in connection
with the development of the Syvash wind farm project.
Additionally, personnel from NBT Renewable Energy Ltd has provided other
services to NBT AS. Management service agreements between NBT AS and
the subsidiaries have been formalized in February 2020 with effect from
2019. The below table summarizes the management service fees charged to
NBT AS for the services provided. Payments for the services have been done
by offsetting the amount to the inter-company loans that NBT AS has given
to the subsidiaries.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore Pte.
Total management service fees

2019

2018

13 170

-

2 415

-

15 585

-

Loans from related parties
During 2018 board member Ulf Juvel and a company controlled by senior
vice president Thorstein Jenssen provided loans to NBT of NOK 0.25 and
0.24 mill respectively. The loans carried interest of 12% per annum and was
repaid in January 2019.
During 2019 Lani Invest AS, a shareholder, provided two short term loans.
Initially a short-term loan of EUR 1.4 million was provided in January 2019.
The loan carried an interest of 10 per cent and was repaid later the
corresponding month. In March 2019 Lani Invest AS provided a short-term
loan of NOK 10.3 million. The loan carried initially an interest of 10 per cent.
The maturity date has later been extended, with latest extension to 30
August 2020. In connection with the extensions the interest rate was
adjusted to 12 per cent.
In July 2019 board member Ulf Juvel provided a loan of EUR 0.3 million that
was applied for development costs related to the Zophia project. The due
date was originally no later than 1 March 2020 and the loan carried an
interest of 15 per cent and a commitment fee of 5 per cent. The maturity
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date has been extended to no later than 30 September 2020 and the
interest adjusted to 10 per cent.
Development Support Agreement with Syvashenergoprom LLC
During 2017 and 2018 NBT assisted Syvashenergoprom LLC in the
development of the 245.8 MW Syvash windfarm. The agreement was finally
formalised in January 2019 in connection with the signing of the project
financing for the Syvash project as the project financing lenders required the
development support agreement to be approved by them prior to signing.
NBT has assisted the project company with all major development work
related to the development of the Syvash project, including financing,
obtaining EPC contract, obtaining all required governmental approvals, ensure
all required environmental and social studies are prepared. This included
contracting and engaging advisers that were required to complete obtain all
approvals, a signed EPC contract and financing of the project.
The development support agreement consists of several elements for
remuneration to NBT, and includes:
a)
b)
c)

Advisers’ costs incurred by NBT to be reimbursed by
Syvashenergoprom within certain limitations.
A fixed fee of EUR 8 million to NBT.
Additional development fees to NBT up to a maximum of EUR 8.5
million.

The major amounts of the advisers’ costs were re-charged to
Syvashenergoprom during the first quarter of 2019 and has been paid by the
project company. An amount corresponding to about NOK 16 million will be
payable following the completion of the construction as this is defined in the
financing agreements.
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The fixed fee was invoiced from NBT in the second quarter and has been paid
by the project company.
Additional development fees may be invoiced following completion of the of
the construction as define in the financing agreements and the final fee
depend up on a series of future events including updated financial forecast for
the project. NBT has an obligation to share the Development with the joint
venture partner Total Eren.
Impact Technology Systems AS
One member of NBT management is appointed as board member of Impact
Technology Systems AS (“ITS”).
ITS was established in 2011 and acquired on 31 December 2011 NBT’s
research and development activities related to a technology for increased oil
recovery. NBT agreed to provide a seller’s credit to ITS for the sales
consideration of the technology. Due to the liquidity situation for ITS, NBT
agreed throughout a series of amendment and restatement agreements to
transfer the original sales consideration to a senior secured loan. As a part of
the restructuring NBT also provided an unsecured loan to ITS in 2017. As of
year-end 2019 the nominal value of NBT’s share of the senior secured loan
amounts to about NOK 9.8 million and the nominal value of the unsecured
loan amounts to NOK 1.4 million. The loans carry 6.5% interest. The maturity
date for both loans was originally 20 June 2019, but during 2019 maturity was
extended to December 2020. NBT has made a full impairment for the loans
and no interest is recognised.
During 2017 NBT performed certain management services for ITS and has
invoiced the agreed service fee of NOK 125 000 net of VAT. The amount is
recognised in the 2018 financial statement and is partly paid.

NOTE 17 OBLIGATIONS

Guarantees
NBT AS has issued unconditional guarantees to the bond holders to the following subsidiaries:
EUR 75 million bond loan issued by East Renewable AB with maturity on 21st May 2021.
EUR 15 million bond loan of which issued by East Renewable Super Holdco AB with maturity on 31st August 2020.
The unconditional guarantee includes payment of interest, delayed interest and other costs in connection with collection of the outstanding bonds.
Following a non-payment from the subsidiary the trustee may immediately claim payment from the guarantor.
NBT AS har further undertaken a guarantee to the sellers of the Ukrainian project companies for the Zophia wind power project in connection with the
acquisition for the Zophia project. In the event that one of the Swedish NBT holding companies do not pay the remaining outstanding stage payments
according to the sales and purchase agreement the sellers may submit a claim for immediate payment of the due amount to NBT A S. The remaining stage
payments falls due at financial closing for the respective project and following completion of the construction. The remaining stage payments subject to a
number of factors including installed capacity for the wind farms and other events that are mutually exclusive. In the consolidated financial statement for
the group an estimate of the fair value of the remaining stage payments amounts about NOK 222 million.
Lease obligations
The lease of the NBT offices in Oslo, Norway expires 31 August 2021. The annual rental cost is approx. NOK 2.0 million (net of VAT).
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NOTE 18 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Alleged claim of former business associate
A former business associate of NBT has claimed compensation under a consulting agreement entered into in 2017 between it and NBT. Under the terms
of that agreement, the former business associate would, in certain circumstances, be entitled to a bonus equal to 2 % of any equity stake directly or
indirectly subscribed for by NBT in projects developed by it as a result of the work carried out by the business associate under the consulting agreement.
The consulting agreement was terminated in December 2017. Via its legal advisors NBT has rejected the alleged claim. Unless a settled, any disputes in
respect of the claim shall be finally resolved by arbitration under Norwegian law.

NOTE 19 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Financing
All loans due to mature June 30 / July 11, have been prolonged until
September 30, 2020 / August 31, 2020.
Incentive scheme
The Board of Directors have implemented an incentive scheme (option
scheme) giving key staff the right to acquire shares in the company. A total
of 2.385.000 options have been awarded giving the right to subscribe to the
same number of shares at a subscription price of NOK 33 per share.”
Tap issue of senior secured bond loan of NOK 40 million
NBT AS made a tap issue of NOK 40 million on the senior secured bond loan
on 5th February 2020.
Covid 19
During first quarter 2020, the spread of the COVID-19 virus caused global
disruption with negative consequences both for human health and
economic activity. The main concern has been the potential effect this may
have on the Syvash project. The project has taken strict measures to
mitigate the spreading of the COVID-19 virus on site and there are no known
cases on site to date. While this is encouraging, COVID-19 has affected the
supply chain of the equipment and people to the site. Disruptions caused
by COVID-19 have so far only caused minor delays to the first phase of the
project. As the situation related to COVID-19 is developing we cannot rule
out delays to the project caused by the COVID-19 outbreak. It is, however,
not expected that this will have a material impact on the long-term value of
the Syvah investment.
The COVID-19 virus has so far not had any material impact on the Zophia
project or the other activities for the Group.

Strategic partnerships
The company has for some time been exploring the possibility to form a
closer relationship with an industrial partner where there might be
synergies on several levels between NBT’s operations and the partner’s
operations.
After engaging with and assessing a number of such potential partners
throughout the latter half of 2019 and in the first part of 2020, it is expected
that a closer partnership/relationship with a listed industrial partner will
materialize within short, thus enabling NBT to pursue an ambitious growth
strategy going forward.
Changes in feed-in tariff in Ukraine
The Feed-in-Tariff regime in Ukraine is under revision and a MOU between
the Government f Ukraine and business associations (Ukrainian Wind
Energy Association (UWEA) & European-Ukrainian Energy Agency (EUEA) )
representing renewable power producers (“RPPs”) regarding restructuring
of the green tariff support scheme, has been signed. The MOU is a big step
towards resolution of the problems on the market, and will be followed up
by drafting and adoption of the law, as well as sub-legislative acts by the
Regulator, before the issues are fixed at the legislative layer.
The most important implications of the MoU for NBT are:
•
•

7,5% reduction for all WIND RPPs with 2MW and + single turbine
capacity commissioned between 01.07.2015 and 31 December
2019 without prolongation of the PPA beyond 31.12.2029;
2.5% reduction for all solar and wind RPPs commissioned after 1
January 2020without prolongation of the PPA beyond 31.12.2029.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 2018
2018 has been a landmark year for NBT. After acquiring the Ukrainian wind developer Syvashenergoprom in April 2018 we developed
and financed the 250 MW Syvash wind farm, brought in Total Eren as an equity partner and started construction in February 2019. The
windfarm is scheduled to be completed in June 2020 and will generate 900.000 MWh per year and will have an annual turnover of over EUR
80 million. As part of the financing of the wind farm we raised a EUR 10 million development bond, which was repaid in 2019. The wind farm
was financed through a EUR 262 million loan from a syndicate of 8 development banks, including the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development. The wind farm is the largest renewable energy project in Ukraine, and the first wind farm to be financed in the international
market.
In 2018 the Linxi wind farm in Inner Mongolia generated 257.9 GWh, an increase from 256.1 GWh in 2017. Net profit was RMB 29.2 million.
As the payment of renewable energy subsidies in China continued to the severely delayed, NBT did not receive any dividends from the
project company for 2017 and 2018. Dividend will be carried forward to 2019. The performance of the Baicheng wind farm has improved
significantly as the ultra- high voltage line transferring electricity out from Jilin was commissioned in December 2017. The windfarm
generated and delivered 97.3 GWh, up from 76.8 GWh in 2017. Curtailed energy was 10.4% compared to 38.4% in 2017.
COMPANY PROFILE
NBT develops wind farms in emerging markets. The
company has offices in Oslo (Norway), Limassol
(Cyprus), Beijing (China), Kiev (Ukraine), Stockholm
(Sweden) and Karachi (Pakistan). Corporate
management and administration are in Oslo.
NBT acquired 100% of the Syvash wind farm
project in the Kherson region, Ukraine in April
2018. Following the completion of the financing
for the project in 2019, NBT’s ownership was
diluted to 46.5%
NBT owns 49% of the 100 MW Linxi wind farm in
Inner Mongolia in China. The wind farm is
operated in a joint venture with Datang, one of
China’s leading utilities. NBT owns 33% of the
49.5 MW Baicheng wind farm in the Jilin province
in China. The majority owner is GanttCo China
Power Limited.
FINANCING
NBT operates in a capital-intensive industry, and
access to capital is essential for the company’s
ability to grow. During 2018 NBT raised NOK 25
million in tap loans under the senior secured
bond agreement. Further a total of USD 1.5
million was raised in new convertible direct loans
from an investor in 2018. This investor converted
the 2018 USD loans together with USD loans of
USD 1.5 million raised in 2017 into shares in NBT
at a price of NOK 30 per share.
NBTs subsidiary East Renewable Energy AB
(Sweden) raised a loan of EUR 10 million to
finance the acquisition and development of the
Syvash wind farm. The loan was subsequently
transferred to a bond with East Renewable AB as
lender and the bond was repaid in 2019. NBTs
subsidiary East Renewable Ukraine AB raised
EUR 79 million from Total Eren in a preferred
equity issue as part of the financing of the Syvash
wind farm. The transaction closed in January and
April 2019 in two tranches. The preferred stock
can be converted into 53.5% of the equity in the
holding company of the Syvash wind farm in
October 2022.
NBT has issued one senior secured bond and one
convertible bond with maturity in June and
September 2020 respectively. By year-end 2018
the nominal value of the senior secured bond
totals NOK 300 million and the convertible bond
totals NOK 260 million. The convertible bond can
be converted into shares in NBT AS at NOK 30 per
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share. If converted at maturity it will convert
into 9.9 million shares, or 22% of the total
number of shares after conversion. Both loans
carry an annual interest of 8.5 per cent.
NTB has initiated work with financial advisors to
refinance the bonds and raise additional equity
at the parent company level. This process is
expected to be finalised in the first quarter of
2020.
CHINA
According to China’s National Energy Administration (NEA), 20.59GW of wind power capacity was
connected to the grid during 2018, increasing
the total grid connected capacity to 184GW.
Wind power capacity now accounts for 9.7% of
total installed power capacity in China and 5.2%
of total electricity production. China remains the
world’s largest wind power market both in terms
of total installed capacity and annual growth.
By 2020, it is expected that the total installed
and connected onshore wind power will reach
210GW, meeting the target set by the “13th Fiveyear Plan for Renewable Energy Development”.
The wind power industry in China will continue
its steady and strong growth.
With the growing scale and improving utilisation
level of new energy, the curtailment rate of wind
power generation decreased from 12% in 2017
to 7% in 2018. This increases revenues for existing wind farms accordingly.
OPERATIONS
Linxi
The Linxi wind farm is located east of the city of
Chifeng in Inner Mongolia in China. Technical
availability was 97.1% for the year, up from
96.6% in 2017. Delivered electricity production
increased from 256.1 GWh in 2017 to 257.8 GWh
in 2018 which became the second-best year in
the project’s history. Production loss due to grid
constraints (curtailment) was 5.3 GWh, down
from 15.9GWh in 2017. Curtailment for the Linxi
wind farm is significantly lower than for
comparable wind farms in the same region. Total
revenues reached RMB 116.8 million and net
profit totalled RMB 29.2 million. Accumulated
unpaid subsidy reached RMB 128 million by end
of April 2019.
Due to the national-wide delays in the payment
of subsidies from the Ministry of Finance to

renewable energy projects, the Linxi jointventure company has not had sufficient liquidity
to pay for dividend accumulated since 2016.
The situation is caused by a very strong growth in
renewable energy projects and as the price
increment in the general electricity price to fund
such project has not been large enough the
central subsidy fund has become underfunded.
This is a situation that effects the renewable
industry and is not sustainable in the longer
term. Consequently, this issue needs to be
solved if China wants to achieve its ambitions to
reduce its carbon-based electricity production.
The board in the Linxi joint venture has approved
distribution of dividend belongs to the year of
2016 based on the liquidity situation for the
company. NBT expects to receive about NOK 14
million dividend from the joint venture in July of
2019.
Baicheng
The Baicheng wind farm is located near the city
of Baicheng in the Jilin province in China. The
technical availability of 2017 was 95.8 percent,
and it has been increased to 96.6 percent in
2018. The wind farm delivered 96.7 GWh ongrid production, up from 76.9 GWh in 2017. The
grid curtailment of 2018 has been reduced
significantly to 10% and predicted local grid
availability keep this level in 2019. Estimated
revenue loss during 2018 due to curtailment is
about RMB 6.9 million.
Total revenues for Baicheng in 2018 was RMB
44.3 million and net loss was RMB 9.6 million. In
2017 total revenues amounted to RMB 37.8
million and the company had a net loss of RMB
16.8 million.
Baicheng company signed an agreement with
HSBC and BOCOM in September 2018 to
restructure the loan to fit Baicheng’s forecasted
cashflow. After the restructuring, the next
principal payments will be RMB 6.9 million on
September 20, 2019.
During the first quarter of 2019, Baicheng has
experienced a very positive development with
the grid availability, and the grid curtailment in
the quarter was 5 per cent compared with 12.8
per cent in the first quarter in 2018. The on-grid
production in the first quarter of 2019 reached
43.9 GWh compared with 26.4 GWh in the first
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The Syvash wind farm is being built to very high international standards, conforming to EBRD Performance Standards and Equator Principles. The electricity generated from
Syvash will be sold to state-owned company “Energorynok” - Ukraine’s wholesale electricity market operator. The Syvash wind farm is located on the coast of Lake Syvash,
close to Crimea in the southern Kherson region of Ukraine. Once built, it is expected to become the country’s largest renewable energy project.

quarter of 2018. NBT therefore expects a
considerable improvement in the profitability for
the Baicheng company in 2019.

2020 and will generate approximately 900
GWh and have a turnover of EUR 80-90
million annually.

Ukraine
The Ukrainian renewable energy market has
revived through 2018. A number of important
legislative initiatives has successfully been
implemented, and the market has attracted
investment from a number of international
players, including NBT and Norwegian Scatec
Solar. NBT acquired 100% of the shares in
Syvashenergoprom LLC in April 2018. The
company has an operating wind farm of 3 MW
and has land and grid connection capacity for up
to 250 MW. After acquiring the shares, NBT
developed the 250 MW project to international
standards and worked with JP Morgan to
arrange a EUR 262 million debt facility to finance
70% of the EUR 376 million investment in the
Syvash wind farm. The debt facility was funded
by European Bank of Reconstruction and
Development (EUR 75 million), FMO (EUR 50
million), Proparco (EUR 42 million), Black Sea
Trade and Development Bank (EUR 30 million),
Green for Growth Fund (EUR 25 million), IFU
(EUR 15 million), Finnfund (EUR 15 million) and
NEFCO (EUR 10 million). Total Eren, the French
independent power producer and renewable
energy developer, provided EUR 79 million
through a preferred stock issue. NBT provided
EUR 35 million in ordinary equity. Total Eren’s
preference shares are convertible into 53,5% of
the ordinary shares in East Renewable Ukraine
AB, the joint venture company for the Syvash
wind farm.

NBT is using the success of the Syvash project
development to expand the footprint in this
exciting market. During the last 6 months of
2018 NBT negotiated a sale and purchase
agreement for 82% of the shares in
Azovinvestprom LLC, a company that has a grid
connection agreement for 450 MW capacity and
land plots for over 750 MW of wind power
capacity. The transaction closed in January 2019
and NBT is undertaking the development of the
project to international standards with an aim to
finance this large project in several tranches.

The financing for the Syvash wind farm closed
in two tranches in January and April 2019 and
is now under construction. Power China is
the EPC contractor and Nordex will deliver
the 63 wind turbines of 3,9 MW each. The
wind farm is expected to be finalised in June
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PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements for 2018
have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standard
(IFRS) as adopted by EU. The consolidated
accounts are presented in Norwegian Kroner,
which is the functional currency of the parent
company.
Consolidated income Statement
Income from power generation in joint
ventures and associated companies are
recognised in accordance with the equity
method and presented in a separate line in the
consolidated income statement. In 2018 the
company recognises an income of NOK 13.0
million compared to an income of NOK 13.6
million in 2017. NOK 17.2 million is recognised
as profit from Linxi and a loss of NOK 4.2
million is recognised from the Baicheng joint
venture. The profitability for the Baicheng
wind farm improved as the amount of curtailed
energy decreased. The profitability of the Linxi
wind farm decreased slightly due to several
reasons.

Total operating expenses increased from NOK
37.3 million in 2017 to NOK 104.1 million in
2018. The main costs increase relates to
operating expenses increasing due to
development costs associated with the
development costs related to the Syvash wind
farm of which NOK 44.5 million has been
expensed.
Further NBT has fully impaired the development
rights connected to the Baicheng II wind farm in
China with a cost of NOK 13.5 million. NBT had
also given a loan to the project company for the
Baicheng II wind farm that has been fully
impaired during the year of NOK 4.7 million. The
impairment has been recognised as the building
permit for the project had been revoked during
the year.
Personnel expenses increased from NOK 12.2
million in 2017 to NOK 13.4 million in 2018 mainly
due to the acquisition of Syvashenergoprom.
Net financial items were negative with NOK 68.3
million, compared to NOK 49.0 million in 2017.
Interest cost was NOK 74.6 million in 2018,
compared to NOK 53.1 million in 2017. The main
reason for the increase in the interest costs the
increase in the interest-bearing debt for the
Group.
Net loss for 2018 amounted to NOK 156.8
million. Exchange rate differences from
translation of foreign operations were positive
with NOK 2.5 million. Total comprehensive
income for the year was negative by NOK 154.3
million, compared to a loss of NOK 73.7 in 2017.
Consolidated statement of financial
position
Total book value of assets at 31 December 2018
was NOK 387.0 million, compared to NOK 264.1
million in 2017.
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Intangible assets increased from NOK 13.6
million in 2017 to NOK 92.1 million in 2018. The
entire increase in intangible assets relates to the
acquisition of Syvashenergoprom LLC. At the
time of the acquisition intangible assets related
to the acquisition totalled NOK 89.2 million of
which project value of the Syvash project was
valued at NOK 65.2 million, goodwill at NOK 14.3
million and concession property rights in the
project compay at NOK 9.7 million. The reported
intangible assets at year-end 2017 related to the
Baicheng II wind farm project in China and was
fully impaired in 2018.
Investments in associates and joint ventures
increased from NOK 204.4 million to NOK 219.9
million. The main reason for this is the
recognition of income from the Linxi joint
venture and at year-end 2018 the book value of
this investment stands at NOK 199.0 million.
Capitalised pre-paid development fees and loans
to business partners decreased from NOK 36.5
million to NOK 29.8 million. An amount of NOK
3.8 million has been set-off against service fees
payable to the business partner and an
impairment is made of one loan of NOK 4.7
million. Pre-paid development fees will be set off
against future development fees payable as the
projects receive building permits and future
service fees to the business partner.
The group had NOK 1.4 million in unrestricted
cash at year-end, and consolidated book equity
was negative with NOK 407.1 million.
As of 31 December 2018, the Group had interest
bearing liabilities with a carrying value of NOK
640.7 million. The main three loans are a senior
secured bond issue and an unsecured convertible
bond loan issued by the parent company with a
face value of NOK 300.1 million and NOK 260.2
million respectively and EUR 10 million bond issue
issued by East Renewable AB with a total carrying
value of NOK 99.5 million. Nominal value of other
loans total NOK 20.9 million. The difference
between the carrying value of the loans and the
nominal face value of the loans relates to
capitalised borrowing costs, fees and expenses.
The conversion rights associated with the
convertible bond loan is, in accordance with the
IFRS reporting standards, separated from the
convertible bond and measured at estimated
market value with a recognised value of NOK
37.9 million. Other current liabilities were NOK
107.9 million at year-end 2018. The increase is
for all material purposes caused by increases in
trade payables and accrued costs related to
advisers cost for the Syvash project for 2018.
Liquidity and cash flow
In 2018 the cash flow from the operating
activities was negative with NOK 20.7 million
compared with a negative cash flow from the
operating activities in 2017 of NOK 29.7 million.
The main reason for the negative amount is that
NBT did not receive any dividend from the Linxi
joint venture due to the delayed payment of
renewable energy subsidies in China. No
dividend has been distributed in 2017 or in 2018.
In 2016 NBT received a dividend net of
withholding taxes of about NOK 40 million.
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Liquidity from investing activities includes the
net amount used to pay for the acquisition of
Syvashenergoprom of NOK 78.9 million. Further
the group has spent NOK 32.3 million in the
development of the Syvash project that has been
capitalised in the consolidated financial
statement for 2018. In total the cash flow from
the investing activities are negative with NOK
112.2 million.
The negative cash flow from the investing
activities and the operations was financed by
raising new loans of about NOK 139.8 million.
During the year NBT has paid interest with NOK
12.2 million of which the majority relates to the
interest payment on the senior bond loan for the
second half of 2018. The interest on the
remaining interest-bearing loans have been
settled by issuing additional bonds or capitalised
on the loan balance and had consequently no
cash effect for the group.
Parent company activities and financial
statement
The income statement for the parent company,
NBT AS, has been prepared in accordance with
Norwegian generally accepted accounting
principles (NGAAP).
During both 2017 and 2018 the main activities
for the NBT management have been to develop
the Syvash windfarm project in Ukraine. In 2017
NBT and Syvashenergoprom LLC entered a letter
of intent for the development and the parties
intended to finally formalise a development
support agreement in 2018. The agreement was,
signed in January 2019 in connection with the
signing of the project financing for the Syvash
project.
NBT has assisted the Syvash project company
with all major development work related to the
development of the Syvash project, including
financing, obtaining EPC contract, obtaining all
required governmental approvals, ensure all
required environmental and social studies are
prepared. This included contracting and
engaging advisers that were required to
complete obtain all approvals, a signed EPC
contract and financing of the project.
The development support agreement consists of
several elements for remuneration to NBT, and
includes:
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specified external advisers’ costs can be recharged to the project company. This includes
among others, fees to technical advisers, legal
advisers, market advisers, insurance advisers as
well as other direct project specific costs.
As of year-end 2018 a total of about NOK 69.5
million has been either paid or recognised as
liability in the balance sheet of NBT. The amount
is recognised as a current receivable on the
Syvash project company and a total of about
NOK 53.5 million of these costs have been recharged and paid by the project company during
2019. The remaining costs of NOK 16 million can
be re-charged to the project company when the
formal date of completion for the construction
has been reached. Current expectation is that
this expected during the third quarter of 2020.
As these advisers’ costs are re-charged and
reimbursed
by
Syvashenergoprom,
the
reimbursement is presented as a cost reduction
and reducing the respective cost category in the
profit and loss statement for the parent
company.
The fixed fee was invoiced from NBT in the
second quarter 2019 and has been paid by the
project company. The fee will be recognised as
revenues in the parent company financial
statement for 2019. Any additional development
fees are conditional up on certain criteria related
to financing and estimated future financial
performance of the wind farm. Any additional
development fee will at the earliest be
recognised following formal date of completion
of construction for the wind farm.
Revenues from management services to
subsidiaries are charged with a total of NOK 1.95
million for the year. However, as charged
management fees to a Swedish subsidiary
totalled has been credited with NOK 2.85 million
in 2018, negative management service fees of
NOK 0.9 million is reported for the year.
Personnel expenses is unchanged from 2017 and
amounts to NOK 5.8 million in 2018. Other
operating expenses totalled NOK 16.8 million, an
increase from NOK 11.5 million in 2017. The
main reason for the increase is more use of
consultants as the activity level has been high
throughout the year.

a) Advisers’ costs incurred by NBT to be
reimbursed by Syvashenergoprom within
certain limitations.
b) A fixed fee of EUR 8 million to NBT.
c) Additional development fees to NBT.

Financial income increased from NOK 17.2
million in 2017 to NOK 18.5 million in 2018 due
to higher interest charged on the loan to the
Cyprus subsidiary. Financial expenses increased
from NOK 53.1 million in 2017 to NOK 66.4
million in 2018 due to increases in interestbearing debt.

As the remuneration to NBT for developing the
wind farm project were/are conditional upon
certain criteria that was not met by the end of
2018 no revenues from the development work
for the Syvash project has been recognised in the
financial statement for the parent company in
2018.

Inter-company loans to the subsidiaries in Cyprus
and Singapore are denominated in USD, and the
depreciation of the NOK against USD during
2018 has contributed to an unrealised currency
gain of NOK 33.4 million. The comparable net
unrealised currency loss for 2017 was NOK 27.8
million.

NBT has incurred advisers’ costs related to the
development of the Syvash windfarm project.
According to the development and support
agreement with the Syvash project company,

The main asset of the parent company is the
receivables on NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, the
holding company for NBT’s activities in China
with a carrying value of NOK 556.5 million.
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A high-level valuation of the equity in NBT
Renewable Energy Ltd is performed. The
valuation is based on a high-level valuation of the
Linxi and Baicheng wind farm projects in China.
The valuation is based on a discounted cash flow
analysis in the joint ventures. The valuation of the
equity in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd shows a
value that is slightly above the book value of the
receivable that NBT has on the subsidiary.
Total book equity 31 December 2018 was NOK
23.2 million compared with NOK 40.0 million at
year-end 2017.
Conversion rights related to the issuance of new
bonds for settlement of interest for the
convertible bond and new convertible loans have
been valued to NOK 3.7 million and is classified as
other paid in equity. The amount will be
amortised and expensed over the remaining loan
period for the respective loans.
Interest bearing debt comprises the senior
secured bond with maturity in June 2020 and the
unsecured convertible bond and the 2017
convertible loans all with maturity September
2020.
Parent company cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities was negative
with NOK 34.5 million compared to NOK 10.5
million in 2017. Cash flow from investments was
negative by NOK 8.9 million as the parent company
had to fund the operations in the subsidiaries. Cash
flow from financing was positive with NOK 39.8
million mainly due to new loans that were issued
during the year.
Approbation of profits in the parent
company
The parent company, NBT AS, made a loss of NOK
46.7 million in 2018 and the Board proposes that
the loss is transferred to losses carried forward in
the balance sheet. The Board does not propose
any dividend distribution.
GOING CONCERN
As of year-end 2018 NBT AS has an interestbearing debt of NOK 581.2 million of which NOK
300.1 million is a senior secured bond loan and a
total of NOK 260.2 is a convertible bond. In
addition, the parent company had other loans
with a nominal value of NOK 20.9.
The senior secured bond loan matures in June
2020 and the convertible loan matures in
September 2020. All interest payments on the
convertible loans are settled as payment in-kind
while the interest payments for the senior secured
bond is paid quarterly.
In addition to the interest-bearing debt in the
parent company, the Group had as of year-end
2018 a 10 million EUR bond loan with a carrying
vale of NOK 99.5 million. This bond loan was
issued by East Renewable AB, NBTs subsidiary in
Sweden. This loan was repaid in January 2019
when a EUR 60 million short-term bond loan was
raised to finance NBT’s equity investment in the
Syvash project.
In May 2019 East Renewable AB raised a EUR 75
million green bond for investments in Ukraine.
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The bond matures in May 2021 and the net
proceeds was used to refinance the EUR 60
million short-term bond raised in January 2019
and to pre-fund one year of interest for the green
bond.
The Syvash wind farm achieved financial close in
January and April for the two traches of the EUR
377 million investment. NBTs equity in the project
consist of EUR 35 million of ordinary equity and
EUR 10 million of standby equity provided by East
Renewable AB. Any distributions from the Syvash
wind farm is ring-fenced to the benefit of the
bond holders in East Renewable AB until maturity
or refinancing. NBT expects to refinance the bond
after commercial operation date of the wind farm
at improved terms. No further financing is
committed or expected for the Syvash project.
In January 2019, East Renewable AB acquired 82%
of the shares in Azovinvestprom LLC. The company
will need to raise additional financing to develop
the up to 742 MW wind farm currently under
development by the company.
In addition to the financing requirements for
development of wind projects in Ukraine, NBT
also needs financing for its current operation. The
main sources of financing for NBT are dividend
distributed from the Linxi wind farm in China. At
present there are uncertainties about both the
size and timing of these dividends due to
significant delays in subsidy payments from the
Chinese authorities. NBT expects to receive
approximately NOK 14 million in July 2019 and
another dividend payment in the same range is
expected to be received in the fourth quarter of
2019. The dividend distributions from relates to
underlying profits in the Linxi joint venture from
2016 and 2017 respectively.
The process to raise the required financing for the
Zophia wind power project has been initiated.
NBT is working to raise a development bond of
about EUR 15 million for the financing of the
acquisition and development costs of the project.
The project is contemplated to be financed on a
stand-alone basis. However, the initial funding of
the acquisition and development costs have been
made by the parent company. The initial funding
amounts to approximately EUR 2 million and this
amount is planned to be repaid from the Zophia
holding company as soon as the development
financing is in place.
In June 2019 the company raised EUR 1 million a
credit facility from a group of investors. The
facility, together with expected dividends from
the Linxi wind farm and the repayment of the
initial acquisition and development costs from the
Zophia holding company is expected to be enough
to fund corporate operations through 2019. The
company is in the process of hiring a financial
advisor to refinance the parent company. This
process is expected to close in the first quarter
2020.
The going concern assumption is based on current
expectations, estimates, projections and
assumptions made by management and the
board, based on information currently available to
the company and is described in note 4 in the
consolidated financial statement and note 2 in the

financial statement for the parent company. The
assessment reflects current views with respect to
future events and is subject to risks and
uncertainties.
The company currently has, under certain
assumptions, enough financing available to
sustain operations through 2019. After this date,
the company will have to raise additional debt or
equity to continue its operation. Based on NBT’s
track record in the past years it is expected that
such financing can be obtained. Deviations or
changes to these assumptions and estimates may
require the company to raise additional financing
to finance operations and investments at an
earlier time. If the company cannot raise sufficient
capital, there is a risk that projects cannot be
realised, and that book value of assets will be
eroded.
The process to raise the required financing for the
Zophia wind farm has started and based on NBTs
track record of securing financing of both the
acquisition, development and construction of the
Syvash wind farm the board expects that NBT will
be able raise the enough capital to reach financial
close for the wind farm.
In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the
consolidated financial statements provide a true
and fair view of the group’s financial performance
during 2018 and financial position at 31 December
2018. According to section 3–3 of the Norwegian
Accounting Act, and based on the premises
outlined above, we confirm that the consolidated
financial statements and the financial statements
of the parent company have been prepared based
on the going concern assumption, and that it is
appropriate to make that assumption.
RISK MANAGEMENT
The group is exposed to a wide variety of risk
factors. A summary of the risk factors follows
below. For a more comprehensive overview of
the risk factors, see note 3.
Financial and liquidity risk
The activities of the group are capital intensive,
and as income from power generation is limited
in the current phase of development, loss of
dividend and/or lack of financing can lead to
shortfall of cash to fund the group’s operations.
As outlined under the going concern section our
assessment is that NBT based on current
expectations, estimates, projections and
assumption, will need to raise additional capital
to continue operations for the next twelve
months period. As there is uncertainty related to
the timing of when the dividends from China will
be received, NBT may be required to raise
additional financing on a short-term period to
bridge certain periods of cash flow deficiencies.
NBT will need to raise additional funds to develop
and invest in the Zophia wind power project in
Ukraine.
Commodity price risk
The company’s main source of income is dividend
from subsidiaries with income derived from
power generation. In China, the project
companies have off-take agreements at fixed
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prices regulated by Chinese law. In Ukraine the
price is fixed up to 2030 through a power
purchase agreement with the state owned offtaker. After 2030 the electricity will be sold at
market prices. There is uncertainly at which
prices the electricity will be sold and there is no
market for hedging of this risk.

is financed through a floating rate EUR facility.
Approximately 70 per cent of the loan is swapped
to fixed rate at every drawdown to mitigate
interest rate risk. Bond loans issued by the parent
and subsidiaries are subject to a fixed interest
rate, but changes in interest rates or credit
margins could influence the cost of refinancing.

Volume risk
Production of electricity from wind will vary with
technical availability, grid availability and wind
conditions. Since the power price paid per kWh is
fixed through contracts and the volume
generated is weather dependent, income from
wind power projects will fluctuate. Since NBT
owns a limited number of operational wind
farms, volatility of income from subsidiaries will
be significant. The profitability of the wind farms
is also dependent upon the level of technical
availability and any curtailment of grid capacity.

Credit risk
The company has a concentration of credit risk
towards its development partner in China. If no
further projects are realised, there is a risk that
the receivables cannot be recovered. All power
sales are based on power purchase agreements
with state owned Chinese and Ukrainian stateowned companies.

Currency risk
The reporting currency of the group is NOK.
Subsidiaries are funded through inter-company
loans in USD and EUR. The group’s operations in
China is denominated and financed in RMB, and
the RMB denominated project financing is a
hedge of the RMB denominated income stream.
Fluctuations in the exchange rate between NOK,
RMB and USD will influence cash flow in NOK
from the project companies and book value of
the assets. The Syvash wind farm has income in
Ukrainian hryvna. Until 2030 the price is indexed
to the exchange rate against EUR every 3 months.
The intra-quarter currency risk is hedged by
selling hryvna against EUR and depositing EUR in
an offshore debt service account. From 2030 the
wind farm will be exposed to exchange rate
fluctuations as income will be in local currency. At
this point the EUR denominated project finance
loan will be repaid.
Interest rate risk
The wind power projects in China are financed
through floating rate senior loans and saleleaseback arrangements denominated in RMB.
Changes in the Chinese base rate will influence
cash flow and dividend to NBT. The Syvash project
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Operational risk
The company operates wind farms in China in cooperation with local partners. In Ukraine the
Syvash wind farm will be operated together with
Total Eren. Operation of power generation
facilities is subject to operational risk and can
cause damage to people, machinery and the
environment. There have been no fatalities or
serious accidents related to operation of NBT’s
wind farms in 2018. The company is working to
maintain a high standard of safety in the planning,
construction and operation of the wind farms.
The construction of the Syvash wind farm will
increase the operational risk both during the
construction period and as the wind farm starts
operating. This risk is being mitigated through
putting in place policies and procedures according
to industry best practice and IFC and EBRD
requirements.
SHAREHOLDERS
At 31 December 2018, the company had issued
33 767 156 million shares. All shares have equal
rights. There are no options issued to
management or staff. The company had 130
shareholders at year end.
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ORGANISATION
The parent company had 3 employees and the
group had 33 employees at 31 December 2018.
The company encourages diversity, personal skills
and entrepreneurship when recruiting employees.
IMPACT ON THE EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT
NBT is engaged in construction and operation of
wind farms. Wind power is a renewable energy
source and has a positive effect on the
environment compared to traditional sources of
electricity generation. However, construction
work will always carry a risk of damage to the
local environment. Wind power causes no direct
discharge to surface or ground water.
Construction and operation of wind farms can,
under certain circumstances cause harm to flora,
fauna, the local environment and landscape.
EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES
NBT encourages diversity in skills, experience,
ethnic background and gender and promotes
equal opportunities and rights. NBT does not
accept discrimination based on colour, language,
religion, ethnic background or other factors that
are irrelevant to the performance of the
individual or the group.
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The company does not engage in any research
and development activities.
OUTLOOK
As China is in the process of fixing their grid
curtailment problems, opportunities to connect
more wind farms in areas where NBT has project
will increase. NBT is well positioned to take
advantage of this opportunity through an
extension of the Linxi wind farm. As the
renewable energy market in Ukraine is growing,
NBT is well positioned to take a significant market
share. The construction of the Syvash wind farm
and the acquisition of the Zophia project are the
first steps towards a broader portfolio of projects
in this exciting market. As the market in Ukraine
will eventually mature, NBT will systematically
look for opportunities to grow in other emerging
markets around the globe.
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Consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Total operating revenues
Personnel expenses
Depreciation
Other operating expenses

Note

2018

2017

6

2 638

39
(12 161)

17

(13 383)

8/9

(1 107))

(4)

6

(71 400)

(25 153)

(18 221)

-

Total operating expenses

(104 111)

(37 318)

Operating result

(101 473)

(37 279)

13 022

13 573

Impairment

6 / 8 / 10

Income/(loss) from associates and joint ventures

7

Financial income

18

6

20

Financial expenses

18

(74 551)

(53 120)

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)

18

713

(142)

Unrealised fair value adjustments

18

5 500

4 240

(68 332)

(49 002)

(156 783)

(72 708)

-

-

(156 783)

(72 708)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

2 529

(1 038)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

2 529

(1 038)

(154 253)

(73 746)

(156 127)

(72 527)

(656)

(181)

(154 099)

(73 880)

(154)

134

Net financial items
Profit/(loss) before tax
Income tax expense

16

Profit/(loss) for the period
Other comprehensive income (that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss):

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Net result attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Earnings per share: (in NOK)
Basic and diluted- Profit/(loss) for the year

19

(4,71)

(2.20)

Basic and diluted – Comprehensive income for the year

19

(4,71)

(2.25)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER
2018

2017

8
9
8
7
10
12

92 124
1 486
35 269
219 894
29 752
934
379 459

13 601
9
0
204 403
36 456
927
255 396

11
12
12

5 980
146
1 400
7 526
386 985

1 764
466
6 461
8 691
264 087

13
13
13

3 377
467 039
54 057
524 473
89 168
(1 017 790)
(2 978)
(407 127)

3 290
440 968
50 087
494 345
87 138
(861 663)
(2 824)
(283 004)

Long-term interest-bearing debt
Value of convertible rights
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

14
14
16

633 432
37 940
14 844
686 216

472 257
43 750
516 007

Short-term interest-bearing debt
Trade payables
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total liabilities and equity

14

7 288
30 650
69 958
107 896
794 112
386 985

1 631
29 454
31 085
547 092
264 088

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
ASSETS
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Capitalised project development cost
Investments in associates and joint ventures
Other non-current receivables and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Total non-current assets

Note

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets
Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital
Share premium
Other paid in equity
Total paid in equity
Translation differences
Accumulated losses
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

15

The Board of Directors of NBT AS
Oslo, 27 June 2019

________________________
Svein Sivertsen
Chair
________________________
Ulf Juvél
Director

________________________
Sverre Stavseth
Director

________________________
Dag Fasmer Wittusen
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Result before tax
Ordinary depreciation
Fair value adjustment of financial instruments
Income/loss from associates/joint ventures
Dividends from associates/joint ventures
Interest income
Interest and other financial expenses
Net foreign exchange effect
Impairment of property, plant and equipment, project costs and receivables
Change in working capital and other adjustments
Net cash flow from operating activities
Investment of property, plant and equipment
Investment in projects
Acquisition of new company
Interest received
Net cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from interest-bearing debt
Interest and other financial expenses paid1)
Net cash flow from financing activities

Note

8, 9
14
7
7
18
18
18
6, 8, 10
11, 15
9
8
5

14
14

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Exchange gain/(loss) on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Cash deposits, long term restricted funds
Cash and cash equivalents, short term restricted funds
Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted
Total

12
12
12

2018

2017

(156 783)
1 106
(5 500)
(13 023)
(6)
74 551
(713)
18 221
61 428
(20 719)
(1 026)
(32 239)
(78 912)
6
(112 171)
139 835
(12 209)
127 626

(72 708)
4
(4 240)
(13 573)
(20)
53 120
142
7 612
(29 664)
20
20
24 645
24 645

(5 264)

(4 998)

(110)
7 854
2 480

(220)
13 072
7 854

934
146
1 400
2 480

927
466
6 461
7 854

Further information about the cash & cash equivalents position is provided in note 12.
1) NBT has both in 2017 and 2016 settled interest payments by issuing new bonds. These settlements are not included in the cash flow statement, as these have no direct cash impact. In 2017 interest
settlements with no cash effect amounted to NOK 40.06 million and in 2016 such interest settlements amounted to NOK 36.88 million.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Share
capital

Share
premium

Other paid
in equity

Accumulated
losses

Translation
differences

Equity
attributable
to owners of
the parent

Equity at 1 January 2017
Net result for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Equity at 31 December 2017

3 290
3 290

440 968
440 968

50 087
50 087

(789 136)
(72 527)
(72 527)
(861 663)

88 491
(1 353)
(1 353)
87 138

(206 300)
(72 527)
(1 353)
(73 880)
(280 180)

(2 958)
(181)
315
134
(2 824)

(209 258)
(72 708)
(1 038)
(73 746)
(283 004)

Equity at 1 January 2018
Net result for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Conversion of loans to share capital
Equity at 31 December 2018

3 290
-

440 968
-

50 087
-

(861 663)
(156 127)
(156 127)

87 138
2 030
2 030

(280 180)
(156 127)
2 030
(154 097

(2 824)
(655)
502
(153)

87
3 377

26 071
467 039

3 970
54 057

(1 017 790)

89 168

(404 149)

(2 978)

(283 004)
(156 782)
2 531
(154 2519
30 128
(407 127)

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
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Noncontrolling
interests

Total
equity
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 GENERAL INFORMATION
1.1 ABOUT THE GROUP
NBT AS is an unlisted limited company incorporated in Norway. The company’s
head office is located at Filipstad Brygge 1, NO-0252 Oslo, in Oslo, Norway.
NBT (“NBT” or the “group”) develops and owns wind farms in emerging markets
in co-operation with partners. In 2011, the group commissioned its first 50 MW
wind power project, Linxi I, in Inner Mongolia. The commissioning of the 49.5
MW wind farm Baicheng I in Jilin province followed this. Construction of the 50
MW wind farm Linxi II started in late 2011 and was fully commissioned in 2012.
In 2017 NBT entered a letter of intent with Syvashenergoprom LLC to pursue the
development of the Syvash wind farm in the Kherson region near Crimea in
Ukraine. All shares in Syvashenergoprom LLC was acquired in April 2018 and in
January 2019 Syvashenergoprom LLC entered a non-recourse financing
agreement for the Syvash project. Syvashenergoprom LLC has been owned
through Swedish subsidiaries of NBT AS. In connection with the financing of the

Syvash project one of the Swedish subsidiaries made a share issue directed at
the French wind developer Total Eren that gain control over 53.5% of the shares
in the company. Following this transaction NBT holds 46.5% ownership in the
Syvash wind farm project.
NBT has been present in Pakistan since 2008 and has been pursuing
development of several wind power projects in the Sindh province. NBT is now
working to close its operation in Pakistan.
NBT’s operations in China are owned through subsidiaries in Cyprus and Hong
Kong. The operations in Pakistan are owned through subsidiaries in Singapore.
The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ending 31 December
2018 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution by the Board of
Directors 27 June 2019.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF KEY ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements for the group have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted
by the European Union, relevant interpretations and the additional Norwegian
disclosure requirements following the Norwegian Accounting Act applicable as
at 31 December 2018.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost
convention except for investment in shares, and conversion rights that are
measured at fair value though profit or loss. The accounting principles are
applied consistently for all years presented. Figures are presented in Norwegian
kroner and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands, except where
otherwise indicated.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgment in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. Areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 4.
(a) Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous
financial year, except the following new standards and amendments to existing
standards becoming effective in 2018:

§
§
§

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, including clarifications
IFRIC 22 (interpretation) Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

IFRS 15 replaced from its effective date 1 January 2018 the previous revenue
recognition guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction contracts,
and the related interpretations. NBT uses the cumulative effect implementation
approach and only applies IFRS 15 from the date of initial application 1 January
2018. IFRS 15 does not have any material effect on the company’s consolidated
financial statement for 2018.
IFRS 9 Financial instruments replaced from its effective date 1 January 2018 the
previous recognition guidance IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
measurement, and sets out the requirements for recognising and measuring
financial assets, financial liabilities and various contracts to buy or sell nonfinancial items.
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Classification determines how financial assets and financial liabilities are
accounted for in financial statements and, in particular, how they are measured
on an ongoing basis. IFRS 9 introduces a logical approach for the classification
of financial assets driven by cash flow characteristics and the business model in
which an asset is held. This single, principle-based approach reduces the
number of categories of financial assets to financial assets measured at
amortised cost and financial assets measured at fair value. Financial assets and
liabilities are classified into the categories ”financial instruments at fair value
through profit and loss” and “financial instruments at amortised cost”. Initial
measurement is fair value at cost for all categories. For certain simple debt
instruments, the standard introduces a “fair value through other
comprehensive income” measurement category. The inherent nature of the
various asset and liability balances classifies which category the balance
belongs to. NBT implements these classification changes from the effective
date of the standard.
IFRS 9 also introduces a new, expected loss impairment model that will require
more timely recognition of expected credit losses. Specifically, the new Standard
requires entities to account for expected credit losses from when financial
instruments are first recognised, and it lowers the threshold for recognition of
full lifetime expected losses.
NBT’s financial assets and financial liabilities are either classified as categories
“financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss”, “financial
instruments at amortised cost”, or “fair value through other comprehensive
income”. As such, the changes from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 will not have an effect on
the consolidated financial statements for NBT.

Other than new disclosure requirements following changes in IFRS 9, no of the
new and/or amended IFRS Standards and IFRIC interpretations that have come
into effect the latest year has had any effects for the group’s consolidated
financial statement for 2018.
(b) New and revised IFRSs in issue, but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements a number of standards
and interpretations were issued, but not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the group. Those amendments or changes that may have an impact
on the group’s disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at a
future date are listed below. The group intends to adopt these standards when
they become effective.
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IFRS 16 Leases. IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and applies to annual periods
beginning after 1 January 2019. The Standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. IFRS 16 will
replace IAS 17 Leases and related interpretations from its effective date.
The standard provides a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months,
unless the underlying asset has a low value. A lessee is required to recognise a
right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset, and
a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. NBT will
implement IFRS 16 from its effective date 1 January 2019 and is currently
assessing the effects of implementing the Standard. The expected
implementation method and impact on the consolidated financial statements
are not yet determined.
In addition to this standard, the following revised IFRSs have been issued, but
are not effective. In some cases, they have not yet been adopted by the EU.

§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§

IFRIC 23 (interpretation) Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
IFRS 9 (amendments) Prepayments Features with Negative Compensation
IAS 28 (amendment) Long-term interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
IAS 19 (amendment) Plan amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
Conceptual Framework (amendment) References in IFRS Standards
IFRS 3 (amendment) Definition of a Business
IAS 1 and IAS 8 (amendment) Definition of Material
Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2016- 2018 cycle

NBT does not expect that the adoption of these Standards will have a material
impact on the financial statements of the Group in future periods.
2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group
has control. The group controls an entity when the group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in
full on consolidation.
The NBT group comprises the following subsidiaries (group ownership as of 31
December 2018):

§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§

NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus (100%)
NBT Development Ltd, Hong Kong (100%)
NBT International Ltd, Hong Kong (100%)
Shenzhen Aoluja New Energy Co Ltd, China (100%)
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore Pte Ltd, Singapore (100%)
NBT Pakistan Holding (Pte) Ltd, Singapore (100%)
NBT Windpower Pakistan (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)
Zeni Windpower (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (80%)1)
Limak NBT Renewable Energy (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)
NBT Windpower II (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)
NBT Windpower III (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (100%)
NBT ZAB Windpower (Ptv.) Ltd, Pakistan (98%)
East Renewable AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Ukraine AB, Sweden (100%)
East Renewable Energy AB, Sweden (100%)
Syvashenergoprom LLC, Ukraine (100%)

1) Under liquidation
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The following group companies have been liquidated during 2018:

§
§
§
§

WCCI World Carbon Credit Invest (WCCI) Ltd, Cyprus (100%)
River Oaks International Pte Ltd, Singapore (100%)
SG-NBT Renewable Energy (Pte) Ltd, Singapore (100%)
NBT Wind Power II (Pte) Ltd, Singapore (100%)

(b) Business combinations
Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired and the equity interests issued by the group. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired on an
acquisition by acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquired
identifiable net assets.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the group is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised
in accordance with IFRS 9either in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the measurement period about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date and are recognised as
adjustments to the initial purchase price allocation. The measurement period
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling
interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this
consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
(c) Transactions with non-controlling interests
Changes in the group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and
the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.
(d) Associates
Associates are entities in which the group has a significant, but not controlling
interest. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies. Significant interest normally exists for investments where the
group owns 20–50 percent of the voting capital.
Investments in associates are recognised according to the equity method. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate. The initial recognised amount
includes goodwill identified at the time of acquisition.
In the circumstances, the group pays development fees to its business partners
that are not refunded these development fees are capitalised and depreciated
over the license period for the wind farm. If such development fees are repaid
from the associated company such repayment is considered a repayment of the
investment.
The group does not recognise any share of an associate’s losses in its income
statement if this results in the carrying amount of the investment falling below
zero (including unsecured receivables on the entity), unless the group has
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incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.
The group’s share of unrealised profits on transactions between the group and
its associates are eliminated. The same applies to unrealised losses, unless the
transaction requires a write-down of the transferred asset.
When the group has lost significant influence, any retained investment is
measured at fair value at the date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value
on initial recognition of the retained investment. Any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income with respect to the associate will be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal.
When a group entity transacts with its associate, profit or losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not
related to the group.
(e) Joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the group and other
parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control (i.e. when
the strategic, financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities of
the joint venture require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control).
The group’s shareholdings in joint ventures are recognised using the equity
method as described above related to interests in associates.
2.3 SEGMENT REPORTING
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting
to the group’s decision-making bodies. A business segment is defined as assets
and operations involving products or services that are exposed to risks and
returns which are different from other business segments. A geographic
segment is defined as products or services within a specific economic area
whose risks and returns are different from segments in other economic areas.
2.4 FOREIGN CURRENCIES
(a) Functional currency and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in NOK, which is the parent company’s functional
currency and the group’s presentation currency.
(b) Transactions and balance sheet items
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency using
the exchange rate on the date the transaction took place. Any foreign exchange
gains or losses arising in connection with the settlement of such transactions or
the translation of monetary items (assets and liabilities) at the year-end
exchange rates are recognised in profit and loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates in effect at the dates of the initial
transactions. Foreign exchange differences on non-monetary items are included
as part of the gain/loss when calculating fair value in connection with an
assessment of impairment or realisation.
(c) Net investment in group companies
Inter-company loans and advances to group companies that are not intended to
be repaid within the near future, or where it is evident that repayment within a
reasonable timeline is not possible, is regarded as part of the new equity
investment in the subsidiary. Any foreign translation gains/losses on such loan
are recognised and treated as part of the equity translation differences for the
subsidiary and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
(d) Group companies
The results and financial positions of companies with a functional currency other
than NOK are translated to the presentation currency using average quarterly
exchange rates with respect to income statements, while assets and liabilities
are translated at the rate in effect on the balance sheet date. All resulting
exchange differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.
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The figures presented have been translated using the following exchange rates:
Foreign exchange rates vs. NOK
Currency
RMB
HKD
EUR
USD
SGD
SEK
PKR
UAH

Avg. rate
2018
1.230
1.038
9.600
8.133
6.028
0.936
0.067
0.3034

31.12
2018
1.263
1.109
9.948
8.689
6.381
0.970
0.062
0.315

Avg. rate
2017
1.224
1.062
9.330
8.271
5.989
0.981
0.079
N/A

31.12
2017
1.261
1.050
9.840
8.205
6.141
1.000
0.074
N/A

2.5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment charges. Acquisition cost includes costs
directly associated with the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent costs are added
to the asset’s book value or are recognised separately in the balance sheet when
it is probable that any future financial benefits associated with the cost will flow
to the group, and the cost can be reliably measured. Ordinary repairs and
maintenance costs are charged to the income statement during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
Depreciations of property plant and equipment are calculated on a straight-line
basis over the assets’ expected useful life and adjusted for any impairment
charges. Expected useful lives of long-lived assets are reviewed annually and
where they differ significantly from previous estimates, depreciation periods are
changed accordingly. Estimated useful life is:

§
§

Plant and equipment 10–20 years
Fixtures and fittings, office machines, etc. 3–5 years

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for potential impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount.
The difference between the assets carrying amount and its recoverable amount
is recognised in the income statement as impairment. Property, plant
and equipment that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at each reporting date.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the disposal
proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in operating profit.
2.6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost.
Intangible assets comprise development rights (payments to business partners)
in connection with the development of wind power projects and capitalised
project development costs.
Development rights represent payments to business partner in connection with
the development of a project. The development rights are recognised at the
time the group receives the right to develop / build a wind farm.
Costs directly related to the development of a specific wind farm project are
capitalised as an intangible asset and presented as capitalised project
development costs.
The treatment of the development rights and the capitalised project
development costs at the completion of a wind farm will be determined by the
terms and condition in the joint venture agreement. The costs may be charged
to the joint venture project company, capitalised as a part of NBT’s investment
or in the case NBT receives a development fee it may be expensed as a project
development cost in full or partly.
Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised project
development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in the
income statement in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.
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2.7 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
At the end of each reporting period, the group reviews the carrying amounts of
its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If such indicator exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are
not depreciated but are assessed for impairment annually or whenever there
are indications of impairment.

2.9 TRADE RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables are Provisions for bad debts are recognised

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in
use. The net selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in
an arm’s length transaction less the costs of disposal while value in use is the
present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the
continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life.
Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if it is not possible,
for the cash-generating unit.

2.11 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUMS
Share capital and share premium are classified as equity when no liability exists
with respect to the transfer of cash or assets (fully paid in). Costs directly
attributable to the issue of shares are presented as a reduction in equity, net
after tax.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, however
not to an extent higher than the carrying amount that the asset would have had,
if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years. Such reversals are
recognised in the profit and loss account.
2.8 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The group has financial instruments in the following categories; loans and
receivables, other liabilities and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss. Classification depends on the purpose of the acquired financial instrument.
Management assesses the initial classification of financial instruments at
acquisition of the financial instruments.
(a) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents)
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
If the cause of the write-down should be eliminated in a later period, and the
elimination can be linked objectively to an event that has occurred after the
impairment was recognised, the previous write-down is reversed. The reversal
shall not result in the book value of the financial asset exceeding the amount
that its amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised at the time when the write-down was reversed.
Loans and receivables are included in current assets, except for maturities
longer than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified
as non-current assets.
(b) Other liabilities
Liabilities, which are not classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit and loss, are classified as other liabilities. This category comprises e.g.
borrowings and trade and other payables. Financial liabilities within this
category are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
(c) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified within this category if a) the asset was acquired
primarily for the purpose of providing a profit from short-term price
fluctuations, or b) if management elects to classify it in this category upon initial
recognition and the qualifying criteria are met. Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss are recognised in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in finance income/costs in
the income statement.
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2.10 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank deposits, and other current and
liquid investments with terms of less than three months.

2.12 INTEREST-BEARING DEBT AND CONVERTIBLE LOANS
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs.
Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. As such, any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings.
Loans are classified as current liabilities unless there exists an unconditional
right to defer repayment for more than 12 months after the balance sheet date.
2.13 CONVERSION RIGHTS
NBT has issued convertible loans that give the lenders the right to convert the
loan to shares in the company at a certain share price that might be adjusted in
the future. Further, NBT is given the option to settle conversion requests in cash.
The “fixed-for-fixed” criteria are consequently not met, and the conversion
rights are accounted for as a derivative liability, with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Initial measurement is based on an assessment of
alternative market interest for similar loans with no conversion rights.
Subsequent measurement of the fair value is calculated using observed
transactions of the convertible bond if applicable. If no reliable market
transactions are observed other valuation techniques are applied.
2.14 INCOME TAX
The income tax expense for a period comprises current tax and deferred tax. Tax
is recognised in profit and loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In such cases,
tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. The tax
expense is calculated in accordance with the tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements using the liability method. If the group participates in a transaction
for the purchase of an asset or liability that does not qualify as a business
combination, deferred tax is not recognised at the time of the transaction.
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and which is expected
to be applied when the deferred tax asset is realised, or when the deferred tax
liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are capitalised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available, against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
2.15 PENSIONS
The group has a defined contribution pension scheme covering all Norwegian
employees. A defined contribution pension scheme is a privately owned and
administered scheme. The group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available.
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2.16 PROVISIONS
The group recognises provisions when the group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that the group will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as provisions is the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taken into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
the effect of time is material, and present value calculation is applied, the
discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability.
Any increase in the liability that reflects the passage of time is recognised as an
interest expense.
2.17 REVENUE RECOGNITION
Under IFRS 15 NBT recognizes as revenue the agreed transaction price in the
contract with the customer at the time when the Group transfers the control of
a distinct product or service to a customer. Main revenues for NBT in 2018 is
related to power generation revenues.
Power generation revenues from bear the characteristic of delivering power at
a certain price. The performance obligation is to deliver a series of distinct goods
(power) and the transaction price is the consideration NBT expects to receive,
at either spot price, regulated price or contract price. The performance
obligation is satisfied over time which entails that revenue should be recognised
for each unit delivered at the transaction price. NBT applies a practical expedient
under IFRS 15 whereby the revenue from power for most of the contracts is
recognised at the amount of which the entity has a right to invoice.
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Revenues from the sale of goods and services are recognised at the fair value of
the consideration less VAT, estimated returns and discounts.
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can be reliably measured.
Different types of revenue will apply different criteria to assess revenue
recognition. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually
on delivery of the goods. Revenue from a contract to provide services is
recognised by reference to the labour hours delivered and direct expenses that
are incurred.
In assessing when the revenue recognition criteria are met the group bases its
accounting judgment on previous experience from similar transactions, an
assessment of the type of customer and transaction concerned, as well as any
specific circumstances associated with the individual transaction.
Other revenues
Other revenues are recognised in profit and loss as they occur.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Interest
income is presented as financial income in the income statement.
2.18 PAYMENT OF DIVIDEND
Dividend to the company’s shareholders is classified as a liability from the date
on which the dividend is approved by the annual general meeting.

NOTE 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS
The group’s operations are exposed to a number of risk factors. NBT is exposed
to foreign exchange risk, price risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.
As the main source of income for the group is sale of electricity from wind power
projects in associated companies and joint ventures, any future income is
exposed to wind risk and other risks related to the operation of wind farms. In
2017, the group did not use financial derivatives to hedge its financial risk. Risk
management within NBT is intended to support the group’s value creation and
ensure a sound financial performance.
(a) Foreign exchange risk
The group focuses on the development, construction and operation of wind
power and other renewable energy resources in emerging markets. The group
has subsidiaries in Sweden, Ukraine, Cyprus, Singapore, Pakistan, Hong Kong,
and China as well as investments in associate and joint venture in China and is
exposed to exchange rate variations of NOK against the USD, EUR, SEK, SGD,
PKR, HKD and RMB. Foreign exchange risk occurs because income, costs,
transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in the functional currency of
the countries concerned and not in the reporting currency (NOK). The group
controls the Syvash-wind farm project in Ukraine and is co-owner of two wind
farms in China. As a majority of the investments to date is carried out in RMB,
the group is particularly exposed to foreign exchange risk between NOK and
RMB. The wind power plants in China generate income in RMB from sale of
electricity. NBT’s share of income from these wind farms (associated company
and joint venture) is affected by fluctuations in RMB versus NOK. Further NBT is
also exposed to foreign exchange risk between NOK and UAH (Ukrainian
hryvnja) for the Syvash project and NOK and EUR as the acquisition of the Syvash
project is financed in euros.
NBT’s liabilities are predominantly denominated in NOK, EUR and RMB. The
parent company’s bond loans are denominated in NOK and the Swedish
subsidiary East Renewable AB has financed the acquisition of
Syvashenergoprom LLC with an EUR bond loan. Direct convertible loans are
denominated partially in NOK as the USD convertible loans were converted
during 2018. The company’s assets, including advances to suppliers, are
primarily denominated in RMB, UAH and USD.
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Currently the company does not apply currency derivatives to hedge the
currency risk of its operations. As the business matures and the income stream
from the projects increases, the group will develop a programme for managing
currency risk.
Reasonable changes in foreign exchange rates is not estimated to have any
material effect on the Group’s net profit or equity.
(b) Price risk
The price received for power generated from wind power in China is set by the
Chinese authorities through the renewable energy legislation and varies by
region. As all of the power generated, net of curtailment, is sold to the local grid
companies at the determined feed in tariff the group’s projects have no
exposure to energy price risk.
In Ukraine the power genereated from the Syvash wind farm are fixed for a
period up to 31 December 2029. The feed-in tariff will be set when the wind
turbines are installed, and turbines installed in 2020 will get a 10% reduction
compared to turbines that will be installed in 2019.
(c) Volume risk
The group has investments in companies that operate wind farms. As the wind
for any particular day, month or year can vary significantly, the volume of
electricity will vary accordingly. The company uses the P50 volume estimates for
analysis or presentation purposes. The P50 estimate is the amount of energy
that is likely to be exceeded in 50 percent of any 10-year period. For any given
year, the volume of electricity generated can vary by 20 percent or more. As the
P50 estimate is typically generated from wind measurements over a relatively
short period of time, there is no guarantee that any particular wind farm will
generate the amount of electricity indicated by the P50 estimate. As the
majority of the group’s future income is likely to be generated from wind farms,
the company is exposed to volume risk caused by variations in wind conditions
over time and uncertainty in the estimates used when making investment
decisions.
The profitability of the wind farms is also dependent upon the level of technical
availability and the level of grid curtailment that the wind farm experiences. Grid
curtailment has in some regions in China been at very high levels at certain
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periods. Baicheng has experienced a high level of curtailment, however, the grid
curtailment problem has improved during the past two years and currently grid
curtailment does not seem to be a major concern currently.
(d) Interest-rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate due to changes
in market interest rates. The group’s exposure to interest rate risk is mainly
related to project financing of the wind power projects in China. Both the Linxi
projects and Baicheng I are financed based on floating Chinese interbank rates
plus a margin. If the Chinese interest rate fluctuates, this will change future
dividend from the project companies and hence the value of the group’s
investments in China.
The parent company has issued a senior secured bond with maturity date 30
June 2020 and a convertible bond with maturity date 14 September 2020. In
addition, the company has convertible direct loans of million and NOK 13.6
million that matures on 14 September 2020. All loans carry a fixed interest rate
of 8.5 percent per annum.
The acquisition of Syvashenergoprom LLC was financed through an EUR bond
loan of 10 million at a fixed interest of 12 percent per annum and matures in
April 2021. In connection with the financing of the Syvash project this loan was
repaid in January 2019.
As the long-term loans are with fixed interest rates this does not expose the
company to any interest risk, except for changes in the fair market value of the
bonds/loans. The group is exposed to the risk that the interest rate will differ
from the interest rate of the bonds when the bond loans mature and NBT needs
to refinance.
The group does not use interest rate derivatives to hedge the interest rate risk
at group level or at project level.
If the interest rate in China increases by 1 percent, the result of the group will
decrease by NOK 4.2 million.
(e) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterpart will not meet its obligation under a
financial instrument or a contract, leading to financial loss.
The group has made prepayments of USD 3.4 (NOK 29.7) million to Sanhe Group,
its development partner in China. The prepayments, relating to development
fees for wind farms will be settled against future invoices as new projects receive
building permits and future yearly invoiced service fees. If no new projects
receive building permits, there is a risk that the business partner is unable to
repay the debt to NBT, resulting in a loss for the group.

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
31.12.2018
Trade and other payables
Interest and repayment of interest-bearing loans
Total

The renewable industry in China has throughout 2017 and 2018 experienced
considerable delays in payment of the subsidy element of the tariff to renewable
energy producers in China. As of year-end 2018 our Chinese joint venture
companies have receivable for unpaid subsidies for more than one year. Total
unpaid balance amounts to RMB 99 million and RMB 30 million for the Linxi and
Baicheng joint venture respectively. The significant delay is caused by
underfunding of the central subsidy fund. No official statement has been
published on how this situation is to be dealt with. However, a governmental
official has admitted that China is struggling to pay billions of yuan in subsidies
to clean energy companies. In the joint venture companies’ financial statement,
no provisions have been made related to the unpaid subsidies and NBT expects
the receivables eventually to be fully paid.
The company’s bank deposits are held in solid Norwegian and international
banks.
(f) Financial and liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the cash flows from operating or financing activities
do not correspond to the company’s financial obligations. The group aims to
have sufficient liquidity to meet its foreseeable obligations, to secure adequate
capacity to develop new wind power projects and to cover unexpected liabilities.
Management has followed up the liquidity situation closely during 2018. The
company engages in a continuous dialogue with its shareholders, lenders and
potential investors regarding financing. The activities of the group are capital
intensive and as the group’s development is still in an early stage, the dividend
from the existing joint ventures does not cover the group’s operational costs,
development costs and investments in the group’s project portfolio.
During 2015, NBT refinanced its interest-bearing debt and issued a new senior
secured bond and a convertible bond loan. The bonds mature 30 June 2020 and
14 September 2020 respectively. During the first three years, the interest on the
senior secured are settled as payment in-kind by issuing additional bonds. All
interest payments on the convertible bond loan are settled as payment in-kind.
As of year-end 2018 the face value of the senior secured bond amounts to NOK
300.1 million, and the face value of the convertible bond amounts to NOK 260.2
million. The outstanding direct convertible loan raised with a current face value
of NOK 13.6 million matures 14 September 2020.
NBT needs to refinance its interest-bearing debt prior to maturity in 2020. If
market conditions are unfavourable or the company for other reasons fails to
raise the required capital, the activities of the group may be jeopardised, and
the group may be required to impair the value of its assets.
The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities as of 31 December
2018 in relevant maturity categories

0-3 months

3-12
months

12-24
months

24-36
months

More than
36 months

Total

63 609
13 757
77 366

7 855
31 429
39 284

646 801
646 801

111 421
111 421

-

71 464
803 408
874 872

3.2 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Trade and other receivables
For trade and other receivables, book value adjusted for any provisions is
considered a reasonable approach to fair value.
Cash and cash equivalents
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is deemed to be the face value.
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Interest-bearing debt
Interest-bearing loans are recognised initially at fair value, less borrowing costs.
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss over the term of the loan. Loans
are measured at amortised cost on an on-going basis. Book value is assumed to
be equal to fair value.
Trade payables and other current liabilities
For trade payables and other current liabilities, book value is considered a
reasonable approximation of fair value.
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Classification of financial assets and liabilities

(Amounts in NOK)
31.12.2018
Assets
Other long-term receivables and
prepayments
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Long-term interest-bearing debt
Conversion rights
Deferred tax liabilities
Short-term interest-bearing debt
Trade and other short-term payables
Total financial liabilities

(Amounts in NOK)
31.12.2017
Assets
Other long-term receivables and
prepayments
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Long-term interest-bearing debt
Conversion rights
Trade and other short-term payables
Total financial liabilities

Loans and
receivables

Financial
derivatives
(equity instr. at
fair value)

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

Other
financial
liabilities

Provisions

Total

29
2 410
2 480
4 919

-

-

-

-

29
2 410
2 480
4 919

-

37 940
37 940

633 431
7 288
640 719

86 489
86 489

14 845
14 119
28 964

633 431
37 940
14 845
7 288
100 608
794 112

Loans and
receivables

Financial
derivatives
(equity instr. at
fair value)

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

Other
financial
liabilities

Provisions

Total

4 809
1 144
7 854
13 807

-

-

-

-

4 809
1 144
7 854
13 807

-

43 750
43 750

472 257
472 257

17 752
17 752

13 333
13 333

472 257
43 750
31 085
547 092

Fair value hierarchy
The group employs the following hierarchy with respect to techniques for
measuring the fair value of financial instruments:
Level 1: Listed prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities
Level 2: Other techniques where input having a material effect on fair value is
observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3: Techniques where input having a material effect on fair value is not
based on observable market data
If observable market prices are not available, the group values warrant and
conversion rights using third party valuations based on techniques where some
or all of the input variables is not observable in the market but has been derived
from various sources (level 3).

3.3 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Projects
Development and construction of renewable energy projects are capital
intensive and normally require 25-30 percent equity financing. Senior debt is
raised directly by the project company. Equity for project companies is provided
by NBT via intercompany loans to its respective subsidiaries investing in the
projects. Equity is also from time to time raised from third parties at the project
level, diluting NBT’s holding in the specific projects. NBT’s objective is to have
sufficient capital available at the holding company level to fund its share of the
equity requirement.
Equity
The group has been financed through equity, convertible loans and bonds.
Because of the capital-intensive nature of the group’s business, NBT is
dependent on raising equity or debt in order to fund development and
construction of renewable energy projects, as the group’s current capital base
is not considered sufficient.

NOTE 4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
Judgements
The preparation of the group’s consolidated financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
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that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability
affected in future periods.
Consolidation of special purpose entities
In 2011, the group’s development partner in China, Sanhe Group, received a
building permit for Baicheng II in the Jilin province in China. According to an
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agreement with the partner, this building permit is held by a special purpose
entity owned by Sanhe Group. NBT has an option to acquire the special purpose
entity for HKD 1. The option expired 31 December 2018. Further, Sanhe Group
has established a SPV in Woudalinchi in the Heilangjiang province where the
purpose of the SPV is to obtain building permits for a wind farm project. The
building permit is not obtained, but NBT has an option to purchase the SPV for
HKD 1 if a building permit is granted. None of these SPVs have been
consolidated in the NBT consolidated financial statements.
Assessment of loans to subsidiaries
The parent company and some of the intermediate holding companies have
given loans to some of its subsidiaries. The intention was originally that the
subsidiaries should repay the loans within a reasonable timeframe. NBT made
a new evaluation with respect to the subsidiaries’ ability to repay the loans and
concluded that most of the loan that were evaluated should be regarded as part
of the net investment in the subsidiary. The accounting effect of this
reassessment is that the currency effect is not to be accounted for as a currency
element under financial items but regarded as part of the conversion effect on
the investment in the subsidiary. This effect is hence accounted for as currency
conversion differences under other comprehensive income and expenses. The
assessment has an effect on the presentation of the profit and loss statement
but has no cash effect or impact on the consolidated balance sheet.
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are described below. The group based its assumptions and
estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements
were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances arising
beyond the control of the group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions
when they occur.
Going concern

As of year-end 2018 NBT AS has an interest-bearing debt of NOK 581.2
million of which NOK 300.1 million is a senior secured bond loan and a total
of NOK 260.2 is a convertible bond. In addition, the parent company had
other loans with a nominal value of NOK 20.9.
The senior secured bond loan matures in June 2020 and the convertible loan
matures in September 2020. All interest payments on the convertible loans
are settled as payment in-kind while the interest payments for the senior
secured bond is paid quarterly.
In addition to the interest-bearing debt in the parent company, the Group
had as of year-end 2018 a 10 million EUR bond loan with a carrying vale of
NOK 99.5 million. This bond loan was issued by East Renewable AB, NBTs
subsidiary in Sweden. This loan was repaid in January 2019 when a EUR 60
million short-term bond loan was raised to finance NBT’s equity investment
in the Syvash project.
In May 2019 East Renewable AB raised a EUR 75 million green bond for
investments in Ukraine. The bond matures in May 2021 and the net proceeds
was used to refinance the EUR 60 million short-term bond raised in January
2019 and to pre-fund one year of interest for the green bond.
The Syvash wind farm achieved financial close in January and April for the
two traches of the EUR 377 million investment. NBTs equity in the project
consist of EUR 35 million of ordinary equity and EUR 10 million of standby
equity provided by East Renewable AB. Any distributions from the Syvash
wind farm is ring-fenced to the benefit of the bond holders in East Renewable
AB until maturity or refinancing. NBT expects to refinance the bond after
commercial operation date of the wind farm at improved terms. No further
financing is committed or expected for the Syvash project.
In January 2019, East Renewable AB acquired 82% of the shares in
Azovinvestprom LLC. The company will need to raise additional financing to
develop the up to 742 MW wind farm currently under development by the
company.
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In addition to the financing requirements for development of wind projects
in Ukraine, NBT also needs financing for its current operation. The main
sources of financing for NBT are dividend distributed from the Linxi wind
farm in China. At present there are uncertainties about both the size and
timing of these dividends due to significant delays in subsidy payments from
the Chinese authorities. NBT expects to receive approximately NOK 14
million in July 2019 and another dividend payment in the same range is
expected to be received in the fourth quarter of 2019. The dividend
distributions from relates to underlying profits in the Linxi joint venture from
2016 and 2017 respectively.
The process to raise the required financing for the Zophia wind power project
has been initiated. NBT is working to raise a development bond of about EUR
15 million for the financing of the acquisition and development costs of the
project. The project is contemplated to be financed on a stand-alone basis.
However, the initial funding of the acquisition and development costs have
been made by the parent company. The initial funding amounts to
approximately EUR 2 million and this amount is planned to be repaid from
the Zophia holding company as soon as the development financing is in
place.
In June 2019 the company raised EUR 1 million a credit facility from a group
of investors. The facility, together with expected dividends from the Linxi
wind farm and the repayment of the initial acquisition and development
costs from the Zophia holding company is expected to be enough to fund
corporate operations through 2019. The company is in the process of hiring
a financial advisor to refinance the parent company. This process is expected
to close in the first quarter 2020.
The going concern assumption is based on current expectations, estimates,
projections and assumptions made by management and the board, based on
information currently available to the company and is described in note 4 in
the consolidated financial statement and note 2 in the financial statement
for the parent company. The assessment reflects current views with respect
to future events and is subject to risks and uncertainties.
The company currently has, under certain assumptions, enough financing
available to sustain operations through 2019. After this date, the company
will have to raise additional debt or equity to continue its operation. Based
on NBT’s track record in the past years it is expected that such financing can
be obtained. Deviations or changes to these assumptions and estimates may
require the company to raise additional financing to finance operations and
investments at an earlier time. If the company cannot raise sufficient capital,
there is a risk that projects cannot be realised, and that book value of assets
will be eroded.
The process to raise the required financing for the Zophia wind farm has
started and based on NBTs track record of securing financing of both the
acquisition, development and construction of the Syvash wind farm the
board expects that NBT will be able raise the enough capital to reach financial
close for the wind farm.
In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the consolidated financial
statements provide a true and fair view of the group’s financial
performance during 2018 and financial position at 31 December 2018.
According to section 3–3 of the Norwegian Accounting Act, and based on
the premises outlined above, we confirm that the consolidated financial
statements and the financial statements of the parent company have been
prepared based on the going concern assumption, and that it is appropriate
to make that assumption.
Impairment assessment of investments in associated companies and joint
ventures
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, expressed as the assets fair value. The fair value
calculation is based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived
from the budget for the life of the asset. The valuation of wind power projects
is most sensitive to the wind conditions (power generation), curtailment rate
and the discount rate. In previous years there have been indications of a
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potential impairment related to the Baicheng wind farm. However, the positive
development in 2017 and 2018 in connection with the relative low book value
of the investment (accounted for according to the equity method), NBT is now
of the opinion that there are no indications of any further impairment of the
investment. See note 6 for further information of this assessment.
Prepayments
As of year-end 2018 NBT has prepaid development fees to its business partner
in China, Sanhe Group, for a total amount of NOK 29.7 million.
The carrying value of the prepayments assumes that NBT will be able to offset
these against future development fees and service fees payable to its partner.
The uncertainties relate to NBT’s ability to construct further
and development rights are based on the assumption that the grid curtailment
issue in China will be solved. Furthermore, it is assumed that NBT will have the
ability to fund the construction of wind farms in its project portfolio, either on a
stand-alone basis, through partners or disposing or partly disposing of projects.
Wind power projects under development
Costs directly related to wind power projects under development are recognised
in the balance sheet in accordance with the accounting policies described in note
2.6. Capitalised project costs are based on management’s assessment of the
project’s technological and financial feasibility. Further development of the
projects is dependent on further financing.
Conversion rights
In September 2015, NBT issued a convertible bond loan and during 2017 and
2018 NBT has issued several convertible loans. For all of the convertible loans
the conversion rights are separated from its host financial instrument and
recognised as a separate financial instrument in the consolidated financial
statement.
Conversion rights given to bondholders/lenders are recognised in the balance
sheet as a liability upon the issuance of the loan and measured at the fair value
at the time of issuance in accordance with level 2 in the value hierarchy
described in note 3. Increases in loans have been treated correspondingly.
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The valuation of the conversion rights is based on an assessment of the
alternative effective interest for a similar loan without conversion rights (and
exclusive other loan costs). For the 2015 convertible bond the alternative
interest was estimated to 14.0 percent. The assessments were supported by
external input of market data when the liabilities were calculated. The
alternative interest for the new loans issued in 2017 was also estimated to 14.0
percent. The total value of the conversion rights is treated as borrowing cost and
amortised over the term of the convertible bond loan. Changes in fair value of
the conversion rights are recognised in the profit and loss statement. Both at
year-end 2018 and 2017 there were no observable transactions of which the
valuation of the conversion rights could be based and consequently alternative
valuation techniques (level 3 in the value hierarchy) has been applied in the
valuation. Further descriptions of the assumptions in the valuations are given in
note 14.
Taxes
The companies within the NBT group have been operating with losses in recent
years and have no taxable profits. Deferred tax assets are not recognised, as the
majority of the group’s future income will be dividends from project companies.
As dividend is not taxable under the tax domicile of the parent company,
management has decided not to recognise deferred tax in the balance sheet.
The group has a net future tax reducing temporary differences (including tax loss
carry forward) amounting to NOK 56.6 million in Norway. Further details on
taxes are disclosed in note 16.
Given the wide range of international business relationships, the long-term
nature and complexity of existing contractual agreements for some of the NBT
group companies, and the interpretation of complex tax regulations in several
countries, a possible consequence of a tax audit may be changes to the filed tax
returns. Such differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues
depending on the conditions prevailing in the respective group company's
domicile. The group assesses the probability for changes to the filed tax returns
with a subsequent payable or deferred tax liability to be low.

NOTE 5 ACQUISITION OF SYVASHENERGOPROM LLC
In April 2018 NTB AS acquired Syvasenergoprom LLC, a wind farm facility located
in Ukraine, through its subsidiary East Renewable Energy AB.
Allocation of cost price for the acquisition
Consideration
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Cash consideration
Total acquisition cost

Syvashenergoprom LLC

Excess value
Total consideration
Fair value of net identifiable assets required
Excess value
Net cash outflow on acquisition
Cash consideration
Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries
Loans given to Syvashenergoprom from NBT prior to acquisition and applied in
the project company
Total cash payment in connection with the acquisition

73 758
73 758
73 758
8 656
65 193
73 758
282
73 476
5 436
78 912

The entire excess value is attributable to project development assets and classified as intangible assets. The allocation of purchase price is deemed to be
provisional pending the completion of the final valuation of the acquired assets and liabilities.
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(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Carrying value in NBT at the date of acquisition
Goodwill
Project development asset
Concession property
Property, plant & equipment
Capitalised project costs
Other current receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Carrying value acquired assets
Deferred tax
Current liabilities
Liabilities
Net value of acquired assets

21

Syvashenergoprom LLC
14 311
65 194
9 667
1 143
2 670
644
282
93 911
14 311
5 842
20 153
73 758

Goodwill of NOK 14,311 arises from the requirement to recognise deferred tax assets and liabilities for the difference between assigned fair value and tax bases of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. In accordance with IAS 12 Sections 15 and 19, a provision is made for deferred tax corresponding
to the tax rate multiplied with the difference between acquisition cost and tax base. The offsetting entry to this deferred tax is goodwill. Hence,
goodwill arises as a technical effect of deferred tax (“technical goodwill”). The valuation above is based on currently available information about fair values at the
acquisition date. If new information becomes available within 12 months from the acquisition date, the group may change the fair value assessment in the PPA, in
accordance with guidance in IFRS 3.

NOTE 6 SEGMENT INFORMATION
NBT has currently three business segments according to IFRS 8 Operating
segments. The group’s main business is development of renewable energy
projects, which currently consists of wind power projects and development
projects in Ukraine and China. In addition, the group has its corporate activities,
the corporate activities include all development activities for projects that are
not formalised into a project company.
The wind power China operating segment includes the 49 percent ownership of
the Linxi joint venture and the 33% ownership in the Baicheng wind farm.
The wind power activities in Ukraine was initiated in 2017. However, as the
acquisition of the project company, Syvashenergoprom LLC, was formally done
in 2018 the reporting structure was changed and is now followed up on a project
company level. The effect of this change is that only the activities within the
project company is included in the segment reporting. The consequence of this
change is that the figures reported under the Ukraine wind power segment in
the 2017 financial statement now is included in the corporate segment.

The wind power Pakistan segment included all the operating companies in
Pakistan and all the Singaporean companies. NBT’s strategy for the operation in
Pakistan is to dispose the remaining Szabist wind power project and then close
down NBT’s presence in Pakistan.
The holding company functions in Norway, Sweden, Cyprus, Singapore and Hong
Kong are included in the corporate segment.
The wind power projects in Pakistan was previously reported as a separate
segment, but due to materiality concerns and the fact that NBT is working to
close the activities in Pakistan this is included in the corporate segment. The
comparable segment note for 2017 is adjusted to reflect this change.
The increase in Other Operating Expenses consists mainly of an increase in
advisers’ costs related to the Syvash project of NOK 44.5 million. As these
costs were incurred by NBT and not charged to the project company these
costs are included in the Corporate segment in the table below.

2018
Wind power,
China

Wind power,
Ukraine

Corporate

Consolidated

Sales revenues

-

2 513

-

2 513

Other revenues

-

-

125

125

Operating expenses excl. impairment

-

(4 821)

(81 068)

(85 889)

Impairments1)

-

-

(18 221)

(18 221)

Operating profit

-

(2 308)

(99 164)

(101 473)

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Income from associates and JVs

13 023

-

-

13 023

-

(14)

(68 319)

(68 332)

Result before tax

13 023

(2 322)

(167 483)

(156 783)

Tax
Net income/(loss) for the period

13 023

(2 322)

(167 483)

(156 783)

219 894

130 570

36 520

386 984

Net financial items

Total assets2)

1) Impairments relates to the capitalised development rights (development fees Baicheng II) for an amount of NOK 13.5 million and an impairment on a loan to the project company for the
Baicheng II wind farm of NOK 4.7 million and are in line with previous years treatment allocated to the corporate segment.
2) Long term receivable on Sanhe Group with a total carrying amount of NOK 29.7 million are allocated to the corporate segment.
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2017
Wind power,
China

Wind power,
Ukraine

Corporate

Sales revenues

-

-

-

-

Other revenues

-

-

39

39

Operating expenses excl. impairment

-

-

(37 318)

(37 318)

Impairments

-

-

-

-

Operating profit

-

-

(37 279)

(37 279)

13 573

-

-

13 573

-

-

(49 003)

(49 002)

Result before tax

13 573

-

(86 281))

(72 708)

Tax
Net income/(loss) for the period

(4 556)

-

(75 900)

(72 708)

204 403

-

59 685

264 088

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Income from associates and JVs
Net financial items

Total assets1)
1)

Consolidated

Long term receivable on Sanhe Group and capitalised development rights (development fees Baicheng II) with a total carrying amount of NOK 50.0 million are allocated to the corporate
segment.

Geographic segments
The group’s projects are located in China and Ukraine, and the geographical information is therefore equivalent to the operating segments presented above.

NOTE 7 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
Carrying value of investments in associates and joint ventures
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Linxi JV
Baicheng JV
Total

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

199 018
20 876
219 894

179 915
24 488
204 403

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

17 175
(4 153)
13 022

20 609
(7 036)
13 573

Recognised profit and loss from investments in associates and joint ventures
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Linxi JV
Baicheng JV
Total

Baicheng wind farm
The Baicheng I wind farm in the Jilin province in China is 100 percent owned by NBT Energy Ltd, Hong Kong. NBT has a 33 percent shareholding in NBT Energy Ltd.
Investments in associates are recognised according to the equity method.
Name
NBT Energy Ltd
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Carrying value at 1 January
Share of result for the year
Foreign currency effects
Total carrying value of the investment 31 December
Loan to NBT Energy:
The Chinese project company for Baicheng I is owned by NBT Energy, Hong Kong.
NBT has financed NBT Energy through a USD 9.9 million interest free loan and the
joint venture partner has contributed an interest free loan proportionate to their
ownership in NBT Energy. The plan was to convert these loans to equity, but this
was not formalised. The substance of the loan has the characteristics of an equity
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Country of incorporation
Hong Kong

Acquired
2010

Equity interest
33 %

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

24 487
(4 153)
542
20 876

32 365
(7 036)
(841)
24 488

investment. Based on this NBT has classified the loan as a part of the investment in
the joint venture company.
Impairment testing:
In connection with the preparation of the consolidated financial statement for 2016
NBT made an impairment analysis for the investment. The analysis concluded with
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During both 2017 & 2018 the actual production and EBITDA exceeded the forecasts
assumed in the impairment analysis prepared in connection with the preparation
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of the financial statement for the NBT Group in 2016. On this basis NBT has
concluded that there are no indications of any further impairment of the
investment. Correspondingly there is no requirement to perform a full impairment
test for 2018.

Summary of financial information for NBT Energy, including Baicheng (100 percent basis):
2018

2017

417 663
77 334
494 998
17 468
386 200
91 329
494 998

446 461
61 658
508 119
29 580
402 942
75 598
508 119

54 429

46 246

(11 845)

(20 570)

(3 909)
(244)
(4 153)

(6 788)
(248)
(7 036)

Acquired
2010

Equity interest
49%

2018

2017

179 915
1 928
17 175
199 018

157 542
1 764
20 609
179 915

2018

2017

776 669
230 697
1 007 366
364 213
545 166
97 987
1 007 366

916 140
116 712
1 032 852
282 384
667 259
83 209
1 032 852

150 340

142 224

Result for the year

35 948

35 420

NBT’s share of profit in the joint venture
Depreciation of capitalised development fees
Recognised share of result from Linxi

17 614
(439)
17 175

21 056
(447)
20 609

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Equity
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities and equity
Revenues
Result for the year
NBT’s share of profit in the joint venture
Depreciation of capitalised development fees
Recognised share of result from Baicheng
Linxi wind farm
The Linxi I and Linxi II wind farms are located in Inner Mongolia and have a capacity
of 50 MW each. Linxi I was commissioned in February 2011 while LinxiII had 20
turbines commissioned in June 2012 and the remaining 5 commissioned in
November 2012. Both wind farms are owned by the same project company. The
project company is owned by NBT with 49% and its joint venture partner Datang
with 51%.
Name
Linxi

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Carrying value at 1 January
Foreign currency effects
Reductions in investment due to dividend distribution
Share of result for the year
Carrying value at 31 December

Country of incorporation
China

Impairment testing of the investment in Linxi
The Linxi wind farm operates according to expectations, and there are no indications of impairment.
Summary of financial information for Linxi (100 percent basis)
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets
Equity
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities and equity
Revenues
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NOTE 8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND CAPITALISED PROJECT DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Intangible assets

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Goodwill Syvash

Project value
Syvash acquisition

Concession
property Syvash

Development
rights China

Total intangible
assets

-

-

-

14 311
533
14 844

65 194
2 432
67 626

9 667
(361)
348
9 654

14 289
(688)
13 601
(13 482)
(119)
0

14 289
(688)
13 601
89 172
(361)
(13 482)
3 194
92 124

Carrying value:
At 1 January 2017
Currency translation effects
At 31 December 2017
Acquired through acquisition
Depreciation in the year
Impairment for the year
Currency translation effects
At 31 December 2018

Development rights China:
The group’s development rights in China relate to paid development fees to the business partner in China for obtaining development rights for the Baicheng II wind
farm project. During 2018 the previous building permissions to build the wind farm has been revoked. Consequently, the development rights have been fully
impaired in the financial statement for 2018.
Capitalised project development costs

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
At 1 January
Acquired through acquisition
Investment in the year
Currency translation effects
At 31 December

2018

2017

2 670
32 239
360
35 269

-

Capitalised project development costs relate to the Syvash project and are capitalised on project company level and on group level. The intangible assets related to
Syvash, will be deconsolidated in 2019 due to new ownership structure.

NOTE 9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Total property,
plant and equipment

Cost
At 1 January 2017
Additions
Disposals at cost

13 164
(258)

Foreign currency effects

(1 279)

At 31 December 2017

11 627

Additions through acquisitions

1 143

Additions

1 026

Disposals at cost

-

Foreign currency effects

(1 667)

At 31 December 2018

12 129
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Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2017

(13 151)

Ordinary deprecation for the year

(4)

Disposals accumulated depreciation

258

Foreign currency effect

1 279

At 31 December 2017

(11 618)

Ordinary depreciation for the year

(745)

Disposals accumulated depreciation

-

Foreign currency effects

1 720

At 31 December 2018

(10 643)

Net book value
At 31 December 2017

9

At 31 December 2018

1 486

The book value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment relates mainly to its Ukrainian subsidiary.

NOTE 10 OTHER NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Prepaid development to Sanhe Group (partner in China)
Loans to Sanhe Group Renewable Energy Ltd (subsidiary to partner company in China)
Other receivables
Total long-term receivables
Prepaid development fees and loans to Sanhe Group
The NOK 29.70 million receivable on Sanhe Group, NBT’s development partner
in China, relates to prepaid development fees and loans for development of
wind farms in China. The amount will be offset against settlement of future
development fees and future service fees to the partner.

31.12.2018
29 723
29
29 752

31.12.2017
31 647
4 782
27
36 456

The loan to the Sanhe Group Renewable Energy Ltd for development of the
Baicheng II wind farm has been fully impaired in the financial statement for
2018.

NOTE 11 CURRENT RECEIVABLES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Trade receivables
Prepayments to suppliers
VAT receivable
Other current receivables
Total current receivables
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31.12.2018

31.12.2017

1 351
3 570
464
595
5 980

620
354
790
1 764
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NOTE 12 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Debt service reserve account for bond loan, Norway - restricted
Deposit account office rental in Norway
Total long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents

205
729
934

202
725
927

Tax deduction account in Norway – restricted
Total short-term restricted cash and cash equivalents

146
146

466
466

Current accounts in Norway
Deposits in Cyprus
Deposits in Sweden
Deposits in Ukraine
Deposits in Hong Kong
Deposits in China
Deposits in Pakistan
Deposits Singapore
Total short-term cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted

577
175
126
319
151
45
7
1 400

3 871
204
1 711
108
328
201
38
6 461

Total cash and cash equivalents

2 480

7 854

Total Norway - restricted

1 080

1 393

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Total Norway - unrestricted
Total Norway

577

3 871

1 657

5 264

All banks are deemed to be reliable and creditworthy counterparties.

NOTE 13 SHARE CAPITAL
At 31 December 2018, the company has issued 33 767 156 shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.10. All shares issued carry equal rights.
The table below shows changes in the share capital and number of shares.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Date

Number of shares

Share capital

Share
premium

Other paid
in equity

Total paid
in equity

32 895 209
32 895 209
33 767 156

3 290
3 290
3 377

440 968
440 968
467 039

50 087
50 087
54 057

494 345
494 345
524 473

2018
33 258 321
33 258 321
33 767 156
33 767 156

2017
32 895 209
32 895 209
32 895 209
32 895 209

31 December 2016
31 December 2017
31 December 2018
Average number of shares
Total average number of shares, options and warrants
Number of shares at 31 December
Diluted number of shares at 31 December1)
All shares issued are fully paid in

1) In addition, the number of shares may be further diluted by conversion of convertible loans
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At 31 December 2018, NBT AS had 130 shareholders.
20 largest shareholders
Shares issued at 31 December 2018
#
Shareholder
1
Arctic Securities AS1)
2
Lani Invest AS
3
Aker Capital AS
4
Joar Gudmund Viken
5
Edda Invest AS
6
SMA Mineral B.V
7
Green Tech International ANS
8
Veda A/S
9
Siviløkonom Bent Bugge AS
10
Borgestad ASA
11
Meteva AS
12
Wing Sang Luk
13
Al Shamrani, Ayed Mosa A
14
Jon Burum
15
Frogner Boligeiendom Holding AS
16
Monika Skar
17
Frogner Boligeiendom AS
18
Jens Peter Jakobsgaard Andersen
19
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co
20
Byeiendom AS
20
Sabaro Investment Ltd
Total 20 largest shareholders
Total other shareholders
Total number of shares

Number of shares held
8 346 314
3 434 883
2 849 827
2 501 780
2 392 650
1 604 415
1 400 000
1 305 500
1 030 000
1 021 345
1 000 000
935 000
911 947
432 100
285 502
272 730
245 000
228 969
220 000
200 000
200 000
30 817 962
2 949 194
33 767 156

Ownership
24.72%
10.17%
8.44%
7.41%
7.09%
4.75%
4.15%
3.87%
3.05%
3.02%
2.96%
2.77%
2.70%
1.28%
0.85%
0.81%
0.73%
0.68%
0.65%
0.59%
0.59%
91.27%
8.73%
100%

1) Shares held by Arctic Securities AS sold on forward contracts.

Shares held by directors and management as of 31 December 2018:
Shareholder
Svein Sivertsen
Melvin Teigen
Ulf Juvél, including SMA Mineral B.V1)
Sverre Stavseth2)
Dag Fasmer Wittusen
Joar Viken
Walter Chang
Luo Bin
Ketil Sundal
Thorstein Jenssen
Total

Position
Chairman
Director
Director
Director
Director
CEO
CEO Asia
President China operations
CFO
Senior VP

Number
of shares
5 500
1 605 372
16 642
2 501 780
55 000
3 000
3 000
4 190 294

1) SMA Mineral B.V is controlled by a related party of Mr. Juvél.
2) Including Sverre Invest AS.

No options are issued to directors or management as of 31 December 2018.
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NOTE 14 INTEREST-BEARING DEBT AND CONVERSION RIGHTS
Non-current interest-bearing loans and conversion rights
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Convertible bond loan
Borrowing costs convertible bond loan
Amortisation of borrowing cost convertible bond loan
Carrying value convertible bond loan
Senior secured bond loan
Borrowing cost senior secured bond loan
Amortisation of borrowing cost senior secured bond loan
Carrying value senior secured bond loan
New convertible loans
Borrowing cost new convertible loans
Amortisation of borrowing cost new convertible loans
Carrying value new convertible loans
Carrying value EUR bond
Total carrying value of non-current interest-bearing liabilities

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

260 175
(70 717)
34 471
223 929
300 102
(6 413)
3 969
297 658
13 563
(1 724)
523
12 362
99 483
633 432

239 792
(68 797)
19 711
190 706
263 773
(6 413)
2 540
259 900
24 807
(3 400)
244
21 651
472 257

43 750
3 660
(3 970))
(5 500)
37 940

Opening balance of convertible rights
Fair value of convertible rights issued during the year
Fair value of convertible rights at date of conversion loan
Fair value adjustment recognition in the profit and loss statement for the year
Carrying value of convertible rights

42 000
5 990
(4 240)
43 750

Reconciliation of interest-bearing debt
Total interest-bearing debt at the start of the year
New loans with cash effect
New loans without cash effect1)
Capitalised loan cost (no cash effect)
Amortisation of loan cost (no cash effect)
Conversion of loans to equity
Effects of changes in foreign currency rate
Currency translation effects
Total interest-bearing debt at year-end

472 257
139 834
34 275
(3 660)
19 884
(26 158)
(540)
4 828
640 720

401 390
24 645
40 064
(5 990)
11 986
162
472 257

Composition of interest-bearing debt
Total carrying value of non-current interest-bearing liabilities
Total carrying value of current interest-bearing liabilities

633 432
7 288

472 257
-

1) Interest capitalised as new loans

The 2015 – 2020 senior secured bond loan
On 30 June 2015, the company issued a new 5-year senior secured bond loan.
The main terms of the loan are as follows:

§
§
§
§

5-year duration with maturity 30 June 2020
Fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per annum
Quarterly interest payments and interest payments for the first three years
to be settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”)
The bond loan is secured with pledges over the company’s assets as listed
below

There are no financial covenants for the bond loan.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement over the term of the
loan and offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the loan.
The 2015 – 2020 convertible bond loan
On 14 September 2015, NBT AS issued an unsecured subordinated convertible
bond loan. The main terms of the loan are as follows:
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§
§
§
§
§
§

5-year duration with maturity 14 September 2020
Fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per annum with annual capitalisation
Interest to be settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”)
The convertible bond loan is unsecured and subordinated to the 2015 –
2020 senior secured bond loan
Convertible to shares in NBT AS at an exercise price of NOK 30 per share.
The exercise price will, adjusted in case of an IPO event, be set to the
lowest of NOK 30 per share and the IPO price less a discount of 10 percent.
The company has an option to settle conversions as a cash settlement.

There are no financial covenants for the convertible bond loan.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement over the term of the loan
and offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the convertible bond.
Total borrowing costs at year-end 2018 amounts to NOK 70.7 million, including a
calculated fair value of the conversion rights of NOK 52.2 million. The value of the
conversion rights is calculated based on the cash flow from the loan discounted
with an assumed interest rate of a loan with similar terms and conditions with no
conversion rights. The difference between the face value of the loan and
calculated discounted value of the loan with the applied market rate is regarded
as the value of the conversion rights. At the time the bond was issued in 2015 the
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fair value of the conversion rights was calculated to 44.6 million assuming an
alternative effective interest (exclusive other loan costs) of 14 percent. As the
interest payments for the loan is made by issuing additional bonds (Payment InKind), the new bonds can also be converted to shares at the same terms as the
original loan. These conversion rights have been valued with the same alternative
interest of 14 percent. The value of the conversion rights issued in 2017 and 2018
totalled NOK 2.6 million and NOK 1.9 million respectively and is amortised over
the remaining loan period.

Syvashenergoprom LLC and to finance development costs for the Syvash wind
farm project.

Convertible USD and NOK loans 2017/2018 – 2020
During 2017 NBT has raised USD 1.5 million and NOK 12.5 million in new
convertible loans and another USD 1.5 million was raised in 2018.

The main terms of the loan are as follows:

The main terms of the convertible loans are as follows:

§
§

§
§

All loans mature on 14 September 2020
Fixed interest with 8.5 percent per annum (for both the USD and NOK
loans) with annual capitalisation
Interest to be settled by increasing the loan balance (“PIK settlement”)
The loans are unsecured and convertible to shares in NBT at an exercise
price of NOK 30 per share. In case of an IPO the exercise price will be set
to the lowest of NOK per share and the IPO price less a discount of 10
percent
The company has an option to settle conversions as a cash settlement

§
§

§

The loan agreement was entered with a condition that the loan was going to be
transferred to a bond loan agreement. In August 2018 the parties entered a
restatement and amendment agreement where NBT’s subsidiary East Renewable
AB assumed all liabilities previously entered by East Renewable Energy AB and the
loan was transformed to a bond loan agreement.

§

Loan matures on 30 April 2021, with an option for East Renewable AB to
prolong the maturity date with one year
Fixed interest with 12 percent per annum with yearly payments
All shares in East Renewable Energy AS were pledged to the bondholders

In connection with East Renewable AB’s financing of the investment for the Syvash
project in January 2019 the EUR 10 million loan was repaid prior to maturity.
Short term interest-bearing debt
During the fourth quarter NBT raised a total of NOK 7.3 million in short term
liquidity loans. The loans carried an interest of 12 percent per annum and were
repaid in January 2019.

On 2 August 2018 NBT received notice of conversions for all of the convertible USD
loans inclusive of capitalised / accrued interest. Inclusive interest the total amount
that was converted to equity amounted to about USD 3.18 million that
corresponded to about NOK 26.16 million with the foreign exchange rate at the
conversion date.

Value of convertible rights
NBT has issued convertible bond loans in 2015 and convertible loans in 2017 and
2018. As the exercise price (conversion price) for all convertible loans contains a
variable element and the fixed for fixed criteria under IFRS 9 are not met, the value
of the conversion rights is presented as a liability on the balance sheet.

Following the conversion of the USD loans, the only remaining direct convertible
loan is the NOK loan raised in 2017.

During 2017 NBT has issued new convertible bonds (interest settled as “PIK
payments”) and new convertible loans, and the value of the conversion rights at
the time of issuance is estimated at NOK 6.0 million.

The value of the conversion rights is calculated as the difference between the face
value of the loan and the discounted value of a loan with a market interest rate
for a similar loan without conversion rights. In the valuation of the conversion
rights an alternative effective interest rate of 14 percent is applied. The total value
of the conversion rights is calculated at NOK 1.7 million and is treated as borrowing
costs that is amortised over the loan period.
EUR 10 million bond loan for acquisition of Syvashenergoprom LLC and
financing of development costs
In April 2018, NBT’s subsidiary East Renewable Energy AB entered an agreement
with several lenders to borrow EUR 10 million.

A Black-Scholes model calculation has been applied in calculating the fair value of
the convertible rights at both year-end 2018 and 2017. In the calculations for both
2018 and 2017 a market value of the NBT share of NOK 33 and volatility of 40
percent are assumed. The valuation method assumes there is a traded market for
the NBT share. As this is not the case, a liquidity discount of 50 percent has been
applied to the valuation. The value of the convertible rights is classified as a noncurrent liability as conversion is assumed to be at or near maturity.

The proceeds from the loan was used to finance the acquisition of
Assets pledged as security for the 2015 – 2020 senior secured bond loan
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
NBT AS’ receivable on NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus
NBT AS' shares in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd., Cyprus 1)
NBT AS' shares in NBT Renewable Energy (Singapore) Pte Ltd., Singapore 2)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus' shares in NBT Energy Ltd. 3)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus' receivable on NBT Energy Ltd. 3)

Book value
31.12.2018
556 551
20 876
-

Book value in NBT AS. Investment in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd. was written down to nil in 2011.
Book value in NBT AS. Investments in NBT Renewable Energy (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. has been written down to nil in 2015
3) NBT Renewable Energy Ltd owns 33% of the shares in NBT Energy Ltd and has also provided an interest free loan to NBT Energy Ltd with a nominal value of USD 9.9 million. In the consolidated accounts
both the share investment and the interest free loan is classified as investment in the NBT Energy Ltd joint venture. Carrying value of the combined investment in the consolidated accounts as at year-end
2017 is applied in this overview.
1)
2)
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NOTE 15 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Public taxes and charges payable
Accrued interest on interest bearing loans
Provision for liabilities to former business partner
Accrued advisers’ fees for the Syvash project
Other current liabilities
Total other current liabilities

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

282
15 025
14 119
28 750
11 782
69 958

672
6 601
13 333
8 848
29 454

NOTE 16 TAXES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Specification of tax expense for the year:
Tax payable
Change in deferred taxes
Tax expense
Deferred tax liability
Carrying value per 31 December
Acquired through acquisition
Currency translation effects
Carrying value per 31 December

2018

2017

-

-

2018
14 311
533
14 844

2017
-

The deferred tax liability relates to the acquisition of Syvashenergoprom LLC
The group’s operations in Norway, Sweden, Cyprus, Hong Kong, Singapore, Pakistan and China have not generated any profit and the companies have generated tax
losses carried forward or do not have taxable income. The main tax position relates to the parent company in Norway, where the tax position can be summarised as
follows:
Specification of deferred tax assets (Norway)
Tax losses carried forward
Net of other temporary differences
Deferred tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position

2018
413 563
(156 282)
257 281

2017
364 146
(127 456)
236 690

Deferred tax assets (22%/23%)
Non-recognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position

56 602
(56 602)
-

54 439
(54 439)
-

The deferred tax asset of NOK 56.6 million in the parent company (NBT AS),
relating to tax losses carried forward, has not been recognised in the statement of

financial position as the company does not expect to be able to utilise the loss in
the foreseeable future.

NOTE 17 PERSONNEL EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Wages and salaries including holiday pay
National insurance contributions
Pension costs
Other staff expenses
Total
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2018

2017

11 758
875
481
269
13 383

10 662
722
608
169
12 161
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31

Parent company

Group

Employees at 31 December 2018
Full time equivalents/man years
Average for the year

3
2.5
2.5

33
26.6
26.6

Employees at 31 December 2017
Full time equivalents/man years
Average for the year

4
3.3
3.3

14
13.3
13.3

1)

Excluding Management for Hire.

Remuneration - key management personnel
2018
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Joar Viken, CEO 1)
Thorstein Jenssen, SVP Corp. Finance2)
Ketil Sundal, CFO 3)
Walter Chang, CEO Asia
Total NBT AS

Salary
2 125
2 400
1 811
2 440
8 776

Bonus
-

Other
remuneration
192
14
1 044
1 250

Pension cost
193
193

Total
remuneration
2 510
2 414
1 811
3 484
10 219

Salary
2 135
2 400
1 598
2 481
8 614

Bonus
-

Other
remuneration
18
34
1 062
1 114

Pension cost
188
188

Total
remuneration
2 341
2 434
1 598
3 543
9 916

2017
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Joar Viken, CEO 1)
Thorstein Jenssen, SVP Corp. Finance2)
Ketil Sundal, CFO 3)
Walter Chang, CEO Asia
Total NBT AS

1) Joar Viken has a notice period of 6 months and is entitled to severance pay up to 24 months if the employment is terminated by the company.
2) Thorstein Jenssen is engaged through a company controlled by Mr. Jenssen. The table shows the invoiced amount for the period.
3) Ketil Sundal is an independent consultant that has been engaged as CFO in both 2017 and 2018. The table shows the invoiced amount for the period.

Board of Directors:
The shareholders’ meeting in June 2017 approved a remuneration for the Board
period 2016/2017 of NOK 250,000 for the chair and NOK 150,000 for the other
Board members. The shareholders approved quarterly payments. The
shareholder’s meeting in June 2018 approved the same remuneration for the
Board period 2018/2019.
Remuneration to auditor:
Expensed fees to the group’s auditors (excluding VAT):
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Pensions:
NBT AS operates a defined contribution scheme via DnB Livsforsikring in
accordance with the Norwegian Act on Mandatory Occupational Pension
Schemes.

Parent
company

Group

Parent
company

2018
Auditing, Deloitte
Auditing, others
Other services, Deloitte
Other services, others
Total

959
959

Group
2017

1 096
201
23
23
1 320

716
29
745

849
191
68
1 108

Deloitte is also appointed as auditor in the subsidiaries in Cyprus and for the Swedish subsidiaries. No audit fees have been charged to the Swedish subsidiaries
during 2018 as the audit work has been conducted in 2019.
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NOTE 18 FINANCIAL INCOME AND FINANCIAL EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Interest income
Total finance income
Interest expenses
Total finance cost
Fair value adjustment of convertible rights
Net change in foreign currency
Net financial items

2018

2017

6
6

20
20

(74 601)
(74 551)

(53 120)
(53 120)

5 550

4 240

713
(68 332)

(142)
(49 002)

Fair value adjustments:
The fair value adjustment relates to change in the fair value assessment of the conversion rights associated with the 2015-2020 convertible bond and the direct convertible
loans issued in 2017 and 2018.

NOTE 19 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit or loss for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding through the year.
Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit or loss for the year by the weighted average number of diluted shares through the year.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2018

2017

Profit/(loss) for the year

(156 783)

(72 527)

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

(154 251)

(73 880)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share

33 258 321

32 895 209

Effect of dilution:
Options
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution

33 258 321

32 895 209

Earnings per share - loss for the year (NOK):
Basic
Diluted

(4.71)
(4.71)

(2.20)
(2.20)

Earnings per share - total comprehensive income (NOK):
Basic
Diluted

(4.64)
(4.64)

(2.25)
(2.25)

The effect of dilution is assumed to be zero, as the group has negative earnings.
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NOTE 20 RELATED PARTIES – TRANSACTIONS
Remuneration to senior executives is listed in note 17, including remuneration for hired senior executives.
TRANSACTIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Luk Wing Sang
The group’s development partner in China, Sanhe Group, is entitled to a
development fee for building permits for wind farms in China. Development fee is
linked to the total investment cost of the relevant project and denominated in
RMB. Luk Wing Sang, the majority shareholder in Sanhe Group, is a shareholder in
NBT AS.
As of year-end 2018 the group had total outstanding prepayment of development
fees for USD 3.4 million (NOK 29.7 million) to Sanhe Group. The service fee payable
to Sanhe Group for 2018 of RMB 3 million has been set-off against the prepayment
during the year.
NBT has further given a loan to Sanhe Group and a subsidiary of the Sanhe Group
for Sanhe Group’s financing of potential projects in China where NBT had options
to acquire the projects for a total of USD 1.1 million. NBT had made a provision for
USD 0.5 million in previous year, while the loan to the project company (Sanhe
Group Renewable Energy Ltd) for the Baicheng II project has been fully impaired
during 2018.
EUR 10 million loan subsequent amended to a EUR 10 bond loan
In April 2018, the Swedish subsidiary East Renewable Energy AB entered a loan
agreement to borrow EUR 10 million to in connection with the acquisition of
Syvashenergoprom LLC and financing of development costs. The initial loan was
entered with seven lenders of which three was shareholders and one a board
member. In total the shareholders and the board member provided EUR 4
million of the total loan amount of EUR 10 million. Reference to note 15 for
more detailed information about the terms of the loan.
TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER RELATED PARTIES
Loans from related parties
During 2018 board member Ulf Juvel and a company controlled by senior vice
president Thorstein Jenssen provided loans to NBT of NOK 0.25 and 0.24 mill

respectively. The loans carried interest of 12% per annum and was repaid in
January 2019.
Impact Technology Systems AS
One member of NBT management is appointed as board member of Impact
Technology Systems AS (“ITS”) and throughout most of 2017 and he acted as
managing director of the company.
ITS was established in 2011 and acquired on 31 December 2011 NBT’s research
and development activities related to a technology for increased oil recovery. NBT
agreed to provide a seller’s credit to ITS for the sales consideration of the
technology. Due to the liquidity situation for ITS, NBT agreed throughout a series
of amendment and restatement agreements to transfer the original sales
consideration to a senior secured loan. As a part of the restructuring NBT also
provided an unsecured loan to ITS in 2017. As of year-end 2018 the nominal value
of NBT’s share of the senior secured loan amounts to about NOK 9.2 million and
the nominal value of the unsecured loan amounts to NOK 1.3 million. The loans
carry 6.5% interest. The maturity date for both loans were 20 June 2019, but they
are still unpaid. NBT is waiting for a proposal from the ITS board for a potential
restructuring. NBT has made a full impairment for the loans and no interest is
recognised.
During 2017 NBT performed certain management services for ITS and has invoiced
the agreed service fee of NOK 125 000 net of VAT. The amount is recognised in
the 2018 financial statement and is partly paid.
Loans to associates
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd in Cyprus has given an interest free loan to NBT
Energy Ltd in Hong Kong (the holding company for the Baicheng joint venture)
of about USD 9.9 million. Originally the loan was intended to be converted to
equity, however, as the loan is pledged as security for the senior secured bond
loan, such conversion would require consent from the bondholders. In the
consolidated financial statement, the loan is classified and presented as part of
the investment in the Baicheng joint venture. For further reference see note 6.

NOTE 21 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, ASSETS AND COMMITMENTS
Baicheng joint venture company debt to turbine vendor Suzlon
The Baicheng joint venture company has withheld a payment of RMB 37 million
invoiced from the turbine vendor Suzlon due to delays and non-performance by
Suzlon during the construction phase. The parties have been in negotiations to
settle the dispute. After Suzlon terminated certain provisions under the
warranty, maintenance and service agreement, the project company has
terminated the settlement negotiations. The project company has claimed
compensation from Suzlon that exceeds the amount withheld. The amount
withheld is still recognised as a liability in the financial statement of the joint
venture company.
Lease obligations
The lease of the NBT offices in Oslo, Norway expires 31 August 2019, but it is in
the process of being extended. The annual rental cost is approx. NOK 1.4 million
(net of VAT).
The lease of the NBT offices in Cyprus expires 30 November 2019. The annual
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rental cost is EUR 10 thousand. NBT leases offices in Beijing from its
development partner in China, Sanhe Group. The office lease of the Karachi
office is renewed on a yearly basis. Renewal from April each year at a cost of
about PKR 1.8 million.
Syvashenergoprom, the project company, for the Syvash wind farm has entered
agreements for leasing of land plots for the wind turbines, cars and office. The
lease agreements are recorded as financial lease in the consolidated financial
statement.
Alleged claim from former business associate
A former business associate of NBT has claimed compensation under a
consultancy agreement entered into in 2017. According to the agreement,
business associated would, under certain assumptions, have the right to 2% of
the equity in any projects developed with the assistance of the company. The
agreement was terminated in December 2017. NBT and its legal advisors have
refused the claim. The dispute resolution is arbitration under Norwegian law.
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NOTE 22 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Dilution of ownership in East Renewable Ukraine AB (ERU)
On January 29 and April 12, 2019, New Wind 1, a company owned by Total Eren
and Al Gihaz invested EUR 79.1 in Class B shares in East Renewable Ukraine AB,
the indirect holding company of Syvashenergoprom LLC. The Class B shares
carries 53.5% of the voting rights in the company and will receive the highest of
17% of the invested amount and 53.5% of the available dividend annually. The
Class B shares are convertible into ordinary shares in October 2022. NBT owns
100% of the ordinary shares (Class A shares) through East Renewable AB, as 100%
owned subsidiary.
Acquisition of Azovinvestprom
In January 2019 East Renewable AB, a wholly owned subsidiary of NBT, signed an
agreement to acquire 82 percent of Azovinvestprom for a total consideration of
EUR 2.57 million. The company has the right to construct a 42.5 MW wind power
plant and has a grid connection agreement and leased land for another 450 MW
wind power plant. Available land can be used to construct an additional 250 MW
Construction of the 42.5 MW wind farm is expected during 2019.
Financial close of the Syvash wind power plant (“Syvash”)
Following the acquisition in 2018 of Syvashenergoprom LLC, the project company
for the 250 MW Syvash wind farm NBT, Total Eren and Al Gihaz achieved financial
close of the EUR 377.0 million investment in the Syvash wind farm. A consortium
led by European Bank of Reconstruction and Development provided a nonrecourse debt facility of EUR 262.0 million. Total Eren, Al Gihaz and NBT (through
East Renewable AB) provided the equity. The wind farm is under construction.
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As part of the closing of the financing NBT received EUR 8.0 million under a
Development and Support Agreement that was formally signed in January 2019.
The proceeds have been used to fund a total of EUR 10.0 million in standby
equity. The standby equity can, under certain conditions be used to fund cost
overrun. The EUR 8.0 million will be recognised as revenue in the parent
company in 2019.
Reimbursement of costs related to the Syvash wind farm
NBT has incurred advisers’ costs related to the development of the Syvash
project. NOK 69.5 million has been either paid or recognised as liability in the
balance sheet of NBT Group. The amount is recognised as a current receivable
on the Syvash project company and a total of NOK 53.5 of these costs have been
reimbursed by Syvashenergoprom in 2019. The remaining NOK 16.0 million will
be repaid at commercial operation date of the Syvash wind farm.
Bond issues 2019
In January 2019 East Renewable AB issued a bond loan in the amount of EUR 60.0
million with maturity date 60 days after issue date and an interest rate of 10 per
cent. The maturity date was extended and in May 2019 the bond was refinanced
through a long-term green bond loan in the amount of EUR 75.0 million. The
maturity date is May 21, 2021. The interest rate is 13.5 per cent.
New short-term loans
NBT has in 2019 entered into new short-term loan agreement with a shareholder
for a loan amount of NOK 10.3 million.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PARENT COMPANY
INCOME STATEMENT – PARENT COMPANY
Note

2018

2017

Income from management services
Other income
Total operating revenues

12
12

(900)
125
(775)

5 500
39
5 539

Personnel expenses
Bad debt
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

13
4

(5 801)
(1 200)
(16 786)
(23 787)

(5 797)
(11 513)
(17 310)

(24 562)

(11 771)

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Operating result
Financial income
Financial expenses
Write down of loans to subsidiaries and other receivables
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)
Net financial items
Result before tax

14
14
4

18 531
(66 418)
(7 686)
33 433
(22 140)
(46 702)

17 157
(53 120)
(27 756)
(63 719)
(75 490)

Tax expense
Net result

11

(46 702)

(75 490)

(46 702)
(46 702)

(75 490)
(75 490)

Allocation of net result for the year:
Losses carry forward
Total allocation of net result for the year
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER – PARENT COMPANY
2018

2017

3
5

47
566 858
566 905

51
518 056
518 107

6
7
7

73 869
1 080
577
75 526
642 431

1 367
1 394
3 871
6 632
524 739

8
8

3 377
263 886
(244 102)
23 161

3 290
234 155
(197 400)
40 045

Interest-bearing long-term debt
Total non-current liabilities

9

533 949
533 949

472 257
472 257

Interest-bearing short-term debt
Trade payables
Loan from group companies
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total liabilities and equity

9
10
10
10

7 288
28 471
10 560
39 002
85 321
619 270
642 431

1 092
2 038
9 307
12 437
484 694
524 739

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Note

ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries
Receivables on group companies
Total non-current assets
Other current receivables and prepaid expenses
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted funds
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital
Other equity
Retained earnings
Total equity

The Board of Directors of NBT AS
Oslo 27 June 2019

________________________
Svein Sivertsen
Chair
________________________
Ulf Juvél
Director

________________________
Sverre Stavseth
Director

________________________
Dag Fasmer Wittusen
Director
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS – PARENT COMPANY
2018

2017

(46 702)
8 886
66 418
(18 531)
(33 455)
27 380
(38 538)
(34 542)
(10 566)
(47)
46
1 671
5
(8 891)
25 000
19 090
8 452
(507)
(12 209)
39 826

(75 490)
53 120
(17 157)
27 682
325
975
(10 545)
(16 679)
(51)

(3 607)

(2 286)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

5 265
1 657

7 551
5 265

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted funds
Cash and cash equivalents
Sum

1 080
577
1 657

1 394
3 871
5 265

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Result before tax
Impairment loss on intra-group loans and receivables and other receivables
Interest expenses
Interest income
Net foreign exchange effect
Change in trade payables
Other working capital adjustments
Cash flow from operating activities
Increase in loans to subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries and other companies
Sales of subsidiaries and other companies
Repayment of loans from subsidiaries
Interest received
Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from new bond loans
Proceeds from other loans
New loans from subsidiaries
Repayment loan from subsidiaries
Interest and other financial expenses paid1)
Cash flow from financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

1)

924
20
(15 786)
24 645
(600)
24 045

NBT has both in 2018 and 2017 settled interest payments by issuing new bonds. These settlements are not included in the cash flow statement, as these have no direct cash impact. In 2018
interest settlements with no cash effect amounted to NOK 34.28 million and in 2017 such interest settlements amounted to NOK 40.06 million.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY – PARENT COMPANY
Share
capital

Share
premium

Other paid
in equity

Uncovered losses/
retained earnings

Total
equity

Equity at 1 January 2017
Conversion rights
Net result for the year
Equity at 31 December 2017

3 290
3 290

102 529
102 529

125 636
5 990
131 626

(121 910)
(75 490)
(197 400)

109 545
5 990
(75 490)
40 045

Equity at 1 January 2018
Share issue, conversions of loans
Conversion rights
Net result for the year
Equity at 31 December 2018

3 290
87
3 377

102 529
26 071
128 600

131 626
3 660
135 286

(197 400)
(46 702)
(244 102)

40 045
26 158
3 660
(46 702)
23 161

(Amounts in NOK 1000)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – PARENT COMPANY
NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF KEY ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
NBT AS’ annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting practice in
Norway (NGAAP).
OPERATING REVENUES
Revenues from the sale of goods and services are recognised at the fair value
of the consideration less VAT, estimated returns and discounts.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on
delivery of the goods. Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised
by reference to the labour hours delivered and direct expenses are incurred.
CLASSIFICATIONS
Assets intended for permanent ownership or use are classified as non-current
assets. Assets that are associated with the goods circulation, receivables that
shall be paid within a year and assets that are not intended for permanent
ownership or use by the company are classified as current assets. Liabilities with
maturity more than one year after the balance sheet date are recorded as noncurrent liabilities. Other liabilities are classified as current.
VALUATION POLICIES
Assets and liabilities in foreign currency
Receivables and liabilities de-nominated in foreign currencies that are not
hedged against exchange fluctuations are translated to NOK using foreign
exchange applicable on the balance sheet date. Gains and losses resulting from
changes in exchange rates are presented as financial items.
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at nominal value less
provisions for bad debt. Provisions for bad debt are made on the basis of
individual assessments of the relevant receivables. An unspecified provision is
also made to cover losses on other trade receivables.
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are recognised at
acquisition cost adjusted for any impairment. Each investment is assessed
individually. Received dividends and other profit distributions from the
companies are recognised as financial income. Realised gains or losses and any
impairment due to a permanent decrease in value are included in the income
statement under financial items.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at their acquisition cost, less
accumulated depreciation. The acquisition cost includes costs directly
associated with the acquisition of the asset. Property, plant and equipment are
depreciated over its useful life using the straight-line method. Depreciation
commence from the date the asset is employed.
Pensions and pension obligations
The company has a defined contribution pension scheme for all employees. A
defined contribution pension scheme is a privately owned and administered
scheme. The company has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an
asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.
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Tax, deferred tax and deferred tax asset
The income tax expense for a period comprises current tax and deferred tax.
The current tax is calculated on the basis of the year’s taxable income. Deferred
tax is calculated on all temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements using the
liability method. Deferred tax assets are capitalised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
Loans
Loans are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Convertible
loans with subscription rights comprise an equity component and a debt
component based on the terms of the agreement and are recognised in the
balance sheet at fair value at initial recognition. When the loan is issued the fair
value of the conversion rights and debt component is calculated using the
market rate for non-convertible loans. The fair value of the debt component is
presented as a convertible loan, while the value of the conversion rights is
presented as equity. The value of the conversion rights is recognised in profit
and loss as an interest expense over the term of the loan.
Conversion rights
Conversion rights are measured at fair value at date of issue, and the fair value
is based on observed market transactions. The fair value is recognised in the
income statement as an interest expense and in the balance sheet as an
increase in equity.
Provisions
The group recognises provisions when the group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the group will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as provisions is the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taken into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When the effect of time is material, and present value calculation is applied,
the discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the
liability. Any increase in the liability that reflects the passage of time is
recognised as an interest expense.
Share capital and share premiums
Shares capital and share premium is classified as equity when there are no
obligations for transferring cash or assets (fully paid).
Costs directly attributable to the issue of shares are presented as a reduction in
equity, net after tax.
PRESENTATION OF COST REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENTS
Agreements where the consideration is reimbursement of costs or a major
remuneration in the agreement is reimbursement of external costs are classified
and presented as a cost reduction and reducing the respective cost category in
the profit and loss statement for the company.
PRINCIPLES FOR CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the indirect
method. This means that the company’s income for the year is used as a basis
for the analysis in order to be able to present cash flows separately for
operating activities, investment activities and financing activities respectively.
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NOTE 2 GOING CONCERN
As of year-end 2018 NBT AS has an interest-bearing debt of NOK 581.2
million of which NOK 300.1 million is a senior secured bond loan and a total
of NOK 260.2 is a convertible bond. In addition, the parent company had
other loans with a nominal value of NOK 20.9.
The senior secured bond loan matures in June 2020 and the convertible loan
matures in September 2020. All interest payments on the convertible loans
are settled as payment in-kind while the interest payments for the senior
secured bond is paid quarterly.
In addition to the interest-bearing debt in the parent company, the Group
had as of year-end 2018 a 10 million EUR bond loan with a carrying value of
NOK 99.5 million. This bond loan was issued by East Renewable AB, NBTs
subsidiary in Sweden. This loan was repaid in January 2019 when a EUR 60
million short-term bond loan was raised to finance NBT’s equity investment
in the Syvash project.
In May 2019 East Renewable AB raised a EUR 75 million green bond for
investments in Ukraine. The bond matures in May 2021 and the net proceeds
was used to refinance the EUR 60 million short-term bond raised in January
2019 and to pre-fund one year of interest for the green bond.
The Syvash wind farm achieved financial close in January and April for the
two traches of the EUR 377 million investment. NBTs equity in the project
consist of EUR 35 million of ordinary equity and EUR 10 million of standby
equity provided by East Renewable AB. Any distributions from the Syvash
wind farm is ring-fenced to the benefit of the bond holders in East Renewable
AB until maturity or refinancing. NBT expects to refinance the bond after
commercial operation date of the wind farm at improved terms. No further
financing is committed or expected for the Syvash project.
In January 2019, East Renewable AB acquired 82% of the shares in
Azovinvestprom LLC. The company will need to raise additional financing to
develop the up to 742 MW wind farm currently under development by the
company.
In addition to the financing requirements for development of wind projects
in Ukraine, NBT also needs financing for its current operation. The main
sources of financing for NBT are dividend distributed from the Linxi wind
farm in China. At present there are uncertainties about both the size and
timing of these dividends due to significant delays in subsidy payments from
the Chinese authorities. NBT expects to receive approximately NOK 14
million in July 2019 and another dividend payment in the same range is
expected to be received in the fourth quarter of 2019. The dividend
distributions from relates to underlying profits in the Linxi joint venture from
2016 and 2017 respectively.
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The process to raise the required financing for the Zophia wind power project
has been initiated. NBT is working to raise a development bond of about EUR
15 million for the financing of the acquisition and development costs of the
project. The project is contemplated to be financed on a stand-alone basis.
However, the initial funding of the acquisition and development costs have
been made by the parent company. The initial funding amounts to
approximately EUR 2 million and this amount is planned to be repaid from
the Zophia holding company as soon as the development financing is in place.
In June 2019 the company raised EUR 1 million a credit facility from a group
of investors. The facility, together with expected dividends from the Linxi
wind farm and the repayment of the initial acquisition and development
costs from the Zophia holding company is expected to be enough to fund
corporate operations through 2019. The company is in the process of hiring
a financial advisor to refinance the parent company. This process is expected
to close in the first quarter 2020.
The going concern assumption is based on current expectations, estimates,
projections and assumptions made by management and the board, based on
information currently available to the company and is described in note 4 in
the consolidated financial statement and note 2 in the financial statement
for the parent company. The assessment reflects current views with respect
to future events and is subject to risks and uncertainties.
The company currently has, under certain assumptions, enough financing
available to sustain operations through 2019. After this date, the company
will have to raise additional debt or equity to continue its operation. Based
on NBT’s track record in the past years it is expected that such financing can
be obtained. Deviations or changes to these assumptions and estimates may
require the company to raise additional financing to finance operations and
investments at an earlier time. If the company cannot raise sufficient capital,
there is a risk that projects cannot be realised, and that book value of assets
will be eroded.
The process to raise the required financing for the Zophia wind farm has
started and based on NBTs track record of securing financing of both the
acquisition, development and construction of the Syvash wind farm the
board expects that NBT will be able raise the enough capital to reach financial
close for the wind farm.
In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the consolidated financial
statements and financial statement of the parent company provide a true and
fair view of the group’s financial performance during 2018 and financial
position at 31 December 2018. According to section 3–3 of the Norwegian
Accounting Act, and based on the premises outlined above, we confirm that
the consolidated financial statements and the financial statements of the
parent company have been prepared based on the going concern
assumption, and that it is appropriate to make that assumption.
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NOTE 3 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Incorporated/
acquired

East Renewable AB
East Renewable Energy AB1)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd.
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte), Ltd.
Investments in subsidiaries

2018
2017
2008
2011

Registered
office Shareholding
Sweden
Sweden
Cyprus
Singapore

100.0 %
100.0 %
100.0 %
100.0 %

Voting rights

Cost

100.0 %
100.0 %
100.0 %
100.0 %

47
51
40 465
72 333

Carrying value
31.12.2018

Carrying value
31.12.2017

47
47

51
51

1) Sold to East Renewable AB in 2018

NOTE 4 BAD DEBT/WRITE DOWN OF LOANS TO SUBSIDIARIES AND OTHER LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES
NBT AS has given loans to its subsidiaries. The basis for these loans is either a
credit arrangement related to management service fee charged to the
subsidiary or a regular loan given to the subsidiary. Both at year-end 2018 and
2017, NBT has evaluated the recoverability of its receivables, and write-downs/
impairments on the receivables are evaluated. The write downs/ impairments
are presented in the profit and loss statement according to its underlying

substance, hence write downs/impairments related to previously invoiced
management service fees or other service fees are presented as a bad debt in
the profit and loss statement and write downs / impairments related to loans
given to the subsidiaries are presented as write down of loans to subsidiaries in
the profit and loss statement for the company.

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2018

2017

Total Impairment of receivables on subsidiaries

8 886

-

Classified as follows:
Bad debt classified under operational items
Write down of loans classified under financial items
Total bad debt/write downs

1 200
7 686
8 886

-

For further description of bad debt provisions and description of loans and receivables on subsidiaries, reference is made to note 5.

NOTE 5 OTHER LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES
31.12.2018

31.12.2017

NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte) Ltd, Singapore
East Renewable AB, Sweden
East Renewable Energy AB, Sweden
NBT Wind Power Ltd, Pakistan
Zeni Windpower Ltd, Pakistan
NBT International Ltd, Hong Kong

611 366
27 545
307
4 292
839
1 497

553 403
22 143
5 984
4 292
839
1 497

Allowance for impairment loss

(78 988)

(70 102)

Total receivables on group companies

566 858

518 056

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

Receivables on subsidiaries
In connection with the preparation of the financial statement for 2018 NBT has
made an assessment of the recoverability of the loan given to NBT Renewable
Energy Ltd as there are indications of impairment A high level valuation of the
equity in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd is performed. The valuation is based on a
high-level valuation of the Linxi and Baicheng wind farms in China. The valuation
is based on a discounted cash flow analysis in the joint ventures. The valuation

of the equity in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd shows a value that is slightly above
the book value of the receivable that NBT has on the subsidiary.

NBT underlines that the valuation is sensitive to certain assumptions of which
the weighted cost of capital (“WACC”) and production volume is two of the
assumptions that have the largest sensitivity on the valuation. The valuation
has assumed a WACC of 6.3% for the Linxi project and 6.5% for the Baicheng

NBT annual report 2018.indd 41

project. An increase with 1 %-point would reduce the value of the equity in
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd with about NOK 55 million. Further the production
in the Linxi wind farm is assumed to be in line with the production in the two
past years and the Baicheng wind farm slightly above the production for 2018.
An average drop in production for both projects of 5% will reduce the value of
the equity in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd with about NOK 45 million. Should a
situation occur where the weighted cost of capital would increase with 1%
point or the estimated production volume in average would decrease with 5%,
the required impairment is preliminary estimated to be of the corresponding
amount as the change in net present value of the equity outlined above. Final
amount to be determined dependent upon an analysis of potential sales cost
in connection with such an analysis.
NBT is still pursuing new project possibilities in China, and our current
assessment is that it is more probable than not that NBT will be able to realise
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additional wind farms in China. An expansion of one of the existing wind farms
are the most probable solution. The net present value of new projects is
expected to exceed the valuation shortfall for NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, and
NBT has therefor decided not to make any impairment of the receivable on NBT
Renewable Energy Ltd in the financial statement for 2018.
The loan to NBT Renewable Energy, Cyprus (borrower) consists of an interest free
loan of USD 15.4 million and interest-bearing loan of USD 55.0 million at yearend 2018 (USD 52.1 million at year-end 2017). As the loan agreement for the
interest-bearing loan requires the borrower to have a certain minimum adjusted
equity ratio before interest is charged, an additional amount of USD 27.3 million
of the interest-bearing loan in 2018 had to be treated as none-interest bearing
in 2018. The additional amount that in 2017 was treated as none-interest bearing
amounted to USD 24.8 million. The interest rate is 8.5 percent and charged
interest for 2018 totals USD 2.13 million (NOK 18.5 million) with the
corresponding figure of USD 2.09 million (NOK 17.1 million) in 2017. During 2018
NBT AS made a total of USD 0.79 million in net new loans to NBT Renewable
Energy Ltd while the subsidiary in 2017 made a net repayment of USD 0.67
million.
NBT AS invoices management services to its subsidiaries on an arms-length basis.
The management services charge covers the cost of the services provided by the
parent company to its subsidiaries, with the addition of a mark-up of 5 percent.
These services comprise accounting, controlling, consultancy work, legal advice,
legal fees, information services, etc. In addition, NBT AS has made some
payments on behalf of some of its subsidiaries. Most of the subsidiaries do not
have sufficient cash flow to pay the management fees and operating expenses.
Hence, NBT AS funds these subsidiaries by granting additional loans. By the end
of each year an assessment of the recoverability of the receivables are made and
an impairment of the receivables and loans are made if required. All receivables
on NBT Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte) Ltd, all the Pakistani companies and
NBT International Ltd was fully impaired by the end of 2016.
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During 2017 and 2018 NBT AS has continued to provide management services
and funding to NBT Renewable Energy Singapore (Pte) Ltd as the holding
company for the Pakistani operations. NBT has been working to dispose the
Szabist project in Pakistan. When the financial statement for 2017 was prepared
an assessment of the probability to dispose the Szabist project was performed
together with an assessment of the expected recoverability for the project.
Based on that assessment it was concluded that no additional impairment was
required in 2017. NBT has made a renewed assessment of our position in
Pakistan and it is concluded to close down our activities in Pakistan. Following
this assessment, the additional loans given to NBT Renewable Energy Singapore
(Pte) Ltd during 2017 and 2018 have been fully impaired by the end of 2018.
East Renewable Energy AB was set up in 2017 with the plan to be the holding
company for the Syvash wind farm project company in Ukraine. In the accounts
for 2017 costs related to the acquisition and development of the Syvash wind
farm project was capitalised and recognised as a receivable on East Renewable
Energy AB. In addition, NBT invoiced management service fees to the company
and gave a loan to the company. Following an agreement between NBT AS and
Syvashenergoprom LLC (the Ukrainian project company) project acquisition and
development costs will be charged directly to Syvashenergoprom LLC as the
project company. Further NBT and East Renewable Energy AB agreed that the
management service fee for 2017 should be credited and East Renewable Energy
AB has repaid the 2017 inter-company loan during 2018.
None of the receivables on loans given to other subsidiaries than NBT Renewable
Energy, Cyprus, carries any interest.
The company regards the receivables as long term, as repayments are not likely
to take place within a 12-month period.

NOTE 6 OTHER CURRENT RECEIVABLES AND PREPAID EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
VAT receivable
Prepayments to suppliers
Cost re-imbursement for incurred advisers’ costs for the Syvash project
Other current receivables
Total

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

464
3 554
69 500
351
73 869

354
604
409
1 367

NBT has incurred advisers’ costs related to the development of the Syvash windfarm project. According to the development and support agreement with the
project company, Syvashenergoprom LLC, specified external advisers’ costs can be re-charged to the project company. This includes among others, fees to technical
advisers, legal advisers, market advisers, insurance advisers as well as other direct project specific costs. As of year-end 2018 NBT has reviewed the total project
development costs that have been incurred for work related to 2018 and advisers’ costs that can be re-charged to the project company has been recognised as
other current receivables with an amount of NOK 69.5 million. A total amount NOK 53.5 million of the capitalised costs have been invoiced and paid in 2019 and
the remaining costs of NOK 16 million can be invoiced at paid when the Syvash wind farm in constructed and date of completion has been received. Current
expectation is that this expected during the third quarter of 2020.

NOTE 7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Tax deduction account - restricted
Debt service accounts for bond loan - restricted
Deposit account office rental - restricted
Total restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current accounts
Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
Total cash and cash equivalents
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31.12.2018

31.12.2017

146
205
729
1 080

466
203
725
1 394

577
577

3 871
3 871

1 657

5 265
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NOTE 8 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDERS
At 31 December 2018, the company has issued 33 767 156 shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.10. All shares issued carry equal rights.
The table below shows changes in the share capital and number of shares.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Date
1 January 2017
8 June 2017
2 August 2017
14 September 2017
24 November 2017
31 December 2017
9 February 2018
2 March 2018
2 August 2018
2 August 2018
14 September 2018
24 November 2018
31 December 2018

Type of change
Total
Conversion rights1)
Conversion rights1)
Conversion rights1)
Conversion rights1)
Total
Conversion rights1)
Conversion rights1)
Conversion rights1)
Share issue
Conversion rights1)
Conversion rights1)
Total

Number of shares
32 895 209
32 895 209
-

Share capital
3 290
3 290
-

Share premium
102 529
102 529
-

871 947
33 767 156

87
3 377

26 071
128 600

Other paid
in equity
125 636
636
1 132
2 590
1 632
131 626
487
931
230
1 920
92
135 286

Total paid
in equity
231 455
636
1 132
2 590
1 632
237 455
487
931
230
26 158
1 920
92
267 273

2018
33 258 321
33 258 321
33 767 156
33 767 156

2017
32 895 209
32 895 209
32 895 209
32 895 209

1) See note 10 for description of the conversion rights and the valuation of the conversion rights at the time of issuance.

Average number of shares
Total average number of shares and options
Number of shares at 31 December
Diluted number of shares at 31 December2)
All shares are fully paid in.
2) In addition, the number of shares may be further diluted by conversion of convertible loans

At 31 December 2018, NBT AS had 130 shareholders.
20 largest shareholders
Shares issued at 31 December 2018
#
Shareholder
1
Arctic Securities AS1)
2
Lani Invest AS
3
Aker Capital AS
4
Joar Gudmund Viken
5
Edda Invest AS
6
SMA Mineral B.V
7
Green Tech International ANS
8
Veda A/S
9
Siviløkonom Bent Bugge AS
10
Borgestad ASA
11
Meteva AS
12
Wing Sang Luk
13
Al Shamrani, Ayed Mosa A
14
Jon Burum
15
Frogner Boligeiendom Holding AS
16
Monika Skar
17
Frogner Boligeiendom AS
18
Jens Peter Jakobsgaard Andersen
19
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co
20
Byeiendom AS
20
Sabaro Investment Ltd
Total 20 largest shareholders
Total other shareholders
Total number of shares

Number of
shares held
8 346 314
3 434 883
2 849 827
2 501 780
2 392 650
1 604 415
1 400 000
1 305 500
1 030 000
1 021 345
1 000 000
935 000
911 947
432 100
285 502
272 730
245 000
228 969
220 000
200 000
200 000
30 817 962
2 949 194
33 767 156

Ownership
24.72%
10.17%
8.44%
7.41%
7.09%
4.75%
4.15%
3.87%
3.05%
3.02%
2.96%
2.77%
2.70%
1.28%
0.85%
0.81%
0.73%
0.68%
0.65%
0.59%
0.59%
91.27%
8.73%
100%

1) Shares held by Arctic Securities AS sold on forward contracts.

NBT annual report 2018.indd 43

10.07.2019 19:54

44

NBT Annual report 2018

Notes to the financial statements – parent company

Shares held by directors and management as of 31 December 2018:
Shareholder
Svein Sivertsen
Melvin Teigen
Ulf Juvél, including SMA Mineral B.V1)
Sverre Stavseth2)
Dag Fasmer Wittusen
Joar Viken
Ketil Sundal
Thorstein Jenssen
Total

Number
of shares
5 500
1 605 372
16 642
2 501 780
3 000
4 132 294

Position
Chairman
Director
Director
Director
Director
CEO
CFO
Senior VP

1) SMA Mineral B.V is controlled by a related party of Mr. Juvél.
2) Including Sverre Invest AS.

No options are issued to directors or management as of 31 December 2018.

NOTE 9 BOND LOAN AND OTHER INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES
Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings
31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Convertible bond loan
Borrowing cost convertible bond loan
Amortisation of borrowing cost convertible bond loan
Carrying value convertible bond loan

260 175
(70 717)
34 471
223 929

239 792
(68 797)
19 711
190 706

Senior secured bond loan
Borrowing cost senior secured bond loan
Amortisation of borrowing cost senior secured bond loan
Carrying value senior secured bond loan

300 102
(6 413)
3 969
297 658

263 773
(6 413)
2 540
259 900

13 563
(1 724)
523
12 362

24 807
(3 400)
244
21 651

533 949
7 288
541 237

472 257
472 257

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

New convertible loans
Borrowing cost new convertible loans
Amortisation of borrowing cost new convertible loans
Carrying value new convertible loans
Total carrying value of non-current interest-bearing liabilities
Interest-bearing short-term debt
TOTAL INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Reconciliation of interest-bearing debt
472 257

401 390

New loans with cash effect

44 091

24 645

New loans without cash effect1)

34 275

40 064

Capitalised loan cost (no cash effect)

(3 660)

(5 990)

19 884

11 986

Total interest-bearing debt at the start of the year

Amortisation of loan cost (no cash effect)
Conversion of loan to equity

(26 158)

-

548

162

541 237

472 257

Effects of changes in foreign currency rate
Total interest-bearing debt at year-end
1) Interest capitalised as new loans

The 2015 – 2020 senior secured bond loan
On 30 June 2015, the company issued a new 5-year senior secured bond loan.
The main terms of the loan are as follows:

§
§

5-year duration with maturity 30 June 2020
Fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per annum
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§
§

Quarterly interest payments and interest payments for the first three years
were settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”). From second
half 2018 interest payments are payable.
The bond loan is secured with pledges over the company’s assets as listed
below

There are no financial covenants for the bond loan.

10.07.2019 19:54

Notes to the financial statements – parent company

Borrowing costs are recognised in the income over the term of the loan and
offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the loan.
The 2015 – 2020 convertible bond loan
On 14 September 2015, NBT AS issued an unsecured subordinated convertible
bond loan. The main terms of the loan are as follows:

§
§
§
§

5-year duration with maturity 14 September 2020
Fixed interest rate of 8.5 percent per annum with annual capitalisation
Interest to be settled by issuing additional bonds (“PIK settlement”)
The convertible bond loan is unsecured and subordinated to the 2015 –
2020 senior secured bond loan
Convertible to shares in NBT AS at an exercise price of NOK 30 per share.
The exercise price will, adjusted in case of an IPO event, be set to the lowest
of NOK 30 per share and the IPO price less a discount of 10 percent.
The company has an option to settle conversions as a cash settlement

§
§

There are no financial covenants for the convertible bond loan.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement over the term of the
loan and offset in the balance sheet against the nominal value of the convertible
bond. Total borrowing costs at year-end 2018 amounts to NOK 70.7 million,
including a calculated fair value of the conversion rights of NOK 52.2 million. The
value of the conversion rights is calculated based on the cash flow from the loan
§
discounted with an assumed interest rate of a loan with similar terms and
§
conditions with no conversion rights. The difference between the face value of
the loan and calculated discounted value of the loan with the applied market rate
is regarded as the value of the conversion rights. At the time the bond was issued
in 2015 the fair value of the conversion rights was calculated to 44.6 million
assuming an alternative effective interest (exclusive other loan costs) of 14
percent. In the financial statement for the parent company the value of the
§
conversion rights is presented as “other paid in capital” (refer to note 8) and
capitalised as loan costs. As the interest payments for the loan is made by issuing
additional bonds (Payment in Kind), the new bonds can also be converted to
shares at the same terms as the original loan. These conversion rights have been
valued with the same alternative interest of 14 percent. The value of the
conversion’s rights issued in 2017 and 2018 totalled NOK 2.6 million and NOK 1.9
million respectively and is also presented as “other paid in capital” and amortised
over the remaining loan period.

Assets pledged as security for the 2015 – 2020 senior secured bond loan
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
NBT AS' receivable on NBT Renewable Energy Ltd., Cyprus
NBT AS' shares in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd., Cyprus 1)
NBT AS' shares in NBT Renewable Energy (Singapore) Pte Ltd., Singapore 2)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus' shares in NBT Energy Ltd. 3)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus' receivable on NBT Energy Ltd. 3)
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Convertible USD and NOK loans 2017/2018 – 2020
During 2017 NBT raised USD 1.5 million and NOK 12.5 million in new convertible
loans and another USD 1.5 million was raised in 2018.
The main terms of all of the convertible loans are as follows:

§
§
§
§
§

All loans mature on 14 September 2020
Fixed interest with 8.5 percent per annum (for both the USD and NOK
loans) with annual capitalisation
Interest to be settled by increasing the loan balance (“PIK settlement”)
The loans are unsecured and convertible to shares in NBT at an exercise
price of NOK 30 per share. In case of an IPO the exercise price will be set to
the lowest of NOK per share and the IPO price less a discount of 10 percent
The company has an option to settle the conversions as a cash settlement

On 2 August 2018 NBT received notice of conversions for all of the convertible
USD loans inclusive of capitalised / accrued interest. Inclusive interest the total
amount that was converted to equity amounted to about USD 3.18 million that
corresponded to about NOK 26.16 million with the foreign exchange rate at the
conversion date.
Following the conversion of the USD loans, the only remaining direct convertible
loan is the NOK loan raised in 2017.
For all the convertible loans a value of the conversion rights associated with the
loans is calculated as the difference between the face value of the loan and the
discounted value of a loan with a market interest rate for a similar loan without
conversion rights. In the valuation of the conversion rights an alternative
effective interest rate of 14 percent is applied. This also applies when interest is
settled as “PIK settlement” by increasing the loan balance.
The total value of the conversion rights was calculated at NOK 1.7 million and
NOK 3.4 million for 2018 and 2017 respectively and presented as “other paid in
capital and capitalised as loan costs that will be amortised over the loan period.
At the date of conversion, the remaining book value of the capitalised loan cost
for the USD loans was expensed as interest costs.
Short term interest-bearing debt
During the fourth quarter NBT raised a total of NOK 7.3 million in short term
liquidity loans. The loans carried an interest of 12 percent per annum and were
repaid in January 2019.

Book value
31.12.2018
566 551
20 876
-

1)

Book value in NBT AS. Investment in NBT Renewable Energy Ltd. was written down to nil in 2011.

2)

Book value in NBT AS. Investment in NBT Renewable Energy (Singapore) Pte Ltd. was written down to nil in 2015.
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd owns 33% of the shares in NBT Energy Ltd and has also provided an interest free loan to NBT Energy Ltd with a nominal value of USD 9.9 million. In the consolidated accounts
both the share investment and the interest free loan is classified as investment in the NBT Energy Ltd joint venutre. Carrying value of the combinded investment in the consolidated accounts is provided
in the table above.

3)

NBT annual report 2018.indd 45

10.07.2019 19:54

46

NBT Annual report 2018

Notes to the financial statements – parent company

NOTE 10 TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Trade payables
Public taxes and charges payable
Accrued interest on interest bearing loans
Accrued project costs for Syvash project
Other current liabilities
Total trade payables and other current liabilities

28 471
230
6 652
28 750
3 370
67 473

1 092
672
6 601
2 034
10 399

Loan from NBT Development Limited
Loan from East Renewable Energy AB
Loan from group companies

1 651
8 909
10 560

2 038
2 038

Total trade payables and other current liabilities

78 033

12 437

(Amounts in NOK 1000)

NBT has incurred advisers’ costs related to the development of the Syvash windfarm project. According to the development and support agreement with the
project company, Syvashenergoprom LLC, specified external advisers’ costs can be re-charged to the project company. This includes among others, fees to technical
advisers, legal advisers, market advisers, insurance advisers as well as other direct project specific costs. As of year-end 2018 NBT has reviewed the total project
development costs that have been incurred for work related to 2018 and advisers’ costs that can be re-charged to the project company has been recognised as
other current receivables with an amount of NOK 69.5 million. A total of NOK 28.75 million of these advisers’ costs have been invoiced in 2019 but relates to
activities performed in 2018 and therefore has been provided for as accrued project costs.
The increase in trade payables is related to the above matter and applies to invoices from advisers by the end of 2018.
Project costs or considerations for activities that are contingent up on financial close of the Syvash-project are not included in the capitalised project costs or
accrued project cost as financial close occurred in January 2019.

NOTE 11 TAXES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Taxable income:
Profit before tax
Permanent differences
Write down shares
Change in temporary differences
Taxable income
Tax expense:
Current tax expense
Deferred tax expense
Tax expense
Specification of temporary differences
Provisions and other differences
Fixed assets
Write downs receivables
Currency effects on long term receivables/debt
Tax loss carried forward
Temporary differences
Allowance for no tax-deductible item
Adjusted temporary differences
Deferred tax (+)/Deferred tax assets (-)
Tax rate

2018

2017

(46 702)
17 225
(19 940)
(49 417)

(75 490)
19 386
32 167
(23 937)

-

-

11 304
(148)
(86 925)
153 063
(413 563)
(336 269)
78 988
(257 281)
(56 602)
22%

15 711
(185)
(78 039)
119 867
(364 146)
(306 792)
70 102
(236 690)
(54 439)
23%

The deferred tax asset of NOK 56.6 million is not recognised in the balance sheet since it is not probable that the company will be able to offset any taxable profit in
the near future.

NOTE 12 REVENUES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2018

2017

Management service income from group companies
Other services/revenues
Total revenues

(900)
125
(775)

5 500
39
5 539
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Management service income from group companies invoiced for 2018 amounted to NOK 1.95 million. In addition, a credit for the management services charged to the
subsidiary East Renewable Energy AB of NOK 2.85 million for 2017 has been recognised in the 2018 accounts. Hence the net management fees recognised in the financial
statement for 2018 is negative with NOK 0.9 million. See note 15 for further reference to the management services remuneration.

NOTE 13 PERSONNEL EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)

2018

2017

Wages and salaries including holiday pay
National insurance contributions
Pension costs
Other staff expenses
Total wages and other personnel expenses

4 498
682
351
269
5 801

4 449
714
465
169
5 797

Employee numbers1)

2018

2017

3
2.5
2.5

4
3.3
3.3

Employees at 31 December
Full time equivalents/man years
Average for the year
1)

Excluding Management for Hire

Remuneration - key management personnel
2018
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Joar Viken, CEO 1)
Thorstein Jenssen, SVP Corp. Finance2)
Ketil Sundal, CFO 3)
Total NBT AS

Salary
2 125
2 400
1 811
6 336

Bonus
-

Other
remuneration
192
14
206

Pension cost
193
193

Total
remuneration
2 510
2 414
1 811
6 735

Salary
2 135
2 400
1 598
6 133

Bonus
-

Other
remuneration
18
34
52

Pension cost
188
188

Total
remuneration
2 341
2 434
1 598
6 373

2017
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Joar Viken, CEO 1)
Thorstein Jenssen, SVP Corp. Finance2)
Ketil Sundal, CFO 3)
Total NBT AS

1) Joar Viken has a notice period of 6 months and is entitled to severance pay up to 24 months if the employment is terminated by the company.
2) Thorstein Jenssen is engaged through a company controlled by Mr. Jenssen. The table shows the invoiced amount for the period.
3) Ketil Sundal is an independent consultant that has been engaged as CFO in both 2017 and 2018. The table shows the invoiced amount for the period.

Board of Directors
The shareholders’ meeting in June 2017 approved a remuneration for the Board period 2017/2018 of NOK 250,000 for the chair and NOK 150,000 for the other
Board members. The shareholders approved quarterly payments. The shareholder’s meeting in June 2018 approved the same remuneration for the Board period
2018/2019.
Pensions
NBT AS has a defined contribution scheme through DnB Livsforsikring in accordance with the Norwegian Act on Mandatory Occupational Pension.
Remuneration to auditor
Expensed fees to the company's auditor (excluding VAT):
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Auditing, Deloitte
Other services, Deloitte
Total
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2018
959
0
959

2017
716
29
745
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NOTE 14 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
Interest income
Interest income, group companies
Total financial income
Interest expenses
Write down of loans to subsidiaries
Total financial cost
Net change in foreign currency
Net financial items

2018

2017

5
18 526
18 531

20
17 137
17 157

(66 418)
(7 686)
(74 104)

(53 120)
(53 120)

33 433
22 140

(27 756)
(63 719)

NOTE 15 RELATED PARTIES – TRANSACTIONS
Intra-group loans
All the group’s subsidiaries are financed from the parent company, NBT AS, either
by intra-group loans or equity. Intra-group loans are governed by relevant loan
agreements. NBT AS has granted NBT Renewable Energy, Cyprus, two loans; one
interest free loan, amounting to USD 15.4 million (NOK 133.7 million), and one
interest bearing loan facility in USD that carries 8.5 percent interest. As of 31
December 2018, a total of USD 55.0 million (NOK 477.7 million) was drawn under
the facility.
NBT AS has also granted NBT Renewable Energy Singapore Pte Ltd a USD loan
facility. The facility is a non-interest bearing loan draft facility where the
outstanding amount from time to time will be converted to equity. As of 31
December 2018, a total of USD 3.2 million (NOK 27.5 million) was drawn under the
facility.
NBT granted in 2017 a loan of SEK 1.7 million to East Renewable Energy AB. The
loan was non-interest bearing. During 2018 East Renewable Energy AB entered
agreements to raise financing for its acquisition of Syvashenergoprom LLC (the
project company for the Ukrainian Syvash windfarm project) and also to finance
the costs to develop the Syvash project. Funds from this financing has partly been
used to pay development costs directly from East Renewable Energy and partly
paid to NBT for NBT’s funding of development costs related to the Syvash project.
East Renewable Energy AB and NBT has agreed that the acquisition and
development costs for the Syvash project shall be borne by NBT. Following this
agreement, all costs initially charged to East Renewable Energy AB are re-charged
to NBT. Consequently, NBT has a short-term liability to East Renewable Energy AB.
The liability is settled in January 2019.
NBT has since 2016 had a short-term advance from NBT Development Limited. The
advance is non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
Further reference to note 5 for further description of the loans given to the
subsidiaries.
Management services
NBT AS invoices management services to its subsidiaries on an arms-length basis.
The table below lists the total management service charges invoiced in 2018 and
2017. The management services charges cover the cost of the services provided
by NBT AS to its subsidiaries, with the addition of a mark-up of 5 percent. These
services comprise accounting, controlling, consultancy, legal advice, legal fees,
information services, etc. As the subsidiaries do not have sufficient cash flow to
pay the management fees, the amounts are mostly unpaid and classified as longterm receivables in the balance sheet and a bad debt provision is recognised in the
parent company accounts both in 2018 and 2017.
In 2017 NBT invoiced management service fee to its subsidiary East Renewable
Energy AB related to the acquisition and development of the Syvash project.
Following an agreement between NBT and Syvashenergoprom (project company
for the Syvash project) where project acquisition and development cost will be
charged directly to the project company, NBT and East Renewable Energy AB
agreed that the invoiced management service fee for 2017 will be credited.
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Reference is made to note 5 for further description of the loan balances.
(Amounts in NOK 1000)
NBT Renewable Energy Ltd, Cyprus
East Renewable AB, Sweden
East Renewable Energy AB, Sweden
NBT Development Ltd, Hong Kong
NBT Renewable Energy Singapore Pte.
Total management service fees
Credited to East Renewable Energy AB,
Sweden for invoiced amount in 2017
Net management services fees

2018
700
150
500
600
1 950

2017
1 450
2 850
600
600
5 500

(2 850)
(900)

5 500

Loans from related parties
During 2018 board member Ulf Juvel and a company controlled by senior vice
president Thorstein Jenssen provided loans to NBT of NOK 0.25 and 0.24 mill
respectively. The loans carried interest of 12% per annum and was repaid in
January 2019.
Sale of the shares in East Renewable Energy AB to East Renewable AB
East Renewable AB was set-up in April 2018. Following the set-up of this
company all the shares in East Renewable Energy AB was sold from NBT to East
Renewable AB at a price equal to the share capital I East Renewable Energy AB.
Development Support Agreement with Syvashenergoprom LLC
During 2017 and 2018 the NBT has assisting Syvashenergoprom in all the
development activities in order to develop the 249.6 MW Syvash windfarm based
on a letter of intent between the parties. The parties intended to finally formalise
the development agreement in 2018. However, the agreement was finally signed
in January 2019 in connection with the signing of the project financing for the
Syvash project as the project financing lenders required the development support
agreement to be approved by them prior to signing.
NBT has assisted the project company with all major development work related to
the development of the Syvash project, including financing, obtaining EPC contract,
obtaining all required governmental approvals, ensure all required environmental
and social studies are prepared. This included contracting and engaging advisers
that were required to complete obtain all approvals, a signed EPC contract and
financing of the project.
The development support agreement consists of several elements for
remuneration to NBT, and includes:
a)
b)
c)

Advisers’ costs incurred by NBT to be reimbursed by
Syvashenergoprom within certain limitations.
A fixed fee of EUR 8 million to NBT.
Additional development fees to NBT up to a maximum of EUR 8.5
million.

The major amounts of the advisers’ costs were re-charged to Syvashenergoprom
during the first quarter of 2019 and has been paid by the project company. An
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amount corresponding to about NOK 16 million will be payable following the
completion of the construction as this is defined in the financing agreements.
The fixed fee was invoiced from NBT in the second quarter and has been paid by
the project company.
Additional development fees may be invoiced following completion of the of the
construction as define in the financing agreements and the final fee depend up on
a series of future events including updated financial forecast for the project. NBT
has an obligation to share 53% of the Development with the joint venture partner
Total Eren.
Impact Technology Systems AS
One member of NBT management is appointed as board member of Impact
Technology Systems AS (“ITS”) and throughout most of 2017 and he acted as
managing director of the company.
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ITS was established in 2011 and acquired on 31 December 2011 NBT’s research
and development activities related to a technology for increased oil recovery. NBT
agreed to provide a seller’s credit to ITS for the sales consideration of the
technology. Due to the liquidity situation for ITS, NBT agreed throughout a series
of amendment and restatement agreements to transfer the original sales
consideration to a senior secured loan. As a part of the restructuring NBT also
provided an unsecured loan to ITS in 2017. As of year-end 2018 the nominal value
of NBT’s share of the senior secured loan amounts to about NOK 9.2 million and
the nominal value of the unsecured loan amounts to NOK 1.3 million. The loans
carry 6.5% interest. The maturity date for both loans were 20 June 2019, but they
are still unpaid. NBT is waiting for a proposal from the ITS board for a potential
restructuring. NBT has made a full impairment for the loans and no interest is
recognised.
During 2017 NBT performed certain management services for ITS and has invoiced
the agreed service fee of NOK 125 000 net of VAT. The amount is recognised in the
2018 financial statement and is partly paid.

NOTE 16 OBLIGATIONS
Lease obligations
The lease of the NBT offices in Oslo, Norway expires 31 August 2019, but it is in the process of being extended. The annual rental cost is approx. NOK 1.4 million
(net of VAT).

NOTE 17 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Alleged claim from former business associate
A former business associate of NBT has claimed compensation under a consultancy agreement entered into in 2017. According to the agreement, business
associated would, under certain assumptions, have the right to 2% of the equity in any projects developed with the assistance of the company. The agreement was
terminated in December 2017. NBT and its legal advisors have refuted the claim. The dispute resolution is arbitration under Norwegian law.

NOTE 18 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Dilution of ownership in East Renewable Ukraine AB (ERU)
On January 29 and April 12, 2019, New Wind 1, a company owned by Total Eren
and Al Gihaz invested EUR 79.1 in Class B shares in East Renewable Ukraine AB,
the indirect holding company of Syvashenergoprom LLC. The Class B shares
carries 53.5% of the voting rights in the company and will receive the highest of
17% of the invested amount and 53.5% of the available dividend annually. The
Class B shares are convertible into ordinary shares in October 2022. NBT owns
100% of the ordinary shares (Class A shares) through East Renewable AB, as 100%
owned subsidiary.
Acquisition of Azovinvestprom
In January 2019 East Renewable AB, a wholly owned subsidiary of NBT, signed an
agreement to acquire 82 percent of Azovinvestprom for a total consideration of
EUR 2.57 million. The company has the right to construct a 42.5 MW wind power
plant and has a grid connection agreement and leased land for another 450 MW
wind power plant. Available land can be used to construct an additional 250 MW
Construction of the 42.5 MW wind farm is expected during 2019.
Financial close of the Syvash wind power plant (“Syvash”)
Following the acquisition in 2018 of Syvashenergoprom LLC, the project company
for the 250 MW Syvash wind farm NBT, Total Eren and Al Gihaz achieved financial
close of the EUR 377.0 million investment in the Syvash wind farm. A consortium
led by European Bank of Reconstruction and Development provided a nonrecourse debt facility of EUR 262.0 million. Total Eren, Al Gihaz and NBT (through
East Renewable AB) provided the equity. The wind farm is under construction.
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As part of the closing of the financing NBT received EUR 8.0 million under a
Development and Support Agreement that was formally signed in January 2019.
The proceeds have been used to fund a total of EUR 10.0 million in standby
equity. The standby equity can, under certain conditions be used to fund cost
overrun. The EUR 8.0 million will be recognised as revenue in the parent
company in 2019.
Reimbursement of costs related to the Syvash wind farm
NBT has incurred advisers’ costs related to the development of the Syvash
project. NOK 69.5 million has been either paid or recognised as liability in the
balance sheet of NBT Group. The amount is recognised as a current receivable
on the Syvash project company and a total of NOK 53.5 of these costs have been
reimbursed by Syvashenergoprom in 2019. The remaining NOK 16.0 million will
be repaid at commercial operation date of the Syvash wind farm.
Bond issues 2019
In January 2019 East Renewable AB issued a bond loan in the amount of EUR 60.0
million with maturity date 60 days after issue date and an interest rate of 10 per
cent. The maturity date was extended and in May 2019 the bond was refinanced
through a long-term green bond loan in the amount of EUR 75.0 million. The
maturity date is May 21, 2021. The interest rate is 13.5 per cent.
New short-term loans
NBT has in 2019 entered into new short-term loan agreement with a shareholder
for a loan amount of NOK 10.3 million.
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Dronning Eufemias gate 14
Postboks 221 Sentrum
NO-0103 Oslo
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To the General Meeting of NBT AS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

•

•

The financial statements of the parent company NBT AS (the Company), which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the income statement and cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies, and
The consolidated financial statements of NBT AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion:
•
•

•

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations.
The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and
practices generally accepted in Norway.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the EU.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Penneo Dokumentnøkkel: Z5EI3-MUPNV-PKHWB-J1T7D-W12AT-FA1TI

We have audited the financial statements of NBT AS, which comprise:

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to the Board of Directors’ report and notes to the financial statements, which
indicates that the Company does not currently have secured the required financing to meet its financial
obligations and capital needs. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in the Board of
Directors’ report and in notes to the financial statements, indicate that there is a substantial
uncertainty that may create material doubt whether or not the going concern assumption is present.
The recorded asset value, particularly in relation to investments and prepayments, are based on
continuing operations and realization of further projects and no provisions have been made for
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expected losses that likely will occur in a situation with forced sale of assets rather than realization
through continuing use. This matter does not affect our opinion on the financial statements.
Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation in
accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial statements of the
Company in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, and for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern. The financial statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as
it is not likely that the enterprise will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of the
Group use the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices generally
accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•
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identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.
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•

•
•

•

•

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control.
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going
concern assumption and the proposed allocation of the result is consistent with the financial
statements and complies with the law and regulations.
Opinion on Registration and Documentation
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE)
3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information, it is
our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set out registration
and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with the law and
bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.
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Other Matters
The company’s financial statements were resolved subsequent of the deadline set by law for
completion of the financial statements.

Oslo, 9 July 2019
Deloitte AS

Espen Johansen
State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)
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NBT AS
Filipstad Brygge 1
NO-0252 Oslo
Norway
Telephone: +47 63 79 11 00
Telefax:
+47 63 79 11 01
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Office translation from Norwegian to English

Articles of Association
for
NBT AS
(per 1 November 2019)

1 The company’s name is NBT AS.
2 The company’s registered address is in Oslo.
3 The company’s purpose is development of renewable energy production, including
taking ownership in companies within renewable energy or associated areas of
businesses. The company may also take part in import/export of equipment and
services within renewable energy, including investments in companies with
technology and competence within renewable energy or associated areas of business.
4 The company’s share capital is NOK 3,421,923.90 with 34,219,239 shares with par
value of NOK 0.10.
5 The company’s Board of Directors shall consist of 3-7 members.
6 Authorized signatories on behalf of the company are the Chairman of the Board
together with the Chief Executive Officer or the Chairman of the Board or the Chief
Executive Office together with one Board member.
7 The company’s shares are freely transferable.
8 The Annual General Meeting shall consider and resolve on the following matters:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.

9

Approve the annual accounts and the Board of Directors Annual Report,
including distribution of dividend
Election of members of the Board of Directors
Approving the compensation to the members of the Board of Directors
Approving the compensation to the company’s auditor
Other matters which according to law or the Articles of Association shall be
dealt with by the General Meeting

The company’s shares shall be registered in the Norwegian Registry of Securities
(VPS).

